MBIA INC Form 10-Q August 08, 2012 Table of Contents

United States

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2012

or

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-9583

MBIA INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Connecticut (State of incorporation)

06-1185706 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

10504

(Zip Code)

113 King Street, Armonk, New York (Address of principal executive offices) Registrant s telephone number, including area code: (914) 273-4545

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes b No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes b No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Accelerated filer " Non-accelerated filer " Smaller reporting company " Large accelerated filer b Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes "No b

As of August 2, 2012, 193,753,463 shares of Common Stock, par value \$1 per share, were outstanding.

<u>PART I F</u>	TNANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries (Unaudited)	
	Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (Unaudited)	1
	Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 (Unaudited)	2
	Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 (Unaudited)	3
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2012 (Unaudited)	4
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 (Unaudited)	5
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	6
Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	81
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	133
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	136
PART II	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	137
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	137
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	137
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	137
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	137
Item 5.	Other Information	137
Item 6.	Exhibits	138
<u>SIGNATI</u>	JRES	139

PAGE

PART 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

MBIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited)

(In millions except share and per share amounts)

	Jun	ne 30, 2012	Decem	ber 31, 2011
Assets				
Investments:				
Fixed-maturity securities held as available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost \$4,724 and \$6,259)	\$	4,912	\$	6,177
Fixed-maturity securities at fair value		227		295
Investments pledged as collateral, at fair value (amortized cost \$397 and \$642)		308		543
Short-term investments held as available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost \$1,591 and \$1,577)		1,596		1,571
Other investments (includes investments at fair value of \$50 and \$96)		61		107
Total investments		7,104		8,693
Cash and cash equivalents		269		473
Premiums receivable		1,262		1,360
Deferred acquisition costs		324		351
Insurance loss recoverable		3,212		3,046
Property and equipment, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of \$142 and \$139)		70		69
Deferred income taxes, net		1,396		1,745
Other assets		254		243
Assets of consolidated variable interest entities:				
Cash		145		160
Investments held-to-maturity, at amortized cost (fair value \$2,896 and \$3,489)		3,051		3,843
Fixed-maturity securities held as available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost \$567 and \$473)		537		432
Fixed-maturity securities at fair value		1,733		2,884
Loans receivable at fair value		1,903		2,046
Loan repurchase commitments		1,032		1,077
Derivative assets		1		450
Other assets		2		1
Total assets	\$	22,295	\$	26,873

Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities:		
Unearned premium revenue	\$ 3,208	\$ 3,515
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves	835	836
Investment agreements	1,171	1,578
Medium-term notes (includes financial instruments carried at fair value \$151 and \$165)	1,566	1,656
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase	-	287
Long-term debt	1,837	1,840
Derivative liabilities	3,329	5,164
Other liabilities	407	391
Liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities:		
Variable interest entity notes (includes financial instruments carried at fair value \$3,638 and \$4,754)	7,227	8,697
Long-term debt	-	360
Derivative liabilities	186	825

Other liabilities	4	1
Total liabilities	19,770	25,150
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 13) Equity:		
Preferred stock, par value \$1 per share; authorized shares - 10,000,000; issued and outstanding - none	-	-
Common stock, par value \$1 per share; authorized shares - 400,000,000; issued shares - 275,479,642		
and 274,896,162	275	275
Additional paid-in capital	3,071	3,072
Retained earnings	1,396	805
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred tax of \$9 and \$105	36	(176)
Treasury stock, at cost - 81,732,274 and 81,752,966 shares	(2,275)	(2,276)
Total shareholders equity of MBIA Inc.	2,503	1,700
Preferred stock of subsidiary and noncontrolling interest	22	23
Total equity	2,525	1,723
· ·	,	
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 22,295	\$ 26,873

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MBIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

(In millions except share and per share amounts)

	Three Months 2012	Ended June 30, 2011	Six Months F 2012	Ended June 30, 2011
Revenues:				
Premiums earned:				
Scheduled premiums earned	\$ 110	\$ 116	\$ 206	\$ 243
Refunding premiums earned	61	33	103	43
Premiums earned (net of ceded premiums of \$6, \$3, \$9 and \$6)	171	149	309	286
Net investment income	60	95	122	209
Fees and reimbursements	20	11	27	25
Change in fair value of insured derivatives:				
Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives	(428)	(191)	(432)	(546)
Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives	1,203	116	1,506	(1,307)
Net change in fair value of insured derivatives	775	(75)	1,074	(1,853)
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign				
exchange	(6)	(103)	(25)	(127)
Investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments:				
Investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments	(2)	(6)	(55)	(13)
Other-than-temporary impairments recognized in accumulated				
other comprehensive income (loss)	(1)	(14)	(42)	(20)
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments	(3)	(20)	(97)	(33)
Net gains (losses) on extinguishment of debt	-	-	-	26
Other net realized gains (losses)	6	-	6	5
Revenues of consolidated variable interest entities:				
Net investment income	17	16	34	34
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign				
exchange	(34)	22	(61)	(85)
Net gains (losses) on extinguishment of debt	33	-	33	-
Other net realized gains (losses)	-	3	-	3
Total revenues	1,039	98	1,422	(1,510)
Expenses:				
Losses and loss adjustment	62	50	159	14
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs	15	23	28	39
Operating	78	75	235	150
Interest	71	75	145	150
Expenses of consolidated variable interest entities:				
Operating	3	7	9	17
Interest	15	15	30	30
Total expenses	244	245	606	400
Income (loss) before income taxes	795	(147)	816	(1,910)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	214	(284)	225	(772)
		(== • •)		(··· =)

Net income (loss)	\$	581	\$	137	\$	591	\$	(1,138)		
Net income (loss) per common share:										
Basic	\$	2.99	\$	0.69	\$	3.05	\$	(5.70)		
Diluted	\$	2.98	\$	0.68	\$	3.03	\$	(5.70)		
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:										
Basic	193	193,926,953		,295,797	193	,700,328	199	9,602,865		
Diluted	194	194,941,233		,064,679	194	,763,617	199	9,602,865		
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements										

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MBIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (Unaudited)

(In millions)

Net income (loss)\$ 581\$ 137Other comprehensive income (loss):	126 227 44 (10)
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities: Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period, net of tax of \$52, \$62, \$60 and \$98 82 118	44 (10)
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period, net of tax of \$52, \$62, \$60 and \$98 82 118	44 (10)
and \$98 82 118	44 (10)
	44 (10)
Less: Reclassification adjustments for (gains) losses included in net income	
(loss), net of tax of \$16, \$6, \$23 and \$5 (29) 10	170 217
	170 217
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net 53 128	
Other-than-temporary impairments on available-for-sale securities:	
Other-than-temporary impairments arising during the period, net of tax of \$1,	
\$2, \$3 and \$5 (1) 4	6 9
Less: Reclassification adjustments for other-than-temporary impairments	
included in net income (loss), net of tax of \$3, \$6, \$18 and \$8 6 11	32 15
Other-than-temporary impairments on available-for-sale securities, net 5 15	38 24
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments:	
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments arising during the period,	
net of tax of \$2, \$1, \$0 and \$3 3 2	- 4
Less: Reclassification adjustments for (gains) losses included in net income	
(loss), net of tax of \$1, \$0, \$9 and \$1 1 1	16 2
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments, net 4 3	16 6
Foreign currency translation, net of tax of \$0, \$0, \$2 and \$5	(12) (36)
Total other comprehensive income (loss)62146	212 211
Comprehensive income (loss)\$ 643\$ 283	\$ 803 \$ (927)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MBIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY (Unaudited)

For The Six Months Ended June 30, 2012

(In millions except share amounts)

	Common S Shares	tock Amount	Additional Paid-in Capital		Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Treasury Shares	Stock Amount	Total Shareholder Equity of MBIA Inc.	Preferr ^S of Subsid Noncontrol Shares	diary a	ind terest	Total Equity
Balance, December 31, 2011	274,896,162	\$ 275	\$ 3,072	\$ 805	\$ (176)	(81,752,966)	\$ (2,276)	\$ 1,700	1,315		23	\$ 1,723
Net income Other comprehensive income (loss)	-	-	-	591	- 212	-	-	591 212	-		-	591 212
Share-based compensation net of tax of \$6 Change in noncontrolling	583,480	-	(1)	-	_	20,692	1		-		-	_
Balance, June 30, 2012	- 275,479,642	\$ 275	- \$ 3,071	\$ 1,396	- \$ 36	- (81,732,274)	\$ (2,275)	- \$ 2,503	1,315	\$	(1) 22	(1) \$ 2,525

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MBIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

(In millions)

	Six Months E 2012	Ended June 30, 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Premiums, fees and reimbursements received	\$ 160	\$ 189
Investment income received	316	372
Insured derivative losses and commutations paid	(463)	(389)
Financial guarantee losses and loss adjustment expenses paid	(363)	(473)
Proceeds from reinsurance and recoveries	38	70
Operating and employee related expenses paid	(232)	(173)
Interest paid	(241)	(332)
Income taxes (paid) received	(5)	55
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities	(790)	(681)
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Purchase of fixed-maturity securities	(1,587)	(3,551)
Sale and redemption of fixed-maturity securities	3,376	4,939
Proceeds from paydowns on variable interest entity loans	131	157
Redemptions of held-to-maturity investments	792	105
Sale (purchase) of short-term investments, net	122	605
Sale (purchase) of other investments, net	76	33
Consolidation (deconsolidation) of variable interest entities, net	(51)	(1)
(Payments) proceeds for derivative settlements	(83)	(44)
Collateral (to) from swap counterparty	(327)	-
Capital expenditures	(4)	(2)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities	2,445	2,241
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from issuance of investment agreements	33	58
Payments for drawdowns of investment agreements	(432)	(428)
Issuance of medium-term notes	13	13
Principal paydowns of medium-term notes	(42)	(107)
Principal paydowns of variable interest entity notes	(797)	(695)
Payments for securities sold under agreements to repurchase	(287)	(84)
Payments for retirement of debt	(363)	(70)
Purchase of treasury stock	-	(25)
Contribution from noncontrolling interest and redemption of subsidiary preferred stock, net	-	10
Restricted stock awards settlements	1	(1)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities	(1,874)	(1,329)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(219)	231
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period	633	1,130
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period	\$ 414	\$ 1,361

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:				
Net income (loss)	\$	591	\$ (1,138)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:				
Change in:				
Premiums receivable		96		170
Deferred acquisition costs		27		37
Unearned premium revenue	((311)		(361)
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves		(2)		(265)
Insurance loss recoverable	((166)		(126)
Current income taxes		(9)		60
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments		97		33
Realized losses and other settlements on insured derivatives		-		215
Unrealized (gains) losses on insured derivatives	(1.	,506)		1,307
Net (gains) losses on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		86		212
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)		230		(777)
(Gains) losses on extinguishment of debt		(33)		(26)
Other operating		110		(22)
Total adjustments to net income (loss)	(1,	,381)		457
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities	\$ ((790)	\$	(681)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity

Summary

MBIA Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries, (collectively, MBIA or the Company) operates one of the largest financial guarantee insurance businesses in the industry and is a provider of asset management advisory services. These activities are managed through three business segments: United States (U.S.) public finance insurance, structured finance and international insurance, and advisory services. The Company s U.S. public finance insurance business is primarily operated through National Public Finance Guarantee Corporation and its subsidiaries (National), its structured finance and international insurance business is primarily operated through MBIA Insurance Corporation and its subsidiaries (Cutwater), and its asset management advisory services business is primarily operated through Cutwater Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries (Cutwater). The holding company, MBIA Inc., and certain of its subsidiaries also manage certain other business activities, the results of which are reported in its corporate, asset/liability products, and conduit segments. The corporate segment includes revenues and expenses that arise from general corporate activities. While the asset/liability products and conduit businesses represent separate business segments, they may be referred to collectively as wind-down operations as the funding programs managed through those businesses are in wind-down. Refer to Note 11: Business Segments for further information about the Company s reporting segments.

Business Developments

As a result of insured losses and realized investment losses during the period from 2007 to June 30, 2012, the Company has seen ratings downgrades, a near cessation of new insurance business written by the Company, and increasing liquidity pressure. The Company has been unable to write meaningful amounts of new insurance business since 2008 and does not expect to write significant new insurance business prior to an upgrade of the credit ratings of its insurance subsidiaries. As of June 30, 2012, National was rated BBB with a developing outlook by Standard & Poor s Financial Services LLC (S&P) and Baa2 with a negative outlook by Moody s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody s). As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation was rated B with a negative outlook by S&P and B3 with a review for a possible downgrade by Moody s.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company continued to seek to reduce both the absolute amount and the volatility of its obligations and potential future claim payments through the execution of commutations of insurance policies. The combination of payments to reduce liabilities, claims payments and the failure of certain mortgage originators to honor contractual obligations to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from securitizations the Company insured has increased liquidity pressure on MBIA Inc. and MBIA Corp. As of June 30, 2012, the liquidity position of MBIA Inc., which consists of the liquidity positions of its corporate and asset/liability products activities, was \$336 million and comprised cash and liquid assets of \$290 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. As of December 31, 2011, MBIA Inc. had \$386 million of cash and liquid assets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$160 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. The Company believes this liquidity position provides MBIA Inc. with sufficient funds to cover expected obligations at least through the next twelve months.

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, MBIA Corp. s cash and liquid assets were \$534 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. made \$834 million in gross claim payments, and commuted \$12.8 billion of gross insured exposure, primarily comprising structured commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) pools, investment grade corporate collateralized debt obligations (CDOS), commercial real estate (CRE) CDOs, asset-backed securities (ABS) CDOs, and subprime residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) transactions, all of which were previously disclosed in MBIA Inc. s Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings. Claims payments primarily resulted from the failure of certain mortgage-backed securities (MBS) sponsors to honor contractual obligations to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans. The Company s ability to commute insured transactions may be limited by available liquidity as determined based on management s assessment. The Company currently evaluates different methodologies to mitigate liquidity stress, including intercompany lending arrangements and the monetization of illiquid assets.

The reference herein to ineligible mortgage loans refers to those mortgage loans that the Company believes failed to comply with the representations and warranties made by the sellers/servicers of the securitizations to which those mortgage loans were sold (including mortgage loans that failed to comply with the related underwriting criteria), based on the Company s assessment of such mortgage loans compliance with such representations and warranties, which included information provided by third-party review firms. The Company s assessment of the ineligibility of individual mortgage loans could be challenged by the sellers/servicers of the securitizations in litigation and there is no assurance

that the Company s determinations will prevail.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company s financial statements include estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The outcome of certain significant risks and uncertainties could cause the Company to revise its estimates and assumptions or could cause actual results to differ from the Company s estimates. While the Company believes it continues to have sufficient capital and liquidity to meet all of its expected obligations, if one or more possible adverse outcomes were to be realized, its statutory capital, financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

Significant risks and uncertainties that could affect amounts reported in the Company s financial statements in future periods include, but are not limited to, the following:

MBIA Corp. s efforts to recover losses from the second-lien securitization originators could be delayed, settled at amounts below its contractual claims or potentially settled at amounts below those recorded on its balance sheets prepared under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and statutory accounting principles (U.S. STAT). As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company s estimated recoveries after income taxes calculated at the federal statutory rate of 35%, were \$2.1 billion and \$2.0 billion, respectively, which was 83% and 119% of the consolidated total shareholders equity of MBIA, excluding preferred stock of subsidiaries and noncontrolling interests. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the related measures calculated under U.S. STAT were 125% and 89%, respectively, of the statutory capital of MBIA Corp. In addition, contractual claims could become subject to bankruptcy proceedings of the originators. On May 14, 2012, Residential Capital, LLC (ResCap), and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies, Residential Funding Company, LLC (RFC) and GMAC Mortgage LLC (GMAC) each filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. MBIA has recorded put-back claims associated with RFC and GMAC. Accordingly, MBIA s put-back claims are now subject to the ResCap bankruptcy proceeding. Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves for information about the Company s second-lien RMBS loss recoveries.

MBIA Inc. may not have sufficient liquidity to make all payments due on its liabilities and to meet other financial requirements, such as posting collateral, primarily as a result of a deficit of invested assets to debt issued to third parties and affiliates. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Inc. s deficit increased as it realized losses from the sale and impairment of invested assets. In addition, it does not expect to receive dividends from its regulated insurance subsidiaries in the near term. If MBIA Inc. were required to continue to sell invested assets at their current market values in order to settle liabilities or to meet minimum required collateral amounts against liabilities, the deficit would increase further. In order to meet liquidity requirements, MBIA Inc. may also finance unencumbered assets through intercompany or third-party facilities, or use free cash or other assets, in some cases with New York State Department of Financial Services (NYSDFS) approval, although there can be no assurance that these strategies will be available or adequate. A failure by MBIA Inc. to settle liabilities that are also insured by MBIA Corp. could result in claims on MBIA Corp. Resolving the deficit will depend on the Company s ability to receive distributions from its operating subsidiaries and/or raise third-party capital, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in eliminating the deficit through these means, or that they will provide adequate liquidity. Refer to the following Liquidity section for additional information about MBIA Inc. s liquidity position.

While MBIA Corp. has commuted most of its higher risk CMBS pool exposures, a single counterparty Bank of America and its subsidiary Merrill Lynch holds a significant amount of MBIA Corp. s remaining CMBS pool exposures, including a substantial majority of MBIA Corp. s CMBS pools originally insured in 2006 and 2007 primarily referencing BBB and lower rated collateral.

MBIA Corp. has also recorded its largest put-back asset against Bank of America Corp. and certain of its subsidiaries including Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. While MBIA Corp. has recorded loss reserves for the CMBS exposures, no material claims have been made to date. Bank of America/Merrill Lynch is also one of the two remaining plaintiffs in the litigation challenging the establishment of National (Transformation Litigation) (for a discussion of the Transformation Litigation, see Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies). As a result, the amount MBIA Corp. may ultimately collect from Bank of America/Countrywide on their put-back obligations in any litigation settlement could be impacted by potential commutation payments on these CMBS exposures and developments in the Transformation Litigation. Likewise, MBIA Corp. s ability to commute these CMBS exposures may be impacted by developments in the put-back litigation with these entities and the Transformation Litigation. There can be no assurance that any such settlement or commutation will occur or that any such settlement or commutation, if it occurred, would be consummated within the estimates of expected recoveries or loss payments associated with these exposures that are recorded in the Company s consolidated financial statements. In addition, due to the deterioration in MBIA Corp. s CMBS exposures, primarily in those exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch, there is an increased likelihood that MBIA Corp. will experience claims on those exposures, which claims could be substantial. Depending on the amount of such claims and the amounts of claims on other policies issued by MBIA Corp., MBIA Corp. may not have sufficient liquid assets to pay such claims in the absence of a settlement with Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and the commutation of the CMBS exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch or in the absence of the collection of other substantial put-back recoverables.

If the U.S. economy weakens, commercial real estate values decline or commercial real estate servicer behavior does not continue to mitigate potential or actual credit losses in line with current trends, MBIA Corp. could incur substantial losses in that sector, primarily on the Bank of America/Merrill Lynch CMBS exposures described above. As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. had CMBS pool and CRE CDO insured par exposure of approximately \$15.7 billion and \$2.5 billion, respectively, excluding approximately \$2.9 billion of CRE loan pools, primarily comprising European assets. Since the end of 2007 through June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. s CMBS pool and CRE CDO gross par exposure has decreased by approximately \$35.9 billion, of which \$32.9 billion resulted from negotiated commutations and early settlements. Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves for information about the Company s estimate of CMBS credit impairments.

Incurred losses from insured RMBS have declined from their peaks. However, due to the large percentage of ineligible mortgage loans included within MBIA Corp. s insured second-lien portfolio, performance remains difficult to predict and losses could ultimately be in excess of MBIA Corp. s current estimated loss reserves. Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves for information about MBIA Corp. s RMBS loss reserves.

While MBIA Corp. has settled a substantial portion of its insured ABS CDO exposure at levels, on average, within MBIA Corp. s previously established statutory loss reserves related to those exposures, further economic stress might cause increases in MBIA Corp. s loss estimates on its remaining exposure. As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. s ABS CDO gross par outstanding was approximately \$4.6 billion, and had decreased approximately \$32.7 billion since 2007.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

In recent years, key components of the Company s strategy have included commuting volatile insured exposures, purchasing instruments issued or guaranteed by the Company in order to reduce future expected economic losses and managing the liquidity requirements and risk in MBIA Inc. In order to implement this strategy, the Company put in place intercompany agreements that allocate liquidity resources among its entities in order to fund commutations and provide liquidity, where needed. The intercompany agreements with the Company s insurance subsidiaries have required the approval of the NYSDFS. The Company s ability to continue to draw on intercompany financing, provide other intercompany liquidity and capital support, obtain permission for contingency reserve releases, and the ability of its insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends to MBIA Inc. will in most cases require further approvals from the NYSDFS, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain such approvals. In addition, in connection with providing such approvals, the NYSDFS may require the Company or its insurance subsidiaries to agree to take, or refrain from taking, certain actions.

The Company s recent financial results have been volatile, which has impacted management s ability to accurately project future taxable income. Insurance losses incurred beyond those currently projected may cause the Company to record additional allowances against a portion or all of its deferred tax assets. Refer to Note 10: Income Taxes for information about the Company s deferred tax assets.

Litigation over the NYSDFS approval of National s creation or additional hurdles to achieving high stable ratings may impede National s ability to resume writing municipal bond insurance for some time, reducing its long-term ability to generate capital and cash from operations.

Municipal and state fiscal distress in the U.S. could adversely affect the Company s operations if it results in larger-than-expected incurred insurance losses. Additionally, the sovereign debt crisis in the Eurozone could have an adverse impact on insured European exposures and/or cause a global slowdown in growth, thereby adversely affecting U.S. insured exposures.

In the event the economy and the markets to which MBIA is exposed do not improve, or decline, the unrealized losses on insured credit derivatives could increase, causing additional stress in the Company s reported financial results. In addition, volatility in the relationship between MBIA s credit spreads and those on underlying collateral assets of insured credit derivatives can create significant unrealized gains and losses in the Company s reported results of operations. Refer to Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments for information about the Company s valuation of insured credit derivatives.

As of June 30, 2012, the Company had \$2.5 billion of shareholders equity and MBIA Insurance Corporation and National had \$1.7 billion and \$3.0 billion, respectively, of statutory capital. Statutory capital, defined as policyholders surplus and contingency reserves, is a key measure of an insurance company s financial condition under insurance laws and regulations. Failure to maintain adequate levels of statutory surplus and total statutory capital could lead to intervention by the Company s insurance regulators in its operations and constitute an event of default under certain of the Company s contracts, thereby materially and adversely affecting the Company s financial condition and results of operations. Pursuant to approval granted by the NYSDFS in accordance with New York Insurance Law (NYIL), as of March 31, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation released to surplus an aggregate of \$196 million of excessive contingency reserves.

Liquidity

As a financial services company, MBIA has been materially adversely affected by conditions in global financial markets. Current conditions and events in these markets, in addition to the failure by the originators of RMBS to repurchase the ineligible mortgage loans in securitizations that

the Company has insured, have put substantial stress on the Company s liquidity resources.

The Company has utilized a liquidity risk management framework, the primary objectives of which are to monitor liquidity positions and projections in its legal entities and guide the matching of liquidity resources to needs. The Company monitors its cash and liquid asset resources using stress-scenario testing. Members of MBIA s senior management meet regularly to review liquidity metrics, discuss contingency plans and establish target liquidity cushions on an enterprise-wide basis. As part of the Company s liquidity risk management framework, the Company evaluates and manages liquidity on a legal-entity basis to take into account the legal, regulatory and other limitations on available liquidity resources within the enterprise.

The majority of the Company s liquidity management efforts focus on:

The liquidity resources of MBIA Inc., which are subject to: uncertainty in the timing and amount of cash inflows from dividends paid by National and MBIA Corp.; the necessity of having to support the liquidity needs of the asset/liability products business; and potential cross-defaults of holding company debt with other obligations in the consolidated group. The asset/liability products business of MBIA Inc. is subject to ongoing negative cash flow and has a deficit of invested assets to liabilities. In addition, the liquidity resources of MBIA Inc. are subject to collateralization requirements in connection with the liabilities it has issued to third parties and affiliates and in connection with third-party derivative contracts;

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

The liquidity resources of MBIA Corp. which are subject to: payments on insured exposures that in some cases may be large bullet payments; an increased likelihood that MBIA Corp. will experience claims on its CMBS exposures, primarily in those exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch, due to the deterioration in such exposures; payments to counterparties in consideration for the commutation of insured transactions; and delays in the collection of contract claim recoveries related to ineligible mortgage loans in certain insured transactions. MBIA Corp. is currently subject to negative cash flow as a result of these payments and delays in collecting recoveries; and

The liquidity resources of National, for which the Company has not observed material liquidity risk to date, but which are exposed to unexpected loss payments on its insured transactions and potential negative cash flow, and liquidity support arrangements with its affiliates.

In order to address these liquidity risks and efficiently manage liquidity across the entire enterprise, certain of the Company s subsidiaries which are less liquidity constrained have entered into intercompany agreements that provide resources to subsidiaries that are more liquidity constrained. These resources include intercompany agreements described further below between the Company s primary insurance subsidiaries and between these insurance subsidiaries and the asset/liability products business (through MBIA Inc.), which in each case were approved by the NYSDFS and are subject to ongoing monitoring by the NYSDFS.

Key Intercompany Lending Agreements

National Secured Loan

National provided a secured loan to MBIA Insurance Corporation (National Secured Loan) in order to enable MBIA Insurance Corporation to fund settlements and commutations of its insurance policies. This loan was approved by the NYSDFS as well as by the boards of directors of MBIA Inc., MBIA Insurance Corporation and National. The National Secured Loan has a fixed annual interest rate of 7% and a maturity date of December 2016. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding principal amount under this loan was \$1.6 billion. MBIA Insurance Corporation has the option to defer payments of interest when due by capitalizing interest amounts to the loan balance, subject to the collateral value exceeding certain thresholds. MBIA Insurance Corporation has elected to defer the interest payments due under the loan. MBIA Insurance Corporation s obligation to repay the loan is secured by a pledge of collateral having an estimated value in excess of the notional amount of the loan as of June 30, 2012, which collateral comprised the following future receivables of MBIA Corp.: (i) its right to receive put-back recoveries related to ineligible mortgage loans included in its insured second-lien RMBS transactions; (ii) future recoveries on defaulted insured second-lien RMBS transactions resulting from expected excess spread generated by performing loans in such transactions; and (iii) future installment premiums. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation borrowed an additional \$443 million under the National Secured Loan with the approval of the NYSDFS at the same terms as the original loan to fund additional commutations of its insurance policies. MBIA Insurance Corporation may seek to borrow additional amounts under the loan in the future. Any such increase or other amendment to the terms of the loan would be subject to regulatory approval by the NYSDFS.

Asset Swap

National maintained simultaneous repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements (Asset Swap) with MBIA Inc. for up to \$2.0 billion based on the fair value of securities borrowed. The Asset Swap provides MBIA Inc. with eligible assets to pledge under investment agreement and derivative contracts in the asset/liability products business. As of June 30, 2012, the notional amount utilized under each of these agreements was \$620 million and the fair value of collateral pledged by National and MBIA Inc. under these agreements was \$642 million and \$659 million, respectively. The net average interest rate on these transactions was 0.39% and 0.44% for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The NYSDFS approved the Asset Swap in connection with the re-domestication of National to New York. National has committed to the NYSDFS to use commercially reasonable efforts to reduce the amount of the Asset Swap over time.

MBIA Corp. Secured Loan

MBIA Corp., as lender, maintained a master repurchase agreement with MBIA Inc. (MBIA Corp. Secured Loan) for the benefit of MBIA Inc. s asset/liability products business, which totaled \$2.0 billion at inception and was scheduled to mature in May 2012, as amended. The average interest rate on the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan was 2.51% for the six months ended June 30, 2012. As of June 30, 2012, the amount outstanding under the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan was repaid in full. In May 2012, the NYSDFS approved the maturity extension of the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan to May 2013 with a maximum outstanding amount of \$450 million, subject to MBIA Corp. obtaining prior approval from the NYSDFS for any draws under the facility.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

Conduit Repurchase Agreement

MBIA Inc. maintained a repurchase agreement with Meridian Funding Company, LLC (Conduit Repurchase Agreement), under which a \$1.0 billion notional amount may be utilized, subject to a pledge of collateral. The Conduit Repurchase Agreement had an average interest rate during the six months ended June 30, 2012 of 2.50%. As of June 30, 2012, the notional amount utilized by MBIA Inc. under this agreement and the fair value of the collateral pledged by MBIA Inc. were \$53 million and \$64 million, respectively.

MBIA Inc. Liquidity

MBIA Inc. s liquidity resources support the Company s corporate and asset/liability products segments. The activities of MBIA Inc. consist of holding and managing investments, servicing outstanding corporate debt instruments, investment agreements and medium-term notes (MTNs) issued by the asset/liability products and conduit segments, posting collateral under financing and hedging arrangements and investment agreements, making payments and collateral postings related to interest rate and foreign exchange swaps, and paying operating expenses. The primary sources of cash within MBIA Inc. used to meet its liquidity needs include available cash and liquid assets not subject to collateral posting requirements, scheduled principal and interest on assets held in its investment portfolio, dividends from subsidiaries, payments under tax sharing agreements with these subsidiaries (once the payments become unrestricted) and the ability to issue debt and equity. There can be no assurance as to the amount and timing of any such dividends or payments under the tax sharing agreements. MBIA Inc. s corporate debt, investment agreements, MTNs, and derivatives may be accelerated by the holders of such instruments upon the occurrence of certain events, such as a breach of covenant or representation, a bankruptcy of MBIA Inc. or the filing of an insolvency proceeding with respect to MBIA Corp. MBIA Inc. s obligations under its loans from MBIA Global Funding, LLC (GFL) may be accelerated only upon the occurrence of a bankruptcy or liquidation of MBIA Inc. Refer to Note 11: Business Segments for a description of the GFL loans. In the event of any acceleration of the Company s obligations, including under its corporate debt, investment agreements, MTNs, or derivatives, the Company likely would not have sufficient liquid resources to pay amounts due with respect to its corporate debt and other obligations that are not already collateralized.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, National settled with MBIA Inc. its taxes related to the 2010 and 2011 tax years of \$1 million and \$11 million, respectively. In addition, National paid to MBIA Inc. estimated 2012 taxes of \$44 million. Consistent with the tax sharing agreement, these amounts were placed in an escrow account until the expiration of National s two-year net operating loss (NOL) carry-back period under U.S. tax rules. At the expiration of National s carry-back period, any funds remaining after any reimbursement to National in respect of any NOL carry-backs would be available for general corporate purposes, including to satisfy any other obligations under the tax sharing agreement. As of June 30, 2012, \$314 million remained in escrow for the 2010 through 2012 tax years.

MBIA Inc. is subject to material liquidity risks and uncertainty. To mitigate these risks, the Company seeks to maintain cash and liquid investments in excess of its expected cash requirements over a multi-year period. The Company seeks to maintain cash and liquidity resources that it believes will be sufficient to make all payments due on its obligations and to meet other financial requirements, such as posting collateral, at least through the next twelve months.

Liquidity risk within MBIA Inc. is primarily a result of the following factors:

Currently, the majority of the assets of MBIA Inc. are pledged against investment agreement liabilities, intercompany and third-party financing arrangements and derivatives, which limit its ability to raise liquidity through asset sales. In addition, if the market value or rating eligibility of the assets which are pledged against these obligations were to decline, the Company would be required to pledge additional eligible assets in order to meet minimum required collateral amounts against these liabilities. In such event, the Company may sell additional assets, potentially with substantial losses, finance unencumbered assets through intercompany or third-party facilities, or use free cash or other assets, in some cases with NYSDFS approval, although there can be no assurance that these

strategies will be available or adequate to meet liquidity requirements.

There is a deficit of invested assets to liabilities issued to third parties and affiliates of \$802 million as of June 30, 2012, which increased from \$591 million as of December 31, 2011. This deficit is a result of selling investments at losses, and may further increase as a result of selling investments and terminating interest rates swaps at losses in the future. In addition, this deficit is expected to increase as a result of on-going expected operating losses. This deficit will need to be reversed prior to the maturity of the liabilities in order to ensure that there are sufficient funds available to fully retire the liabilities. The Company expects that MBIA Inc. will be able to eliminate the deficit prior to the maturity of the related liabilities from distributions from its operating subsidiaries and by raising third-party capital, although there can be no assurance that MBIA Inc. will be able to eliminate the deficit through such means.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

Because the majority of MBIA Inc. s assets are pledged against the obligations described above, the widening of credit spreads would have an adverse impact on the market value of these assets and increase collateralization requirements for the portfolio. The following table presents the estimated pre-tax change in fair value of the asset/liability products business assets as of June 30, 2012 from instantaneous shifts in credit spread curves. This table assumes that all credit spreads move by the same amount; however, it is more likely that the actual changes in credit spreads will vary by investment sector and individual security. The table presents hypothetical increases and decreases in credit spreads of 50 and 200 basis points. Because downward movements of these amounts in some cases would result in negative spreads, a floor was assumed for minimum spreads.

	Chang	ge in Credi	it Spreads (.	Asset/Liab	ility Products	s Business)	
	200 Basis Point	50 Bas	is Point	50 Ba	sis Point	200 Basis Point	
In millions	Decrease	rease Decrease		e Increase		In	crease
Estimated change in fair value	\$ 174	\$	54	\$	(49)	\$	(173)

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Inc. maintained three intercompany financing facilities to provide it with additional resources to meet its liquidity requirements within the asset/liability products business: the Asset Swap, the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan and the Conduit Repurchase Agreement. Refer to the preceding Key Intercompany Lending Agreements section for a description of these facilities.

Stressed credit market conditions for the remainder of 2012 could cause MBIA Inc. to have insufficient resources to cover collateral and/or other liquidity requirements. Management has identified certain actions to mitigate this risk. These contingent actions include: (1) additional sales of other invested assets exposed to credit spread stress risk, which may occur at losses and increase the deficit of invested assets to liabilities; (2) termination and settlement of interest rate swap agreements; and (3) other available advances from subsidiaries. These actions, if taken, are expected to result in either additional liquidity or reduced exposure to adverse credit spread movements. There can be no assurance that these actions will be sufficient to fully mitigate this risk. In the event that the Company cannot implement the contingent actions identified above to raise liquidity, or eliminate the deficit, it may have insufficient assets to make all payments on its obligations as they come due, which could result in a default by MBIA Inc. on its obligations and the potential for MBIA Corp., as guarantor of the investment agreements and GFL MTNs, to be called upon to satisfy obligations on those instruments as they come due.

As of June 30, 2012, the liquidity position of MBIA Inc., which consists of the liquidity positions of its corporate and asset/liability products activities, was \$336 million and comprised cash and liquid assets of \$290 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. As of December 31, 2011, MBIA Inc. had \$386 million of cash and liquid assets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$160 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. The Company believes this liquidity position provides MBIA Inc. with sufficient funds to cover expected obligations at least through the next twelve months.

MBIA Corp. Liquidity

Liquidity available in the structured finance and international insurance segment is affected by the Company s ability to collect on receivables associated with loss payments, the payment of claims on insured exposures, payments made to commute insured exposure, the repayment of the National Secured Loan, a reduction in investment income, any unanticipated expenses, or the impairment or a significant decline in the fair value of invested assets. The Company may also experience liquidity constraints as a result of NYIL requirements that the Company maintain specified, high quality assets to back the Company s reserves and surplus.

The Company believes the current liquidity position of MBIA Corp. is adequate to make expected future claims payments. However, the liquidity position of MBIA Corp. has been stressed due to the failure of the sellers/servicers of RMBS transactions insured by MBIA Corp. to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans in certain insured transactions and payments to counterparties in consideration for the commutation of insured transactions, which have resulted in a substantial reduction of exposure and potential loss volatility. While MBIA Corp. has made and may in the future make payments to counterparties in consideration for the commutation of insured transactions will depend on management s assessment of available liquidity. In addition, due to the deterioration in MBIA Corp. s CMBS exposures, primarily in those exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch, there is an increased likelihood that MBIA Corp. will experience claims on those exposures, which claims could be substantial. Depending on the amount of such claims and the amounts of claims on other policies issued by MBIA Corp., MBIA Corp. may not have sufficient liquid assets to pay such claims in the absence of a settlement with Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and the commutation of the CMBS exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch or in the absence of the collection of other substantial put-back recoverables.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

Payment requirements for the structured finance and international financial guarantee contracts fall into three categories: (i) timely interest and ultimate principal; (ii) ultimate principal only at final maturity; and (iii) payments upon settlement of individual collateral losses as they occur after any deductible or subordination has been exhausted, which payments are unscheduled and therefore more difficult to predict, and which category applies to most of the transactions on which the Company has recorded loss reserves. Insured transactions that require payment in full of the principal insured at maturity could present liquidity risks for MBIA Corp. since payment of the principal is due at maturity but any salvage could be recovered over time after payment of the principal amount. MBIA Corp. is generally required to satisfy claims within one to three business days, and as a result seeks to identify potential claims in advance through the Company s monitoring process. While MBIA Corp. s financial guarantee policies generally cannot be accelerated, thereby mitigating liquidity risk, the insurance of credit default swap (CDS) contracts may, in certain events, including the insolvency or payment default of the insurer or the issuer of the CDS, be subject to termination by the counterparty, triggering a claim for the fair value of the contract. In order to monitor liquidity risk and maintain appropriate liquidity resources, the Company uses the same methodology as it uses to monitor credit quality and losses within its insured portfolio, including stress scenarios. Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves for a discussion of the Company s loss process.

The Company s structured finance and international insurance segment also requires cash for the payment of operating expenses, as well as principal and interest related to its surplus notes. Pursuant to Section 1307 of the NYIL and the Fiscal Agency Agreement governing MBIA Corp. s surplus notes, any payment on the notes may be made only with the prior approval of the Superintendent of the NYSDFS whenever, in his judgment, the financial condition of [MBIA Corp.] warrants and payment may be made only out of MBIA Corp. s free and divisible surplus . If these conditions are not met, MBIA Corp. would not be obligated to make any applicable interest payment and no default or event of default would occur under the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any of the Company s other agreements. While the NYSDFS has approved the note interest payments in the past, its approval of the most recent note interest payment on July 16, 2012 was not received until after the date on which the Fiscal Agency Agreement requires MBIA Corp. to notify the registered holders of the notes and the Fiscal Agent of the failure to obtain such approval, as the Company disclosed on a Form 8-K filed on July 10, 2012. There can be no assurance that the NYSDFS will approve the next scheduled note interest payment on January 15, 2013 or any subsequent payments, or that it will approve any payment by the scheduled interest payment date or by the date on which the notice is required to be delivered to the registered holders and the Fiscal Agent, nor can there be any assurance that the NYSDFS will approve any optional redemption payment that MBIA Corp. may seek to make on or after January 15, 2013.

Since the fourth quarter of 2007 through June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. has made \$11.5 billion of cash payments, before reinsurance and collections and excluding loss adjustment expense (LAE) (including payments made to debt holders of consolidated variable interest entities (VIEs)), associated with second-lien RMBS securitizations and with commutations and claim payments relating to CDS contracts. These cash payments include loss payments of \$836 million made on behalf of MBIA Corp. s consolidated VIEs. Of the \$11.5 billion, MBIA Corp. has paid \$6.5 billion of gross claims (before reinsurance and collections and excluding LAE) on policies insuring second-lien RMBS securitizations, driven primarily by an extensive number of ineligible mortgage loans being placed in the securitizations in breach of the representations and warranties of the sellers/servicers.

MBIA Corp. is seeking to enforce its rights to have mortgage sellers/servicers cure, replace or repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from securitizations and has recorded a total of \$3.2 billion of related expected recoveries on its consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2012, including expected recoveries recorded in the Company s consolidated VIEs. These put-back claims have been disputed by the loan sellers/servicers and are the subject of certain litigations discussed more fully in Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies. On May 14, 2012, ResCap and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies, RFC and GMAC each filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Additionally, there is some risk that the sellers/servicers or other responsible parties might not be able to fully satisfy any judgment the Company will not be delayed in realizing these recoveries. Such risks are contemplated in the scenarios the Company utilizes to calculate these recoveries, which are recognized on the Company s consolidated balance sheets. The Company believes that it has adequate liquidity resources to provide for anticipated cash outflows; however, if the Company does not realize or is delayed in realizing these expected recoveries, the Company may not have adequate liquidity to fully execute the strategy to reduce future potential economic losses by commuting policies and purchasing instruments issued or guaranteed by the Company, or to repay any intercompany borrowings.

A portion of the commutation payments made since the fourth quarter of 2011 were financed through the National Secured Loan. MBIA Insurance Corporation s ability to repay the loan and any accrued interest will be primarily predicated on MBIA Corp. s ability to collect on its future receivables, including its ability to successfully enforce its rights to have the mortgage sellers/servicers cure, replace or repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from insured securitizations.

MBIA Corp. also insures third-party holders of the Company s asset/liability products segment s obligations. If the Company was unable to meet payment or collateral requirements associated with these obligations, the holders thereof could make claims under the MBIA Corp. insurance policies. In 2008, to provide additional liquidity to the asset/liability products business, MBIA Corp. lent \$2.0 billion to the segment on a secured basis under the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding balance of the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan was repaid in full. In May 2012, the NYSDFS approved the maturity extension of the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan to May 2013 with a maximum outstanding amount of \$450 million, subject to MBIA Corp. obtaining prior approval from the NYSDFS for any draws under the facility.

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, MBIA Corp. held cash and available-for-sale investments of \$1.5 billion, of which \$534 million comprised cash and highly liquid assets. The Company believes that MBIA Corp. s liquidity resources, including expected cash inflows, will adequately provide for anticipated cash outflows. In the event of unexpected liquidity requirements, the Company may have insufficient resources to meet its obligations or insufficient qualifying assets to support its surplus and reserves, and may seek to increase its cash holdings position by selling or financing assets, or raising external capital, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to draw on these additional sources of liquidity.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity (continued)

National Liquidity

Despite continued adverse macroeconomic conditions in the U.S., the incidence of default among U.S. public finance issuers remains extremely low and the Company believes that the liquidity position of its U.S. public finance insurance segment is sufficient to meet cash requirements in the ordinary course of business.

Liquidity risk arises in the Company s U.S. public finance insurance segment primarily from the following:

The insurance policies issued or reinsured by National, the entity from which the Company conducts its U.S. public finance insurance business, provide unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of payments of the principal of, and interest or other amounts owing on, insured obligations when due or, in the event that the insurance company has the right, at its discretion, to accelerate insured obligations upon default or otherwise, upon the insurance company s election to accelerate. In the event of a default in payment of principal, interest or other insured amounts by an issuer, National generally promises to make funds available in the insured amount within one to three business days following notification. In some cases, the amount due can be substantial, particularly if the default occurs on a transaction to which National has a large notional exposure or on a transaction structured with large, bullet-type principal maturities. The fact that the U.S. public finance insurance segment s financial guarantee contracts generally cannot be accelerated by a party other than the insurer helps to mitigate liquidity risk in this segment.

National has entered into certain intercompany transactions to support the liquidity needs of its affiliates. These transactions include the National Secured Loan to MBIA Insurance Corporation and the Asset Swap through which National provides liquid assets to the Company s asset/liability products business. As a result of these transactions, National is subject to repayment risk, which may adversely affect its liquidity. The repayment of the National Secured Loan will primarily be predicated on MBIA Corp. s ability to successfully enforce its rights to have mortgage sellers/servicers cure, replace or repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from securitizations it insured. In addition, changes in the market value of securities sold to National under its Asset Swap with the asset/liability products business may adversely affect its liquidity position if the asset/liability business were unable to pledge additional eligible assets in order to meet minimum required collateral amounts.

The Company s U.S. public finance insurance segment requires cash for the payment of operating expenses. Declines in operating cash inflows due to the absence of new business writings, declines in cash inflows from investment income, unanticipated expenses, or an impairment or significant decline in the fair value of invested assets could negatively impact its liquidity position. National held cash and short-term investments of \$421 million as of June 30, 2012, of which \$352 million was highly liquid and consisted predominantly of highly rated municipal, U.S. agency and corporate bonds. As of December 31, 2011, National held cash and short-term investments of \$771 million, of which \$703 million was highly liquid and consisted predominantly of highly rated municipal, U.S. agency and corporate bonds. With the exception of its loan to MBIA Insurance Corporation, most of National s investments, including those encumbered by the Asset Swap, are liquid and highly rated.

Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies

The Company has disclosed its significant accounting policies in Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. The following significant accounting policies provide an update to those included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Table of Contents

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X and, accordingly, do not include all of the information and disclosures required by GAAP for annual periods. These statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have not been audited by an independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (U.S.), but in the opinion of management such financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the Company s consolidated financial position and results of operations. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. As additional information becomes available or actual amounts become determinable, the recorded estimates are revised and reflected in operating results.

The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 may not be indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2012. The December 31, 2011 consolidated balance sheet was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP for annual periods. Certain amounts have been reclassified in comparison to prior years financial statements to conform to the current presentation. Such reclassifications had no impact on total revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, or shareholders equity for all periods presented.

Statements of Cash Flows

Previously, the Company reported its consolidated statements of cash flows using the indirect method. The indirect method uses accrual accounting information to present the cash flows from operations. Effective January 1, 2012, the Company elected to present its Statements of Cash Flows using the direct method. The direct method uses actual cash flow information from the Company s operations, rather than using accrual accounting values. Using either the direct or indirect method, total cash flows from operations are the same. In addition, the presentation of cash flows from investing and financing activities using either the direct or indirect method are the same. The change to the direct method for calculating and presenting cash flows from operations was implemented retroactively for all statements of cash flows presented herein. Use of the direct method requires a reconciliation of net income to cash flows from operations. This reconciliation is provided as a supplement directly beneath the statements of cash flows.

Note 3: Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Presentation of Comprehensive Income (ASU 2011-05)

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income. This amendment eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the statements of changes in equity except for the presentation of reclassification adjustments for which adoption has been deferred by the FASB. The amendment does not change what currently constitutes net income and other comprehensive income. The new guidance is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2012. In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12 Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05, which defers certain aspects of ASU 2011-05 related to the presentation of reclassification adjustments. The Company adopted this standard effective January 1, 2012. The standard only affected the Company s presentation of comprehensive income and did not affect the Company s consolidated balance sheets, results of operations, or cash flows.

Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs (ASU 2011-04)

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. This amendment results in a consistent definition of fair value and common requirements for measurement of and disclosure about fair value between GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The Company adopted this standard effective January 1, 2012. This standard only affected the Company s disclosures related to fair value; therefore, the adoption of this standard did not affect the Company s consolidated balance sheets, results of operations, or cash flows.

Accounting for Costs Associated with Acquiring or Renewing Insurance Contracts (ASU 2010-26)

In October 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-26, Financial Services Insurance (Topic 944) Accounting for Costs Associated with Acquiring or Renewing Insurance Contracts. This amendment specifies which costs incurred in the acquisition of new and renewal insurance contracts should be capitalized. The Company adopted this standard on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2012. As the Company is currently not writing any significant new business, the adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on the Company s consolidated balance sheets, results of operations, or cash flows. The amount of acquisition costs capitalized during the first six months of 2012 compared with the amount of acquisition costs that would have been capitalized during the period if the Company s previous policy had been applied during that period is not material because the Company did not write any significant new insurance business during the first six months of 2012.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 3: Recent Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

Recent Accounting Developments

Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities (ASU 2011-11)

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11, Balance Sheet (Topic 210) Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities. ASU 2011-11 creates new disclosure requirements about the nature of the Company s rights of setoff and related arrangements associated with its financial instruments and derivative instruments. This amendment does not change the existing offsetting eligibility criteria or the permitted balance sheet presentation for those instruments that meet the eligibility criteria. The disclosure requirements are effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2013. This standard will only affect the Company s disclosures and will not affect the Company s consolidated balance sheets, results of operations, or cash flows.

Refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for further information regarding the effects of recently adopted accounting standards on prior year financial statements.

Note 4: Variable Interest Entities

Structured Finance and International Insurance

Through MBIA s structured finance and international insurance segment, the Company provides credit protection to issuers of obligations that may involve issuer-sponsored special purpose entities (SPEs). An SPE may be considered a VIE to the extent the SPE s total equity at risk is not sufficient to permit the SPE to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support or its equity investors lack any one of the following characteristics (i) the power to direct the activities of the SPE that most significantly impact the entity s economic performance or (ii) the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity or the right to receive the expected residual returns of the entity. A holder of a variable interest or interests in a VIE is required to assess whether it has a controlling financial interest, and thus is required to consolidate the entity as primary beneficiary. An assessment of a controlling financial interest identifies the primary beneficiary as the variable interest holder that has both of the following characteristics (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity s economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The primary beneficiary is required to consolidate the VIE. An ongoing reassessment of controlling financial interest is required to be performed based on any substantive changes in facts and circumstances involving the VIE and its variable interests.

The Company evaluates issuer-sponsored SPEs initially to determine if an entity is a VIE, and is required to reconsider its initial determination if certain events occur. For all entities determined to be VIEs, MBIA performs an ongoing reassessment to determine whether its guarantee to provide credit protection on obligations issued by VIEs provides the Company with a controlling financial interest. Based on its ongoing reassessment of controlling financial interest, the Company determines whether a VIE is required to be consolidated.

The Company makes its determination for consolidation based on a qualitative assessment of the purpose and design of a VIE, the terms and characteristics of variable interests of an entity, and the risks a VIE is designed to create and pass through to holders of variable interests. The Company generally provides credit protection on obligations issued by VIEs, and holds certain contractual rights according to the purpose and design of a VIE. The Company may have the ability to direct certain activities of a VIE depending on facts and circumstances, including the occurrence of certain contingent events, and these activities may be considered the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity s economic performance. The Company generally considers its guarantee of principal and interest payments of insured obligations, given nonperformance by a VIE, to be an obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. At the time the Company determines it has the ability to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity based on facts and circumstances, MBIA is deemed to have a controlling financial interest in the VIE and is required to consolidate the entity as primary beneficiary. The Company performs an ongoing reassessment of controlling financial interest that may result in consolidation or deconsolidation of any VIE.

Table of Contents

Wind-down Operations

In its asset/liability products segment, the Company invests in obligations issued by issuer-sponsored SPEs which are included in fixed-maturity securities held as available-for-sale. The Company evaluates issuer-sponsored SPEs to determine if the entity is a VIE. For all entities determined to be VIEs, the Company evaluates whether its investment is determined to have both of the characteristics of a controlling financial interest in the VIE. The Company performs an ongoing reassessment of controlling financial interests in issuer-sponsored VIEs based on investments held. MBIA s wind-down operations do not have a controlling financial interest in any issuer-sponsored VIEs and are not the primary beneficiary of any issuer-sponsored VIEs.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 4: Variable Interest Entities (continued)

In the conduit segment, the Company has managed and administered two conduits that invested primarily in debt securities and were funded through the issuance of VIE notes and long-term debt. MBIA Corp. insures the debt obligations of the conduits, and provides credit protection on certain assets held by the conduits. The conduits are VIEs and are consolidated by the Company as primary beneficiary. In 2012, all debt securities held by one of the conduits were entirely repaid, and the proceeds were used to repay all outstanding long-term debt of this conduit. The Company subsequently dissolved this conduit, and no longer provides any related credit protection.

Nonconsolidated VIEs

The following tables present the total assets of nonconsolidated VIEs in which the Company holds a variable interest as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011. The following tables also present the Company s maximum exposure to loss for nonconsolidated VIEs as well as the value of the assets and liabilities the Company has recorded for its interest in these VIEs as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011. The Company has aggregated nonconsolidated VIEs based on the underlying credit exposure of the insured obligation. The nature of the Company s variable interests in nonconsolidated VIEs is related to financial guarantees, insured CDS contracts and any investments in obligations issued by nonconsolidated VIEs.

June 30, 2012

		Comming Volue of Acceta								C			- L-11242.		
			Carrying Value of Assets							Carrying Value of Liabilities Loss and Loss					
					-										
		Maximum			D			surance		arned	•	ustment	ъ .		
	VIE	Exposure				niums ivable		Loss		mium		pense		vative vilities	
In millions	Assets	to Loss		nents (1)		(2)	Kec	overable (3)		enue (4)	ке	serves (5)		(6)	
Insurance:															
Global structured finance:															
Collateralized debt obligations	\$ 20,373	\$ 11,539	\$	1	\$	61	\$	-	\$	54	\$	2	\$	108	
Mortgage-backed residential	38,287	14,093		11		80		2,925		79		408		5	
Mortgage-backed commercial	4,784	2,493		-		2		-		2		-		-	
Consumer asset-backed	6,584	3,668		11		21		-		21		18		-	
Corporate asset-backed	24,913	12,522		-		155		21		168		-		1	
Total global structured finance	94,941	44,315		23		319		2,946		324		428		114	
Global public finance	43,097	21,195		-		212		-		265		-		-	
Total insurance	\$ 138,038	\$ 65,510	\$	23	\$	531	\$	2,946	\$	589	\$	428	\$	114	

(1) - Reported within Investments on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

(2) - Reported within Premiums receivable on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

(3) - Reported within Insurance loss recoverable on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

(4) - Reported within Unearned premium revenue on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

Table of Contents

- (5) Reported within Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.
- (6) Reported within Derivative liabilities on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 4: Variable Interest Entities (continued)

				Ca	December 31, 2011 arrying Value of Assets					Carrying Value of Liabilities					
In millions	VIE Assets	Maximum Exposure to Loss	nvest	ments (1	Rec	emiums eeivable (2)		surance Loss overable (3)	Pre Rev	earned mium venue (4)	Adj Ev	and Loss ustment kpense erves ⁽⁵⁾	Liał	ivative oilities ⑹	
Insurance:															
Global structured finance:															
Collateralized debt obligations	\$ 26,507	\$ 15,466	\$	42	\$	67	\$	-	\$	58	\$	3	\$	113	
Mortgage-backed residential	47,669	16,379		25		87		2,773		86		428		5	
Mortgage-backed commercial	5,001	2,644		-		2		-		2		-		-	
Consumer asset-backed	8,015	4,563		16		26		-		25		23		-	
Corporate asset-backed	29,855	15,577		241		192		22		205		-		1	
Total global structured finance	117,047	54,629		324		374		2,795		376		454		119	
Global public finance	42,106	21,774		-		215		-		270		-		-	
Total insurance	\$ 159,153	\$ 76,403	\$	324	\$	589	\$	2,795	\$	646	\$	454	\$	119	

(1) - Reported within Investments on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

- (2) Reported within Premiums receivable on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.
- (3) Reported within Insurance loss recoverable on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.
- (4) Reported within Unearned premium revenue on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.
- (5) Reported within Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.
- (6) Reported within Derivative liabilities on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

The maximum exposure to losses as a result of MBIA s variable interests in VIEs is represented by insurance in force. Insurance in force is the maximum future payments of principal and interest, net of cessions to reinsurers, which may be required under commitments to make payments on insured obligations issued by nonconsolidated VIEs.

Consolidated VIEs

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of consolidated VIEs were \$8.4 billion and \$7.4 billion, respectively, as of June 30, 2012, and \$10.9 billion and \$9.9 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2011. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are presented separately in

Assets of consolidated variable interest entities and Liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities on the Company s consolidated balance sheets. Additional VIEs are consolidated or deconsolidated based on an ongoing reassessment of controlling financial interest, when events occur or circumstances arise, and whether the ability to exercise rights that constitute power to direct activities of any VIEs are present according to the design and characteristics of these entities. No additional VIEs were consolidated during the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. No gains or losses were recognized on the VIEs that were deconsolidated during the six months ended June 30, 2012 and net realized gains

related to the deconsolidation of VIEs were \$3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011.

Holders of insured obligations of issuer-sponsored VIEs related to the Company s structured finance and international insurance segment do not have recourse to the general assets of MBIA. In the event of nonpayment of an insured obligation issued by a consolidated VIE, the Company is obligated to pay principal and interest, when due, on the respective insured obligation only. The Company s exposure to consolidated VIEs is limited to the credit protection provided on insured obligations and any additional variable interests held by MBIA. Creditors of the conduits do not have recourse to the general assets of MBIA apart from the financial guarantee insurance policies provided by MBIA Corp. on insured obligations issued by the conduits.

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Process

As of June 30, 2012, the majority of the Company s case basis reserves and insurance loss recoveries recorded in accordance with GAAP were related to insured first-lien and second-lien RMBS transactions. These reserves and recoveries do not include estimates for policies insuring credit derivatives. Policies insuring credit derivative contracts are accounted for as derivatives and carried at fair value under GAAP. The fair values of insured derivative contracts are influenced by a variety of market and transaction-specific factors that may be unrelated to potential future claim payments under the Company s insurance policies. In the absence of credit impairments on insured derivative contracts or the early termination of such contracts at a loss, the cumulative unrealized losses recorded from fair valuing these contracts should reverse before or at the maturity of the contracts.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

Notwithstanding the difference in accounting under GAAP for financial guarantee policies and the Company s insured derivatives, insured derivatives, insured derivatives have similar terms, conditions, risks, and economic profiles to financial guarantee insurance policies, and, therefore, are evaluated by the Company for loss (referred to as credit impairment herein) and LAE periodically in the same way that loss and LAE reserves are estimated for financial guarantee insurance policies. Credit impairments represent actual payments and collections plus the present value of estimated expected future claim payments, net of recoveries. MBIA Insurance Corporation s expected future claim payments were discounted using a rate of 5.59%, the same rate it used to calculate its statutory loss reserves as of June 30, 2012. These credit impairments, calculated in accordance with U.S. STAT, differ from the fair values recorded in the Company s consolidated financial statements. The Company considers its credit impairment estimates as critical information for investors as it provides information about loss payments the Company expects to make on insured derivative contracts. As a result, the following loss and LAE process discussion includes information about loss and LAE activity recorded in accordance with GAAP for financial guarantee insurance policies and credit impairments estimated in accordance with U.S. STAT for insured derivative contracts. Refer to Note 6: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for information about the Company s monitoring of outstanding insured obligations and for additional information about its loss reserving process. Refer to Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments included herein for additional information about the Company s insured credit derivative contracts.

RMBS Case Basis Reserves and Recoveries

The Company s RMBS reserves and recoveries relate to financial guarantee insurance policies. The Company calculated RMBS case basis reserves as of June 30, 2012 for both first-lien and second-lien RMBS transactions using a process called the Roll Rate Methodology. The Roll Rate Methodology is a multi-step process using a database of loan level information, a proprietary internal cash flow model, and a commercially available model to estimate expected ultimate cumulative losses on insured bonds. Roll Rate is defined as the probability that current loans become delinquent and that loans in the delinquent pipeline are charged-off or liquidated. Generally, Roll Rates are calculated for the previous three months and averaged. The loss reserve estimates are based on a probability-weighted average of three scenarios of loan losses (base case, stress case, and an additional stress case).

In calculating ultimate cumulative losses for RMBS, the Company estimates the amount of loans that are expected to be charged-off (deemed uncollectible by servicers of the transactions) or liquidated in the future. The Company assumes that such charged-off loans have zero recovery values.

First-lien RMBS Reserves

The Company s first-lien RMBS case basis reserves as of June 30, 2012, which primarily relate to RMBS backed by alternative A- paper (Alt-A) and subprime mortgage loans were determined using the Roll Rate Methodology. The Company assumes that the Roll Rate for loans in foreclosure, Real Estate Owned (REO) and bankruptcy are 90%, 90% and 75%, respectively. Roll Rates for current, 30-59 day delinquent loans, 60-89 day delinquent loans and 90+ day delinquent loans are calculated on a transaction-specific basis. Roll Rates for loans that are current as of May 31, 2012 (Current Roll to Loss) stay at the May 31, 2012 level for two months before declining to 25% of this level over a 24-month period. Additionally, the Company runs scenarios where the 90+ day roll rate to loss is set at 90%. The Roll Rates are applied to the amounts in the respective delinquency buckets based on delinquencies as of May 31, 2012 to estimate future losses from loans that are delinquent as of the current reporting period.

In calculating ultimate cumulative losses for first-lien RMBS, the Company estimates the amount of loans that are expected to be liquidated through foreclosure or short sale. The time to liquidation for a defaulted loan is specific to the loan s delinquency bucket with the latest three-month average loss severities generally used to calculate losses at loan liquidation. The loss severities are reduced over time to account for reduction in the amount of foreclosure inventory, future increases in home prices, and principal amortization of the loan.

Second-lien RMBS Reserves

The Company s second-lien RMBS case basis reserves as of June 30, 2012 relate to RMBS backed by home equity lines of credit (HELOC) and closed-end second mortgages (CES).

The Roll Rates for 30-59 day delinquent loans and 60-89 day delinquent loans are calculated on a transaction-specific basis. The Company assumes that the Roll Rate for 90+ day delinquent loans, excluding foreclosures, REO and bankruptcies, is 95%. The Roll Rates are applied to the amounts in the respective delinquency buckets based on delinquencies as of May 31, 2012 to estimate future losses from loans that are delinquent as of the current reporting period.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

Current Roll to Loss is calculated on a transaction-specific basis. A proportion of loans reported current as of May 31, 2012 is assumed to become delinquent every month, at a Current Roll to Loss rate that persists at a high level for a time and subsequently starts to decline. A key assumption in the model is the period of time in which the Company projects high levels of Current Roll to Loss to persist. In the Company s base case, the Company assumes that the Current Roll to Loss begins to decline immediately and continues to decline over the next six months to 25% of their levels as of May 31, 2012. In the stress case, the period of elevated delinquency and loss is extended by six months. In the additional stress case, the Company assumes that the current trends in losses will remain through late 2013, after which time they will revert to the base case. For example, in the base case, as of May 31, 2012, if the amount of current Roll to Loss for the transaction is 3%. In the base case, it is then assumed that the Current Roll to Loss will reduce linearly to 25% of its original value over the next six months (i.e., 3 % will linearly reduce to 0.75% over the six months from June 2012 to November 2012). After that six-month period, the Company further reduces the Current Roll to Loss to 0% by early 2014 with the expectation that the performing seasoned loans will eventually result in loan performance reverting to historically low levels of default. In the model, the Company assumes that all current loans that become delinquent are charged-off.

In addition, in the Company s loss reserve models for transactions secured by HELOCs, the Company considers borrower draw and prepayment rates and factors that could affect the excess spread generated by current loans which offsets losses and reduces payments. For HELOCs, the current three-month average draw rate is generally used to project future draws on the line. For HELOCs and transactions secured by fixed-rate CES, the three-month average conditional prepayment rate is generally used to start the projection for trends in voluntary principal prepayments. Projected cash flows are also based on an assumed constant basis spread between floating rate assets and floating rate insured debt obligations (the difference between Prime and London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) interest rates, minus any applicable fees). For all transactions, cash flow models consider allocations and other structural aspects of the transactions, including managed amortization periods, rapid amortization periods, stress is applied by elongating the Current Roll to Loss rate for various periods, simulating a slower improvement in the transaction performance. The estimated net claims from the procedure above are then discounted using a risk-free rate to a net present value reflecting MBIA s general obligation to pay claims over time and not on an accelerated basis. The above assumptions represent MBIA s best estimates of how transactions will perform over time.

The Company monitors portfolio performance on a monthly basis against projected performance, reviewing delinquencies, Roll Rates, and prepayment rates (including voluntary and involuntary). However, given the large percentage of mortgage loans that were not underwritten by the sellers/servicers in accordance with applicable underwriting guidelines, performance remains difficult to predict and losses may exceed expectations. In the event of a material deviation in actual performance from projected performance, the Company would increase or decrease the case basis reserves accordingly. If actual performance were to remain at the peak levels the Company is modeling for six months longer than in the probability-weighted outcome, the addition to the case basis reserves before considering potential recoveries would be approximately \$135 million.

Second-lien RMBS Recoveries

As of June 30, 2012, the Company recorded estimated recoveries of \$3.2 billion, gross of income taxes, related to second-lien RMBS put-back claims on ineligible loans, consisting of \$2.2 billion included in Insurance loss recoverable and \$1.0 billion included in Loan repurchase commitments presented under the heading Assets of consolidated variable interest entities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company's estimated recoveries after income taxes calculated at the federal statutory rate of 35%, were \$2.1 billion and \$2.0 billion, respectively, which was 83% and 119% of the consolidated total shareholders' equity of MBIA, excluding preferred stock of subsidiaries and noncontrolling interests. These estimated recoveries relate to the Company's put-back claims of ineligible loans, which have been disputed by the loan sellers/servicers and are currently subject to litigation initiated by the Company to pursue recoveries. While the Company believes that it will prevail in enforcing its contractual rights, there is uncertainty with respect to the ultimate outcome. Furthermore, there is a risk that sellers/servicers or other responsible parties might not be able to satisfy their put-back obligations. Refer to the ResCap discussion below. Such risks are contemplated in the scenarios the Company utilizes to calculate recoveries.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

Beginning in 2008, the Company utilized loan level forensic review consultants to re-underwrite/review mortgage loan files underlying certain first-lien and second-lien RMBS transactions insured by MBIA. The consultants graded the individual mortgages that were sampled into an industry standard three level grading scale, defined as (i) Level 1 loans complied with specific underwriting guidelines, (ii) Level 2 loans contained some deviation from underwriting guidelines but also contained sufficient compensating factors and (iii) Level 3 loans contained material deviation from the underwriting guidelines without any compensating factors. MBIA s forensic review consultants utilized the same underwriting guidelines that the originators were to have used to qualify borrowers when originally underwriting the loans and determined that more than 80% of the loans reviewed were considered to be ineligible mortgage loans. The Company has developed estimates of breach rates primarily based upon loans with credit breaches or credit and compliance breaches because the Company believes that loans with these types of breaches are not judgmental and cannot be cured. Breach rates were determined by dividing the number of loans that contained credit and/or credit and compliance breaches by the total number of loans reviewed for a particular transaction.

Legal decisions have led the Company to conclude that the practice of reviewing individual loans for the purpose of assessing put-back recoveries is no longer necessary. The Company determined in the context of the favorable decision on its motion *in limine* addressing the use of sampling to establish breach-of-contract claims in the Countrywide litigation (MBIA Insurance Corp. v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., et al, Index No. 602825/08 (N.Y. Sup. Ct.)) that a sufficient number of loans in each securitization have already been reviewed to demonstrate widespread breaches of the contractual provisions of the agreements with the sponsors. Furthermore, MBIA has received subsequent opinions which have confirmed that the Company is not limited to a loan-by-loan put-back remedy and can seek a pool-wide remedy based on sampling and extrapolation, as well as decisions in MBIA s favor related to causation and rescissory damages.

The Company assesses the financial abilities of the sellers/servicers using external credit ratings and other factors and the impact of such factors on cash flows related to expected recoveries is incorporated into the Company s probability-weighted scenarios. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized any recoveries related to its IndyMac Bank, F.S.B. insured exposures and has subsequent to the ResCap bankruptcy filing reviewed the indicative scenarios and related probabilities assigned to each scenario to develop a distribution of possible outcomes. The Company s expected recoveries may be discounted in the future based on additional reviews of the creditworthiness of other sellers/servicers.

On May 14, 2012, ResCap, and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies, RFC and GMAC, each filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The Company believes that the claims against RFC and GMAC are stronger and better defined than most other unsecured creditor claims due to the following reasons:

the direct contractual relationship between MBIA, GMAC and RFC related to the Company s second-lien RMBS put-back claims on ineligible mortgage loans that were improperly included in the MBIA-insured transactions;

MBIA s legal claims against RFC and GMAC based on breach of contract and fraud have withstood motions to dismiss; and

expert reports submitted in the RFC litigation which established a substantial breach rate in MBIA insured securitizations, and MBIA s damages as a result thereof.

The Company has modeled scenario-based recoveries which are founded upon the strength of these claims as well as a range of estimated assets available to unsecured creditors of the ResCap companies. These outcomes are based upon information that was available to the Company as of the filing date. Accordingly, the Company continues to maintain the same probability-weighted scenarios for its non-GMAC and non-RFC exposures (non-ResCap exposures). The non-ResCap scenarios are primarily based on the percentage of incurred losses the Company would collect as opposed to the recoveries based primarily on loan file reviews. The non-ResCap recovery estimates incorporate five scenarios that

include full recovery of its incurred losses and limited/reduced recoveries due to litigation delays and risks and/or potential financial distress of the sellers/servicers. Probabilities were assigned across these scenarios, with most of the probability weight on partial recovery scenarios. The sum of the probabilities assigned to all scenarios is 100%. Expected cash inflows from recoveries are discounted using the current risk-free discount rates associated with the underlying transaction s cash flows, which ranged from 0.7% to 1.6%, depending upon the transaction s expected average life. However, based on the Company s assessment of the strength of its contract claims, the Company believes it is entitled to collect the full amount of its incurred losses on these transactions, which totaled \$4.9 billion through June 30, 2012.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

The Company s potential recoveries are typically based on either salvage rights, the rights conferred to MBIA through the transactional documents (inclusive of the insurance agreement), or subrogation rights embedded within financial guarantee insurance policies. The second-lien RMBS transactions with respect to which MBIA has estimated put-back recoveries provide the Company with such rights. Expected salvage and subrogation recoveries, as well as recoveries from other remediation efforts, reduce the Company s claim liability. Once a claim payment has been made, the claim liability has been satisfied and MBIA s right to recovery is no longer considered an offset to future expected claim payments, but is recorded as a salvage asset. The amount of recoveries recorded by the Company is limited to paid claims plus the present value of projected future claim payments. As claim payments are made, the recorded amount of potential recoveries may exceed the remaining amount of the claim liability for a given policy.

To date, sellers/servicers have not substituted loans which MBIA has put-back, and the amount of loans repurchased has been insignificant. The unsatisfactory resolution of these put-backs led MBIA to initiate litigation against five of the sellers/servicers to enforce their obligations. The Company has alleged several causes of action in its complaints, including breach of contract, fraudulent inducement and indemnification. MBIA s aggregate \$3.2 billion of estimated potential recoveries do not include damages from causes of action other than breach of contract. Irrespective of amounts recorded in its financial statements, MBIA is seeking to recover the full amount of its incurred losses and other damages on these transactions. MBIA has not collected any material amounts of cash related to these recoveries. Additional information on the status of these litigations can be found in the Recovery Litigation discussion within Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies.

MBIA has received five decisions with regard to the respective defendants motions to dismiss the Company s claims. In each instance, the respective court denied the motion, allowing MBIA to proceed on, at minimum, its fraud and breach-of-contract claims. In December 2011, MBIA reached an agreement with one of the five sellers/servicers with whom it had initiated litigation and that litigation has been dismissed.

The Company s assessment of the recovery outlook for insured second-lien RMBS issues is principally based on the following factors:

- 1. the strength of the Company s existing contract claims related to ineligible loan substitution/repurchase obligations;
- 2. the settlement for \$1.1 billion of Assured Guaranty s put-back related claims with Bank of America in April 2011;
- 3. the settlement for \$375 million plus additional consideration of Syncora s put-back related claims with Bank of America in July 2012;
- 4. the improvement in the financial strength of the sellers/servicers due to mergers and acquisitions and/or government assistance, which should facilitate their ability to comply with required loan repurchase/substitution obligations. The Company is not aware of any provisions that explicitly preclude or limit the successors obligations to honor the obligations of the original sponsor. The Company s assessment of any credit risk associated with these sponsors (or their successors) is reflected in the Company s probability-weighted potential recovery scenarios;
- 5. evidence of loan repurchase/substitution compliance by sellers/servicers for put-back requests made by other harmed parties with respect to ineligible loans; this factor is further enhanced by (i) Bank of America s disclosure that it has resolved \$8.0 billion of repurchase requests in the fourth quarter of 2010; (ii) the Fannie Mae settlements with Ally Bank announced on December 23, 2010

and with Bank of America (which also involved Freddie Mac) announced on December 31, 2010, and (iii) the Company s settlement agreements entered into on July 16, 2010 and December 13, 2011 respectively, between MBIA Corp. and sponsors of certain MBIA Corp.-insured mortgage loan securitizations in which the Company received consideration in exchange for a release relating to its representation and warranty claims against the sponsor. These settlements resolved all of MBIA s representation and warranty claims against the sponsors on mutually beneficial terms and in aggregate were slightly more than the recoveries previously recorded by the Company related to these exposures;

- 6. the favorable outcome for MBIA on defendants motions to dismiss in the litigations discussed above, where the respective courts allowed MBIA s contract and fraud claims against the defendants to proceed;
- 7. the favorable outcome in the Countrywide litigation on MBIA s motion to present evidence of liability and damages through the introduction of statistically valid random samples of loans rather than on a loan-by-loan basis;
- 8. the favorable outcome in the Countrywide litigation denying Bank of America s motion to dismiss MBIA s claims for successor liability as well as a decision from the New York Supreme Court Appellate Division, First Department, which lifted the stay on discovery related to successor liability claims at Bank of America;
- 9. the favorable outcome in the Countrywide litigation on MBIA s motion regarding causation and MBIA s right to rescissory damages;
- 10. the favorable outcome in the JPMorgan Chase Federal court litigation on Syncora s motion regarding causation;

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

11. the unanimous ruling from the New York Supreme Court Appellate Division, First Department, in the Countrywide litigation allowing MBIA to pursue its fraud claims; and

12. loan repurchase reserves and/or settlements which have been publicly disclosed by certain sellers/servicers to cover such obligations. The Company continues to consider all relevant facts and circumstances, including the factors described above, in developing its assumptions on expected cash inflows, probability of potential recoveries (including the outcome of litigation) and recovery period. The estimated amount and likelihood of potential recoveries are expected to be revised and supplemented to the extent there are developments in the pending litigation, new litigation is initiated and/or changes to the financial condition of sellers/servicers occur. While the Company believes it will be successful in realizing recoveries from contractual and other claims, the ultimate amounts recovered may be materially different from those recorded by the Company given the inherent uncertainty of the manner of resolving the claims (e.g., litigation) and the assumptions used in the required estimation process for accounting purposes which are based, in part, on judgments and other information that are not easily corroborated by historical data or other relevant benchmarks.

All of the Company s policies insuring second-lien RMBS for which litigation has been initiated against sellers/servicers are in the form of financial guarantee insurance contracts. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company has not recorded a gain contingency with respect to pending litigation.

ABS CDOs (Financial Guarantees and Insured Derivatives)

MBIA s insured ABS CDOs are transactions that include a variety of collateral ranging from corporate bonds to structured finance assets (which includes but are not limited to RMBS related collateral, ABS CDOs, corporate CDOs and collateralized loan obligations). These transactions were insured as either financial guarantee insurance policies or credit derivatives with the majority insured in the form of credit derivatives. Since the fourth quarter of 2007, MBIA s insured par exposure within the ABS CDO portfolio has been substantially reduced through a combination of terminations and commutations. Accordingly, as of June 30, 2012, the insured par exposure of the ABS CDO financial guarantee insurance policies and credit derivatives portfolio has declined by approximately 88% of the insured amount as of December 31, 2007.

The Company s ABS CDOs originally benefited from two sources of credit enhancement. First, the subordination in the underlying securities collateralizing the transaction must be fully eroded and second, the subordination below the insured tranche in the CDO transaction must be fully eroded before the insured tranche is subject to a claim. The Company s payment obligations after a default vary by transaction and by insurance type.

The primary factor in estimating reserves on insured ABS CDO policies written as financial guarantees and in estimating impairments on insured ABS CDO credit derivatives is the losses associated with the underlying collateral in the transactions. MBIA s approach to establishing reserves or impairments in this portfolio employs a methodology which is similar to other structured finance asset classes insured by MBIA. The Company uses a total of four probability-weighted scenarios in order to estimate its reserves or impairments for ABS CDOs.

As of June 30, 2012, the Company had loss and LAE reserves totaling \$167 million related to ABS CDO financial guarantee insurance policies after the elimination of \$244 million of reserves related to consolidated VIEs. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company had a benefit of \$2 million of losses and LAE recorded in earnings related to ABS CDO financial guarantee insurance policies after the elimination of a \$17 million benefit as a result of consolidating VIEs. In the event of further deteriorating performance of the collateral referenced or held in ABS CDO transactions, the amount of losses estimated by the Company could increase materially.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

Credit Impairments Related to Structured CMBS Pools, CRE CDOs and CRE Loan Pools (Accounted for as Derivatives)

Most of the structured CMBS pools, CRE CDOs and CRE loan pools insured by MBIA are accounted for as insured credit derivatives and are carried at fair value in the Company s consolidated financial statements. Since the Company s insured credit derivatives have similar terms, conditions, risks, and economic profiles to its financial guarantee insurance policies, the Company evaluates them for impairment in the same way that it estimates loss and LAE for its financial guarantee policies. The following discussion provides information about the Company s process for estimating credit impairments on these contracts using its statutory loss reserve methodology, determined as the present value of the probability-weighted potential future losses, net of estimated recoveries, across multiple scenarios, plus actual payments and collections. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, additional credit impairments and LAE on structured CMBS pools, CRE CDOs and CRE loan pools were estimated to be \$454 million as a result of additional delinquencies and loan level liquidations, as well as continued refinements of MBIA s assessment of various commutation possibilities. The majority of the increase relates to a subset of transactions with a single counterparty. The cumulative credit impairments and LAE on structured CMBS pools, CRE CDOs and CRE loan pools were estimated to be \$3.2 billion through June 30, 2012. Although the pace of increases in the delinquency rate has slowed and many loans are being modified, liquidations have taken place. Some loans were liquidated with minimal losses of 1% to 2%, others experienced near complete losses, and in some cases severities exceeded 100%. These liquidations have led to losses in the CMBS market, and in many cases, have resulted in reductions of enhancement to the individual CMBS bonds referenced by the insured structured CMBS pools. In certain insured transactions, these losses have resulted in deductible erosion. Bond level enhancement and pool level deductibles are structural features intended to mitigate losses to the Company. However, some of the transactions reference similar rated subordinate tranches of CMBS bonds. When there are broad-based declines in property performance, this leverage can result in rapid deterioration in pool performance.

In the CRE CDO portfolio, transaction-specific structures require managers to report reduced enhancement according to certain guidelines which often include downgrades even when the bond is still performing. As a result, as well as additional collateral defaults, reported enhancement has been reduced significantly in some CRE CDOs. Moreover, many of the CRE CDO positions are amortizing more quickly than originally expected as most or all interest proceeds that would have been allocated to more junior classes within the CDO have been diverted and redirected to pay down the senior most classes insured by MBIA.

The Company has developed multiple scenarios to consider the range of potential outcomes in the CRE market and their impact on MBIA. The approaches require substantial judgments about the future performance of the underlying loans, and include the following:

The first approach considers the range of commutation agreements achieved and agreed to since 2010, which included 65 structured CMBS pools, CRE CDOs and CRE loan pool policies totaling \$32.9 billion of gross insured exposure. The Company considers the range of commutations achieved over the past several years with multiple counterparties. This approach results in an estimated price to commute the remaining policies with price estimates, based on this experience. It is customized by counterparty and is dependent on the level of dialogue with the counterparty and the credit quality and payment profile of the underlying exposure.

The second approach considers current delinquency rates and uses current and projected net operating income (NOI) and capitalization rates (Cap Rates) to project losses under two scenarios. Loans are stratified by size with larger loans being valued utilizing lower Cap Rates than for smaller loans. These scenarios also assume that Cap Rates and NOIs remain flat for the near term and then begin to improve gradually. Additionally, in these scenarios, any loan with a balance greater than \$75 million with a debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) less than 1.0x or that was reported as being in any stage of delinquency, was reviewed individually so that performance and loss severity could be more accurately determined. Specific loan level assumptions for this large loan subset were then incorporated into these scenarios, as well as specific assumptions regarding certain smaller loans when there appeared to be a material change in the asset s financial or delinquency performance over the preceding six months. These scenarios project

different levels of additional defaults with respect to loans that are current. This approach makes use of the most recent financial statements available at the property level.

The third approach stratifies loans into buckets based on delinquency status (including a current bucket) and utilizes recent Roll Rates actually experienced within each of the commercial mortgage-backed index (CMBX) series in order to formulate an assumption to predict future delinquencies. Ultimately, this generates losses over a projected time horizon based on the assumption that loss severities will begin to decline from the high levels seen over the past two years. The Company further examines those loans referenced in the CMBX indices which were categorized as 90+ days delinquent or in the process of foreclosure and determined the monthly ratio of such loans which were cured versus those which were liquidated or still delinquent over the past few years. The Company then applies the most recent rolling six-month average of this cure ratio to all loans in the 90+ day delinquent bucket or in the foreclosure process (and those projected to roll into late stage delinquency from the current and lesser stage levels of delinquency) and assumes all other loans are liquidated. The Company assumes all loans in the REO category liquidate over the next twelve months.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

The fourth approach is based on a proprietary model developed by reviewing performance data on over 80,000 securitized CRE loans originated between 1992 and 2011. The time period covered during the performance review includes the years 2006 through 2011. The Company believes that these five years represent an appropriate time period in which to conduct a performance review because they encompass a period of extreme stress in the economy and the CRE market.

Based on a review of the data, the Company found property type and the DSCR to be the most significant determinants of a loan s default probability. Other credit characteristics were less influential. As a result, the Company developed a model in which the loans were divided into 168 representative cohorts based on their DSCR and property type. For each of these cohorts, the Company calculated the average annual probability of default, and then ran Monte Carlo simulations to estimate the timing of defaults. In addition, the model incorporated the following logic:

NOI and Cap Rates were assumed to remain at current levels for loans in the Company s classified portfolio, resulting in no modifications or extensions under the model other than as described in the next bullet point, to reflect the possibility that the U.S. economy and CRE market could experience no growth for the foreseeable future.

Any valuation estimates obtained by special servicers since a loan s origination as well as the Company s individual loan level analysis (which may incorporate additional assumptions regarding modifications and/or extensions in a few select cases) were incorporated as described in the second approach.

The loss severities projected by these scenarios vary widely, from moderate to substantial losses, with the majority of projected losses relating to a subset of transactions with a single counterparty. The Company previously incorporated an additional actuarial based approach, which has been eliminated as it did not reflect the best current market observations. Actual losses will be a function of the proportion of loans in the pools that are foreclosed and liquidated and the loss severities associated with those liquidations. If the deductibles in the Company s insured transactions and underlying referenced CMBS transactions are fully eroded, additional property level losses upon foreclosures and liquidations could result in substantial losses for MBIA. Since foreclosures and liquidations have only begun to take place during this economic cycle, particularly for larger properties, ultimate loss rates remain uncertain. Whether CMBS collateral is included in a structured pool or in a CRE CDO, the Company believes the modeling related to the underlying bond should be the same. However, adjustments may be needed for structural or legal reasons. The Company assigns a wide range of probabilities to these scenarios, with lower severity scenarios being weighted more heavily than higher severity scenarios. This reflects the view that liquidations will continue to be mitigated by loan extensions and modifications, and that property values and NOIs have bottomed for many sectors and markets in the U.S. The weightings are customized to each counterparty. If macroeconomic stress were to increase or the U.S. goes into a recession, higher delinquencies, liquidation has taken place to date, so the range of possible outcomes is wider than those for the Company s exposures to ABS CDOs and second-lien RMBS.

Loss and LAE Activity

Financial Guarantee Insurance Losses (Non-Derivative)

The Company s financial guarantee insurance losses and LAE for the six months ended June 30, 2012 are presented in the following table:

Losses and LAE

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2012								
In millions	Second-lien RMBS	Other	Total						
Losses and LAE related to actual and expected									
payments	\$ 134	\$ 144	\$ 278						
Recoveries of actual and expected payments	(67)	(52)	(119)						
Gross losses incurred	67	92	159						
Reinsurance	-	-	-						
Losses and LAE	\$ 67	\$ 92	\$ 159						

The second-lien RMBS losses and LAE related to actual and expected payments included in the preceding table comprise net increases of previously established reserves. The second-lien RMBS recoveries of actual and expected payments comprise \$110 million in recoveries resulting from ineligible mortgage loans included in insured exposures that are subject to contractual obligations by sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace such mortgages, offset by a \$43 million reduction in excess spread.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

Current period changes in the Company s estimate of potential recoveries may impact the amount recorded as an insurance loss recoverable asset, the amount of expected recoveries on unpaid losses netted against the gross loss and LAE reserve liability, or both. Total paid losses and LAE, net of reinsurance and collections, for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was \$325 million, including \$252 million related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, the increase in insurance loss recoverable related to paid losses totaled \$165 million, and primarily related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions.

The following table provides information about the financial guarantees and related claim liability included in each of MBIA s surveillance categories as of June 30, 2012:

						egories			
						Clas	sified		
Ι	JOW	Μ	edium	H	ligh	L	ist	1	Fotal
	53		27		11		204		295
	29		16		10		134		189
	8.8		4.8		7.4		9.5		8.8
\$.	3,652	\$	1,408	\$	395	\$9	,857	\$1	5,312
,	2,670		358		121	5	,547		8,696
\$ (5,322	\$	1,766	\$	516	\$ 15	,404	\$ 2	4,008
\$	-	\$	-	\$	_	\$ 1	.686	\$	1,686
Ŧ		Ŧ		Ŧ			,	Ŧ	-,
	-		-		-	3	.879		3,879
	-		-		-		166		166
\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$ (2	359)	\$ (2,359)
Ψ		Ŷ		Ŷ		÷ (=	,>)	Ψ (_,,
\$	132	\$	17	\$	4	\$	126	\$	279
	I I I S C S S	29 8.8 \$ 3,652 2,670 \$ 6,322 \$ - - \$ -	List Low Mu 53 29 8.8 \$ 3,652 \$ 2,670 \$ 6,322 \$ \$ \$ - \$ \$ \$ - \$	Caution List Low Caution List Medium 53 27 29 16 8.8 4.8 \$ 3,652 \$ 1,408 2,670 358 \$ 6,322 \$ 1,766 \$ - \$ - - - - - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ -	Caution Caution Ca List List Medium 53 27 29 16 8.8 4.8 \$ 3,652 \$ 1,408 2,670 358 \$ 6,322 \$ 1,766 \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ -	Caution Caution Caution List List Medium List High 53 27 11 29 16 10 8.8 4.8 7.4 \$ 3,652 \$ 1,408 \$ 395 2,670 358 121 \$ 6,322 \$ 1,766 \$ 516 \$ - \$ - - \$ - \$ - - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ -	List List List Class Low Medium High L 53 27 11 10 29 16 10 10 8.8 4.8 7.4 11 \$ 3,652 \$ 1,408 \$ 395 \$ 9 2,670 358 121 5 \$ 6,322 \$ 1,766 \$ 516 \$ 15 \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ 1 - - - 3 - - - 3 - - - 3 - - - 3 - - - 3 - - - 3 - - - - \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ (2.5)	Caution List LowCaution List MediumCaution List HighClassified List List5327112042916101348.84.87.49.5\$ 3,652\$ 1,408\$ 395\$ 9,8572,6703581215,547\$ 6,322\$ 1,766\$ 516\$ 15,404\$ -\$ -\$ -\$ 1,6863,879166\$ -\$ -\$ (2,359)	Caution Caution Caution Caution List List List Classified 10 11 204 29 16 10 134 8.8 4.8 7.4 9.5 \$ 3,652 \$ 1,408 \$ 395 \$ 9,857 \$ 1 2,670 358 121 5,547 \$ 1 \$ 6,322 \$ 1,766 \$ 516 \$ 15,404 \$ 2 \$ - \$ - \$ - \$ 1,686 \$ 1 - - - 3,879 - - - - 166 \$ (2,359) \$ (0)

(1) - An issue represents the aggregate of financial guarantee policies that share the same revenue source for purposes of making debt service payments.

(2) - Represents contractual principal and interest payments due by the issuer of the obligations insured by MBIA.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

The following table provides information about the financial guarantees and related claim liability included in each of MBIA s surveillance categories as of December 31, 2011:

		Sur	veillance Cate	gories	
\$ in millions	Caution List Low	Caution List Medium	Caution List High	Classified List	Total
Number of policies	.54	28	14	200	296
Number of issues ⁽¹⁾	32	18	11	130	191
Remaining weighted average contract period (in years) Gross insured contractual payments outstanding ^{(2):}	8.2	5.6	6.0	9.6	8.8
Principal	\$ 4,310	\$ 1,213	\$ 561	\$ 10,420	\$ 16,504
Interest	2,653	351	144	5,836	8,984
Total	\$ 6,963	\$ 1,564	\$ 705	\$ 16,256	\$ 25,488
Gross claim liability	\$-	\$-	\$ -	\$ 1,812	\$ 1,812
Less:				0.010	2.012
Gross potential recoveries	-	-	-	3,813	3,813
Discount, net	-	-	- ¢	177	177
Net claim liability (recoverable)	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (2,178)	\$ (2,178)
Unearned premium revenue	\$ 155	\$ 16	\$ 3	\$ 134	\$ 308

(1) - An issue represents the aggregate of financial guarantee policies that share the same revenue source for purposes of making debt service payments.

(2) - Represents contractual principal and interest payments due by the issuer of the obligations insured by MBIA.

The gross claim liability as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 in the preceding tables represents the Company s estimate of undiscounted probability-weighted future claim payments, which principally relate to insured first-lien and second-lien RMBS transactions and U.S. public finance transactions. The gross potential recoveries represent the Company s estimate of undiscounted probability-weighted recoveries of actual claim payments and recoveries of estimated future claim payments, and principally relate to insured second-lien RMBS transactions. Both amounts reflect the elimination of claim liabilities and potential recoveries related to VIEs consolidated by the Company.

The following table presents the components of the Company s loss and LAE reserves and insurance loss recoverable as reported on the Company s consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 for insured obligations within MBIA s Classified List. The loss reserves (claim liability) and insurance claim loss recoverable included in the following table represent the present value of the probability-weighted future claim payments and recoveries reported in the preceding tables.

In millions	Jun	As of ie 30, 2012	As of ber 31, 2011
Loss reserves (claim liability)	\$	755	\$ 781
LAE reserves		80	55
Loss and LAE reserves	\$	835	\$ 836
Insurance claim loss recoverable	\$	(3,185)	\$ (3,032)
LAE insurance loss recoverable		(27)	(14)
Insurance loss recoverable	\$	(3,212)	\$ (3,046)
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses	\$	14	\$ 15
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses		-	1
Reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses	\$	14	\$ 16

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

As of June 30, 2012, loss and LAE reserves include \$1.3 billion of reserves for expected future payments offset by expected recoveries of such future payments of \$508 million. As of December 31, 2011, loss and LAE reserves included \$1.4 billion of reserves for expected future payments offset by expected recoveries of such future payments of \$562 million. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the insurance loss recoverable primarily related to estimated recoveries of payments made by the Company resulting from ineligible mortgage loans in certain insured second-lien residential mortgage loan securitizations that are subject to a contractual obligation by the sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace the ineligible mortgage loans and expected future recoveries on second-lien RMBS transactions resulting from expected excess spread generated by performing loans in such transactions. The Company expects to be reimbursed for the majority of its potential recoveries related to ineligible mortgage loans by the second quarter of 2013.

The following table presents the Company s second-lien RMBS exposure, gross undiscounted claim liability and potential recoveries, before the elimination of amounts related to consolidated VIEs, as of June 30, 2012. All loan files reviewed with potential recoveries are included within the Classified List.

Second-lien RMBS Exposure		Outst	anding	Gross Un	ss Undiscounted		
-		Gross	Gross	Claim	Potential		
\$ in billions	Issues	Principal	Interest	Liability	Recoveries		
Insured issues designated as Classified List	34	\$ 6.8	\$ 2.6	\$ 0.4	\$ 4.6		
Loan files reviewed with potential recoveries	26	\$ 6.4	\$ 2.4	\$ 0.4	\$ 4.5		

The Company has performed loan file reviews on 29 of the 34 issues and recorded potential recoveries on 26 of those 29 issues, primarily related to four issuers (Countrywide, RFC, GMAC and Credit Suisse). In addition, the Company has received consideration on two transactions, including one Alt-A transaction, which have been excluded from the loan files reviewed with potential recoveries in the preceding table.

The following table presents changes in the Company s loss and LAE reserves for the six months ended June 30, 2012. Changes in the loss and LAE reserves attributable to the accretion of the claim liability discount, changes in discount rates, changes in the timing and amounts of estimated payments and recoveries, changes in assumptions and changes in LAE reserves are recorded in Losses and loss adjustment expenses in the Company s consolidated statements of operations. As of June 30, 2012, the weighted average risk-free rate used to discount the Company s loss reserves (claim liability) was 1.30%. LAE reserves are expected to be settled within a one-year period and are not discounted.

In
million
Gross
Loss

Changes in Loss and LAE Reserves for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012

and LAE

	rves as of mber 31,	Loss Payments for Cases with	Accretion Claim Liabilit			nges in count	Tir	nges in ning of		nges in ount of	Ch	anges in	Chanş Unea Prem	rned		nges in AE	and Rese	ss Loss I LAE rves as of ne 30,
2	2011	Reserves	Discour	ıt	Ra	ates	Pay	nents	Net Pa	ayments	Assu	mptions	Reve	enue	Res	erves	2	012
\$	836	\$ (222)	\$	6	\$	23	\$	55	\$	(1)	\$	112	\$	1	\$	25	\$	835

The change in the Company s gross loss and LAE reserves reflected in the preceding table was primarily due to decreases in reserves related to loss payments, offset by changes in assumptions, timing of payments, and changes in LAE reserves on insured first-and second-lien RMBS issues outstanding as of December 31, 2011.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves (continued)

The following table presents changes in the Company s insurance loss recoverable and changes in recoveries on unpaid losses reported within the Company s claim liability for the six months ended June 30, 2012. Changes in insurance loss recoverable attributable to the accretion of the discount on the recoverable, changes in discount rates, changes in the timing and amounts of estimated collections, changes in assumptions and changes in LAE recoveries are recorded in Losses and loss adjustment expenses in the Company s consolidated statements of operations.

							for	the Six	Month	s Ended	June	30, 2012						
In millions	Gross Reserve as of December 31, 2011		Collections for Cases with Recoveries		Accretion of Recoveries		Changes in Discount Rates		Changes in Timing of Collections		Changes in Amount of Collections		Changes in Assumptions		Changes in LAE Recoveries		Gross Reserve as of June 30, 2012	
Insurance loss																		
recoverable	\$	3,046	\$	(4)	\$	21	\$	9	\$	-	\$	(130)	\$	257	\$	13	\$ 3,212	
Recoveries on unpaid losses		562		-		4		17		-		-		(71)		(4)	508	
Total	\$	3,608	\$	(4)	\$	25	\$	26	\$	-	\$	(130)	\$	186	\$	9	\$ 3,720	

Changes in Insurance Loss Recoverable and Recoveries on Unpaid Losses for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012

The Company s insurance loss recoverable increased during 2012 primarily due to changes in assumptions associated with issues outstanding as of December 31, 2011, which related to increases in excess spread and ineligible mortgage loans included in insured second-lien residential mortgage securitization exposures that are subject to contractual obligations by sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace such mortgages, partially offset by changes in the amount of collections. Recoveries on unpaid losses decreased primarily due to changes in assumptions as a result of a reduction of excess spread related to first-lien and second-lien RMBS transactions offset by changes in discount rates.

The following table presents the Company s total estimated recoveries from ineligible mortgage loans included in certain insured second-lien mortgage loan securitizations as of June 30, 2012. The total estimated recoveries from ineligible loans of \$3.2 billion include \$2.2 billion recorded as Insurance loss recoverable and \$1.0 billion recorded as Loan repurchase commitments presented under the heading Assets of consolidated variable interest entities on the Company s consolidated balance sheets.

In millions						
						Total Estimated
Total Estimated						Recoveries from
Recoveries from						Ineligible
Ineligible Loans as				Changes in		Loans
of	Accretion			Amount		as of
December 31,	of Future	Changes in	Recoveries	of	Changes in	June 30,
2011	Collections	Discount Rates	(Collections)	Collections	Assumptions	2012
\$ 3,119	\$ 24	\$ 2	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 39	\$ 3,184

The Company s total estimated recoveries from ineligible loans in the preceding table increased primarily as a result of the probability-weighted scenarios as described within the preceding Second-lien RMBS Recoveries section.

Remediation actions may involve, among other things, waivers or renegotiations of financial covenants or triggers, waivers of contractual provisions, the granting of consents, transfer of servicing, consideration of restructuring plans, acceleration, security or collateral enforcement, actions in bankruptcy or receivership, litigation and similar actions. The types of remedial actions pursued are based on the insured obligation s risk type and the nature and scope of the event giving rise to the remediation. As part of any such remedial actions, MBIA seeks to improve its security position and to obtain concessions from the issuer of the insured obligation. From time to time, the issuer of an MBIA-insured obligation may, with the consent of MBIA, restructure the insured obligation by extending the term, increasing or decreasing the par amount or decreasing the related interest rate, with MBIA insuring the restructured obligation.

Costs associated with remediating insured obligations assigned to the Company s Caution List Low, Caution List Medium, Caution List High Classified List are recorded as LAE. LAE is primarily recorded as part of the Company s provision for its loss reserves and included in Losses and loss adjustment on the Company s consolidated statements of operations. The following table presents the expenses (gross and net of reinsurance) related to remedial actions for insured obligations:

	Three Mont	hs Ended June 30,	Six Months Ended June 30,			
In millions	2012	2011	2012	2011		
Loss adjustment expense incurred, gross	\$6	\$ 30	\$ 81	\$ 45		
Loss adjustment expense incurred, net	\$ 6	\$ 30	\$ 81	\$ 45		

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant. Therefore, even when market assumptions are not readily available, the Company s own assumptions are set to reflect those which it believes market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability at the measurement date. The fair value measurements of financial instruments held or issued by the Company are determined through the use of observable market data when available. Market data is obtained from a variety of third-party sources, including dealer quotes. If dealer quotes are not available for an instrument that is infrequently traded, the Company uses alternate valuation methods, including either dealer quotes for similar instruments or modeling using market data inputs. The use of alternate valuation methods generally requires considerable judgment in the application of estimates and assumptions, and changes to such estimates and assumptions may produce materially different fair values.

The accounting guidance for fair value measurement establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available and reliable. Observable inputs are those the Company believes that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on available market data. Unobservable inputs are those that reflect the Company s beliefs about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on the best information available. The fair value hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the observability and reliability of inputs, as follows:

Level 1 Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company can access. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active market, valuation of these products does not entail any degree of judgment.

Level 2 Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 assets include debt securities with quoted prices that are traded less frequently than exchange-traded instruments, securities which are priced using observable inputs and derivative contracts whose values are determined using a pricing model with inputs that are observable in the market or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the overall fair value measurement. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques where significant inputs are unobservable, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

The availability of observable inputs can vary from product to product and period to period and is affected by a wide variety of factors, including, for example, the type of product, whether the product is new and not yet established in the marketplace, and other characteristics particular to the product. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the Company assigns the level in the fair value hierarchy for which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls, based on the least observable input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

1. Financial Assets (excluding derivative assets)

Financial assets, excluding derivative assets, held by the Company primarily consist of investments in debt securities. Substantially all of the Company s investments are priced by independent third parties, including pricing services and brokers. Typically the Company receives one

Table of Contents

pricing service value or broker quote for each instrument, which represents a non-binding indication of value. The Company reviews the assumptions, inputs and methodologies used by pricing services to obtain reasonable assurance that the prices used in its valuations reflect fair value. When the Company believes a third-party quotation differs significantly from its internally developed expectation of fair value, whether higher or lower, the Company reviews its data or assumptions with the provider. This review includes comparing significant assumptions such as prepayment speeds, default ratios, forward yield curves, credit spreads and other significant quantitative inputs to internal assumptions, and working with the price provider to reconcile the differences. The price provider may subsequently provide an updated price. In the event that the price provider does not update their price, and the Company still does not agree with the price provided, the Company will try to obtain a price from another third-party provider, such as a broker, or use an internally developed price which it believes represents the fair value of the investment. The fair values of investments for which internal prices were used were not significant to the aggregate fair value of the Company si investment portfolio as of June 30, 2012 or December 31, 2011. All challenges to third-party prices are reviewed by staff of the Company with relevant expertise to ensure reasonableness of assumptions.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In addition to challenging pricing assumptions, the Company obtains reports from the independent accountants for significant third-party pricing services attesting to the effectiveness of the controls over data provided to the Company. These reports are obtained annually and are reviewed by the Company to ensure key controls are applied by the pricing services, and that appropriate user controls are in place at the Company to ensure proper measurement of the fair values of its investments. In the event that any controls in these reports are deemed as ineffective by independent accountants, the Company will take the necessary actions to ensure that internal user controls are in place to mitigate the control risks. No deficiencies were noted for significant third-party pricing services used.

2. Financial Liabilities (excluding derivative liabilities)

Financial liabilities, excluding derivative liabilities, issued by the Company primarily consist of investment agreements and MTNs within its wind-down operations, and debt issued for general corporate purposes. Investment agreements, MTNs, and corporate debt are typically recorded at face value adjusted for premiums or discounts. Financial liabilities that the Company has elected to fair value or that require fair value reporting or disclosures are valued based on the estimated value of the underlying collateral, the Company s or a third-party s estimate of discounted cash flow model estimates, or quoted market values for similar products. These valuations include adjustments for expected nonperformance risk of the Company.

3. Derivative Assets and Liabilities

The Company s derivative liabilities are primarily insured credit derivatives that reference structured pools of cash securities and CDSs. The Company generally insured the most senior liabilities of such transactions, and at the inception of transactions its exposure generally had more subordination than needed to achieve triple-A ratings from credit rating agencies. The types of collateral underlying its insured derivatives consist of cash securities and CDSs referencing primarily corporate, asset-backed, residential mortgage-backed, commercial mortgage-backed, CRE loans, and CDO securities.

The Company s insured credit derivative contracts are non-traded structured credit derivative transactions. Since insured derivatives are highly customized and there is generally no observable market for these derivatives, the Company estimates their fair values in a hypothetical market based on internal and third-party models simulating what a similar company would charge to assume the Company s position in the transaction at the measurement date. This pricing would be based on the expected loss of the exposure. The Company reviews its valuation model results on a quarterly basis to assess the appropriateness of the assumptions and results in light of current market activity and conditions. This review is performed by internal staff with relevant expertise. If live market spreads or securities prices are observable for similar transactions, those spreads are an integral part of the analysis. New insured transactions that resemble existing (previously insured) transactions, if any, would be considered, as well as negotiated settlements of existing transactions.

The Company may from time to time make changes in its valuation techniques if the change results in a measurement that it believes is equally or more representative of fair value under current circumstances.

4. Internal Review Process

All significant financial assets and liabilities, including derivative assets and liabilities, are reviewed by committees created by the Company to ensure compliance with the Company s policies and risk procedures in the development of fair values of financial assets and liabilities. These valuation committees review, among other things, key assumptions used for internally developed prices, significant changes in sources and uses of inputs, including changes in model approaches, and any adjustments from third-party inputs or prices to internally developed inputs or prices. The committees also review any significant impairment or improvements in fair values of the financial instruments from prior periods. From time to time, these committees will reach out to the Company valuation experts to better understand key methods and assumptions used for the determination of fair value, including understanding significant changes in fair values. These committees are comprised of senior finance team members with the relevant experience in the financial assets their committee is responsible for. For each quarter, these committees document

Table of Contents

their agreement with the fair values developed by management of the Company as reported in the quarterly financial statements.

Valuation Techniques

Valuation techniques for financial instruments measured at fair value and included in the tables that follow are described below.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Fixed-Maturity Securities (including short-term investments) Held as Available-For-Sale, Fixed-Maturity Securities at Fair Value, Investments Pledged as Collateral, Investments Held-to-Maturity, and Other Investments

Fixed-maturity securities (including short-term investments) held as available-for-sale, fixed-maturity securities at fair value, investments pledged as collateral, investments held-to-maturity, and other investments include investments in U.S. Treasury and government agencies, foreign governments, corporate obligations, MBS and ABS (including CMBS and CDOs), state and municipal bonds and equity securities (including perpetual preferred securities and money market mutual funds).

These investments are generally valued based on recently executed transaction prices or quoted market prices. When quoted market prices are not available, fair value is generally determined using quoted prices of similar investments or a valuation model based on observable and unobservable inputs. Inputs vary depending on the type of investment. These inputs include contractual cash flows, interest rate yield curves, CDS spreads, prepayment and volatility scores, diversity scores, cross-currency basis index spreads, value of any credit enhancement, and credit spreads for structures similar to the financial instrument in terms of issuer, maturity and seniority.

Investments based on quoted market prices of identical investments in active markets are classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Level 1 investments generally consist of U.S. Treasury and foreign government and agency investments. Quoted market prices of investments in less active markets, as well as investments which are valued based on other than quoted prices for which the inputs are observable, such as interest rate yield curves, are categorized in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Investments that contain significant inputs that are not observable are categorized as Level 3.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Receivable for Investments Sold, and Accrued Investment Income

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivable for investments sold, and accrued investment income approximate fair values due to the short-term nature and credit worthiness of these instruments.

Loans Receivable at Fair Value

Loans receivable at fair value are comprised of loans held by consolidated VIEs consisting of residential mortgage loans, commercial mortgage loans and other whole business loans. Fair values of residential mortgage loans are determined using quoted prices for MBS with similar characteristics and adjustments for the fair values of the financial guarantees provided by MBIA Corp. on the related MBS. Fair values of commercial mortgage loans and other whole business loans are valued based on quoted prices of similar collateralized MBS. Loans receivable at fair value are categorized in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Loan Repurchase Commitments

Loan repurchase commitments are obligations owed by the sellers/servicers of mortgage loans to either MBIA as reimbursement of paid claims or to the RMBS trusts as defined in the transaction documents. Loan repurchase commitments are assets of the consolidated VIEs. This asset represents the rights of MBIA against the sellers/servicers for breaches of representations and warranties that the securitized residential mortgage loans sold to the trust to comply with stated underwriting guidelines and for the sellers/servicers to cure, replace, or repurchase mortgage loans. Fair value measurements of loan repurchase commitments represent the amounts owed by the sellers/servicers to either MBIA as reimbursement of paid claims or to the RMBS trusts as defined in the transaction documents. Loan repurchase commitments are not securities and no quoted prices or comparable market transaction information are observable or available. Loan repurchase commitments at fair value are categorized in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair values of loan repurchase commitments are determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on inputs including:

breach rates representing the rate at which the sellers/servicers failed to comply with stated representations and warranties;

recovery rates representing the estimates of future cash flows for the asset, including estimates about possible variations in the amount of cash flows expected to be collected;

expectations about possible variations in the timing of collections of the cash flows; and

time value of money, represented by the rate on risk-free monetary assets. *Investment Agreements*

The fair values of investment agreements are determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on contractual cash flows and observable interest rates currently being offered for similar agreements with comparable maturity dates. Investment agreements contain collateralization and termination agreements that substantially mitigate the nonperformance risk of the Company. As the terms of the notes are private, and the contract cash flows are not observable, these investment agreements are categorized as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Medium-Term Notes

The fair values of MTNs are based on quoted market prices provided by third-party sources, where available. When quoted market prices are not available, the Company applies a matrix pricing grid based on the quoted market prices received and the MTNs stated maturity and interest rate to determine fair value. Nonperformance risk is included in the quoted market prices and matrix pricing grid.

The Company has elected to record three MTNs at fair value as they contain embedded derivatives which cannot accurately be separated from the host debt instrument and fair valued separately, therefore, these three MTNs are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reflected in earnings. The remaining MTNs which are not carried at fair value do not contain embedded derivatives.

As these MTNs are illiquid and the prices reflect significant unobservable inputs, they are categorized as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Variable Interest Entity Notes

The fair values of VIE notes are determined based on recently executed transaction prices or quoted prices where observable. When position-specific quoted prices are not observable, fair values are based on quoted prices of similar securities. Fair values based on quoted prices of similar securities may be adjusted for factors unique to the securities, including any credit enhancement. When observable quoted prices are not available, fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow techniques of the underlying collateral using observable and unobservable inputs including interest rate yield curves, bond spreads of similar securities and the value of any credit enhancements. VIE notes are categorized in Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt consists of notes, debentures, surplus notes and floating rate liquidity loans. The fair value of long-term notes, debentures and surplus notes are estimated based on quoted prices for the identical or similar securities. The fair value for floating rate liquidity loans are determined using discounted cash flow techniques of the underlying collateral pledged to the specific loans, as these loans are non-recourse and fully backed by a pool of underlying assets. Long-term debt is categorized as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Derivatives Asset/Liability Products

The asset/liability products business has entered into derivative transactions primarily consisting of interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps, and CDS contracts. Fair values of over-the-counter derivatives are determined using valuation models based on observable inputs, nonperformance risk of the Company s own credit and nonperformance risk of the counterparties. Observable and market-based inputs include interest rate yields, credit spreads and volatilities. These derivatives are categorized in Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy based on the input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The Company has policies and procedures in place regarding counterparties, including review and approval of the counterparty and the Company s exposure limit, collateral posting requirements, collateral monitoring and margin calls on collateral. The Company manages counterparty credit risk on an individual counterparty basis through master netting arrangements covering derivative transactions in the asset/liability products and corporate segments. These agreements allow the Company to contractually net amounts due from a counterparty with those amounts due to such counterparty when certain triggering events occur. The Company only executes swaps under master netting agreements, which typically contain mutual credit downgrade provisions that generally provide the ability to require assignment or termination in the event either the Company or the counterparty is downgraded below a specified credit rating. The netting agreements minimize the potential for losses related to credit exposure and thus serve to mitigate the Company s nonperformance risk under these derivatives.

In certain cases, the Company also manages credit risk through collateral agreements that give the Company the right to hold or the obligation to provide collateral when the current market value of derivative contracts exceeds an exposure threshold. Under these arrangements, the Company may provide U.S. Treasury and other highly rated securities or cash to secure the derivative. The delivery of high-quality collateral can minimize credit exposure and mitigate the potential for nonperformance risk impacting the fair values of the derivatives.

Derivatives Insurance

The derivative contracts insured by the Company cannot be legally traded and generally do not have observable market prices. MBIA Corp. determines the fair values of insured credit derivatives using valuation models.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Approximately 79% of the balance sheet fair value of insured credit derivatives as of June 30, 2012 was valued using the Binomial Expansion Technique (BET) Model. Approximately 21% of the balance sheet fair value of insured credit derivatives as of June 30, 2012 was valued using the internally developed Direct Price Model. An immaterial amount of insured credit derivatives were valued using the dual-default model. The valuation of insured derivatives includes the impact of its own credit standing. All of these derivatives are categorized as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as their fair value is derived using significant unobservable inputs.

- A. Description of the BET Model
- 1. Valuation Model Overview

The BET Model estimates what a bond insurer would charge to guarantee a transaction at the measurement date, based on the market-implied default risk of the underlying collateral and the remaining structural protection in a deductible or subordination.

Inputs to the process of determining fair value for structured transactions using the BET Model include estimates of collateral loss, allocation of loss to separate tranches of the capital structure, and calculation of the change in value.

Estimates of aggregated collateral losses are calculated by reference to the following (described in further detail under BET Model Inputs below):

credit spreads of underlying collateral based on actual spreads or spreads on similar collateral with similar ratings, or in some cases, are benchmarked; for collateral pools where the spread distribution is characterized by extremes, each segment of the pool is modeled separately instead of using an overall pool average;

diversity score of the collateral pool as an indication of correlation of collateral defaults; and

recovery rate for all defaulted collateral.

Allocation of losses to separate tranches of the capital structure according to priority of payments in a transaction.

The inception-to-date unrealized gain or loss on a transaction is the difference between the original price of the risk (the original market-implied expected loss) and the current price of the risk based on the assumed market-implied expected losses derived from the model.

Additional structural assumptions of the BET Model are:

Default probabilities are determined by three factors: credit spread, recovery rate after default, and the time period under risk.

Frequencies of defaults are modeled evenly over time.

Collateral assets are generally considered on an average basis rather than being modeled on an individual basis.

Collateral asset correlation is modeled using a diversity score which is calculated based on industry or sector concentrations. Recovery rates are based on historical averages and updated based on market evidence. 2. BET Model Inputs

a. Credit spreads

The average spread of collateral is a key input as the Company assumes credit spreads reflect the market s assessment of default probability for each piece of collateral. Spreads are obtained from market data sources published by third parties (e.g., dealer spread tables for assets most closely resembling collateral within the Company s transactions) as well as collateral-specific spreads on the underlying reference obligations provided by trustees or market sources. Also, when these sources are not available, the Company benchmarks spreads for collateral against market spreads or prices. This data is reviewed on an ongoing basis for reasonableness and applicability to the Company s derivative portfolio. The Company also calculates spreads based on quoted prices and on internal assumptions about expected life, when pricing information is available and spread information is not.

The Company uses the spread hierarchy listed below in determining which source of spread information to use, with the rule being to use CDS spreads where available and cash security spreads as the next alternative.

Spread Hierarchy:

Collateral-specific credit spreads when observable.

Sector-specific spread tables by asset class and rating.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Corporate spreads, including Bloomberg and Risk Metrics spread tables based on rating.

Benchmark from most relevant market source when corporate spreads are not directly relevant.

There were some transactions where the Company incorporated multiple levels within the hierarchy, including using actual collateral-specific credit spreads in combination with a calculated spread based on an assumed relationship. In those cases, MBIA classified the transaction as being benchmarked from the most relevant spread source even though the majority of the average spread was from actual collateral-specific spreads. As of June 30, 2012, sector-specific spreads were used in 9% of the transactions valued using the BET Model. Corporate spreads were used in 47% of the transactions and spreads benchmarked from the most relevant spread source were used for 44% of the transactions. The spread source can also be identified by whether or not it is based on collateral weighted average rating factor (WARF). No collateral-specific spreads are based on WARF, sector-specific and corporate spreads are based on WARF, and some benchmarked spreads are based on WARF. WARF-sourced and/or ratings-sourced credit spreads were used for 76% of the transactions.

Over time, the data inputs change as new sources become available, existing sources are discontinued or are no longer considered to be reliable or the most appropriate. It is always the Company s objective to use more observable spread hierarchies defined above. However, the Company may on occasion move to less observable spread inputs due to the discontinuation of data sources or due to the Company considering certain spread inputs no longer representative of market spreads.

b. Diversity Scores

Diversity scores are a means of estimating the diversification in a portfolio. The diversity score estimates the number of uncorrelated assets that are assumed to have the same loss distribution as the actual portfolio of correlated assets. While diversity score is a required input into the BET model, due to current high levels of default within the collateral of the structures, diversity score does not have a significant impact on valuation.

c. Recovery Rate

The recovery rate represents the percentage of par expected to be recovered after an asset defaults, indicating the severity of a potential loss. MBIA generally uses rating agency recovery assumptions which may be adjusted to account for differences between the characteristics and performance of the collateral used by the rating agencies and the actual collateral in MBIA-insured transactions. The Company may also adjust rating agency assumptions based on the performance of the collateral manager and on empirical market data.

d. Nonperformance Risk

The Company s valuation methodology for insured credit derivative liabilities incorporates the Company s own nonperformance risk. The Company calculates the fair value by discounting the market value loss estimated through the BET Model at discount rates which include MBIA CDS spreads as of June 30, 2012. The CDS spreads assigned to each deal are based on the weighted average life of the deal. The Company limits the nonperformance impact so that the derivative liability could not be lower than the Company s recovery derivative price multiplied by the unadjusted derivative liability.

B. Description of Direct Price Model

1. Valuation Model Overview

The Direct Price Model uses quoted market prices of financial assets correlated to the underlying collateral of the pool of assets backing the liabilities guaranteed by certain insured derivative liabilities. These quoted market prices are adjusted to reflect the unique characteristics of the

Table of Contents

liabilities of the entities backed by the correlated assets and unique terms of the insured derivative contracts.

2. Model Inputs

Collateral prices

Fair value of collateral is based on quoted prices when available. When quoted prices are not available, a matrix pricing grid is used based on security type and rating to determine fair value of collateral which applies an average based on securities with the same rating and security type categories.

3	Λ
5	4

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest rates

The present value of the market-implied potential losses was calculated assuming that MBIA deferred all principal losses to the legal final maturity. This was done through a cash flow model that calculated potential interest payments in each period and the potential principal loss at the legal final maturity. These cash flows were discounted using the LIBOR flat swap curve.

Nonperformance risk

The methodology for calculating MBIA s nonperformance risk is the same as used for the BET Model. Due to the current level of MBIA CDS spread rates and the long tenure of these transactions, the derivative recovery rate was used to estimate nonperformance risk for all transactions marked by this model.

Overall Model Results

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company s net insured derivative liability was \$3.3 billion and \$4.8 billion, respectively, and was primarily related to the fair values of insured credit derivatives, based on the results of the aforementioned pricing models. In the current environment, the most significant driver of changes in fair value is nonperformance risk. In aggregate, the nonperformance calculation resulted in a pre-tax net insured derivative liability that was \$4.3 billion and \$5.7 billion lower than the net liability that would have been estimated if the Company excluded nonperformance risk in its valuation as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. Nonperformance risk is a fair value concept and does not contradict the Company s internal view, based on fundamental credit analysis of the Company s economic condition, that the Company will be able to pay all claims when due.

Warrants

Stock warrants issued by the Company are recorded at fair value based on a modified Black-Scholes model. Inputs into the warrant valuation include interest rates, stock volatilities and dividend data. As all significant inputs are market-based and observable, warrants are categorized in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial Guarantees

<u>Gross Financial Guarantees</u> The fair value of gross financial guarantees is determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on inputs that include (i) assumptions of expected losses on financial guarantee policies where loss reserves have not been recognized, (ii) amount of losses expected on financial guarantee policies where loss reserves have been established, net of expected recoveries, (iii) the cost of capital reserves required to support the financial guarantee liability, (iv) operating expenses, and (v) discount rates. The MBIA Corp. CDS spread and recovery rate are used as the discount rate for MBIA Corp., while the CDS spread and recovery rate of a similar municipal insurance company are used as the discount rate for National, as National does not have a published CDS spread and recovery rate.

The carrying value of the Company s gross financial guarantees consists of unearned premium revenue and loss and LAE reserves, net of the insurance loss recoverable as reported on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

<u>Ceded Financial Guarantees</u> The fair value of ceded financial guarantees is determined by applying the percentage ceded to reinsurers to the related fair value of the gross financial guarantees. The carrying value of ceded financial guarantees consists of prepaid reinsurance premiums and reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses as reported within Other Assets on the Company s consolidated balance sheets.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following table provides quantitative information regarding the significant unobservable inputs used by the Company for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2012. This table excludes inputs used to measure fair value that are not developed by the Company, such as broker prices and other third-party pricing service valuations.

	as o	Value of June			Range
In millions	30	, 2012	Valuation Techniques	Unobservable Input	(Weighted Average)
Assets of consolidated VIEs:	¢	1.002		T (CC ' 1	007 11107 (007)
Loans receivable at fair value	\$	1,903	Quoted market prices adjusted for financial guarantees provided to VIE obligations	Impact of financial guarantee	0% -111% (6%)
Loan repurchase commitments		1,032	Discounted cash flow	Recovery rates	9% -96% (42%)
-				Breach rates	65% -94% (77%)
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:					
Variable interest entity notes		1,867	Quoted market prices of VIE assets adjusted for financial guarantees provided	Impact of financial guarantee	0% - 24% (6%)
Credit derivative liabilities, net:				0	
CMBS		1,488	BET Model	Recovery rates	23% -90% (51%)
				Nonperformance risk	11% -61% (55%)
				Weighted average life (in years)	0.5 - 6.1 (4.9)
				CMBS spreads	2% - 20% (12%)
Multi-sector CDO		691	Direct Price Model	Nonperformance risk	61% -61% (61%)
Other		1,106	BET Model	Recovery rates	42% -75% (47%)
				Nonperformance risk	11% -61% (42%)
				Weighted average life	0.3 - 14.7 (3.2)
				(in years)	

Sensitivity of Significant Unobservable Inputs

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of the Company s assets of consolidated VIEs: loans receivable at fair value is the impact of the financial guarantee. As the perception of the benefit provided by the Company to the obligations issued by the VIE improves, the credit support of the financial guarantee provides more of the expected future cash flow of the VIE, and there is a lower expected cash flow on the underlying loans receivable of the VIE. This results in a lower fair value of the loans receivable in relation to the obligations of the VIE.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company s assets of consolidated VIEs: loan repurchase commitments are the recovery rates and the breach rates. Significant increases or decreases in the recovery rate and the breach rate would result in significantly higher or lower, respectively, fair values of the loan repurchase commitments. Additionally, changes in the legal environment and the ability of the counterparties to pay would impact the recovery rate assumption, which could significantly impact the fair value measurement. Breach rates are determined by the Company. Any significant challenges by the counterparties to the Company s determination of breach of contracts could significantly adversely impact the fair value measurement.

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of the Company s liabilities of consolidated VIEs: variable interest entity notes are the impact of the financial guarantee. As the value of the guarantee provided by the Company to the obligations issued by the VIE increases, the credit support adds value to the liabilities of the VIE. This results in an increase in the fair value of the liabilities of the VIE.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company s CMBS credit derivatives, which are valued using the BET Model, are CMBS spreads, recovery rates, nonperformance risk and weighted average life. A significant increase or decrease in CMBS spreads or weighted average life would result in an increase or decrease, respectively, in the fair value of the derivative liabilities. Any significant increase or decrease in recovery rates or the Company s nonperformance risk would result in a decrease or increase in the fair value of the derivative liabilities.

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of the Company s multi-sector CDO credit derivatives, which are valued using the Direct Price Model, is nonperformance risk. Any significant increase or decrease in the Company s nonperformance risk would result in a decrease or increase, respectively, in the fair value of the derivative liabilities.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company s other credit derivatives, which are valued using the BET model, are recovery rates, nonperformance risk and weighted average life. Any significant increase or decrease in weighted average life would result in an increase or decrease, respectively, in the fair value of the derivatives. Any significant increase or decrease in recovery rates or the Company s nonperformance risk would result in a decrease or increase in the fair value of the derivative liabilities.

Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present the fair value of the Company s assets (including short-term investments) and liabilities measured and reported at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Assets: Investments: Fixed-maturity investments: Taxable bonds: U.S. Treasury and government agency \$ 851 \$ 261 \$ - \$ - \$ 1,112	In millions	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)	Counterparty and Cash Collateral Netting	Balance as of June 30, 2012
Fixed-maturity investments: Taxable bonds: U.S. Treasury and government agency \$ 851 \$ 261 \$ - \$ 1,112	Assets:	,	. ,	· · · · ·	0	
Taxable bonds:U.S. Treasury and government agency\$ 851\$ 261\$ - \$ 1,112	Investments:					
U.S. Treasury and government agency \$ 851 \$ 261 \$ - \$ - \$ 1,112	Fixed-maturity investments:					
	Taxable bonds:					
Foreign governments 263 77 $12^{(1)}$ - 352	U.S. Treasury and government agency	\$ 851	\$ 261	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 1,112
	Foreign governments	263	77	12(1)	-	352
Corporate obligations - 1,143 98 ⁽¹⁾ - 1,241	Corporate obligations	-	1,143	98(1)	-	1,241
Mortgage-backed securities:	Mortgage-backed securities:					
Residential mortgage-backed agency - 1,112 4 ⁽¹⁾ - 1,116	Residential mortgage-backed agency	-	1,112		-	1,116
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency - 154 30 ⁽¹⁾ - 184	Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	-	154	30(1)	-	184
Commercial mortgage-backed - 20 27 ⁽¹⁾ - 47	Commercial mortgage-backed	-	20	27(1)	-	47
Asset-backed securities:	Asset-backed securities:					
Collateralized debt obligations - 73 $29^{(1)}$ - 102	Collateralized debt obligations	-	73		-	102
Other asset-backed - 128 72 ⁽¹⁾ - 200		-	128	72 ⁽¹⁾	-	200
State and municipal bonds - 939 939	State and municipal bonds	-	939	-	-	939
Total taxable bonds 1,114 3,907 272 - 5,293	Total taxable bonds	1,114	3,907	272	-	5,293
Tax-exempt bonds:	Tax-exempt bonds:					
State and municipal bonds - 1,045 25 ⁽¹⁾ - 1,070		-	1,045	25(1)	-	1,070
Other fixed-maturity investments - 10 10	-	-	10	-	-	10
Total fixed-maturity investments 1,114 4,962 297 - 6,373	Total fixed-maturity investments	1.114	4.962	297	-	6.373
Money market securities 641 641		,	-		-	
Perpetual preferred securities $- 46 3^{(1)} - 49$		-	46	3(1)	-	
Other $20 - 10^{(1)} - 30$		20	-	10 ⁽¹⁾	-	

Total	1,775	5,008	310	-	7,093
Cash and cash equivalents	269	-	-	-	269
Derivative assets:					
Insured derivative assets:					
Credit derivatives	-	-	3	-	3
Non-insured derivative assets:					
Interest rate derivatives	-	96	4(1)	(98)	2
Total derivative assets	-	96	7	(98)	5

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

		Value Measurem	ents at Reporting Date	e Using	
In millions	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)	Counterparty and Cash Collateral Netting	Balance as of June 30, 2012
Assets of consolidated VIEs:	,	, i i i	, í	0	
Corporate obligations	-	216	95 ⁽¹⁾	-	311
Mortgage-backed securities:					
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	-	811	10(1)	-	821
Commercial mortgage-backed	-	405	12(1)	-	417
Asset-backed securities:					
Collateralized debt obligations	-	229	140 ⁽¹⁾	-	369
Other asset-backed	-	161	42 ⁽¹⁾	-	203
onioi usset suched		101	12		200
Total fixed maturity securities at fair value		1,822	299		2,121
Cash	145	1,022	- 299	-	145
	-	40	-	-	40
State and municipal taxable bonds	- 109		-	-	109
Money market securities	109	-	1,903	-	
Loans receivable		-	,	-	1,903
Loan repurchase commitments	-	-	1,032	-	1,032
Derivative assets:					
Interest rate derivatives	-	1	-	-	1
Total assets	\$ 2,298	\$ 6,967	\$ 3,551	\$ (98)	\$ 12,718
Liabilities:					
Medium-term notes	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 151 ⁽¹⁾	\$ -	\$ 151
Derivative liabilities:					
Insured derivatives:					
Credit derivatives	-	14	3,288	-	3,302
Non-insured derivatives:					
Interest rate derivatives	-	124	-	(98)	26
Currency derivatives	-	1	-	-	1
Other liabilities:					
Warrants	-	25	-	-	25
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:					
Variable interest entity notes	-	1,771	1,867	-	3,638
Derivative liabilities:		,			,
Interest rate derivatives	-	165	-	-	165
Currency derivatives	-	-	21 ⁽¹⁾	-	21
Total liabilities	\$-	\$ 2,100	\$ 5,327	\$ (98)	\$ 7,329
Total haunties	ф -	φ 2,100	\$ 3,321	\$ (98)	\$ 1,529

Fair Valua Ma ts at Reporting Date Usi

(1) - Unobservable inputs are either not developed by the Company or do not significantly impact the overall fair values of the aggregate financial assets and liabilities.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

		Value Measureme	ents at Reporting Dat	e Using	
In millions	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)	Counterparty and Cash Collateral Netting	Balance as of December 31, 2011
Assets:	,		· · · · ·	0	
Investments:					
Fixed-maturity investments:					
Taxable bonds:					
U.S. Treasury and government agency	\$ 1,038	\$ 103	\$ -	\$-	\$ 1,141
Foreign governments	277	62	11	-	350
Corporate obligations	1	1,531	207	-	1,739
Mortgage-backed securities:					
Residential mortgage-backed agency	-	1,276	8	-	1,284
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	-	350	17	-	367
Commercial mortgage-backed	-	34	24	-	58
Asset-backed securities:					
Collateralized debt obligations	-	78	60	-	138
Other asset-backed	-	130	317	-	447
State and municipal bonds	-	924	-	-	924
Total taxable bonds	1,316	4,488	644	-	6,448
Tax-exempt bonds:	1,010	1,100	011		0,110
State and municipal bonds	-	1,137	28	-	1,165
Other fixed-maturity investments	-	15	-	-	1,100
		10			10
Total fixed-maturity investments	1,316	5,640	672		7,628
Money market securities	912	5,040		-	912
Perpetual preferred securities	912	- 106	- 1	-	912 107
Other	25	100	10	-	35
Other	23	-	10	-	55
	0.050	5 7 4 6	(02		0.(00
Total	2,253	5,746	683	-	8,682
Cash and cash equivalents	473	-	-	-	473
Derivative assets:					
Non-insured derivative assets:		1			1
Credit derivatives	-	1	-	-	1
Interest rate derivatives	-	91	3	-	94
Other	-	-	-	(93)	(93)
				(0.2)	
Total derivative assets	-	92	3	(93)	2

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Significant Identical Other Other InputsCounterparty Balance as of December 31, InputsInmitionsImputsCollateral Collat		Fair	Value Measurem	ents at Reporting Dat	te Using	
Corporate obligations-17069-239Morgage-backed securities:-33Residential morgage-backed non-agency1.43721-1.458Commercial morgage-backed non-agency1.43722-581Saset-backed securities:-330203-533Other asset-backed-23667-303Total fixed maturity securities at fair value-2.3667-160Morey market securities199160Money market securities1992.046-2.046Loan repurchase commitments-1.077-1.077-1.077Derivative assets:3-3Total assets\$3,085\$\$.576\$4.638\$(93)\$16.206Liabilities:\$33Total assets\$3,085\$\$.576\$4.638\$(93)\$16.206Liabilities:\$477-4477-4477-4477Interest rate derivatives-\$<	In millions	Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level	Other Observable Inputs	Unobservable Inputs	and Cash Collateral	of December 31,
Morgage-backed securities: Image backed						
Residential mortgage-backed agency - 3 - - 3 Residential mortgage-backed non-agency - 1,437 21 - 1,458 Commercial mortgage-backed - 559 22 - 581 Asset-backed securities: - - 300 203 - 533 Other asset-backed - 2,036 67 - 303 Other asset-backed 160 - - - 160 Money market securities 199 - - 1077 - 1077 Cash 160 - - 2,046 - 2,046 - 2,046 - 2,046 - 2,046 - 2,046 - 2,046 - 1,077 - 1,077 - 1,077 - 1,077 - 1,077 - 1,077 - 1,077 - 3 - - 3 - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		-	170	69	-	239
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency - 1,437 21 - 1,458 Commercial mortgage-backed - 559 22 - 581 Asset-backed securities: Collateralized debt obligations - 330 203 - 533 Other asset-backed - 2,36 67 - 303 Total fixed maturity securities at fair value - 2,735 382 - 3,117 Cash 160 100 Money market securities 199 100 Money market securities - 2,046 - 2,046 Loan repurchase commitments - 1,077 - 1,077 Derivative assets: Credit derivatives - 3 - 1,077 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - 3 - 2,046 Liabilities: Medium-term notes $\$ - 3$ - 447 Liabilities: Credit derivatives - $\$ - \$ 1,077$ - $\$ 1,077$ Interest rate derivatives - $\$ 3$ - $\$ 1,075$ Liabilities: Credit derivatives - $\$ 3$ - $\$ 1,075$ - $\$ 1,075$ Liabilities: Medium-term notes $\$ - \$ 3$ - $\$ 1,055$ $\$ - \$ 1,055$ Credit derivatives - $\$ 3$ - $\$ 1,075$ Liabilities: Credit derivatives - $\$ 3$ - $\$ 1,055$ $\$ - \$ 1,055$ Currency derivatives - $\$ 3,085$ $\$ 8,576$ $\$ 4,638$ $\$ (93)$ $\$ 1,6206$ Liabilities: Medium-term notes $\$ - \$ 3$ - $\$ 1,055$ $\$ - \$ 1,055$ Currency derivatives - $1,855$ - $\$ 1,055$ $\$ - \$ 1,055$ Currency derivatives - $44 445$ Currency derivatives - $38 38$ Liabilities - $- 38$ Liabilities - $- 38$ Liabilities - $- 38$ Liabilities - $- 527 527$ Credit derivatives - $- 281$ Credit derivatives - $- 281$						
Commercial mortgage-backed - 559 22 - 581 Asset-backed securities: - 330 203 - 533 Other asset-backed - 236 67 - 303 Total fixed maturity securities at fair value - 2,735 382 - 3,117 Cash 160 - - - 160 Money market securities 199 - - - 199 Loans receivable - - 2,046 - 2,046 Loans receivable - - 1,077 - 1,077 Derivative assets: - - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 3 Total assets \$ 3,085 \$ 8,576 \$ 4,638 \$ (93) \$ 16,50 - \$ 165 Liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 \$ 165 Interest rate derivatives - \$ 18 4,790 - 4,808 Non-insure	Residential mortgage-backed agency	-		-	-	
Asset-backed securities: Collateralized detv obligations - 330 203 - 533 Other asset-backed - 236 67 - 303 Total fixed maturity securities at fair value - 2,735 382 - 3,117 Cash 160 1 107 Cash 160 - 2 - 199 Loans receivable - 2,046 - 2,046 Loan repurchase commitments - 2,046 - 2,046 Loan repurchase commitments - 2,046 - 2,046 Loans receivable - 4,047 Interest rate derivatives - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - 5 \$ 1,65 \$ - \$ 165 Liabilities: Credit derivatives - 18 4,790 - 4,808 Non-insured derivatives - 18 4,790 - 4,808 Non-insured derivatives - 44 - 445 Currency derivatives - 48 Non-insured derivatives - 48 Currency derivatives - 527 - 527 Credit derivatives - 281 - 527 Credit derivatives - 281 Credit deriva		-	1,437	21	-	1,458
Collateralized debt obligations-330203-533Other asset-backed-23667-303Total fixed maturity securities at fair value-2,735382-3,117Cash160160Money market securities199160Loans receivable2,046-2,046Loans receivable1,077-1,077Derivative assets:447-447Interest rate derivatives33Total assets\$ 3,085\$ 8,576\$ 4,638\$ (93)\$ 16,206Liabilities:84,790-4,808Non-insured derivatives-184,790-4,808Non-insured derivatives:445Interest rate derivatives-445445Currency derivatives:3838Uher insured derivatives-383838Uher insured derivatives4454454454454454545454538 <td< td=""><td>Commercial mortgage-backed</td><td>-</td><td>559</td><td>22</td><td>-</td><td>581</td></td<>	Commercial mortgage-backed	-	559	22	-	581
Other asset-backed-23667-303Total fixed maturity securities at fair value- $2,735$ 382 - $3,117$ Cash160160Money market securities199199Loan repredentation- $2,046$ - $2,046$ Loan repredentase commitments $1,077$ - $1,077$ Derivative assets: 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives 3 3 Total assets\$ $3,085$ \$ $8,576$ \$ $4,638$ \$ (93) \$ $16,206$ Liabilities:8 $4,790$ - $4,808$ Medium-term notes\$ 5 -\$ 18 $4,790$ - $4,808$ Non-insured derivatives:18 $4,790$ - $4,808$ Credit derivatives:445445Currency derivatives-445445Currency derivatives3838Warants-3838Uhter fiabilities:1,8652,889- $4,754$ Credit derivatives-1,8652,889-4,754Credit derivatives527-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Asset-backed securities:					
Total fixed maturity securities at fair value- $2,735$ 382 - $3,117$ Cash160160Money market securities199199Loans receivable-2,046-2,046Loan repurchase commitments1,077-1,077Derivative assets:447-447Interest rate derivatives3447Interest rate derivatives3447Itabilities:447-447Interest rate derivatives5165\$-5Credit derivatives:84,638\$(93)\$16,206Liabilities:\$165\$-\$165Derivative liabilities:\$165\$-\$165Insured derivatives:8445445Credit derivatives:445445-445-445445-4454454454454454454454454454546<	Collateralized debt obligations	-	330	203	-	533
Cash 160 - - 160 Money market securities 199 - - 199 Loan receivable - 2,046 - 2,046 Loan repurchase commitments - - 1,077 - 1,077 Derivative assets: - - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Evaluative liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ \$ 165 </td <td>Other asset-backed</td> <td>-</td> <td>236</td> <td>67</td> <td>-</td> <td>303</td>	Other asset-backed	-	236	67	-	303
Cash 160 - - 160 Money market securities 199 - - 199 Loan receivable - 2,046 - 2,046 Loan repurchase commitments - - 1,077 - 1,077 Derivative assets: - - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Evaluative liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ \$ 165 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>						
Cash 160 - - 160 Money market securities 199 - - 199 Loan receivable - 2,046 - 2,046 Loan repurchase commitments - - 1,077 - 1,077 Derivative assets: - - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - 3 - - 447 Interest rate derivatives - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Evaluative liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ 165 \$ \$ \$ 165 </td <td>Total fixed maturity securities at fair value</td> <td>-</td> <td>2.735</td> <td>382</td> <td>-</td> <td>3.117</td>	Total fixed maturity securities at fair value	-	2.735	382	-	3.117
Money market securities199199Loans receivable2,046-2,046Loan repurchase commitments-1,077-1,077Derivative assets:447-447Interest rate derivatives3447Interest rate derivatives-33-3Total assets $\$3,085$ \$ $\$,576$ \$ $4,638$ \$(93)\$16,206Liabilities:\$165\$-\$5165Derivative liabilities:\$165\$-\$165Insured derivatives:-\$-\$165\$-445Currency derivatives:-184,790-4,8088093)(93)(93)Other-445445445-445Currency derivatives-445445-445-445-445445-445445445445445445445445445445445445445- <t< td=""><td></td><td>160</td><td>,</td><td></td><td>-</td><td>- / ·</td></t<>		160	,		-	- / ·
Loans receivable2,046-2,046Loan repurchase commitments1,077-1,077Derivative assets:447-447Interest rate derivatives-33Total assets\$ 3,085\$ 8,576\$ 4,638\$ (93)\$ 16,206Liabilities:\$ 165\$ -\$ 165Medium-term notes\$ -\$ -\$ 165\$ -\$ 165Derivative liabilities:\$ 165\$ -\$ 165Non-insured derivatives-184,790-4,808Non-insured derivatives-445445Currency derivatives-445445Currency derivatives-3838Urants-3838-38Cher-3838Other-3838Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:527-527Interest rate derivatives281Credit derivatives281527			-	-	-	
Loan repurchase commitments1,077-1,077Derivative assets:447-447Interest rate derivatives3447Interest rate derivatives33Total assets $\$3,085$ $\$$ $\$,576$ $\$$ $4,638$ $\$$ (93) $\$$ $16,206$ Liabilities: $\$$ $\$$ $$$			-	2.046	-	
Derivative assets: - - 447 - 447 Interest rate derivatives - 3 - - 3 Total assets \$ 3,085 \$ 8,576 \$ 4,638 \$ (93) \$ 16,206 Liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 16,206 Liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Medium-term notes \$ - \$ - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Derivative liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Derivative liabilities: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Credit derivatives: - - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Interest rate derivatives: - - 18 4,790 - 4,808 Non-insured derivatives: - - 445 - - 445 Currency derivatives - 445 - - 40 - - 403 (93) (93) (93) (93) (93) (93) (93) (93) <td< td=""><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td></td<>		-	-		-	
Credit derivatives447-447Interest rate derivatives-33Total assets $\$3,085$ $\$8,576$ $\$4,638$ $\$$ (93) $\$$ $16,206$ Liabilities: $\$$ $\$638$ $\$$ (93) $\$$ $16,206$ Derivative liabilities: $\$$ $\$65$ $\$$ $\$$ $\$6576$ $\$4,638$ $\$$ (93) $\$$ $16,206$ Liabilities: $\$$ $\$6576$ $\$$ $4,638$ $\$$ (93) $\$$ $16,206$ Derivative liabilities: $\$$ $\$6576$ $\$$ $4,638$ $\$$ (93) $\$$ $$$165Derivative liabilities:\$84,790-4,808$$$	•			-,		_,
Interest rate derivatives-33Total assets $\$ 3,085$ $\$ 8,576$ $\$ 4,638$ $\$ (93)$ $\$ 16,206$ Liabilities: </td <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>447</td> <td>-</td> <td>447</td>		-	-	447	-	447
Total assets $\$ 3,085$ $\$ 8,576$ $\$ 4,638$ $\$ (93)$ $\$ 16,206$ Liabilities:Medium-term notes $\$ \$ \$ 165$ $\$ \$ 165$ Derivative liabilities: $\$ \$ 165$ $\$ \$ 165$ Derivative liabilities: $*$ $*$ $*$ $*$ $*$ Insured derivatives: $*$ $*$ $*$ $*$ $*$ Insured derivatives: $*$ $*$ $*$ $*$ $*$ Interest rate derivatives $ 445$ $ 445$ Currency derivatives $ 43$ $ -$ Other $ 445$ Currency derivatives $ -$ Other $ -$ Warants $ -$ Uaibilities: $ -$ Variable interest entity notes $ -$ Derivative liabilities: $ -$ Credit derivatives $ -$ Derivatives $-$ <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>3</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td></td>		-	3	-	-	
Liabilities:Medium-term notes $\$$ - $\$$ 165 $\$$ - $\$$ 165Derivative liabilities: $\$$ 165 $\$$ - $\$$ 165Derivative liabilities:184,790-4,808Non-insured derivatives:184,790-4,808Non-insured derivatives:445445Currency derivatives-445445Currency derivatives-4445Other693(93)(93)Other liabilities:3838Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:-1,8652,889-4,754Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:527-527Interest rate derivatives281Credit derivatives-281281			U			5
Medium-term notes \$ - \$ 165 \$ - \$ 165 Derivative liabilities: Insured derivatives: Insured derivatives Insured derivatives Insured derivatives Interest rate derivatives Int	Total assets	\$ 3,085	\$ 8,576	\$ 4,638	\$ (93)	\$ 16,206
Derivative liabilities:Insured derivatives:Credit derivativesInterest rate derivatives:Interest rate derivativesInterest rate derivativesOther-445445445445445445445445445	Liabilities:					
Insured derivatives: - 18 4,790 - 4,808 Non-insured derivatives: - 18 4,790 - 4,808 Non-insured derivatives: - - 445 - - 445 Currency derivatives - 4 - - 445 Currency derivatives - 4 - - 445 Other - 4 - - 4 Other - - - 4 - - 4 Other - - - (93) (93) (93) 6 Other liabilities: - - 38 - - 38 Liabilities of consolidated VIEs: - - 1,865 2,889 - 4,754 Derivative liabilities: - - 527 - 527 Interest rate derivatives - 281 - - 281	Medium-term notes	\$ -	\$-	\$ 165	\$ -	\$ 165
Credit derivatives-184,790-4,808Non-insured derivatives:Interest rate derivatives-445445Currency derivatives-4445Currency derivatives-44Other(93)(93)Other liabilities:3838Warrants-3838Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:527-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Derivative liabilities:					
Non-insured derivatives:-445445Interest rate derivatives-445445Currency derivatives-44Other(93)(93)Other liabilities:(93)(93)Warrants-3838Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:38Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:527-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Insured derivatives:					
Interest rate derivatives-445445Currency derivatives-44Other(93)(93)Other liabilities:(93)(93)Warrants-3838Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:38Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:527-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Credit derivatives	-	18	4,790	-	4,808
Currency derivatives-44Other(93)(93)Other liabilities:3838Warrants-3838Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:3838Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:527-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Non-insured derivatives:					
Other(93)(93)Other liabilities:WarrantsVariants-38Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:Credit derivatives-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Interest rate derivatives	-	445	-	-	445
Other liabilities:Warrants-38Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:-38Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889Derivative liabilities:-4,754Credit derivatives-527-527Interest rate derivatives-281281	Currency derivatives	-	4	-	-	4
Warrants-3838Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:Variable interest entity notesVariable interest entity notesDerivative liabilities:Credit derivatives527-Interest rate derivatives-281-281	Other	-	-	-	(93)	(93)
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs: Variable interest entity notes - 1,865 2,889 - 4,754 Derivative liabilities: Credit derivatives - 527 - 527 Interest rate derivatives - 281 - 281	Other liabilities:					
Variable interest entity notes-1,8652,889-4,754Derivative liabilities:Credit derivatives527-281281	Warrants	-	38	-	-	38
Derivative liabilities: Credit derivatives 527 - 527 Interest rate derivatives - 281 281	Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:					
Credit derivatives-527-527Interest rate derivatives-281-281	Variable interest entity notes	-	1,865	2,889	-	4,754
Interest rate derivatives - 281 281	Derivative liabilities:					
Interest rate derivatives - 281 281	Credit derivatives	-	-	527	-	527
Currency derivatives 17 - 17	Interest rate derivatives	-	281	_	_	281
	Currency derivatives	-	-	17	-	17

Total liabilities \$ - \$ 2,651 \$ 8,388 \$ (93) \$ 10,94	\$		\$	-		\$	2,651	\$	8,388	\$	5	(93)	\$	10,9	946
---	----	--	----	---	--	----	-------	----	-------	----	---	------	----	------	-----

Level 3 assets at fair value, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 represented approximately 28% and 29%, respectively, of total assets measured at fair value. Level 3 liabilities at fair value, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 represented approximately 73% and 77%, respectively, of total liabilities measured at fair value.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables present the fair values and carrying values of the Company s assets and liabilities that are disclosed at fair value but not reported at fair value on the Company s consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

	•	Fair Value I Prices in Aarkets for	Measuro	ements at Rep	orting Date	Using				
In millions	A (I	entical ssets Level 1)	Obs	cant Other servable ts (Level 2)	Unobser	nificant wable Inputs evel 3)		nce as of e 30, 2012	Bala	ry Value nce as of 30, 2012
Assets:										
Other investments	\$	-	\$	-	\$	11	\$	11	\$	11
Accrued investment income ⁽¹⁾		57		-		-		57		57
Receivable for investments sold ⁽¹⁾		60		-		-		60		60
Assets of consolidated VIEs:										
Investments held-to-maturity		-		-		2,896		2,896		3,051
Total assets	\$	117	\$	-	\$	2,907	\$	3,024	\$	3,179
Liabilities:										
Investment agreements	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1,445	\$	1,445	\$	1,171
Medium-term notes		-		-		982		982		1,415
Long-term debt		-		1,119		-		1,119		1,837
Payable for investments purchased ⁽²⁾		43		-		-		43		43
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:										
Variable interest entity notes		-		-		3,216		3,216		3,589
Total liabilities	\$	43	\$	1,119	\$	5,643	\$	6.805	\$	8,055
	Ŧ		-	-,>		-,	Ŧ	.,	+	0,000
Financial Guarantees:										
Gross	\$	-	\$	-	\$	975	\$	975	\$	831
Ceded		-		-		92		92		95

(1) - Reported within Other assets on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

(2) - Reported within Other liabilities on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In millions	Active Marke Active Marke Identica Assets (Level 1)	ets for l Signi Obser	ficant Other rvable Inputs Level 2)	Unobser	mificant rvable Inputs Level 3)	 ance as of ber 31, 2011	Bala	ry Value nce as of per 31, 2011
Assets:								
Other investments	Ψ	- \$	-	\$	11	\$ 11	\$	11
Accrued investment income ⁽¹⁾	63		-		-	63		63
Receivable for investments sold ⁽¹⁾	32	2	-		-	32		32
Assets of consolidated VIEs:								
Investments held-to-maturity		-	-		3,489	3,489		3,843
Total assets	\$ 95	5 \$	-	\$	3,500	\$ 3,595	\$	3,949
Liabilities:								
Investment agreements	\$ ·	- \$	-	\$	1,853	\$ 1,853	\$	1,578
Medium-term notes		-	-		1,187	1,187		1,491
Securities sold under agreements to								
repurchase		-	286		-	286		287
Long-term debt		-	1,117		-	1,117		1,840
Payable for investments								
purchased ⁽²⁾	3	3	-		-	3		3
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:								
Variable interest entity notes		-	-		3,297	3,297		3,943
Long-term debt		-	-		368	368		360
Total liabilities	\$ 3	3 \$	1,403	\$	6,705	\$ 8,111	\$	9,502
Financial Guarantees:								
Gross	\$	- \$	-	\$	1,451	\$ 1,451	\$	1,305
Ceded		-	-		94	94		104

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using Quoted Prices in

(1) - Reported within Other assets on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

(2) - Reported within Other liabilities on MBIA s consolidated balance sheets.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables present information about changes in Level 3 assets (including short-term investments) and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

Changes in Level 3 Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2012

In millions	Begi	ance, nning of riod	Ga	lized ins / sses)	Unrea Gain (Loss Inclu ir Earn	ns / ses) ded	Unre Ga (Lo Incl		Excl Recog in C	gnized OCI or	chases	Issua	nces	Settl	ements	S	ales	i L	nsfers nto evel 3(1)	ou Le	sfers t of vel (1)	ding ance	i Unre: Ga (Los for Per Incli i Earr fo Ass st he as Jun	ange n alized iins sses) the fiod uded n nings or sets ill eld of e 30, 12
Assets:			(8-																		
Foreign																								
governments	\$	12	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(1)	\$ 7	\$	-	\$	(3)	\$	(3)	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 12	\$	-
Corporate																								
obligations		185		-		2		13		(2)	16		-		(15)		(115)		14		-	98		2
Residential																								
mortgage-backed		0																	4		$\langle 0 \rangle$	4		
agency Residential		9		-		-		-		-	-		-		-		-		4		(9)	4		-
mortgage-backed																								
non-agency		14						(4)							(5)		(1)		26		_	30		_
Commercial		14		-		-		(4)		-	-		-		(3)		(1)		20		-	50		-
mortgage-backed		25		_		_		2		_	-		_		-		-		-		_	27		-
Collateralized		20						-																
debt obligations		35		(1)		-		3		-	-		_		(4)		(7)		4		(1)	29		-
Other				. /													, í				. /			
asset-backed		115		(2)		-		10		-	2		-		(2)		(50)		4		(5)	72		-
State and																								
municipal																								
tax-exempt bonds		27		-		-		-		-	-		-		(2)		-		-		-	25		-
Perpetual																								
preferred																								
securities		-		-		-		-		-	-		-		-		-		3		-	3		-
Other investments		10		-		-		-		-	-		-		-		-		-		-	10		-
Assets of consolidated VIEs:																								

Corporate													
obligations	75	-	(6)	(6)	-	28	-	(2)	-	6	-	95	-
Residential													
mortgage-backed													
non-agency	25	-	1	-	-	-	-	(2)	(15)	1	-	10	-
Commercial													
mortgage-backed	15	-	1	-	-	-	-	(1)	(8)	5	-	12	1
Collateralized													
debt obligations	218	-	(2)	(3)	-	-	-	-	(75)	2	-	140	6
Other													
asset-backed	71	-	3	-	-	4	-	(3)	(36)	3	-	42	2
Loans receivable	2,025	-	(49)	-	-	-	-	(71)	(2)	-	-	1,903	(49)
Loan repurchase													
commitments	1,076	-	(44)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1,032	(44)
Total assets	\$ 3,937	\$ (3)	\$ (94)	\$ 15	\$ (3)	\$ 57	\$ -	\$ (110)	\$ (312)	\$ 72	\$ (15)	\$ 3,544	\$ (82)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In millions Liabilities:	Be I	alance, ginning of Period	(G	alized Gains) / osses	(C L Ind	realized Gains) / osses cluded in rnings	Uni ((I In	realized Gains) / osses cluded i OCI	Ex Rec ir	change ognized OCI or		chases	Issua	nces	Sett	lements	Sal	es	iı Le	nsfers nto evel	ou Le	nsfers t of evel (1)		ling	Unr (G L Inc Eau Lia S I a Ju	hange in ealized Gains) osses for the eriod cluded in rnings for bilities still held as of ne 30, 2012
Medium-term notes	\$	174	\$		\$	(16)	\$	_	\$	(7)	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	-	\$	151	\$	(16)
Credit	ψ	1/4	Ψ	_	ψ	(10)	ψ	_	ψ	(7)	ψ	-	ψ	-	ψ	-	ψ	-	ψ	-	ψ	-	ψ	151	ψ	(10)
derivatives, net		4,487		443	(1,202)		-		_		_		_		(443)		_		_		-	3	,285		(641)
Interest rate derivatives,		.,			,	-,_ «_)										()								,		(***)
net		(4)		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		(4)		-
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:																										
VIE notes		2,864		-		62		-		-		-		-		(76)	(9	983)		-		-	1	,867		62
Credit derivatives,																		(00)								
net Currency		82		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		(82)		-		-		-		-
derivatives, net		19		-		2		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		21		2
Total																										
liabilities	\$	7,622	\$	443	\$ (1,154)	\$	-	\$	(7)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(519)	\$ (1,0)65)	\$	-	\$	-	\$5	,320	\$	(593)

 $\left(1\right)$ - Transferred in and out at the end of the period.

Changes in Level 3 Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

In millions Assets:	Balance, Beginnin of Period	g R (ealized Gains / Losses)	Unrealize Gains / (Losses Include in Earning	/ 1 5) ed	Unrealized Gains / (Losses) Included in OCI	Exc Reco in	gnized OCI or	chases	Issu	ances	Sett	tlements	S	ales	iı L	nsfers nto evel 5(1)	oı L	nsfers 1t of evel 3(1)		ling ance	for Pe Incl Ear f As s h as Jun	ssses) r the riod luded in nings 'or ssets till eld s of ne 30, 011
Foreign																							
governments	\$ 19	\$	-	\$ -	-	\$-	\$	-	\$ 4	\$	-	\$	(3)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(7)	\$	13	\$	-
Corporate																							
obligations	212		-	-	-	-		1	1		-		(2)		-		82		-		294		-
Residential																							
mortgage-backed																							
non-agency	43		(1)	-	-	5		(2)	4		-		(6)		(18)		3		-		28		-
Commercial			(-)			-		(=)					(2)		()		-						
mortgage-backed	51		-	_	_	_		_	1		_		_		(2)		_		_		50		_
Collateralized	51								1						(2)						50		
	123		(1)	_		8		(9)	5		-		(4)		(6)		46		_		162		_
debt obligations	125		(1)	-	-	0		(9)	3		-		(4)		(0)		40		-		102		-
Other	202							(1)	0				(1)		(1)		11				221		
asset-backed	322		-	-	-	(7)		(1)	8		-		(1)		(1)		11		-		331		-
State and																							
municipal taxable																							
bonds	12		-	-	-	1		-	-		-		-		-		-		-		13		-
State and																							
municipal																							
tax-exempt bonds	34		-	-	-	-		-	2		-		(3)		(1)		-		-		32		-
Assets of																							
consolidated																							
VIEs:																							
Corporate																							
obligations	84		-	(13	5)	-		-	_		-		(2)		-		-		(7)		62		_
Residential				(-	/																		
mortgage-backed																							
non-agency	18		_	1		_		-	_				(2)				_		_		17		1
Commercial	10			1									(2)								17		1
mortgage-backed	29		_	1									(2)		(1)						27		(1)
	29		-	1	L	-		-	-		-		(2)		(1)		-		-		21		(1)
Collateralized	210			(0)	~												22		(1.4)		201		~
debt obligations	219		-	(26)	-		-	-		-		-		-		22		(14)		201		5
Other																	_						
asset-backed	79		-	(6		-		-	-		-		(1)		-		1		-		73		2
Loans receivable	2,327		-	68	3	-		-	-		-		(73)		(2)		-		-	2,	,320		68
Loan repurchase																							
commitments	867		-	38	3	-		-	-		-		-		-		-		-		905		38
Total assets	\$ 4,439	\$	(2)	\$ 63	3	\$7	\$	(11)	\$ 25	\$	-	\$	(99)	\$	(31)	\$	165	\$	(28)	\$4,	,528	\$	113

Change in Unrealized Gains

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In millions	Balance, Beginning of Period	Realized (Gains) / Losses	Unrealize (Gains) / Losses Included in Earnings	Unrealized (Gains) / Losses Included	Exchange Recognized in OCI or		Issuance	s Settlements	s Sales	Transfers into Level 3 ⁽¹⁾	Transfers out of Level 3(1)	Ending Balance	Change in Unrealized (Gains) Losses for the Period Included in Earnings for Liabilities still held as of June 30, 2011
Liabilities: Medium-term													
notes	\$ 163	\$-	\$ 39	\$-	\$4	\$-	\$ -	\$ -	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$ 206	\$ 39
Credit derivatives,													
net	5,772	218	(116)	-	-	-	-	(218)	-	-	-	5,656	897
Interest rate derivatives,													
net	(4)	-	(1)	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	(4)	2
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:													
VIE notes	4,953	-	2	-	-	-	-	(262)	(180)	-	-	4,513	2
Credit derivatives,													
net	926	-	(6)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	920	(7)
Currency derivatives,													
net	12	-	4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	16	4
Total	¢ 11 000	¢ 010	¢ (70)	¢	¢ 4	¢	¢	¢ (400)	¢ (100)	¢ 1	¢	¢ 11 207	¢ 027
liabilities	\$ 11,822	\$ 218	\$ (78)	\$ -	\$ 4	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (480)	\$ (180)	\$ 1	\$ -	\$ 11,307	\$ 937

(1) - Transferred in and out at the end of the period.

Transfers into and out of Level 3 were \$72 million and \$15 million, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2012. Transfers into and out of Level 2 were \$15 million and \$72 million, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2012. These transfers were principally for residential mortgage-backed non-agency, and corporate obligations where inputs, which are significant to their valuation, became observable or unobservable during the year. These inputs included spreads, prepayment speeds, default speeds, default severities, yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, and market corroborated inputs. Residential mortgage-backed agency and other asset-backed comprised the

Change

majority of the transferred instruments out of Level 3. There were no transfers into or out of Level 1. For the three months ended June 30, 2012, net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income on securities transferred into Level 3 were \$8 million and net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income on securities transferred out of Level 3 were \$2 million.

Transfers into and out of Level 3 were \$166 million and \$28 million, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2011. Transfers into and out of Level 2 were \$28 million and \$166 million, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2011. These transfers were principally for available-for-sale securities where inputs, which are significant to their valuation, became observable or unobservable during the quarter. These inputs included spreads, prepayment speeds, default speeds, default severities, yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, and market corroborated inputs. Corporate obligations and commercial mortgage-backed comprised the majority of the transferred instruments. There were no transfers into or out of Level 1. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income on securities transferred into Level 3 were \$2 million and net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income on securities transferred out of Level 3 were \$8 million.

All Level 1, 2 and 3 designations are made at the end of each accounting period.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables present information about changes in Level 3 assets (including short-term investments) and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

Changes in Level 3 Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012

In millions	Beg	lance, jinning Year	Realize Gains (Losse:) dI	nrealized Gains / Losses) ncluded in Carnings	Unr Ga (L Inc	ealized ains / osses) :luded OCI	Exc Reco in	ognized OCI or	I	rchases	Issu	ances	Sett	lements	Sales	i L	nsfers into .evel 3(1)	ou Le	nsfers it of evel 5(1)		ding	in Unrea Ga (Los for Per Inch in Earr fo	ins sses) the iod uded n nings or sets ill eld of e 30,
Assets:	01	Ital	(LUSSC) I	armigs	111	oci	Lai	migs	1 ui	chases	1550	ances	Sen	lements	Jaics	•	J. /			Dai	ance	20	14
Foreign																								
governments	\$	11	\$	- \$	5 -	\$	-	\$	-	\$	13	\$	-	\$	(9)	\$ (3)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	12	\$	-
Corporate																								
obligations		207	(1:	5)	5		26		-		15		-		(16)	(138)		14		-		98		5
Residential																								
mortgage-backed		0					1											4		$\langle 0 \rangle$		4		
agency Residential		8		-	-		1		-		-		-		-	-		4		(9)		4		-
mortgage-backed																								
non-agency		17		_	_		(3)		_		_		_		(7)	(1)		26		(2)		30		_
Commercial		17		-	-		(3)		-		-		-		()	(1)		20		(2)		50		-
mortgage-backed		24		_	-		4		_		-		_		-	-		-		(1)		27		-
Collateralized							·													(1)				
debt obligations		60	(4	4)	-		9		-		-		-		(9)	(10)		10		(27)		29		-
Other				ĺ.											, í	, í				Ì.				
asset-backed		317	(6	l)	-		73		-		4		-		(8)	(252)		6		(7)		72		-
State and																								
municipal																								
tax-exempt bonds		28		-	-		-		-		-		-		(3)	-		-		-		25		-
Perpetual																								
preferred		1																4		$\langle \mathbf{O} \rangle$		2		
securities Other investments		1 10		-	-		-		-		-		-		-	-		4		(2)		3 10		-
Assets of consolidated VIEs:		10		-	-		-		-		-		-		-	-		-		-		10		-

Corporate													
obligations	69	-	(5)	(6)	-	28	-	(3)	-	12	-	95	1
Residential													
mortgage-backed													
non-agency	21	-	6	-	-	-	-	(4)	(15)	3	(1)	10	5
Commercial													
mortgage-backed	22	-	2	-	-	-	-	(3)	(8)	5	(6)	12	1
Collateralized													
debt obligations	203	-	-	(2)	-	-	-	-	(75)	14	-	140	7
Other													
asset-backed	67	-	5	-	-	4	-	(3)	(36)	5	-	42	4
Loans receivable	2,046	-	(10)	-	-	-	-	(131)	(2)	-	-	1,903	(10)
Loan repurchase													
commitments	1,077	-	(45)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1,032	(45)
Total assets	\$ 4,188	\$ (80)	\$ (42)	\$ 102	\$ -	\$ 64	\$ -	\$ (196)	\$ (540)	\$ 103	\$ (55)	\$ 3,544	\$ (32)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In millions Liabilities:	Balance, Beginning of Year	Realized (Gains) / Losses	Unrealized (Gains) / Losses Included in Earnings	Unrealized (Gains)	Exchange Recognized in OCI or		Issuances	Settlements	Sales	Transfers into Level 3 ⁽¹⁾	Transfers out of Level 3 ⁽¹⁾	Ending Balance	Change in Unrealized (Gains) Losses for the Period Included in Earnings for Liabilities still held as of June 30, 2012
Medium-term notes	\$ 165	\$-	\$ (11)	\$-	\$ (3)	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$ -	\$ -	\$-	\$ 151	\$ (11)
Credit	\$ 105	φ -	ş (11)	φ -	\$ (3)	- ر	- بر	φ -	ф -	ф –	φ -	\$ 1 5 1	\$ (11)
derivatives,													
net	4,790	463	(1,505)	-	-	-	-	(463)	-	-	-	3,285	(571)
Interest rate derivatives,			(1)										-
net Liabilities of	(3)	-	(1)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(4)	7
consolidated VIEs:													
VIE notes	2,889	-	221	-	-	-	-	(260)	(983)	-	-	1,867	165
Credit derivatives,													
net	80	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	(82)	-	-	-	-
Currency derivatives,	17		4									21	4
net	17	-	4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	21	4
Total liabilities	\$ 7,938	\$ 463	\$ (1,290)	\$-	\$ (3)	\$-	\$-	\$ (723)	\$ (1,065)	\$-	\$-	\$ 5,320	\$ (406)

 $\left(1\right)$ - Transferred in and out at the end of the period.

Changes in Level 3 Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis for the Six Months Ended June 30,

2011

	Balance, Beginning of Year	Realized Gains / (Losses)	Unrealized Gains / (Losses) Included in Earnings	Unrealized Gains / (Losses) Included	in OCI or	1	Issuances	Settlements	s Sales	Transfers into Level 3 ⁽¹⁾	Transfers out of Level 3 ⁽¹⁾	Ending Balance	Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses) for the Period Included in Earnings for Assets still held as of June 30, 2011
	\$ 11	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$ -	\$7	\$-	\$ (5)	\$-	\$7	\$ (7)	\$ 13	\$ -
	247	-	-	7	3	11	-	(35)	(12)	88	(15)	294	-
ł	41	-	-	1	-	1	-	(1)	(1)	-	(41)	-	-
ł	48	(1)	-	10	(2)	11	-	(11)	(19)	8	(16)	28	-
ł	41	-	_	2	1	9	-	-	(1)	-	(10)	50	-
	191	(2)	-	28	(9)	7	1	(33)	(8)	48	(61)	162	-
	349	-	-	1	(1)	9	-	(10)	(2)	13	(28)	331	-
e	14	_	-	(1)	-	-		-	-	-	-	13	-
s	36	-	-	-	-	2	-	(5)	(1)	-	-	32	-
-	50					2		(3)	(1)			52	
	82	-	(13)		-	-	-	(4)	-	4	(7)	62	(1)
1	40	-	(1)	3	-	-	-	(5)	-	-	(20)	17	2
1	23	-	7	-	-	-	-	(2)	(1)	-	-	27	6
	245	-	(10)	-	-	-	-	(3)	-	37	(68)	201	19
	81 2,183	-	(8) 296	-	-	-	-	(2) (157)	(2)	2	-	73 2,320	(2) 296
,	835	-	58	-	-	-	12	-	-	-	-	905	58
	\$ 4,467	\$ (3)	\$ 329	\$ 51	\$ (8)	\$ 57	\$ 13	\$ (273)	\$ (48)	\$ 207	\$ (264)	\$ 4,528	\$ 378

In millions Assets: Foreign governments Corporate obligations Residential mortgage-backed agency Residential mortgage-backed non-agency Commercial mortgage-backed Collateralized debt obligations Other asset-backed State and municipal taxable

bonds State and municipal tax-exempt bonds Assets of consolidated VIEs: Corporate obligations Residential mortgage-backed non-agency Commercial mortgage-backed Collateralized debt obligations Other asset-backed Loans receivable Loan repurchase commitments

Total assets

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In millions	Balance, Beginning of Year	Realized (Gains) / Losses	Unrealized (Gains) / Losses Included in Earnings	Unrealized (Gains) / Losses Included in OCI	Exchange Recognized in OCI or		Issuances	Settlements	Sales	Transfers into Level 3 ⁽¹⁾	Transfers out of Level 3(1)	Ending Balance	Change in Unrealized (Gains) Losses for the Period Included in Earnings for Liabilities still held as of June 30, 2011
Liabilities:													
Medium-term notes	1 \$116	\$-	\$ 78	\$-	\$ 12	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$ 206	\$ 78
Credit	φ	Ψ	φ 70	Ψ	ψ 12	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	φ 200	φ /0
derivatives,													
net	4,350	605	1,307	-	-	-	-	(605)	-	-	-	5,657	2,128
Interest rate													
derivatives,	(-)												
net	(5)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	(4)	1
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:													
VIE notes	4,673	-	584	-	-	-	-	(564)	(180)	-	-	4,513	584
Credit derivatives,								~ /					
net	768	-	152	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	920	151
Currency derivatives,													
net	14	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	16	2
Total													
liabilities	\$ 9,916	\$ 605	\$ 2,123	\$ -	\$ 12	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (1,169)	\$ (180)	\$ 1	\$ -	\$ 11,308	\$ 2,944

(1) - Transferred in and out at the end of the period.

Transfers into and out of Level 3 were \$103 million and \$55 million, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2012. Transfers into and out of Level 2 were \$55 million and \$103 million, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2012. These transfers were principally for residential mortgage-backed non-agency, corporate obligations and CDOs and other asset-backed where inputs, which are significant to their valuation, became observable or unobservable during the year. These inputs included spreads, prepayment speeds, default speeds, default severities, yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, and market corroborated inputs. CDOs and residential mortgage-backed

agency comprised the majority of the transferred instruments out of Level 3. There were no transfers into or out of Level 1. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income on securities transferred into Level 3 were \$17 million and net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income on securities transferred out of Level 3 were \$5 million.

Transfers into and out of Level 3 were \$208 million and \$264 million, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Transfers into and out of Level 2 were \$264 million and \$208 million, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2011. These transfers were principally for available-for-sale securities where inputs, which are significant to their valuation, became observable or unobservable during the quarter. These inputs included spreads, prepayment speeds, default speeds, default severities, yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, and market corroborated inputs. Corporate obligations and CDOs comprised the majority of the transferred instruments. There were no transfers into or out of Level 1. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, the net unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income related to the transfers into Level 3 were \$1 million and the net unrealized gains included in other comprehensive income related to the transfers out of Level 3 were \$22 million.

All Level 1, 2 and 3 designations are made at the end of each accounting period.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Gains and losses (realized and unrealized) included in earnings relating to Level 3 assets and liabilities for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are reported on the Company s consolidated statements of operations as follows:

		Three Months	s Ended Ju	ne 30, 201	2	
						solidated VIEs
			Net C (Loss			t Gains
	Unrealized Gains (Losses) on	Net Realized	Financi Instrume Net at Fair ealized Value ar		Fin Inst a	osses) on nancial ruments t Fair Value
In millions	Insured Derivatives	Gains (Losses)	Fore Exch	0		Foreign change
Total gains (losses) included in earnings	\$ 1,202	\$ (446)	\$	18	\$	(160)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) for the period included in earnings for assets and liabilities still held as of June 30, 2012	\$ 641	\$-	\$	18	\$	(148)

		Three Months	s Ended June 30, 2013 Net Gains	Consolidated VIEs Net Gains (Losses) on
In millions	Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Insured Derivatives	Net Realized Gains (Losses)	(Losses) on Financial Instruments at Fair Value and Foreign Exchange	Financial Instruments at Fair Value and Foreign Exchange
Total gains (losses) included in earnings	\$ 116	\$ (220)	\$ (38)	\$ 63
Change in unrealized gains (losses) for the period included in earnings for assets and liabilities still held as of June 30, 2011	\$ (897)	\$-	\$ (41)	\$ 114

Gains and losses (realized and unrealized) included in earnings relating to Level 3 assets and liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are reported on the Company s consolidated statements of operations as follows:

		Six Months E	nded June 30, 201	2
				Consolidated
				VIEs
			Net Gains	Net Gains
			(Losses) on	(Losses) on
	Unrealized		Financial	Financial
	Gains		Instruments	Instruments
	(Losses)	Net	at Fair	at Fair
	on	Realized	Value and	Value
	Insured	Gains	Foreign	and Foreign
In millions	Derivatives	(Losses)	Exchange	Exchange
Total gains (losses) included in earnings	\$ 1,505	\$ (543)	\$ 17	\$ (274)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) for the period included in				
earnings for assets and liabilities still held as of June 30, 2012	\$ 571	\$ -	\$9	\$ (206)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

In millions	Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Insured Derivatives	Six Months E Net Realized Gains (Losses)	Net (Lo: Fir Instr Val Fo	ne 30, 2011 t Gains sses) on nancial ruments t Fair lue and oreign change	Ne (Lo Fii Inst a a	solidated VIEs t Gains sses) on nancial ruments t Fair Value Foreign change
Total gains (losses) included in earnings	\$ (1,307)	\$ (608)	\$	(78)	\$	(409)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) for the period included in earnings for assets and liabilities still held as of June 30, 2011	\$ (2,128)	\$ -	\$	(79)	\$	(359)

Fair Value Option

The Company elected to record at fair value certain financial instruments of VIEs that have been consolidated in connection with the adoption of the accounting guidance for consolidation of VIEs, among others.

The following table presents the changes in fair value included in the Company s consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 for all financial instruments for which the fair value option was elected:

	Net Gains (Losses) on Financial Instruments at Fair Value and Foreign Exchange Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30									
In millions	2012	2011	2012	2011						
Fixed-maturity securities held at fair value	\$ (56)	\$ (265)	\$ (57)	\$ (52)						
Loans receivable at fair value:										
Residential mortgage loans	(117)	29	(99)	130						
Other loans	(2)	(35)	(41)	7						
Loan repurchase commitments	44	39	43	70						
Other assets	-	18	-	(22)						
Long-term debt	135	252	128	(115)						

Substantially all gains and losses included in earnings during the six months ended June 30, 2012 on loans receivable and variable interest entity notes reported in the preceding table are attributable to credit risk. This is primarily due to the high rate of defaults on loans and the collateral supporting the variable interest entity notes, resulting in depressed pricing of the financial instruments.

The following table reflects the difference between the aggregate fair value and the aggregate remaining contractual principal balance outstanding as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 for loans and variable interest entity notes for which the fair value option was elected:

		of June 30,	2012	As of December 31, 2011				
In millions	Contractual Outstanding Principal	Fair Value	Difference	Contractual Outstanding Principal	Fair Value	Diff	ference	
Loans receivable at fair value:								
Residential mortgage loans	\$ 2,533	\$ 1,755	\$ 778	\$ 2,769	\$ 1,895	\$	874	
Residential mortgage loans (90 days or more past due)	258	41	217	259	-		259	
Other loans	88	32	56	129	43		86	
Other loans (90 days or more past due)	203	75	128	324	108		216	
Total loans receivable at fair value	\$ 3,082	\$ 1,903	\$ 1,179	\$ 3,481	\$ 2,046	\$	1,435	
Variable interest entity notes	\$ 9,362	\$ 3,638	\$ 5,724	\$ 13,583	\$ 4,754	\$	8,829	

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments

The Company s fixed-maturity portfolio consists of high-quality (average rating Aa) taxable and tax-exempt investments of diversified maturities. Other investments primarily comprise equity investments, including those accounted for under the equity method, highly rated perpetual securities and loan receivables that bear interest.

The following tables present the amortized cost, fair value and other-than-temporary impairments of fixed-maturity investments and other investments designated as available-for-sale in the consolidated investment portfolio of the Company as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

In millions	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	June 30, 2012 Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Other-Than- Temporary Impairments ⁽¹⁾
Fixed-maturity investments:					
Taxable bonds:					
U.S. Treasury and government agency	\$ 1,036	\$ 49	\$ -	\$ 1,085	\$ -
Foreign governments	328	22	-	350	-
Corporate obligations	1,111	50	(24)	1,137	(2)
Mortgage-backed securities:					
Residential mortgage-backed agency	1,032	47	-	1,079	-
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	199	15	(39)	175	(113)
Commercial mortgage-backed	44	1	(5)	40	-
Asset-backed securities:					
Collateralized debt obligations	184	-	(86)	98	(57)
Other asset-backed	212	2	(19)	195	(1)
State and municipal bonds	886	62	(11)	937	-
Total taxable bonds	5,032	248	(184)	5,096	(173)
Tax-exempt bonds:					
State and municipal bonds	1,012	56	(1)	1,067	-
Total fixed-maturity investments	6,044	304	(185)	6,163	(173)
Other investments:					
Perpetual preferred securities	50	-	(1)	49	-
Other investments	10	-	-	10	-
Money market securities	635	-	-	635	-
Total other investments	695	-	(1)	694	-
Assets of consolidated VIEs:	0,0		(1)	071	
Corporate obligations	177	6	(7)	176	-
Mortgage-backed securities:	177	Ũ	(.)	170	
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	106	-	(19)	87	-
Asset-backed securities:			()		
Collateralized debt obligations	109	-	(14)	95	-
Other asset-backed	29	1	-	30	-
State and municipal bonds	37	3	-	40	-
Other investments:		2		.5	
Money market securities	109	-	-	109	-

Tetal and lable for call increases	¢7206	¢	214	¢	(226)	\$7394	¢	(172)
Total available-for-sale investments	\$ 7,306	Э	314	Э	(226)	\$ 7,394	Э	(1/3)

(1) - Represents the amount of other-than-temporary losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) since the adoption of the accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

In millions	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealize Gains	December 31, Gross ed Unrealized Losses	2011 Fair Value	Ter	er-Than- nporary irments ⁽¹⁾
Fixed-maturity investments:					1	
Taxable bonds:						
U.S. Treasury and government agency	\$ 1,091	\$ 39	9 \$ -	\$ 1,130	\$	-
Foreign governments	326	23		349		-
Corporate obligations	1,698	43		1,635		(2)
Mortgage-backed securities:	,			,		
Residential mortgage-backed agency	1,198	4	7 -	1,245		-
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	325	3	1 (83)	273		(125)
Commercial mortgage-backed	58		1 (10)	49		-
Asset-backed securities:						
Collateralized debt obligations	251		- (118)	133		(69)
Other asset-backed	520	-	2 (82)	440		(37)
State and municipal bonds	903	35	5 (17)	921		-
Total taxable bonds	6,370	22	1 (416)	6,175		(233)
Tax-exempt bonds:	- ,			-, -		()
State and municipal bonds	1,122	4	1 (2)	1,161		-
L L	,		~ /	,		
Total fixed-maturity investments	7,492	262	2 (418)	7,336		(233)
Other investments:						
Perpetual preferred securities	127		- (19)	108		-
Other investments	22		1 -	23		-
Money market securities	911			911		-
Total other investments	1,060		1 (19)	1,042		-
Assets of consolidated VIEs:	-,		- ()	-,		
Corporate obligations	2			2		-
Mortgage-backed securities:						
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	119		- (26)	93		-
Asset-backed securities:						
Collateralized debt obligations	112		- (15)	97		-
Other asset-backed	41			41		-
Other investments:						
Money market securities	199			199		-
Total available-for-sale investments	\$ 9,025	\$ 263	3 \$ (478)	\$ 8,810	\$	(233)

(1) - Represents the amount of other-than-temporary losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) since the adoption of the accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments.

The fair value of securities on deposit with various regulatory authorities was \$10 million and \$11 million as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. These deposits are required to comply with state insurance laws.

Substantially all of the obligations under investment agreements require the Company to pledge securities as collateral. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of securities pledged as collateral with respect to these investment agreements approximated \$1.0 billion and \$1.9 billion, respectively. The Company s collateral as of June 30, 2012 consisted principally of RMBS, U.S. Treasury and government agency bonds and state and municipal bonds, and was primarily held with major U.S. banks. Additionally, the Company pledged cash and money market securities as collateral under investment agreements in the amount of \$174 million and \$224 million as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

The following table presents the distribution by contractual maturity of available-for-sale fixed-maturity investments at amortized cost and fair value as of June 30, 2012. Contractual maturity may differ from expected maturity as borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations.

						Consolida	ated VI	Es
In millions	Amor	tized Cost	Fa	ir Value	Amor	tized Cost	Fair	· Value
Due in one year or less	\$	870	\$	872	\$	7	\$	7
Due after one year through five years		834		862		124		132
Due after five years through ten years		667		703		-		-
Due after ten years through fifteen years		438		462		81		75
Due after fifteen years		1,564		1,677		2		2
Mortgage-backed		1,275		1,294		106		87
Asset-backed		396		293		138		125
Total fixed-maturity investments	\$	6,044	\$	6,163	\$	458	\$	428

Investments that are held-to-maturity are reported on the Company s consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost. These investments, which primarily relate to the Company s consolidated VIEs, principally consist of ABS and other fixed-income debt obligations issued by major national and international corporations and other structured finance clients. As of June 30, 2012, unrecognized gross gains were \$5 million and unrecognized gross losses were \$160 million. As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized gross gains were \$17 million and unrecognized gross losses were \$371 million. The following table presents the distribution of held-to-maturity investments by contractual maturity at amortized cost and fair value as of June 30, 2012:

					Consolid	ated VIEs
In millions	Amortize	d Cost	Fair V	Value	Amortized Cost	Fair Value
Due in one year or less	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -	\$ -
Due after one year through five years ⁽¹⁾		1		1	-	-
Due after five years through ten years		-		-	-	-
Due after ten years through fifteen years		-		-	-	-
Due after fifteen years		-		-	-	-
Mortgage-backed		-		-	-	-
Asset-backed		-		-	3,051	2,896
Total held-to-maturity investments	\$	1	\$	1	\$ 3,051	\$ 2,896

(1) - Relates to tax credit investments reported in Other investments on the Company s consolidated balance sheets.

Impaired Investments

The following tables present the gross unrealized losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 related to available-for-sale fixed-maturity and other investments. These tables segregate investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than twelve months from those that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for twelve months or longer.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

	M Fair	than 12 Ionths Unrealize	12 I I d Fair	e 30, 2012 Months or Longer Unrealized	Fair	Fotal Unrealized
In millions	Value	Losses	Value	Losses	Value	Losses
Fixed-maturity investments:						
Taxable bonds:						
U.S. Treasury and government agency	\$ 471	\$	• \$ -	\$-	\$ 471	\$ -
Foreign governments	40			-	40	-
Corporate obligations	211	(2) 41	(22)	252	(24)
Mortgage-backed securities:						
Residential mortgage-backed agency	3		43	-	46	-
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	7	(1		(38)	120	(39)
Commercial mortgage-backed	5		. 26	(5)	31	(5)
Asset-backed securities:						
Collateralized debt obligations	7	(1	·	(85)	94	(86)
Other asset-backed	4		71	(19)	95	(19)
State and municipal bonds	7		. 76	(11)	83	(11)
Total taxable bonds	755	(4) 477	(180)	1,232	(184)
Tax-exempt bonds:						
State and municipal bonds	17		23	(1)	40	(1)
Total fixed-maturity investments	772	(4) 500	(181)	1,272	(185)
Other investments:		() 200	(101)	-,_,_	(100)
Perpetual preferred securities	46	(1) 1	-	47	(1)
Assets of consolidated VIEs:		(-	, -			(-)
Corporate obligations	-		53	(7)	53	(7)
Mortgage-backed securities:			00		00	(*)
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	-		. 87	(19)	87	(19)
Asset-backed securities:				()		()
Collateralized debt obligations	5		. 90	(14)	95	(14)
Other asset-backed	-		. 4	-	4	-
					·	
Total	\$ 823	\$ (5) \$ 735	\$ (221)	\$ 1,558	\$ (226)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

	Less tha	n 12 M	onths	Decemb 12 Month	/		Т	otal	
	Fair		ealized	Fair		realized	Fair		realized
In millions	Value	Lo	osses	Value	L	osses	Value	I	osses
Fixed-maturity investments:									
Taxable bonds:		.			.			.	
U.S. Treasury and government agency	\$ 200	\$	-	\$-	\$	-	\$ 200	\$	-
Foreign governments	20		-	-		-	20		-
Corporate obligations	297		(15)	418		(91)	715		(106)
Mortgage-backed securities:									
Residential mortgage-backed agency	20		-	49		-	69		-
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	34		(5)	167		(78)	201		(83)
Commercial mortgage-backed	17		(2)	22		(8)	39		(10)
Asset-backed securities:									
Collateralized debt obligations	13		(2)	117		(116)	130		(118)
Other asset-backed	53		(7)	328		(75)	381		(82)
State and municipal bonds	152		(2)	76		(15)	228		(17)
Total taxable bonds	806		(33)	1,177		(383)	1,983		(416)
Tax-exempt bonds:									
State and municipal bonds	14		-	75		(2)	89		(2)
•									
Total fixed-maturity investments	820		(33)	1,252		(385)	2,072		(418)
Other investments:			. /	,			ĺ.		· /
Perpetual preferred securities	47		(3)	45		(16)	92		(19)
Assets of consolidated VIEs:									. ,
Corporate obligations	2		-	-		-	2		_
Mortgage-backed securities:									
Residential mortgage-backed non-agency	3		-	90		(26)	93		(26)
Asset-backed securities:	-					(_*)			(==)
Collateralized debt obligations	9		-	88		(15)	97		(15)
Other asset-backed	31		-	-		-	31		-
	51						51		
Total	\$ 912	\$	(36)	\$ 1,475	\$	(442)	\$ 2,387	\$	(478)

Gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities presented in the preceding tables decreased as of June 30, 2012 compared with December 31, 2011 primarily due to the sale of several impaired securities included in the Company s asset/liability products investment portfolio and the other-than-temporary impairment to fair value of several other impaired securities since there was an intent to sell them. Investments with unrealized losses that met the criteria described in the Other-Than-Temporary Impairments section below were tested for other-than-temporary impairments and principally related to ABS, MBS, and corporate obligations.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

The following table presents the fair values and gross unrealized losses by credit rating category of ABS included in the Company s consolidated investment portfolio as of June 30, 2012 for which fair value was less than amortized cost. Of the total fair value and unrealized losses of ABS, \$65 million of fair value and \$57 million of unrealized losses are included in the Company s asset/liability products investment portfolio. Fair values include the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantors, including MBIA. The credit ratings are based on ratings from Moody s as of June 30, 2012 or an alternate ratings source, such as S&P, when a security is not rated by Moody s. For investments that are insured by various third-party guarantee insurers, the credit rating reflects the higher of the insurer s rating or the underlying bond s rating.

																	Be	low								
In millions Asset-	Aaa Aa A Fair Unrealized Fair Un								4			Ba	a		In	vestme	ent G	rade		Not l	Rated		Т	otal		
backed Sector	air due	Unrea Lo		Fa Val		-	ealized 2055	Fa Val		Unrea Lo	alized oss	Faiı Valu			alized oss		Fair alue		ealized oss	Fa Val		Unre Lo	alized oss	Fair alue		realized Loss
ABS CDO	\$ 5	\$	-	\$	5	\$	-	\$	6	\$	-	\$	1	\$	(3)	\$	15	\$	(52)	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 32	\$	(55)
Corporate CDO	36		(3)		63		(10)		16		(3)		1		_		88		(40)		1		(1)	205		(57)
Auto loans	-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		2		-	2		-
Credit cards	2		-		-		-		-		-		_		-		-		-		-		-	2		-
Small pusiness/ student	_																							16		
oans	5		-		-		-		-		-		-		-		11		-		-		-	16		-
Other ABS	2		-		4		-		4		-		4		(1)		10		(2)		7		(4)	31		(7)
Fotal	\$ 50	\$	(3)	\$	72	\$	(10)	\$	26	\$	(3)	\$	6	\$	(4)	\$	124	\$	(94)	\$	10	\$	(5)	\$ 288	\$	(119)

Of the Company s investments in ABS reported in the preceding table, 53% were rated investment grade with 17% rated Aaa. Of the total ABS investments reported in the preceding table, \$147 million include the benefit of guarantees provided by MBIA Corp. and \$31 million include the benefit of guarantees provided by third-party financial guarantors. The average credit rating of all guaranteed ABS investments using the higher of the guarantors ratings or the underlying bond ratings was Baa and the average underlying credit rating of guarantees provided by financial guarantees, without giving effect to the guarantees was below investment grade. Without giving effect to the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantors, including MBIA Corp., \$134 million or 47% of the securities included in the preceding table were rated below investment grade.

The following table presents the fair values and gross unrealized losses by credit rating category of MBS included in the Company s consolidated investment portfolio as of June 30, 2012 for which fair value was less than amortized cost. Fair values include the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantors, including MBIA. The credit ratings are based on ratings from Moody s as of June 30, 2012 or an alternate ratings source, such as S&P, when a security is not rated by Moody s. For investments that are insured by various third-party guarantee insurers, the credit rating reflects the higher of the insurer s rating or the underlying bond s rating.

					Below		
n millions	Aaa	Aa	Α	Baa	Investment Grade	Not Rated	Total

fortgage- acked ecurities		air lue	Unrea Los			air lue	_	ealized .oss	Fa Va	ir lue	Unrea Lo			air due		alized oss		'air alue	-	ealized .oss		'air alue		ealized oss		Fair alue		ealize Loss
MBS:	¢	40	¢		¢	24	¢	(2)	¢		¢		¢	1	¢		¢	24	¢	(2)	¢	15	¢	$\langle 0 \rangle$	¢	102	¢	(15)
ollateralized	\$	49	\$	-	\$	24	\$	(3)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1	\$	-	\$	34	\$	(3)	\$	15	\$	(9)	\$	123	\$	(15)
lome equity		2		-		58		(13)		1		-		-		-		57		(27)		-		-		118		(40)
ass-through ecurities		3		_		_		_		_		_		_				_		_		_		_		3		_
ther		5				8		(3)		-		-		_		-		-		-		_		_		8		(3)
		-		-		0		(3)				-						-		-		-		-		-		
MBS		-		-		-		-		2		-		26		(4)		4		(1)		-		-		32		(5)
otal	\$	54	\$	-	\$	90	\$	(19)	\$	3	\$	-	\$	27	\$	(4)	\$	95	\$	(31)	\$	15	\$	(9)	\$	284	\$	(63)

Of the Company s investments in MBS reported in the preceding table, 61% were rated investment grade with 19% rated Aaa. Of the total MBS investments reported in the preceding table, \$11 million include the benefit of guarantees provided by MBIA Corp. and \$189 million include the benefit of guarantees provided by third-party financial guarantors. The average credit rating of all guaranteed MBS investments using the higher of the guarantors ratings or the underlying bond ratings was below investment grade and the average underlying credit rating of guarantees movided by financial guarantees, was below investment grade. Without giving effect to the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantees, was below investment grade. Without giving effect to the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantees, \$209 million or 74% of the securities included in the preceding table were rated below investment grade.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

The following table presents the fair values and gross unrealized losses by credit rating category of direct corporate obligations included in the Company s consolidated investment portfolio as of June 30, 2012 for which fair value was less than amortized cost. Fair values include the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantors, including MBIA. The credit ratings are based on ratings from Moody s as of June 30, 2012 or an alternate ratings source, such as S&P, when a security is not rated by Moody s. For investments that are insured by various third-party guarantee insurers, the credit rating reflects the higher of the insurer s rating or the underlying bond s rating.

															Be	low							
n millions		Α	aa			Aa		1	A		В	laa		In	vestm	ent G	rade	Not l	Rate	d	Т	otal	
	Fai Val		Unrealize Loss	d	Fair Value		alized oss	Fair 'alue	-	ealized Loss	Fair 'alue	· .	ealized Loss		'air alue	· .	ealized .oss	'air alue	· .	realized Loss	Fair 'alue	· .	ealize Loss
orporate bligations	\$	4	\$ -		\$ 39	\$	-	\$ 130	\$	(6)	\$ 107	\$	(9)	\$	13	\$	(4)	\$ 12	\$	(12)	\$ 305	\$	(31)

Of the Company s investments in corporate obligations reported in the preceding table, 92% were rated investment grade with 1% rated Aaa. Of the total corporate obligations reported in the preceding table, \$9 million include the benefit of guarantees provided by third-party financial guarantors. The average credit rating of all guaranteed corporate obligations included in the preceding table using the higher of the guarantors ratings or the underlying bond ratings was A and the average underlying credit rating of these guaranteed corporate obligations without giving effect to the guarantees was A. Without giving effect to the benefit of guarantees provided by financial guarantors, including MBIA Corp., \$13 million or 4% of the securities included in the preceding table were rated below investment grade.

The following tables present the gross unrealized losses of held-to-maturity investments as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011. Held-to-maturity investments are reported at amortized cost on the Company s consolidated balance sheets. The tables segregate investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than twelve months from those that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for twelve months or longer.

	L	ess tha	n 12 Mon	ths	June 12 Mont	30, 20 hs or I		7	Fotal	
In millions		air due	Unrea Los		Fair Value		realized Josses	Fair Value		realized Losses
Assets of consolidated VIEs:										
Other asset-backed securities	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 2,361	\$	(160)	\$ 2,361	\$	(160)
Total	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 2,361	\$	(160)	\$ 2,361	\$	(160)

	Less than	12 Months	December 31, 2011 12 Months or Longer		Total	
		Unrealized		Unrealized		Unrealized
In millions	Fair Value	Losses	Fair Value	Losses	Fair Value	Losses
Assets of consolidated VIEs:						

Other asset-backed securities	\$ 284	\$ (31)	\$ 2,185	\$ (340)	\$ 2,469	\$ (371)
Total	\$ 284	\$ (31)	\$ 2,185	\$ (340)	\$ 2,469	\$ (371)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company s available-for-sale fixed-maturity investment, other investment and held-to-maturity investment portfolios gross unrealized losses totaled \$386 million and \$849 million, respectively. The weighted average contractual maturity of securities in an unrealized loss position as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was 20 years and 21 years, respectively. As of June 30, 2012, there were 204 securities that were in an unrealized loss position for a continuous twelve-month period or longer with aggregate unrealized losses of \$381 million. Within these securities, the book value of 131 securities exceeded market value by more than 5% as presented in the following table:

Percentage Book Value Exceeded Market Value	Number of Securities	Book Value (in millions)	Fair Value (in millions)
Greater than 5% to less than 16%	39	\$ 1,784	\$ 1,615
16% to less than 26%	19	159	124
26% to 50%	39	170	105
Greater than 50%	34	99	22
Total	131	\$ 2,212	\$ 1,866

As of December 31, 2011, there were 290 securities that were in an unrealized loss position for a continuous twelve-month period or longer with aggregate unrealized losses of \$782 million. Within these securities, the book value of 218 securities exceeded market value by more than 5%. The decrease in the number of securities in an unrealized loss position as of June 30, 2012 compared with December 31, 2011 resulted from the sales and impairments of securities during the first six months of 2012.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments

The Company has an ongoing review process for all securities in its investment portfolio, including a quarterly assessment of other-than-temporary impairments. This evaluation includes both qualitative and quantitative considerations. In assessing whether a decline in value is related to a credit loss, the Company considers several factors, including but not limited to (i) the magnitude and duration of declines in fair value; (ii) the reasons for the declines in fair value, such as general credit spread movements in each asset-backed sector, transaction-specific changes in credit spreads, credit rating downgrades, modeled defaults, and principal and interest payment priorities within each investment structure; and (iii) any guarantees associated with a security such as those provided by financial guarantee insurance companies, including MBIA Corp. and National.

In calculating credit-related losses, the Company utilizes cash flow modeling based on the type of security. The Company s cash flow analysis considers all sources of cash, including credit enhancement, that support the payment of amounts owed by an issuer of a security. This includes the consideration of cash expected to be provided by financial guarantors, including MBIA Corp., resulting from an actual or potential insurance policy claim. In general, any change in the amount and/or timing of cash flows received or expected to be received, whether or not such cash flows are contractually defined, is reflected in the Company s cash flow analysis for purposes of assessing an other-than-temporary impairment loss on an impaired security.

ABS investments are evaluated for other-than-temporary impairments using historical collateral performance, deal waterfall and structural protections, credit ratings, and forward looking projections of collateral performance based on business and economic conditions specific to each collateral type and risk. The underlying collateral is evaluated to identify any specific performance concerns, and stress scenarios are considered in forecasting ultimate returns of principal. Based on this evaluation, if a principal default is projected for a security, estimated future cash flows are discounted at the security s purchase yield. If the present value of cash flows is less than the Company s amortized cost for the security, the

Table of Contents

difference is recorded as an other-than-temporary impairment loss.

RMBS investments are evaluated for other-than-temporary impairments using industry-standard quantitative tools. Loan level data is obtained and analyzed in a model that produces prepayment, default, and severity vectors. The model utilizes macro inputs, including housing price assumptions and interest rates, which are consistent with industry views. The vector outputs are used as inputs to a third-party cash flow model, which considers deal waterfall dynamics and structural features, to generate cash flows for an RMBS investment. These cash flows are then discounted at the security s purchase yield. If the present value of the cash flows is less than the Company s amortized cost for the investment, the difference is recorded as an other-than-temporary impairment loss. For CDO investments, the Company utilizes the same tools as for RMBS securities, aggregating the bond level cash flows to the CDO investment level.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

Corporate obligation investments are evaluated for other-than-temporary impairments using industry-standard credit analysis techniques. The Company s analysis includes a detailed review of a number of quantitative and qualitative factors impacting the value of an individual security. These factors include the interest rate of the security (fixed or floating), the security s current market spread, any collateral supporting the security, the security s position in the issuer s capital structure, and credit rating upgrades or downgrades. Additionally, these factors include an assessment of various issuer-related credit metrics including market capitalization, earnings, cash flow, capitalization, interest coverage, leverage, liquidity, management and a third-party quantitative default probability model. The Company s analysis is augmented by comparing market prices for similar securities of other issuers in the same sector, as well as any recent corporate or government actions that may impact the ultimate return of principal. If the Company s estimated recovery value for the security is less than its amortized cost, the difference is recorded as an other-than-temporary impairment loss.

The Company does not record other-than-temporary impairments related to credit concerns about issuers of securities insured by MBIA Corp. and National since investors in these securities, including MBIA, are guaranteed payment of principal and interest when due by MBIA. Securities insured by the Company, whether or not owned by the Company, are evaluated for impairment as part of its insurance surveillance process and, therefore, losses on securities insured by the Company are recorded in accordance with its loss reserving policy. Refer to Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for information about the Company's loss reserving policy and Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves for information about loss reserves.

In considering cash expected to be provided from other third-party financial guarantors, the Company assesses the financial guarantor s ability to make claim payments under a variety of scenarios that test the guarantor s ultimate claims paying ability. The weighted average outcome of these scenarios, combined with the cash flows provided by the insured security, are used to determine the recoverability of the Company s amortized cost.

The following table provides information about securities held by the Company as of June 30, 2012 that were in an unrealized loss position and insured by a financial guarantor, along with the amount of insurance loss reserves corresponding to the par amount owned by the Company:

		Unrealized	Insurance Loss
In millions	Fair Value	Loss	Reserve (2)
Asset-backed:			
MBIA ⁽¹⁾	\$ 147	\$ (68)	\$ 18
Other	31	(9)	-
Total asset-backed	178	(77)	18
Mortgage-backed:			
MBIA ⁽¹⁾	11	(1)	-
Other	189	(50)	-
Total mortgage-backed	200	(51)	-
Corporate obligations:			
MBIA ⁽¹⁾	-	-	-
Other	9	(12)	-

Total corporate obligations	9	(12)	-
Other:			
MBIA ⁽¹⁾	77	(11)	-
Other	14	-	-
Total other	91	(11)	-
Total	\$ 478	\$ (151)	\$ 18

(1) - Includes investments insured by MBIA Corp. and National.

(2) - Insurance loss reserve estimates are based on the proportion of par value owned to the total amount of par value insured.

The Company concluded that it does not have the intent to sell securities in an unrealized loss position and it is more likely than not, that it will not have to sell these securities before recovery of their cost basis. In making this conclusion, the Company examined the cash flow projections for its investment portfolios, the potential sources and uses of cash in its businesses, and the cash resources available to its business other than sales of securities. It also considered the existence of any risk management or other plans as of June 30, 2012 that would require the sale of impaired securities. Impaired securities that the Company intends to sell before the expected recovery of such securities fair values have been written down to their fair values.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 7: Investments (continued)

Each quarter, an internal committee, comprising staff that is independent of the Company s evaluation process for determining other-than-temporary impairments of securities, reviews and approves the valuation of investments. Among other responsibilities, this committee ensures that the Company s process for identifying and calculating other-than-temporary impairments, including the use of models and assumptions, is reasonable and complies with the Company s internal policy.

Refer to Note 8: Investment Income and Gains and Losses for information on realized losses due to other-than-temporary impairments.

Note 8: Investment Income and Gains and Losses

The following table includes total investment income from all operations:

In millions	Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 2011			Six Months Ended Jun 2012 201			
Net investment income:							
Fixed-maturity	\$	54	\$	87	\$ 113	\$	194
Held-to-maturity		-		1	1		3
Short-term investments		3		4	3		4
Other investments		3		3	5		8
Consolidated VIEs		17		16	34		34
Net investment income		77		111	156		243
Realized gains and losses:							
Fixed-maturity:							
Gains		27		18	66		72
Losses		(19)		(37)	(176)		(77)
Net		8		(19)	(110)		(5)
Other investments:							
Gains		5		-	6		9
Losses		(1)		-	(15)		-
Net		4		-	(9)		9
Total net realized gains (losses) ⁽¹⁾		12		(19)	(119)		4
Total investment income	\$	89	\$	92	\$ 37	\$	247

(1) - These balances are included in the Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange and Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments line items on MBIA s consolidated statements of operations.

Net investment income is generated as a result of the ongoing management of the Company s investment portfolios. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, net investment income decreased compared to the same periods of 2011 due to a lower asset base in 2012.

Total net realized gains (losses) for the six months ended June 30, 2012 decreased compared to the same period of 2011 primarily due to other-than-temporary impairment losses that were recognized on securities impaired to fair value due to the Company s intent to sell these securities and losses on sales of securities in the Company s asset/liability products investment portfolio.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 8: Investment Income and Gains and Losses (continued)

The portion of certain other-than-temporary impairment losses on fixed-maturity securities that does not represent credit losses is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). For these impairments, the net amount recognized in earnings represents the difference between the amortized cost of the security and the net present value of its projected future discounted cash flows prior to impairment. Any remaining difference between the fair value and amortized cost is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The following table presents the amount of credit loss impairments recognized in earnings on fixed-maturity securities held by MBIA as of the dates indicated, for which a portion of the other-than-temporary impairment losses was recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), and the corresponding changes in such amounts:

In millions	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30				
Credit Losses Recognized in Earnings Related to Other-Than-								
Temporary Impairments	2	2012		2011		2012		2011
Beginning balance	\$	277	\$	266	\$	341	\$	262
Additions for credit loss impairments recognized in the current period								
on securities previously impaired		1		20		3		27
Reductions for credit loss impairments previously recognized on								
securities sold during the period		(9)		(3)		(16)		(6)
Reductions for credit loss impairments previously recognized on								
securities impaired to fair value during the period ⁽¹⁾		-		-		(59)		-
Ending balance	\$	269	\$	283	\$	269	\$	283

(1) - Represents circumstances where the Company determined in the current period that it intends to sell the security or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery of the security s amortized cost.

For ABS (e.g., RMBS and CDOs), the Company estimated expected future cash flows of each security by estimating the expected future cash flows of the underlying collateral and applying those collateral cash flows, together with any credit enhancements such as subordination interests owned by third parties, to the security. The expected future cash flows of the underlying collateral are determined using the remaining contractual cash flows adjusted for future expected credit losses (which consider current delinquencies and nonperforming assets, future expected default rates and collateral value by vintage and geographic region) and prepayments. The expected cash flows of the security are then discounted at the interest rate used to recognize interest income on the security to arrive at a present value amount. The following table presents a summary of the significant inputs considered in determining the measurement of the credit loss component recognized in earnings for each significant class of ABS for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Six Months H	Six Months Ended June 30,				
Asset-backed Securities	2012	2011				
Expected size of losses ⁽¹⁾ :						
Range ⁽²⁾	9.73% to 100%	0.00% to 100.00%				
Weighted average ⁽³⁾	92.10%	67.10%				

Current subordination levels ⁽⁴⁾ :		
Range ⁽²⁾	0.00% to 0.00%	0.00% to 14.19%
Weighted average ⁽³⁾	0.00%	0.29%
Prepayment speed (annual CPR) ⁽⁵⁾ :		
Range ⁽²⁾	0.00 to 49.60	0.00 to 100.00
Weighted average ⁽³⁾	11.59	19.40

(1) - Represents future expected credit losses on impaired assets expressed as a percentage of total outstanding balance.

(2) - Represents the range of inputs/assumptions based upon the individual securities within each category.

(3) - Calculated by weighting the relevant input/assumption for each individual security by the outstanding notional of the security.

(4) - Represents current level of credit protection (subordination) for the securities, expressed as a percentage of the balance of the collateral group backing the bond.

(5) - Values represent high and low points of lifetime vectors of constant prepayment rates.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 8: Investment Income and Gains and Losses (continued)

Net unrealized gains (losses), including the portion of other-than-temporary impairments included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), reported within shareholders equity consisted of:

		June 30,	As of December 31,		
In millions	2012		2	2011	
Fixed-maturity:					
Gains	\$	314	\$	262	
Losses		(225)		(459)	
Foreign exchange		3		(5)	
Net		92		(202)	
Other investments:					
Gains		-		1	
Losses		(1)		(19)	
Net		(1)		(18)	
Total		91		(220)	
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)		18		(86)	
Unrealized gains (losses), net	\$	73	\$	(134)	

The change in net unrealized gains (losses), including the portion of other-than-temporary impairments, presented in the table above consisted of:

In millions	June 30, 2012	As of December 31, 2011		
Fixed-maturity	\$ 294	\$	386	
Other investments	17		(6)	
Total	311		380	
Deferred income tax charged (credited)	104		122	
Change in unrealized gains (losses), net	\$ 207	\$	258	

Note 9: Derivative Instruments

Overview

MBIA has entered into derivative transactions through its financial guarantee of CDS and for purposes of hedging risks associated with existing assets and liabilities and forecasted transactions. CDS are also entered into in the asset/liability products business to replicate investments in cash assets consistent with the Company s risk objectives and credit guidelines for its asset management business. The Company accounts for derivative transactions in accordance with the accounting principles for derivative and hedging activities, which requires that all such transactions be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Refer to Note 6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments for the definition of fair value of derivative instruments.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives, excluding insured derivatives, are recorded each period in current earnings within Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange. Changes in the fair value of insured derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings within Net change in fair value of insured derivatives. The net change in the fair value of the Company s insured derivatives has two primary components: (i) realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives and (ii) unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives. Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives include (i) premiums received and receivable on written CDS contracts, (ii) premiums paid and payable to reinsurers in respect to CDS contracts, (iii) net amounts received or paid on reinsurance commutations, (iv) losses paid and payable to CDS contracts due to the occurrence of a credit event or settlement agreement, (v) losses recovered and recoverable on purchased CDS contracts due to the occurrence of a credit event or settlement agreement and (vi) fees relating to CDS contracts. The Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives include all other changes in fair value of the insured derivative contracts.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

U.S. Public Finance Insurance

The Company s derivative exposure within its U.S. public finance insurance operations primarily consists of insured interest rate and inflation-linked swaps related to insured U.S. public finance debt issues. These derivatives do not qualify for the financial guarantee scope exception. The Company has also purchased certain investments containing embedded derivatives. All derivatives are recorded at fair value on the Company s consolidated balance sheets with the changes in fair value recorded on the Company s consolidated statements of operations within Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives, for the insured derivatives, or Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange for the embedded derivatives.

Structured Finance and International Insurance

The Company entered into derivative transactions that it viewed as an extension of its core financial guarantee business but which do not qualify for the financial guarantee scope exception and, therefore, must be recorded at fair value on the balance sheet. The Company s structured finance and international insurance operations, which insured the majority of the Company s notional derivative exposure, have insured CDS contracts, primarily referencing corporate, asset-backed, residential mortgage-backed, commercial mortgage-backed, CRE loans, and CDO securities that the Company intends to hold for the entire term of the contract absent a negotiated settlement with the counterparty.

Variable Interest Entities

VIEs consolidated by the Company have entered into derivative transactions primarily consisting of interest rate swaps. Interest rate swaps are entered into to hedge the risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates or fair values of certain contracts.

Asset/Liability Products

The Company s asset/liability products business has entered into derivative transactions primarily consisting of interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps, and CDS contracts. Interest rate swaps are entered into to hedge the risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates or fair values of certain contracts. Cross currency swaps are entered into to hedge the variability in cash flows resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency rates. CDS contracts are entered into to hedge credit risk or to replicate investments in cash assets consistent with the Company s risk objectives and credit guidelines for its asset management business.

Certain interest rate swaps qualify as fair value hedges. The fair value hedges are used to protect against changes in the market value of the hedged assets or liabilities. The gains and losses relating to the fair value hedges are recorded directly in earnings. Fair value hedges are hedging existing assets, liabilities or forecasted transactions.

Credit Derivatives Sold

The following table presents information about credit derivatives sold by the Company s insurance operations that were outstanding as of June 30, 2012. Credit ratings represent the lower of underlying ratings currently assigned by Moody s, S&P or MBIA.

In millions					Notional V	alue		
Credit Derivatives Sold	Weighted	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	Below	Total	Fair Value
	Average					Investment	Notional	Asset

	Remaining Expected Maturity					Grade		(Liability)
Insured credit default swaps	5.4 Years	\$ 10,519	\$ 5,895	\$ 5,179	\$ 5,989	\$ 21,298	\$ 48,880	\$ (3,206)
Insured swaps	20.0 Years	-	185	3,918	2,008	71	6,182	(9)
All others	2.3 Years	-	-	-	-	195	195	(87)
Total notional		\$ 10,519	\$ 6,080	\$ 9,097	\$ 7,997	\$ 21,564	\$ 55,257	
Total fair value		\$ (33)	\$ (78)	\$ (144)	\$ (436)	\$ (2,611)		\$ (3,302)

The following table presents information about credit derivatives sold by the Company s insurance operations that were outstanding as of December 31, 2011. Credit ratings represent the lower of underlying ratings currently assigned by Moody s, S&P or MBIA.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

In millions					Notional Valu	le		
Credit Derivatives Sold	Weighted Average Remaining Expected Maturity	AAA	AA	А	BBB	Below Investment Grade	Total Notional	Fair Value Asset (Liability)
Insured credit default swaps	5.6 Years	\$ 15,475	\$ 12,065	\$ 6,336	\$ 14,042	\$ 17,639	\$65,557	\$ (4,716)
Non-insured credit default								
swaps-VIE	3.6 Years	-	-	-	-	643	643	(527)
Insured swaps	19.7 Years	-	164	4,270	2,589	133	7,156	(9)
All others	2.8 Years	-	-	-	-	195	195	(91)
Total notional		\$ 15,475	\$ 12,229	\$ 10,606	\$ 16,631	\$ 18,610	\$73,551	
Total fair value		\$ (114)	\$ (116)	\$ (205)	\$ (1,355)	\$ (3,553)		\$ (5,343)

Referenced credit ratings assigned by MBIA to insured credit derivatives are derived by the Company s surveillance group. In assigning an internal rating, current status reports from issuers and trustees, as well as publicly available transaction-specific information, are reviewed. Also, where appropriate, cash flow analyses and collateral valuations are considered. The maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) on CDS contracts are estimated as the notional value plus any additional debt service costs, such as interest or other amounts owing on CDS contracts. The maximum amount of future payments that MBIA may be required to make under these guarantees is \$53.1 billion. This amount is net of \$527 million of insured derivatives ceded under reinsurance agreements in which MBIA economically hedges a portion of the credit and market risk associated with its insured derivatives and offsetting agreements with a counterparty. The maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) on insured swaps are estimated as the notional value of such contracts.

MBIA may hold recourse provisions with third parties in derivative transactions through both reinsurance and subrogation rights. MBIA s reinsurance arrangements provide that in the event MBIA pays a claim under a guarantee of a derivative contract, MBIA has the right to collect amounts from any reinsurers that have reinsured the guarantee on either a proportional or non-proportional basis, depending upon the underlying reinsurance agreement. MBIA may also have recourse through subrogation rights whereby if MBIA makes a claim payment, it is entitled to any rights of the insured counterparty, including the right to any assets held as collateral.

Financial Statement Impact

The fair value of amounts recognized for eligible derivative contracts executed with the same counterparty under a master netting agreement, including any cash collateral that may have been received or posted by the Company, is presented on a net basis in accordance with accounting guidance for the offsetting of fair value amounts related to derivative instruments.

As of June 30, 2012, the total fair value of the Company s derivative assets, after counterparty netting, was \$13 million, of which \$5 million was reported within Other assets and Derivative assets-VIEs on the Company s consolidated balance sheets, and the total fair value of the Company s derivative liabilities, after counterparty netting and posting of cash collateral, was \$3.5 billion, which was reported within Derivative liabilities and Derivative liabilities on the Company s consolidated balance sheets.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

As of June 30, 2012, the total fair value of the Company s derivative assets, before counterparty netting, was \$111 million and the total fair value of the Company s derivative liabilities, before counterparty netting and posting of cash collateral, was \$4.0 billion. The following table presents the total fair value of the Company s derivative assets and liabilities by instrument and balance sheet location, before counterparty netting and posting of cash collateral, as of June 30, 2012:

In millions	I	Notional	Derivative Asse	Derivative Liabilitie	es (1)			
Derivative Instruments		Amount itstanding	Balance Sheet Location	Fair	Value	Balance Sheet Location		ir Value
Designated as hedging instruments:								
Interest rate swaps	\$	97	Other Assets	\$	11	Derivative liabilities	\$	(8)
Total designated	\$	97		\$	11		\$	(8)
Not designated as hedging instruments:								
Insured credit default swaps	\$	49,198	Other Assets	\$	3	Derivative liabilities	\$	(3,206)
Insured swaps		6,182	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		(9)
Non-insured credit default swaps		10	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		-
Interest rate swaps		2,585	Other Assets		88	Derivative liabilities		(443)
Interest rate swaps-VIE			Derivative assets-					
		3,239	VIE		-	Derivative liabilities-VIE		(165)
Interest rate swaps-embedded			Medium-term					
		469	notes		8	Medium-term notes		(23)
Currency swaps		38	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		(1)
Currency swaps-VIE			Derivative assets-					
		116	VIE		-	Derivative liabilities-VIE		(21)
All other		195	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		(87)
All other-VIE		310	Derivative assets- VIE		1	Derivative liabilities-VIE		-
All other-embedded		510	Other		•			
		20	investments		-	Other investments		(1)
Total non-designated	\$	62,362		\$	100		\$	(3,956)
Total derivatives	\$	62,459		\$	111		\$	(3,964)

(1) - In accordance with the accounting guidance for derivative instruments and hedging activities, the balance sheet location of the Company s embedded derivative instruments is determined by the location of the related host contract.

As of December 31, 2011, the total fair value of the Company s derivative assets, after counterparty netting, was \$459 million, of which \$452 million was reported within Other assets and Derivative assets-VIEs on the Company s consolidated balance sheets, and the total fair value of the Company s derivative liabilities, after counterparty netting, was \$6.0 billion which was reported within Derivative liabilities and Derivative liabilities. On the Company s consolidated balance sheets.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

As of December 31, 2011, the total fair value of the Company s derivative assets, before counterparty netting, was \$552 million and the total fair value of the Company s derivative liabilities, before counterparty netting, was \$6.1 billion. The following table presents the total fair value of the Company s derivative assets and liabilities by instrument and balance sheet location, before counterparty netting, as of December 31, 2011:

In millions			Derivative Asset	Derivative Liabiliti	erivative Liabilities ⁽¹⁾			
Derivative Instruments	-	Notional Amount Itstanding	Balance Sheet Location	Fair Value		Balance Sheet Location	Fa	iir Value
Designated as hedging instruments:								
Interest rate swaps	\$	241	Other Assets	\$	10	Derivative liabilities	\$	(44)
Total designated	\$	241		\$	10		\$	(44)
Not designated as hedging instruments:								
Insured credit default swaps	\$	66,851	Other Assets	\$	-	Derivative liabilities	\$	(4,708)
Insured swaps		7,156	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		(9)
Non-insured credit default swaps		30	Other Assets		1	Derivative liabilities		-
Non-insured credit default swaps-VIE		1,272	Derivative assets-VIE		447	Derivative liabilities-VIE		(527)
Interest rate swaps		2,706	Other Assets		84	Derivative liabilities		(401)
Interest rate swaps-VIE		4,878	Derivative assets-VIE		-	Derivative liabilities-VIE		(281)
Interest rate swaps-embedded		480	Medium-term notes		7	Medium-term notes		(14)
Currency swaps		62	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		(4)
Currency swaps-VIE		123	Derivative assets-VIE		-	Derivative liabilities-VIE		(17)
All other		3,465	Other Assets		-	Derivative liabilities		(91)
All other-VIE		472	Derivative assets-VIE		3	Derivative liabilities-VIE		-
All other-embedded		121	Other investments		-	Other investments		(12)
Total non-designated	\$	87,616		\$	542		\$	(6,064)
Total derivatives	\$	87,857		\$	552		\$	(6,108)

(1) - In accordance with the accounting guidance for derivative instruments and hedging activities, the balance sheet location of the Company s embedded derivative instruments is determined by the location of the related host contract.

The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2012:

In millions

Derivatives in Fair Value Hedging Relationships	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative	Recog Inco	(Loss) nized in me on vative	Recog Inc He	n (Loss) gnized in ome on edged (tem	Reco	in (Loss) gnized in come
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and	Den	valive			ш	onic
	foreign exchange	\$	10	\$	(10)	\$	-
Interest rate swaps	Interest income (expense)		-		-		(1)
Total		\$	10	\$	(10)	\$	(1)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

In millions

me
1,202
(428)
(60)
10
2
(2)
1
(1)
724

The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2011:

In millions

In millions Derivatives in Fair Value Hedging	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on	Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on		Recog Inco	Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on Hedged		in (Loss) gnized in
Relationships	Derivative	Derivative		Item		Income	
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange	\$	8	\$	(8)	\$	_
Interest rate swaps	Interest income (expense)		-		-		(3)
Total		\$	8	\$	(8)	\$	(3)

	Derivative	Ne	et Gain
		(Loss)
			ognized Income
Insured credit default swaps	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives	\$	140
Insured credit default swaps	Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives		(191)
Non-insured credit default swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(1)
Non-insured credit default swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		7
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(53)
Interest rate swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(22)
Currency swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(2)
Currency swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(4)
All other	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives		(24)
All other	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		1
All other-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		1
Total		\$	(148)

The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2012:

In millions

Derivatives in Fair Value Hedging Relationships	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative	Recog Inco	(Loss) nized in me on vative	Recog Inco He	n (Loss) gnized in ome on edged (tem	Recog	in (Loss) nized in come
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange	\$	37	\$	(37)	\$	-
Interest rate swaps	Interest income (expense)		-		-		(2)
Total		\$	37	\$	(37)	\$	(2)

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

In millions

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative	Reco	Gain Loss) ognized in ncome
Insured credit default swaps	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives	\$	1,502
Insured credit default swaps	Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives		(432)
Insured swaps	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives		1
Non-insured credit default swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(1)
Non-insured credit default swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(1)
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(50)
Interest rate swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		31
Currency swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(3)
All other	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives		3
All other	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		11
All other-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(2)
Total		\$	1,059

The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

In millions

	Location of Gain (Loss)			Cair	(Loss)		
Derivatives in Fair Value Hedging	Recognized in Income on	Gain Recogr Incor	()	Recog Inco	gnized in ome on edged	Reco	in (Loss) gnized n
Relationships	Derivative	Deriv	ative	I	tem	Inc	ome
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial						
	instruments at fair value and						
	foreign exchange	\$	2	\$	(2)	\$	-
Interest rate swaps	Interest income (expense)		-		-		(5)
Currency swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial						
	instruments at fair value and						
	foreign exchange		2		(2)		-

Total	\$ 4	\$ (4)	\$ (5)

In millions

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative	Rec	Gain (Loss) ognized in Income
Insured credit default swaps	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives	\$	(1,272)
Insured credit default swaps	Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives		(546)
Non-insured credit default swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(2)
Non-insured credit default swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(150)
Interest rate swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(51)
Interest rate swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		49
Currency swaps	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange		(7)
Currency swaps-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(2)
All other	Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives		(35)
All other-VIE	Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange-VIE		(1)
Total		\$	(2,017)

Counterparty Credit Risk

The Company manages counterparty credit risk on an individual counterparty basis through master netting agreements covering derivative transactions in the asset/liability products segment. These agreements allow the Company to contractually net amounts due from a counterparty with those amounts due to such counterparty when certain triggering events occur. The Company only executes swaps under master netting agreements, which typically contain mutual credit downgrade provisions that generally provide the ability to require assignment or termination in the event either MBIA or the counterparty is downgraded below a specified credit rating.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 9: Derivative Instruments (continued)

Under these arrangements, the Company may receive or provide U.S. Treasury and other highly rated securities or cash to secure counterparties exposure to the Company or its exposure to counterparties, respectively. Such collateral is available to the holder to pay for replacing the counterparty in the event that the counterparty defaults. As of June 30, 2012, the Company did not hold cash collateral to derivative counterparties but posted cash collateral to derivative counterparties of \$327 million. This amount is in derivative liability. As of December 31, 2011, the Company did not hold or post cash collateral to derivative counterparties. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had securities with a fair value of \$141 million and \$470 million, respectively, posted to derivative counterparties.

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value on one positive Credit Support Annex (CSA) was \$2 million. This CSA governs collateral posting requirements between MBIA and its derivative counterparties. The Company did not receive collateral due to the Company s credit rating, which was below the CSA minimum credit ratings level for holding counterparty collateral. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the counterparty was rated A and A+, respectively, by S&P and A2 and Aa3, respectively, by Moody s.

Note 10: Income Taxes

The Company s income taxes and the related effective tax rates for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Months Ended June 3		
In millions		2012	2011		2012			2011
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	795	\$	(147)	\$	816	\$	(1,910)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	\$	214	\$	(284)	\$	225	\$	(772)
Effective tax rate		26.9%		193.2%		27.6%		40.4%

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company s effective tax rate applied to its income before income taxes was lower than the U.S. statutory tax rate primarily as a result of the Company s decrease in the valuation allowance, the release of a portion of the reserve for uncertain tax benefits and the benefit of tax-exempt interest income from investments. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company s effective tax rate applied to its loss before income taxes was higher than the U.S. statutory tax rate as a result of the Company s tax-exempt interest income from investments, income earned in non-U.S. jurisdictions, which is being taxed at less than 35%, and a reduction in the valuation allowance.

For interim reporting purposes, the Company has calculated its effective tax rate for the full year of 2012 by adjusting annual forecasted pre-tax income for mark-to-market income, fair value adjustments, capital gains/losses, and other adjustments, when projecting its full year effective tax rate. The Company has accounted for these items at the federal applicable tax rate after applying the projected full year effective tax rate to actual six-month results before discrete items.

Deferred Tax Asset, Net of Valuation Allowance

The Company establishes a valuation allowance against its deferred tax asset when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. All evidence, both positive and negative, needs to be identified and considered in making the determination. Future realization of the existing deferred tax asset ultimately depends, in part, on the existence of sufficient taxable income of appropriate character (for example, ordinary income versus capital gains) within the carryforward period available under the tax law.

As of June 30, 2012, the Company reported a net deferred tax asset of \$1.4 billion. The \$1.4 billion net deferred tax asset is after a \$194 million valuation allowance. As of June 30, 2012, the Company had a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset related to losses from asset impairments and realized losses from sales of investments as these losses are considered capital losses, have a five-year carryforward period, and can only be offset by capital gain income. The June 30, 2012 valuation allowance reflects a decrease of \$42 million from the December 31, 2011

valuation allowance of \$236 million. The decrease in the valuation allowance for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was primarily due to the generation of capital gain income.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 10: Income Taxes (continued)

The Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that its net deferred tax asset will be realized. In its conclusion, the Company considered the following evidence (both positive and negative):

Due to the long-tail nature of the financial guarantee business, MBIA Inc. s insurance subsidiaries, without regard to any new business, will have a steady stream of scheduled premium earnings with respect to the existing insured portfolio. Additionally, MBIA Corp. s announcement in February 2008 of a temporary suspension in writing new structured finance transactions and a permanent cessation with respect to insuring new CDS contracts, except in transactions related to the reduction of existing derivative exposure, would not have an impact on the expected earnings related to the existing insured portfolio.

The Company performed taxable income projections over a fifteen and twenty year period to determine whether it will have sufficient income to offset its deferred tax asset that will generate future ordinary deductions. In this analysis, the Company concluded that premium earnings, even without regard to any new business, combined with investment income, less deductible expenses, will be sufficient to recover its net deferred tax asset. The Company s taxable income projections used to assess the recoverability of its deferred tax asset include an estimate of future loss and LAE equal to the present value discount of loss reserves already recognized on the balance sheet and an estimate of LAE which is generally insignificant. The Company does not assume additional losses, with the exception of the accretion of its existing present value loss reserves, because the Company establishes case basis reserves on a present value basis based on an estimate of probable losses on specifically identified credits that have defaulted or are expected to default.

While the ratings downgrades by the rating agencies have significantly adversely impacted the Company s ability to write new insurance business, the downgrades did not have a material impact on earnings from the existing insured portfolio, which the Company believes will be sufficient to absorb losses in the event that the cumulative unrealized losses become fully impaired.

With respect to installment policies, the Company generally does not have an automatic cancellation provision solely in connection with ratings downgrades. For purposes of projecting future taxable income, the Company has applied a discount to adjust for the possible cancellation of future installment premiums based on recent data. With regard to upfront policies, to the extent that the issuer chooses to terminate a policy, any unearned premium reserve with respect to that policy will be accelerated into earnings (i.e. refundings).

As of June 30, 2012, the Company had approximately \$18 million of deferred tax assets related to net unrealized losses on investments included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The Company intends to hold these investments until maturity or until such time as the value recovers. As such, the Company expects that the related deferred tax assets will reverse over the life of the securities.

After reviewing all of the evidence available, both positive and negative, MBIA believes that it has appropriately valued the recoverability of its deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance, as of June 30, 2012. The Company continues to assess the adequacy of its valuation allowance as additional evidence becomes available. The Company s recent financial results have been volatile which has impacted management s ability to accurately project future taxable income. Continued volatility or losses beyond those projected may cause the Company to conclude that certain of the deferred tax assets within the total deferred tax assets of \$1.4 billion as of June 30, 2012 may not be realizable. The Company performs an analysis every quarter to review its conclusion as to the ability to realize the deferred tax asset.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

It is the Company s policy to record and disclose any change in unrecognized tax benefits (UTB) and related interest and penalties to income tax in the consolidated statements of operations. In the first six months of 2012, the total amount of UTB decreased as a result of settling the 2004-2009 Internal Revenue Service (IRS) examination and the 2005-2007 New York State examination, partially offset by a reserve for current year tax positions.

In millions	
Unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2011	\$ 47
The gross amount of the increase/(decrease) in the UTB as a result of tax positions	
taken:	
During a prior year	-
During the current year	18
The amounts of decreases in the UTB related to settlements with taxing authorities	(25)
The reduction in the UTB as a result of the applicable statute of limitations	-
Unrecognized tax benefit as of June 30, 2012	\$ 40

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 10: Income Taxes (continued)

MBIA s major tax jurisdictions include the U.S. and the United Kingdom (U.K.). MBIA and its U.S. subsidiaries file a U.S. consolidated federal income tax return. The IRS has concluded its field work with respect to the examination of tax years 2004 through 2009 and on January 12, 2012, the Joint Committee on Taxation notified the Company that the results of the IRS field examination were reviewed and accepted.

The U.K. tax authorities are currently auditing tax years 2005 through 2009.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had a 2008 capital loss carryforward of \$155 million which will expire in 2013. The Company also had a cumulative NOL carryforward of \$943 million, which will expire from tax years 2029 through 2031, and a minimum tax credit carryforward of \$22 million, which has an unlimited carryforward period.

Note 11: Business Segments

MBIA manages its activities through three principal business operations: U.S. public finance insurance, structured finance and international insurance, and advisory services. The Company s U.S. public finance insurance business is operated through National, its structured finance and international insurance business is operated through MBIA Corp., and its advisory services business is operated through Cutwater. MBIA Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries also manage certain other business activities, the results of which are reported in its corporate, asset/liability products, and conduit segments. The corporate segment includes revenues and expenses that arise from general corporate activities. While the asset/liability products and conduit businesses represent separate business segments, they may be referred to collectively as wind-down operations as the funding programs managed through those businesses are in wind-down.

The following sections provide a description of each of the Company s reportable operating segments:

U.S. Public Finance Insurance

The Company s U.S. public finance insurance segment is principally conducted through National. The financial guarantees issued by National provide unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of the payment of principal of, and interest or other amounts owing on, U.S. public finance insured obligations when due. The obligations are generally not subject to acceleration, except that National may have the right, at its discretion, to accelerate insured obligations upon default or otherwise. National issues financial guarantees for municipal bonds, including tax-exempt and taxable indebtedness of U.S. political subdivisions, as well as utility districts, airports, health care institutions, higher educational facilities, student loan issuers, housing authorities and other similar agencies and obligations issued by private entities that finance projects that serve a substantial public purpose. Municipal bonds and privately issued bonds used for the financing of public purpose projects are generally supported by taxes, assessments, fees or tariffs related to the use of these projects, lease payments or other similar types of revenue streams. National has not written any meaningful amount of business since its formation in 2009.

Structured Finance and International Insurance

The Company s structured finance and international insurance segment is principally conducted through MBIA Corp. The financial guarantees issued by MBIA Corp. generally provide unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of the payment of principal of, and interest or other amounts owing on, global structured finance and non-U.S. public finance insured obligations when due, or in the event MBIA Corp. has the right, at its discretion, to accelerate insured obligations upon default or otherwise, upon MBIA Corp. s acceleration. Certain guaranteed investment contracts written by MBIA Inc. are insured by MBIA Corp., and if MBIA Inc. were to have insufficient assets to pay amounts due upon maturity or termination, MBIA Corp. would make such payments. MBIA Corp. also insures debt obligations of the following affiliates:

MBIA Inc.;

GFL;

Meridian Funding Company, LLC;

LaCrosse Financial Products, LLC (LaCrosse), a wholly-owned affiliate, in which MBIA Corp. has written insurance policies guaranteeing the obligations under CDS, including termination payments that may become due upon certain events including the insolvency or payment default by MBIA Corp. or LaCrosse.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

MBIA Corp. s guarantees insure structured finance and asset-backed obligations, privately issued bonds used for the financing of public purpose projects, which are primarily located outside of the U.S. and that include toll roads, bridges, airports, public transportation facilities, utilities and other types of infrastructure projects serving a substantial public purpose, and obligations of sovereign-related and sub-sovereign issuers. Structured finance and ABS typically are securities repayable from expected cash flows generated by a specified pool of assets, such as residential and commercial mortgages, insurance policies, consumer loans, corporate loans and bonds, trade and export receivables, leases for equipment, aircraft and real property. The Company is no longer insuring new credit derivative contracts except for transactions related to the reduction of existing derivative exposure. MBIA Corp. has not written any meaningful amount of business since 2008.

Advisory Services

The advisory services segment primarily consists of the operations of Cutwater Investor Services Corp. (Cutwater-ISC), Cutwater Asset Management Corp. (Cutwater-AMC), and Cutwater Asset Management U.K. Limited (Cutwater-UK). Cutwater-ISC and Cutwater-AMC offers advisory services, including cash management, discretionary asset management and structured products on a fee-for-service basis. The Company offers these services to public, not-for-profit, corporate and financial services clients, including the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as portfolio accounting and reporting services. Cutwater-ISC and Cutwater-AMC are SEC registered investment advisers. Cutwater-AMC is also a Financial Industry Regulatory Authority member firm. Cutwater-UK provides fee-based asset management services to the Company's foreign insurance affiliate and to third-party institutional clients and investment structures. Cutwater-UK is registered with the Financial Services Authority in the U.K.

Corporate

The Company s corporate segment is a reportable segment and includes revenues and expenses that arise from general corporate activities, such as fees, net investment income, net gains and losses, interest expense on MBIA Inc. debt and general corporate expenses.

Wind-down Operations

The Company s wind-down operations consist of the asset/liability products and conduit segments. The asset/liability products segment principally consists of the activities of MBIA Inc., MBIA Investment Management Corp. (IMC), GFL and Euro Asset Acquisition Limited (EAAL). IMC, along with MBIA Inc., provided customized investment agreements, guaranteed by MBIA Corp., for bond proceeds and other public funds for such purposes as construction, loan origination, escrow and debt service or other reserve fund requirements. It has also provided customized products for funds that are invested as part of asset-backed or structured product transactions. GFL raises funds through the issuance of MTNs with varying maturities, which are, in turn, guaranteed by MBIA Corp. GFL lends the proceeds of these MTN issuances to MBIA Inc. (GFL Loans). MBIA Inc. invests the proceeds of investment agreements and GFL Loans in eligible investments, which consisted of investment grade securities at the time of purchase with a minimum average double-A credit quality rating. MBIA Inc. primarily purchases domestic securities, which are pledged to MBIA Corp. as security for its guarantees on investment agreements and MTNs. Additionally, MBIA Inc. loans a portion of the proceeds from investment agreements and MTNs to EAAL. EAAL primarily purchases foreign assets as permitted under the Company's investment guidelines.

The Company s conduit segment administers one conduit through MBIA Asset Finance, LLC. Assets financed by this conduit are currently funded by MTNs.

The ratings downgrades of MBIA Corp. have resulted in a substantial reduction of funding activities and the termination and collateralization of certain investment agreements, as well as winding down of existing asset/liability products and conduit obligations.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

Segments Results

The following tables provide the Company s segment results for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

		Structure Finance		Three I	Month	s Ended .					
In millions	U.S. Public Finance Insurance	and Internation Insuranc	nal Ad	lvisory ervices	Cor	porate	 nd-down erations	Eli	minations	Cor	nsolidated
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 145	\$ 8	0 \$	5	\$	5	\$ 16	\$	-	\$	251
Realized gains and other settlements on insured derivatives	-	(42	8)	-		-	-		-		(428)
Unrealized gains (losses) on insured											
derivatives	-	1,20	3	-		-	-		-		1,203
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign											
exchange	11	2	0	-		3	(40)		-		(6)
Net investment losses related to											
other-than-temporary impairments	-	(1)	-		-	(2)		-		(3)
Other net realized gains (losses)	-		-	-		6	-		-		6
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	-	(2	0)	-		-	36		-		16
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	43	(1	1)	11		56	(21)		(78)		-
Total revenues	199	84	3	16		70	(11)		(78)		1,039
Loss and loss adjustment expense	(3)	6	5	-		-	-		-		62
Operating expenses	23	3	2	11		24	3		-		93
Interest expense	-	3	3	-		15	23		-		71
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-	1	4	-		-	4		-		18
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	31	5	4	5		3	40		(133)		-
Total expenses	51	19	8	16		42	70		(133)		244
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 148	\$ 64	5 \$	-	\$	28	\$ (81)	\$	55	\$	795
Identifiable assets	\$ 7,120	\$ 17,39	5 \$	46	\$	759	\$ 3,205	\$	(6,230) ⁽³⁾	\$	22,295

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party financial guarantee net premiums earned, net investment income, insurance-related fees and reimbursements, investment management fees and other fees.

- (2) Represents intercompany premium income and expense, intercompany asset management fees and expenses, and intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany receivables and payables.
- $(3)\ \text{-}\ \text{Consists of intercompany reinsurance balances, repurchase agreements and loans.}$

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

	Structured Finance							Three Months Ended June 30, 2011									
In millions	U.S. Public Finance Insurance	and International Insurance		Advisory Services		Corporate		Wind-down Operations		Eliminations		Со	nsolidated				
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 143	\$	81	\$	7	\$	-	\$	24	\$	-	\$	255				
Realized gains and other settlements on insured derivatives	1		(192)		-		-		-		-		(191)				
Unrealized gains (losses) on insured																	
derivatives	-		116		-		-		-		-		116				
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign																	
exchange	14		-		-		16		(133)		-		(103)				
Net investment losses related to																	
other-than-temporary impairments	-		(2)		-		-		(18)		-		(20)				
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	-		37		-		-		4		-		41				
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	19		19		10		22		(3)		(67)		-				
Total revenues	177		59		17		38		(126)		(67)		98				
Loss and loss adjustment expense	(9)		59		-		-		-		-		50				
Operating expenses	14		45		18		21		-		-		98				
Interest expense	-		33		-		14		28		-		75				
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-		17		-		-		5		-		22				
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	28		30		2		4		8		(72)		-				
Total expenses	33		184		20		39		41		(72)		245				
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 144	\$	(125)	\$	(3)	\$	(1)	\$	(167)	\$	5	\$	(147)				
Identifiable assets	\$ 8,083	\$	23,592	\$	52	\$	671	\$	5,640	\$	(6,370) ⁽³⁾	\$	31,668				

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party financial guarantee net premiums earned, net investment income, insurance-related fees and reimbursements, investment management fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany premium income and expense, intercompany asset management fees and expenses, and intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany receivables and payables.

(3) - Consists of intercompany reinsurance balances, repurchase agreements and loans.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

The following tables provide the Company s segment results for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Structured Finance											
In millions	U.S. Public Finance Insurance	Ins	and nternational Advisory Insurance Services		vices		rporate	O	nd-down berations		minations	 nsolidated
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 270	\$	135	\$	11	\$	7	\$	35	\$	-	\$ 458
Realized gains and other settlements on insured derivatives	-		(432)		-		-		-		-	(432)
Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives	-		1,506		-		-		-		-	1,506
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign												
exchange	21		66		-		8		(120)		-	(25)
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments	_		(41)		_		_		(56)		_	(97)
Other net realized gains (losses)	-		1		-		5		-		-	6
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	_		(34)		_		-		40		-	6
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	79		(19)		18		79		(19)		(138)	-
Total revenues	370		1,182		29		99		(120)		(138)	1,422
Loss and loss adjustment expense	11		148		-		-		-		-	159
Operating expenses	98		91		26		45		3		-	263
Interest expense	-		66		-		29		50		-	145
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-		31		-		-		8		-	39
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	59		100		7		7		47		(220)	-
Total expenses	168		436		33		81		108		(220)	606
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 202	\$	746	\$	(4)	\$	18	\$	(228)	\$	82	\$ 816
Identifiable assets	\$ 7,120	\$	17,395	\$	46	\$	759	\$	3,205	\$	$(6,230)^{(3)}$	\$ 22,295

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party financial guarantee net premiums earned, net investment income, insurance-related fees and reimbursements, investment management fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany premium income and expense, intercompany asset management fees and expenses, and intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany receivables and payables.

(3) - Consists of intercompany reinsurance balances, repurchase agreements and loans.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

		Structured Finance	Six N	Months Ended J	une 30, 2011		
In millions	U.S. Public Finance Insurance	and International Insurance	Advisory Services	Corporate	Wind-down Operations	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 274	\$ 183	\$ 13	\$ 1	\$ 49	\$-	\$ 520
Realized gains and other settlements on insured derivatives	1	(547)	-	-	-	-	(546)
Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives	-	(1,307)	-	-	-	-	(1,307)
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign							
exchange	17	33	-	39	(216)	-	(127)
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments	_	(4)	_	_	(29)	_	(33)
Net gains (losses) on extinguishment of		(+)			(2))		(55)
debt	-	-	-	-	24	2	26
Other net realized gains (losses)	-	1	-	-	4	-	5
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	-	(67)	-	-	19	-	(48)
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	37	29	19	44	(8)	(121)	-
Total revenues	329	(1,679)	32	84	(157)	(119)	(1,510)
Loss and loss adjustment expense	(5)	19	-	-	-	-	14
Operating expenses	26	86	33	43	1	-	189
Interest expense	-	66	-	30	54	-	150
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-	37	-	-	10	-	47
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	53	59	3	7	18	(140)	-
Total expenses	74	267	36	80	83	(140)	400
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 255	\$ (1,946)	\$ (4)	\$ 4	\$ (240)	\$ 21	\$ (1,910)
Identifiable assets	\$ 8,083	\$ 23,592	\$ 52	\$ 671	\$ 5,640	\$ (6,370) ⁽³⁾	\$ 31,668

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party financial guarantee net premiums earned, net investment income, insurance-related fees and reimbursements, investment management fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany premium income and expense, intercompany asset management fees and expenses, and intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany receivables and payables.

(3) - Consists of intercompany reinsurance balances, repurchase agreements and loans.

Premiums on financial guarantees and insured derivatives reported within the Company s insurance segments are generated within and outside the U.S. The following table summarizes premiums earned on financial guarantees and insured derivatives by geographic location of risk for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Siz	Six Months Ended Ju			
In millions	2	012	2	011		2012		2011
Total premiums earned:								
United States	\$	142	\$	130	\$	261	\$	252
United Kingdom		10		10		18		17
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)		4		9		9		21
Internationally diversified		5		9		10		18
Central and South America		21		10		32		19
Asia		1		5		2		12
Other		3		3		6		6
Total	\$	186	\$	176	\$	338	\$	345

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

The following tables provide the results of the segments within the wind-down operations for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2012			
	Asset / Liability	~		Total Wind- down
In millions	Products	Conduits	Eliminations	Operations
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 16	\$-	\$ -	\$ 16
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair				
value and foreign exchange	(40)	-	-	(40)
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary				
impairments	(2)	-	-	(2)
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	-	36	-	36
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	(18)	(1)	(2)	(21)
Total revenues	(44)	35	(2)	(11)
Operating expenses	3	-	-	3
Interest expense	23	-	-	23
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-	4	-	4
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	6	34	-	40
Total expenses	32	38	-	70
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (76)	\$ (3)	\$ (2)	\$ (81)
	+ (.~)	+ (-)	. (-)	. ()
Identifiable assets	\$ 2,439	\$ 819	\$ (53)	\$ 3,205

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party interest income, investment management services fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany asset management fees and expenses plus intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany debt.

		Three Months	Ended June 30, 20	11
	Asset / Liability			Total Wind- down
In millions	Products	Conduits	Eliminations	Operations
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 23	\$ 1	\$ -	\$ 24
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange	(133)	-	-	(133)

Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary					
impairments	(18)	-	-		(18)
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	1	3	-		4
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	(2)	(1)	-		(3)
Total revenues	(129)	3	-		(126)
Operating expenses	1	(1)	-		-
Interest expense	28	-	-		28
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-	5	-		5
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	8	-	-		8
Total expenses	37	4	-		41
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (166)	\$ (1)	\$ -	\$	(167)
					. /
Identifiable assets	\$ 4,481	\$ 1,564	\$ (405)) \$	5,640
	. ,	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	. ()	- T	- ,

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party interest income, investment management services fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany asset management fees and expenses plus intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany debt.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 11: Business Segments (continued)

The following tables provide the results of the segments within the wind-down operations for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2012			
In millions	Asset / Liability Products	Conduits	Eliminations	Total Wind- down Operations
				•
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 35	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 35
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair				
value and foreign exchange	(120)	-	-	(120)
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary				
impairments	(56)	-	-	(56)
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	-	40	-	40
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	(15)	(2)	(2)	(19)
U	, ,	. ,		
Total revenues	(156)	38	(2)	(120)
Operating expenses	3	-	-	3
Interest expense	50	-	-	50
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-	8	-	8
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	12	35	-	47
Total expenses	65	43	-	108
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (221)	\$ (5)	\$ (2)	\$ (228)
				· /
Identifiable assets	\$ 2,439	\$ 819	\$ (53)	\$ 3,205

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party interest income, investment management services fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany asset management fees and expenses plus intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany debt.

		Six Months E	nded June 30, 2011	
	Asset /			Total Wind-
	Liability			down
In millions	Products	Conduits	Eliminations	Operations
Revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 47	\$ 2	\$ -	\$ 49

Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value					
and foreign exchange	(216)	-	-		(216)
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary					
impairments	(29)	-	-		(29)
Net gains (losses) on extinguishment of debt	24	-	-		24
Other net realized gains (losses)	4	-	-		4
Revenues of consolidated VIEs	11	8	-		19
Inter-segment revenues ⁽²⁾	(6)	(2)	-		(8)
Total revenues	(165)	8	-		(157)
Operating expenses	2	(1)	-		1
Interest expense	54	-	-		54
Expenses of consolidated VIEs	-	10	-		10
Inter-segment expenses ⁽²⁾	17	1	-		18
Total expenses	73	10	-		83
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (238)	\$ (2)	\$ -	\$	(240)
	\$ (250)	Ψ (2)	Ψ	Ψ	(210)
Identifiable assets	\$ 4,481	\$ 1,564	\$ (405)	\$	5,640

(1) - Represents the sum of third-party interest income, investment management services fees and other fees.

(2) - Represents intercompany asset management fees and expenses plus intercompany interest income and expense pertaining to intercompany debt.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 12: Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the dilutive effect of all stock options and other items outstanding during the period that could potentially result in the issuance of common stock. For the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, there were 3,410,173 and 3,803,310, respectively, of stock options outstanding that were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because they were antidilutive. For the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, there were 3,484,609 and 3,815,395, respectively, of stock options outstanding that were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because they were antidilutive.

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

\$ in millions except share and per share amounts	Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 2011			Six Months Ended June 2012 20			une 30, 2011	
Net income (loss)	\$	581	\$	137	\$	591	\$	(1,138)
			+		+		+	())
Basic weighted average shares ⁽¹⁾	193,9	26,953	199,2	95,797	193,7	700,328	199	9,602,865
Effect of common stock equivalents:								
Stock options	1.014.280 7		68,882	1,063,289) -		
		ŗ			ŗ			
Diluted weighted average shares	194,9	194,941,233 200,064,679		194,763,617		94,763,617 199,602		
Net income (loss) per common share:								
Basic	\$	2.99	\$	0.69	\$	3.05	\$	(5.70)
Diluted	\$	2.98	\$	0.68	\$	3.03	\$	(5.70)
	Ŧ		Ŧ	2.00	Ŧ	2100	Ŧ	(2110)

(1) - Includes 5,597,797 and 5,035,256 of unvested restricted stock and units that receive nonforfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Includes 5,400,564 and 5,102,013 of unvested restricted stock and units that receive nonforfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies

The following commitments and contingencies provide an update of those discussed in Note 23: Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 as filed with the SEC on February 29, 2012, and should be read in conjunction with the complete descriptions provided in the aforementioned Form 10-K.

Corporate Litigation

In re MBIA Inc. Securities Litigation; Case No. 05 CV 03514(LLS) (S.D.N.Y.)

In May 2012, the parties reached a settlement agreement in principle to which the plaintiffs will receive \$4 million in exchange for the dismissal with prejudice of the litigation. The Company s insurance carriers have agreed to cover in full the settlement payment.

Trustees of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit v. Clapp et al., No. 08-CV-1515 (S.D.N.Y.)

On July 16, 2012, all parties and the Company s insurance carriers accepted a mediator s proposal to settle the federal and state CDO-squared related derivative actions. The parties will seek court order approving the settlement reached by the parties.

Ambac Bond Insurance Coverage Cases, Coordinated Proceeding Case No. JCCP 4555 (Super. Ct. of Cal., County of San Francisco)

On May 1, 2012, the court ruled in favor of the monoline defendants on their special motion to strike pursuant to California s Anti-SLAPP statute. Discovery will commence relating to Stage 2 of the Anti-SLAPP motion.

Tri-City Healthcare District v. Citibank. et al.; Case No. 30-2010-00359692 (Super. Ct. of Cal., County of Orange)

On July 20, 2012, the court granted the plaintiff s motion to further amend its complaint.

MBIA Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Recovery Litigation

MBIA Insurance Corp. v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., et al.; Index No. 602825/08 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. County)

On June 27, 2012, the court amended the pre-trial schedule regarding MBIA s claim as to Bank of America s successor liability, with summary judgment motions due September 21, 2012. The remainder of the pre-trial schedule regarding Countrywide s primary liability was also amended with summary judgment motions due August 31, 2012 and argument is set for November 14 to 15, 2012 on the primary liability claims and December 5 to 6, 2012 on the successor liability claims. The coordinated appeal of the court s ruling on partial summary judgment regarding proof of causation is set for the October 2012 term of the New York State Supreme Court, Appellate Division, First Department. Opening briefs are due August 6, 2012. On July 2, 2012, the parties exchanged rebuttal expert reports on the primary liability issues. On June 25, 2012 and July 31, 2012, respectively, the parties exchanged initial expert reports on successor liability issues. Rebuttal expert reports on successor liability issues were filed/will be filed on July 25, 2012 and August 24, 2012, respectively.

MBIA Insurance Corp. v. Residential Funding Company, LLC; Index No. 603552/2008 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. County)

The case is currently stayed as a result of the Chapter 11 filing of ResCap on May 14, 2012 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York.

MBIA Insurance Corp. v. GMAC Mortgage, LLC (f/k/a GMAC Mortgage Corporation); Index No. 600837/2010 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. County)

The case is currently stayed as a result of the Chapter 11 filing of ResCap on May 14, 2012 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York.

MBIA Insurance Corp. v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (in its corporate capacity and as conservator and receiver for IndyMac Federal Bank, F.S.B.); Civil Action No. 09-01011 (ABJ) (D.C. Dist.)

On June 5, 2012, MBIA Corp. filed its opening appellate brief with the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia.

Transformation Litigation

Aurelius Capital Master, Ltd. et al. v. MBIA Inc. et al. ; 09-cv-2242 (R.S.) (S.D.N.Y.)

On April 11, 2012, the Aurelius plaintiffs and MBIA filed a Stipulation of Dismissal resolving the litigation and the case has been closed on the court s docket.

ABN AMRO Bank N.V. et al. v. Eric Dinallo et al.; Index no. 601846/09 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. County)

The Article 78 hearing concluded on June 7, 2012. A decision is pending.

The Company is defending against the aforementioned actions in which it is a defendant and expects ultimately to prevail on the merits. There is no assurance, however, that the Company will prevail in these actions. Adverse rulings in these actions could have a material adverse effect on the Company s ability to implement its strategy and on its business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. At this stage of the litigation, there has not been a determination as to the amount, if any, of damages. Accordingly, the Company is not able to estimate any amount of loss or range of loss.

There are no other material lawsuits pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party.

Note 14: Subsequent Events

Refer to Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies for information about legal proceedings that occurred after June 30, 2012.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

FORWARD-LOOKING AND CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

This quarterly report of MBIA Inc. (MBIA, the Company, we, us or our) includes statements that are not historical or current facts and are forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The words believe, anticipate, project, plan, expect, estimate, intend, will likely result, looking forward, or will continue and similar exp forward-looking statements. These statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical earnings and those presently anticipated or projected. MBIA cautions readers not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only to their respective dates. We undertake no obligation to publicly correct or update any forward-looking statement if the Company later becomes aware that such result is not likely to be achieved.

The following are some of the factors that could affect financial performance or could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates contained in or underlying the Company s forward-looking statements:

uncertainty regarding whether the Company will realize, or will be delayed in realizing, insurance loss recoveries expected in disputes with sellers/servicers of residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) transactions at the levels recorded in its consolidated financial statements;

the possibility that the Company will experience severe losses or liquidity needs due to increased deterioration in its insurance portfolios and in particular, due to the performance of collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) including multi-sector and commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) pools and commercial real estate (CRE) CDOs and RMBS;

failure to obtain regulatory approval to implement our risk reduction and liquidity strategies;

the possibility that loss reserve estimates are not adequate to cover potential claims;

our ability to access capital and our exposure to significant fluctuations in liquidity and asset values within the global credit markets, in particular within our asset/liability products segment;

our ability to fully implement our strategic plan, including our ability to achieve high stable ratings for National Public Finance Guarantee Corporation and subsidiaries (National) or any of our other insurance companies and our ability to commute certain of our insured exposures, including as a result of limited available liquidity;

the resolution of litigation claims against the Company;

the possibility of deterioration in the economic environment and financial markets in the United States (U.S.) or abroad, and adverse developments in real estate market performance, credit spreads, interest rates and foreign currency levels;

the possibility that unprecedented budget short-falls will result in credit losses or impairments on obligations of state and local governments that we insure;

changes in the Company s credit ratings;

competitive conditions for bond insurance, including potential entry into the public finance market of insurers of municipal bonds, and changes in the demand for financial guarantee insurance;

the effects of governmental regulation, including insurance laws, securities laws, tax laws, legal precedents and accounting rules; and

uncertainties that have not been identified at this time.

The above factors provide a summary of and are qualified in their entirety by the risk factors discussed under Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of MBIA Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. In addition, refer to Note 1: Business Developments, Risks and Uncertainties, and Liquidity in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of certain risks and uncertainties related to our financial statements.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

MBIA operates one of the largest financial guarantee insurance businesses in the industry and is a provider of asset management advisory services. These activities are managed through three business segments: U.S. public finance insurance, structured finance and international insurance, and advisory services. Our U.S. public finance insurance business is operated through National, our structured finance and international insurance business is operated through MBIA Insurance Corporation and its subsidiaries (MBIA Corp.), and our advisory services business is operated through Cutwater Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries (Cutwater). We also manage certain business activities through our corporate, asset/liability products, and conduit segments. Our corporate segment includes revenues and expenses that arise from general corporate activities. Funding programs managed through our asset/liability products and conduit segments are in wind-down.

```
81
```

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW (continued)

During the first six months of 2012, our businesses continued to maintain adequate liquidity to meet their payment obligations despite minimal collections of recoveries in connection with ineligible mortgage loans in our insured RMBS securitizations. As of June 30, 2012, National and MBIA Corp. had \$352 million and \$534 million, respectively, of total liquidity without regard to investments in their subsidiaries. Total liquidity within our insurance businesses includes cash and short-term investments, as well as other assets that are readily available for liquidity purposes. Liquidity of MBIA Inc. includes the liquidity positions of its corporate and asset/liability products activities. As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Inc. had liquid sets of \$290 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. As of December 31, 2011, MBIA Inc. had \$386 million of cash and liquid assets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million sets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. As of December 31, 2011, MBIA Inc. had \$386 million of cash and liquid assets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$160 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. A detailed discussion of the Company s liquidity position is presented within the Liquidity section herein.

Our financial guarantee insurance business model has been significantly impacted since 2008 by adverse credit rating actions by Standard & Poor s Financial Services LLC (S&P) and Moody s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody s). As of June 30, 2012, National was rated BBB with a developing outlook by S&P and Baa2 with a negative outlook by Moody s. As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation was rated B with a negative outlook by S&P and B3 with a review of a possible downgrade by Moody s. The absence of S&P s and Moody s highest ratings has adversely impacted our ability to write new insurance business and the premiums we can charge, and could diminish the future acceptance of our financial guarantee insurance products.

Economic and Financial Market Trends and MBIA s Business Outlook

We believe economic conditions during the first half of 2012 suggested a restrained recovery within the U.S. as positive trends in the first quarter of the year lost traction during the second quarter. For the three months ended June 30, 2012, domestic budgetary pressures, events in Europe and the scheduled expiration of U.S. tax cuts loomed large. U.S. Gross Domestic Product declined due to a sharp deceleration in job growth and manufacturing activity. The business and consumer segments of our economy also declined despite falling oil prices. Additionally, the recent events by the European leaders to stabilize the region s banks may not be enough to sway consumer confidence. All considered, we believe the U.S. economy has lost momentum given the uncertainties in the global markets and an unclear fiscal policy. MBIA s business outlook should be viewed against this backdrop since these are some of the key economic conditions which, together with the ineligibility of mortgage loans supporting our insured RMBS transactions and the volatility of unrealized gains and losses on our insured derivatives, significantly impact our financial results.

Our financial results, prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), have been extremely volatile since the fourth quarter of 2007 as a result of unrealized gains and losses from fair valuing our insured credit derivatives. We do not believe that the volatility caused by these unrealized gains and losses on our insured derivatives reflects the underlying economics of our business, and we fully expect that our reported financial results will remain volatile and uncertain during the remainder of 2012 as a result of actual and perceived future performance of our insured credit derivatives and the perception of MBIA s credit risk. Our economic performance may also be volatile depending on changes in our loss estimates based on deviations in macroeconomic conditions and collateral performance from our expectations, and further deterioration in economic conditions and financial markets in the U.S. and abroad.

Uncertainties regarding the European sovereign debt crisis have also affected the global economy. MBIA does not insure any direct European sovereign debt. However, MBIA s indirect European sovereign insured debt exposure totaled \$8.1 billion as of June 30, 2012 and included obligations of sovereign-related and sub-sovereign issuers, such as regions, departments, and sovereign-owned entities that are supported by a sovereign state, region or department. Of the \$8.1 billion insured gross par outstanding, \$796 million, \$666 million, and \$247 million related to Spain, Portugal, and Ireland, respectively. The remaining \$6.4 billion related to the United Kingdom. We closely monitor our existing insured European portfolios on an ongoing basis. We consider country risk, including economic and political factors, the type and quality of local regulatory oversight, the strength of the legal framework in each country and the stability of the local institutional framework. We also monitor local accounting and legal requirements, local financial market developments, the impact of exchange rates and local demand dynamics. The Company has an immaterial amount of direct and indirect European sovereign debt holdings included in its investment portfolios. A default by one or more sovereign issuers could have an adverse effect on our insured debt exposures and investment portfolios.

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW (continued)

Our business and financial results have been significantly influenced by a number of factors including, but not limited to, the following:

MBIA Corp. has repurchase rights arising from the sellers/servicers improper inclusion in insured securitizations of ineligible mortgage loans. The sellers/servicers have contractual obligations to cure, repurchase or replace such ineligible mortgage loans and thus we have recognized \$3.2 billion for such obligations as of June 30, 2012. These expected recoveries are generally referred to as put-backs, and are calculated based on our assessment of a range of possible collection outcomes. The methodology used to calculate and recognize the recoveries was initially focused on the loan files reviewed by MBIA and its independent consultants. More recently, we have determined that in light of various court rulings, including approvals of a sampling approach to establish damages, reviews of additional loan files are unnecessary; and our approach to estimating recoveries focuses on our incurred loss, the proportion of ineligible mortgage loans in samples drawn from each securitization and discounts for various collection risks, including financial distress of the sellers/servicers. We expect to revise and supplement, on a quarterly basis, our assumptions on the likelihood and timing of actual recoveries, as well as our estimated amount of such recoveries, based on facts and circumstances as they emerge. Such developments have included and will include activity in the pending litigations in which we are seeking to enforce our put-back rights, as well as an ongoing analysis of the capacity of the sellers/servicers or other responsible parties to pay our claims and other factors that could influence the amount, likelihood and timing of the recoveries. Our cumulative incurred loss related to ineligible mortgage loans was \$4.9 billion as of June 30, 2012. We believe that, based on the strength of our contract claims, multiple positive court rulings in our favor, and the exceptionally high level of ineligible mortgage loans in our insured transactions, we are entitled to collect the full amount of our incurred loss related to these ineligible mortgage loans. However, our financial statements reflect that we may ultimately collect less than our cumulative incurred loss due to a variety of factors including the risks inherent in litigation, the possibility of legal settlements with some or all of the sellers/servicers, and the risk that one or more of the sellers/servicers will not be able to honor any claims or judgments that we secure against them. We may further discount our expected recoveries in the future based on a review of the creditworthiness of the sellers/servicers.

The following summarizes our largest recoveries claims, which we have recorded against Bank of America Corp. and certain of its subsidiaries, and against GMAC Mortgage, LLC (GMAC) and Residential Funding Company, LLC (RFC), which are subsidiaries of Residential Capital, LLC (ResCap):

We have recorded our largest put-back asset against Bank of America Corp. and certain of its subsidiaries including Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. Bank of America and its subsidiary Merrill Lynch also hold a significant amount of our remaining insured CMBS pool exposures, including the majority of the \$6.0 billion of pools originally insured in 2006 and 2007 primarily referencing BBB and lower rated collateral (for a discussion of our insured CMBS exposure, see Results of Operations Commercial Real Estate Pool and CRE CDOs). While the Company has recorded loss reserves for the CMBS exposures, no material claims have been made to date. Bank of America/Merrill Lynch are also one of the two remaining plaintiffs in the litigation challenging the establishment of National (Transformation Litigation) (for a discussion of the Transformation Litigation, see Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). As a result, the amount we may ultimately collect from Bank of America/Countrywide on their put-back obligations in any litigation settlement could be impacted by potential commutation payments on these CMBS exposures and developments in the Transformation Litigation. Likewise, our ability to commute these CMBS exposures may be impacted by developments in the put-back litigation with these entities and the Transformation Litigation. There can be no assurance that any such settlement or commutation will occur or that any such settlement or commutation, if it occurred, would be consummated within the estimates of expected recoveries or loss payments associated with these exposures that are recorded in our consolidated financial statements. In addition, due to the deterioration in MBIA Corp. s CMBS exposures, primarily in those exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch, there is an increased likelihood that MBIA Corp. will experience claims on those exposures, which claims could be substantial. Depending on the amount of such claims and the amounts of claims on other policies issued by MBIA Corp., MBIA Corp. may not

have sufficient liquid assets to pay such claims in the absence of a settlement with Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and the commutation of the CMBS exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch or in the absence of the collection of other substantial put-back recoverables.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW (continued)

We have also recorded substantial recoveries related to put-backs against GMAC and RFC, whose ultimate parent company is Ally Financial Inc. On May 14, 2012, ResCap, RFC and GMAC each filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the bankruptcy filings, we have reassessed our expected recoveries from GMAC and RFC by developing new probability-weighted scenarios based on the following facts: a) we have a direct contractual relationship with GMAC and RFC related to our put-back claims; b) our claims against GMAC and RFC are based on a breach of contract and fraud which have withstood motions to dismiss; and c) we submitted expert reports in the RFC litigation which confirm a substantial degree of ineligible mortgage loans in MBIA insured securitizations and damages as a result thereof. Accordingly, the Company has modeled scenario-based recoveries which are founded upon the strength of these claims as well as a range of estimated assets available to ResCap unsecured creditors. These outcomes are based upon information that was available to the Company as of the filing date. Under this revised methodology, our expected recoveries from GMAC and RFC have been reduced by 8% since December 31, 2011. A more detailed discussion of potential recoveries is presented within Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, we estimated an additional \$171 million of credit losses and loss adjustment expense (LAE) related to our insured CMBS exposure primarily on insured credit default swap (CDS) contracts. This additional amount reflects the deterioration within some transactions. Although average debt service coverage in transactions in our aggregate current portfolio remains satisfactory, some loans still show signs of significant financial distress. Ultimate loss rates remain uncertain, and we have recorded additional impairments on our insured CMBS portfolio every quarter since the beginning of 2010 as our anticipated economic losses have increased during that time period. It is possible that we will experience severe losses or liquidity needs, primarily on the Bank of America/Merrill Lynch CMBS exposures described above, due to increased deterioration in our insured CMBS portfolio, in particular if macroeconomic stress escalates. A double dip recession may result in increased delinquencies, higher levels of liquidations of delinquent loans and/or severities of loss upon liquidation. Although we have also seen stabilization in the delinquency rate over the past several months, loan modifications and extensions granted by the special servicers for these CMBS loans and increased liquidations have contributed to the stabilization. The special servicers are responsible for managing loans that have defaulted and for conducting the remediation and foreclosure process with the objective of maximizing proceeds for all bondholders by avoiding or minimizing loan level losses.

In the first six months of 2012, MBIA Corp. commuted \$12.8 billion of gross insured exposure, primarily comprising structured CMBS pools, investment grade corporate CDOs, CRE CDOs, asset-backed securities (ABS) CDOs, and subprime RMBS transactions, all of which was previously disclosed in MBIA Inc. s Securities and Exchange Commission filings. In consideration for the commutation of insured transactions, the Company has made and may in the future make payments to the counterparties, the amounts of which, if any, may be less than or greater than any statutory loss reserves established for the respective transactions. The Company enters into commutations in the ordinary course of its business and does not intend to make contemporaneous disclosures regarding any such transactions. Our ability to commute insured transactions may be limited by available liquidity as determined based on management s assessment.

The pending litigation challenging the establishment of National also has constrained our ability to establish high stable ratings and generate new U.S. public finance financial guarantee insurance business. We do not expect to write significant new financial guarantee insurance business prior to an upgrade of our insurance financial strength ratings. We expect that once the pending litigation is resolved, we will seek to obtain higher ratings for National and the market acceptance necessary to meet our objectives. Our ability to achieve these ratings is subject to rating agency criteria in effect at that time, including qualitative and quantitative factors, and the timing of any such upgrade is uncertain. There is no assurance that we will prevail in the pending litigation or be able to achieve such ratings. While there is currently only one bond insurer actively engaged in the market, one new market participant

recently launched and we have observed other new competitors indicating an interest in entering the bond insurance market and continuing to consider strategies for launch. We will continue to monitor the impact that new market participants may have on our ability to compete in the U.S. public finance insurance market in the future. Failure by the Company to favorably resolve this litigation could have a material adverse effect on its future business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW (continued)

In 2011, National entered into a secured loan with MBIA Insurance Corporation (National Secured Loan) under which National loaned MBIA Insurance Corporation \$1.1 billion in order to enable MBIA Corp. to fund settlements and commutations of its insurance policies. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation borrowed an additional \$443 million under the National Secured Loan with the approval of the New York State Department of Financial Services (NYSDFS) at the same terms of the original loan to fund additional commutations of its insurance policies. As of June 30, 2012, the amount outstanding under the National Secured Loan was \$1.6 billion and secured by certain future receivables. Refer to the Liquidity section herein for information about these receivables and the terms of the National Secured Loan. MBIA Insurance Corporation has the option to defer payments of interest when due by capitalizing interest amounts to the loan balance, subject to the collateral value exceeding certain thresholds. MBIA Insurance Corporation has elected to defer the interest payment due under the loan. MBIA Insurance Corporation s ability to repay the National Secured Loan is primarily predicated on its ability to collect on its future receivables, including its ability to successfully enforce the put-back rights described above. As a result, the existence of the National Secured Loan may adversely affect National s ability to achieve higher stable ratings and, therefore, its ability to write new business.

In National, our U.S. public finance insured portfolio continues to perform as expected. We have, however, experienced increased stress in National s insured portfolio in the first six months of 2012 as a portion of the obligations that we insure were issued by some of the state and local governments that remain under extreme financial and budgetary stress. Continued financial stress on such states and municipalities could lead to an increase in defaults on the payment of their obligations and losses or impairments on a greater number of insured transactions in the future.

The reference herein to ineligible mortgage loans refers to those mortgage loans that the Company believes failed to comply with the representations and warranties made by the sellers/servicers of the securitizations to which those mortgage loans were sold (including mortgage loans that failed to comply with the related underwriting criteria), based on the Company s assessment of such mortgage loans compliance with such representations and warranties, which included information provided by third-party review firms. The Company s assessment of the ineligibility of individual mortgage loans has been challenged by the sellers/servicers of the securitizations in litigation and there is no assurance that the Company s determinations will prevail.

Refer to Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed discussion on the lawsuits filed by and against the Company.

Financial Highlights

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded consolidated net income of \$581 million or \$2.98 per diluted share compared with consolidated net income of \$137 million or \$0.68 per diluted share for the same period of 2011.

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded consolidated net income of \$591 million or \$3.03 per diluted share compared with a consolidated net loss of \$1.1 billion or \$5.70 per diluted share for the same period of 2011.

We also use adjusted pre-tax income (loss), a non-GAAP measure, to supplement our analysis of our periodic results. We consider adjusted pre-tax income (loss) a fundamental measure of periodic financial performance, which we believe is useful for an understanding of our results. Adjusted pre-tax income (loss) adjusts GAAP pre-tax income (loss) to remove the effects of consolidating insured variable interest entities (VIEs) and gains and losses related to insured credit derivatives, which we believe will reverse over time, as well as to add in changes in the present value of insurance claims we expect to pay on insured credit derivatives based on our ongoing insurance loss monitoring. Adjusted pre-tax income (loss) is not a substitute for and should not be viewed in isolation from GAAP pre-tax income (loss), and our definition of adjusted pre-tax income (loss) may differ from that used by other companies. Refer to the following Results of Operations section for a reconciliation of adjusted pre-tax income (loss) to GAAP pre-tax income (loss).

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, consolidated adjusted pre-tax loss was \$152 million compared with adjusted pre-tax income of \$161 million for the same period of 2011. The unfavorable change for the three months ended June 30, 2012 was principally due to increases in losses

on insured credit derivatives, partially offset by net gains on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange.

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, consolidated adjusted pre-tax loss was \$700 million compared with adjusted pre-tax income of \$185 million for the same period of 2011. The unfavorable change for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was principally due to increases in losses on insured credit derivatives and financial guarantee policies, an increase in operating expenses due to a significant increase in legal and litigation related costs, and lower net investment income.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW (continued)

Our consolidated book value (total shareholders equity) was \$2.5 billion as of June 30, 2012 compared with \$1.7 billion as of December 31, 2011. The increase was primarily the result of unrealized gains on insured derivatives driven by commuting derivatives at prices below fair value, the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities which resulted from a widening of its own credit spreads and a reduction in the Company s recovery rate and favorable movements in spreads and pricing on collateral. Our consolidated book value per share as of June 30, 2012 was \$12.92 compared with \$8.80 as of December 31, 2011.

In addition to book value per share, we also analyze adjusted book value (ABV) per share, a non-GAAP measure. We consider ABV a measure of fundamental value of the Company and the change in ABV an important measure of financial performance. ABV adjusts GAAP book value to remove the impact of certain items which the Company believes will reverse over time through the GAAP statements of operations, as well as to add in the impact of certain items which the Company believes will be realized in GAAP book value in future periods. The Company has limited such adjustments to those items that it deems to be important to fundamental value and performance and which the likelihood and amount can be reasonably estimated. ABV assumes no new business activity. We have presented ABV to allow investors and analysts to evaluate the Company using the same measure that MBIA s management regularly uses to measure financial performance and value. ABV is not a substitute for and should not be viewed in isolation from GAAP book value, and our definition of ABV may differ from that used by other companies. Refer to the following Results of Operations section for a further discussion of ABV and a reconciliation of GAAP book value per share to ABV per share.

As of June 30, 2012, ABV per share was \$31.23 down from \$34.50 as of December 31, 2011, reflecting a decline compared with the increase in our consolidated book value described above. The decrease in ABV per share was primarily driven by insurance losses, realized losses from sales and impairments of investments, and a significant increase in legal and litigation related costs.

A detailed discussion of our financial results is presented within the Results of Operations section included herein. Refer to the Capital Resources Insurance Statutory Capital section for a discussion of National s and MBIA Corp. s capital positions under statutory accounting principles (U.S. STAT).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with GAAP, which requires the use of estimates and assumptions. Management has discussed and reviewed the development, selection, and disclosure of critical accounting estimates with the Company s Audit Committee. Management believes that the most critical accounting estimates, since these estimates require significant judgment, are loss and LAE reserves, valuation of financial instruments, and deferred income taxes. Financial results could be materially different if other methodologies were used or if management modified its assumptions.

For a discussion of the Company s critical accounting estimates, see Critical Accounting Estimates in Part II, Item 7 Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. In addition, refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a current description of estimates used in our insurance loss reserving process.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note 3: Recent Accounting Pronouncements in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of accounting guidance recently adopted by the Company, as well as recent accounting developments relating to guidance not yet adopted by the Company.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary of Consolidated Results

The following table presents a summary of our consolidated financial results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

		onths Ended ne 30,	d Six Months End June 30,		
In millions except for per share amounts	2012	2011	2012	2011	
Total revenues (losses)	\$ 1,039	\$ 98	\$ 1,422	\$ (1,510)	
Total expenses	244	245	606	400	
Pre-tax income (loss)	795	(147)	816	(1,910)	
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	214	(284)	225	(772)	
Net income (loss)	\$ 581	\$ 137	\$ 591	\$ (1,138)	
Net income (loss) per common share:					
Basic	\$ 2.99	\$ 0.69	\$ 3.05	\$ (5.70)	
Diluted	\$ 2.98	\$ 0.68	\$ 3.03	\$ (5.70)	

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded consolidated net income of \$581 million, or \$2.98 per diluted common share, compared with consolidated net income of \$137 million, or \$0.68 per diluted common share, for the same period of 2011. Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding totaled 195 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, down 3% from the same period of 2011 as a result of share repurchases by the Company during the second half of 2011. Consolidated total revenues (losses) for the three months ended June 30, 2012 included \$775 million of net gains on insured derivatives compared with \$75 million of net losses for the same period of 2011. The net gains on insured derivatives in 2012 were principally the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities which resulted from a widening of its own credit spreads, a reduction in the Company s recovery rate and the result of commuting derivatives at prices below fair value. The net losses on insured derivatives in 2011 principally resulted from unfavorable changes in spreads and prices of underlying collateral and favorable changes in the market perception of MBIA Corp. s credit risk, which resulted in a tightening of the Company s credit spreads and an improvement in the Company s recovery rate. These changes were partially offset by the reversal of unrealized losses resulting from the settlement of insured derivatives at amounts below their fair values. Consolidated total expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2012 included \$62 million of net insurance loss and LAE compared with \$50 million of loss and LAE for the same period of 2011. The net insurance losses and LAE in 2012 and 2011 were principally related to our insured RMBS exposure.

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded consolidated net income of \$591 million, or \$3.03 per diluted common share, compared with a consolidated net loss of \$1.1 billion, or \$5.70 per diluted common share, for the same period of 2011. Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding totaled 195 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012, down 2% from the same period of 2011 as a result of share repurchases by the Company during the second half of 2011. Consolidated total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2012 included \$1.1 billion of net gains on insured derivatives compared with \$1.9 billion of net losses for the same period of 2011. The net gains on insured derivatives in 2012 were principally the result of commuting derivatives at prices below fair value, the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities which resulted from a widening of its own credit spreads and a reduction in the Company s recovery rate, and favorable movements in spreads and pricing on collateral within transactions. The net losses on insured derivatives in 2011 principally resulted from favorable changes in spreads and prices of underlying collateral. These changes were partially offset by the reversal of unrealized losses resulting from the settlement of insured derivatives at amounts below their fair value. Consolidated total expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2012 included \$159 million of net insurance loss and LAE compared with \$14 million for the same period of 2011. The net insurance losses and LAE in 2012 and 2011 were principally related to our insured RMBS

exposure.

Included in our consolidated net income for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were \$2 million of losses before income taxes related to consolidated VIEs, after the elimination of intercompany revenues and expenses, compared with income before income taxes of \$19 million for the same period of 2011. Included in our consolidated net income for the six months ended June 30, 2012 were \$33 million of losses before income taxes related to consolidated VIEs, after the elimination of intercompany revenues and expenses, compared with losses before income taxes of \$95 million for the same period of 2011. The net effect of consolidated VIEs on our financial results will vary over time as VIEs are consolidated or deconsolidated by the Company, and as the values of consolidated VIE assets and liabilities change.

_
1
1

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Adjusted Pre-Tax Income

The following table presents our consolidated adjusted pre-tax income (loss) (a non-GAAP measure) and provides a reconciliation of adjusted pre-tax income (loss) to GAAP pre-tax income (loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Three Mor June			ths Ended 1e 30,
In millions	2012	2011	2012	2011
Adjusted total revenues	\$ 317	\$ 178	\$ 432	\$ 509
Adjusted total expenses	469	17	1,132	324
Adjusted pre-tax income (loss)	(152)	161	(700)	185
Additions to adjusted pre-tax income (loss):				
Impact of consolidating certain VIEs	29	43	33	58
Mark-to-market gains (losses) on insured credit derivatives	1,203	88	1,506	(1,503)
Subtractions from adjusted pre-tax income (loss):				
Impairments on insured credit derivatives	285	439	23	650
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$ 795	\$ (147)	\$ 816	\$ (1,910)

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, total revenues included in adjusted pre-tax income (loss) increased compared with the same period of 2011 primarily as a result of a decrease in net losses related to fair valuing financial instruments, favorable changes in foreign exchange rates and gains on the extinguishment of debt within our wind-down operations. Total expenses included in adjusted pre-tax income (loss) for the three months ended June 30, 2012 increased compared with the same period of 2011 primarily as a result of increased impairments on insured credit derivatives and an increase in losses and LAE.

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, total revenues included in adjusted pre-tax income (loss) decreased compared with the same period of 2011 primarily as a result of lower net investment income and an increase in net losses related to other-than-temporary impairments of investments, partially offset by a decrease in net losses related to fair valuing financial instruments and favorable changes in foreign currency exchange rates within our wind-down operations. Total expenses included in adjusted pre-tax income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2012 increased compared with the same period of 2011 primarily as a result of increased impairments on insured credit derivatives, an increase in insurance losses and LAE, and an increase in legal and litigation related costs.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Adjusted Book Value

As of June 30, 2012, ABV per share (a non-GAAP measure) was \$31.23, down from \$34.50 as of December 31, 2011. The decrease in ABV per share was primarily driven by insurance losses, realized losses from sales and impairments of investments, and a significant increase in legal and litigation related costs.

The following table provides a reconciliation of consolidated book value per share to consolidated ABV per share:

	As of			As of
In millions except share and per share amounts	June	e 30, 2012	Dec	ember 31, 2011
Total shareholders equity of MBIA Inc.	\$	2,503	\$	1,700
Basic common shares outstanding	193	3,747,368		193,143,196
Book value per share	\$	12.92	\$	8.80
Adjustments for items included in book value per share (after-tax):				
Cumulative net loss from consolidating certain VIEs ⁽¹⁾		0.78		0.82
Cumulative unrealized loss on insured credit derivatives		11.02		16.12
Net unrealized (gains) losses included in other comprehensive income		(0.39)		0.85
Adjustments for items not included in book value per share (after-tax):				
Net unearned premium revenue ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾		10.93		12.00
Present value of insured derivative installment revenue ⁽⁴⁾		0.67		0.86
Cumulative impairments on insured credit derivatives ⁽⁴⁾		(3.59)		(3.74)
Deferred acquisition costs		(1.11)		(1.21)
Total adjustments per share		18.31		25.70
Adjusted book value per share	\$	31.23	\$	34.50

(1) - Represents the impact on book value per share of consolidated VIEs that are not considered a business enterprise of the Company.

(2) - Consists of financial guarantee premiums and fees.

(3) - The discount rate on financial guarantee installment premiums was the risk-free rate as defined by the accounting principles for financial guarantee insurance contracts.

(4) - The discount rate on insured derivative installment revenue and impairments was 5% as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

Our Net unearned premium revenue adjustment to book value per share consists of unearned premium revenue net of prepaid reinsurance premiums related to financial guarantee insurance contracts, the unamortized portion of installment premiums collected on insured derivative contracts, and the unamortized portion of insurance-related deferred fee revenue. Our Present value of insured derivative installment revenue adjustment to book value per share consists of the present value of premiums not yet collected from insured derivative contracts, which are not recorded on our balance sheets in accordance with accounting principles for financial guarantee insurance contracts but which are contractually due to the Company.

U.S. Public Finance Insurance

Our U.S. public finance insurance business is primarily conducted through National. The financial guarantees issued by National provide unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of the payment of the principal of, and interest or other amounts owing on, insured obligations when due or, in the event National has exercised, at its discretion, the right to accelerate insured obligations upon default or otherwise. National s guarantees insure municipal bonds, including tax-exempt and taxable indebtedness of U.S. political subdivisions, as well as utility districts, airports, healthcare institutions, higher educational facilities, student loan issuers, housing authorities and other similar agencies and obligations issued by private entities that finance projects that serve a substantial public purpose. Municipal bonds and privately issued bonds used for the financing of public purpose projects are generally supported by taxes, assessments, user fees or tariffs related to the use of these projects, lease payments or other similar types of revenue streams.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents our U.S. public finance insurance segment results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent Six Months E			nded J	lune 30,	Percent	
In millions	2012		2	2011	Change	2012		2011		Change
Net premiums earned	\$	130	\$	106	23%	\$	236	\$	195	21%
Net investment income		56		54	4%		110		112	-2%
Fees and reimbursements		2		2	-		3		4	-25%
Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured										
derivatives		-		1	-100%		-		1	-100%
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value										
and foreign exchange		11		14	-21%		21		17	24%
Total revenues		199		177	12%		370		329	12%
					/-				/	/-
Losses and loss adjustment		(3)		(9)	-67%		11		(5)	n/m
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs		26		23	13%		49		41	20%
Operating		28		19	47%		108		38	n/m
Total expenses		51		33	55%		168		74	127%
		21		55	5570		100		<i>,</i> .	12770
Pre-tax income	\$	148	\$	144	3%	\$	202	\$	255	-21%

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, we did not write a meaningful amount of U.S. public finance insurance. The lack of insurance writings in our U.S. public finance segment reflects the insurance financial strength credit ratings assigned to National by major ratings agencies and the impact of litigation over the formation of National in 2009. We do not expect to write a material amount of new business prior to an upgrade of our insurance financial strength ratings and market acceptance that such ratings will be stable in the future. The timing of any such upgrade is uncertain and will depend on a variety of quantitative and qualitative factors used by the rating agencies in their evaluation, including the resolution of pending litigation. We believe that we will resume writing business in the U.S. public finance market before actively re-engaging in the structured finance and international markets.

ADJUSTED PRE-TAX INCOME In addition to the above results, we also analyze the operating performance of our U.S. public finance insurance segment using adjusted pre-tax income, a non-GAAP measure. We believe adjusted pre-tax income, as used by management, is useful for an understanding of the results of operations of our U.S. public finance insurance segment. Adjusted pre-tax income is not a substitute for pre-tax income determined in accordance with GAAP, and our definition of adjusted pre-tax income may differ from that used by other companies.

For the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, there were no material differences between adjusted pre-tax income of \$148 million and \$144 million, respectively, and GAAP pre-tax income. For the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, there were no material differences between adjusted pre-tax income of \$202 million and \$255 million, respectively, and GAAP pre-tax income.

NET PREMIUMS EARNED Net premiums earned on non-derivative financial guarantees represent gross premiums earned net of premiums ceded to reinsurers, and include scheduled premium earnings and premium earnings from refunded issues. For the three months ended June 30, 2012, U.S. public finance net premiums earned were \$130 million compared with \$106 million for the same period of 2011. The increase in 2012 resulted from an increase in refunded premiums earned of \$42 million offset by a decline in scheduled premiums earned of \$18 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, U.S. public finance net premiums earned of \$42 million offset by a decline in scheduled premiums earned of \$18 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, U.S. public finance net premiums earned were \$236 million compared with \$195 million for the same period of 2011. The increase in 2012 resulted from an increase in refunded premiums earned of \$77 million offset by a decline in scheduled premiums earned of \$36 million. Scheduled premium earnings declined due to the maturity of insured issues within our U.S. public finance portfolio with no material new insurance writings. Additionally, refunding activity over the past several years has accelerated premium earnings in prior periods and reduced the amount of premiums that would have been earned in the current period.

NET INVESTMENT INCOME For the three months ended June 30, 2012, our U.S. public finance insurance investment portfolio generated \$56 million of net investment income compared with \$54 million for the same period of 2011. The increase in net investment income for the three months ended June 30, 2012 was primarily due to higher yielding invested assets. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, our U.S. public finance insurance investment portfolio generated \$110 million of net investment income compared with \$112 million for the same period of 2011. The decrease in net investment income for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was primarily due to higher yielding invested June 30, 2012 was primarily due to lower asset balances, partially offset by higher yield.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

National maintains simultaneous repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements (Asset Swap) with our asset/liability products segment, which provides yield enhancement to our U.S. public finance insurance investment portfolio as a result of increased net interest earnings from these collective agreements. In addition, during 2012 the interest income on the National Secured Loan, established in December of 2011, was included in our U.S. public finance net investment income and totaled \$46 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012. The National Secured Loan enhances the overall yield of our U.S. public finance insurance investment portfolio as lower yielding investments were sold to fund the amount loaned under this agreement. While interest due on the National Secured Loan is recorded in the period during which it accrues, the payment of interest is currently being deferred. Refer to the Liquidity section included herein for additional information about these agreements.

Investment asset balances at amortized cost as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are presented in the following table:

	June 30,		December 3	1, 2011
In millions	Investments at Amortized Cost	Pre- tax yield ⁽¹⁾	Investments at Amortized Cost	Pre-tax yield ⁽¹⁾
Fixed-income securities:				
Tax-exempt	\$ 955	4.00%	\$ 1,067	4.06%
Taxable	2,009	3.75%	2,073	3.89%
Short-term	366	1.00%	641	0.70%
Total fixed-income	3,330	3.51%	3,781	3.40%
Secured loan to an affiliate	1,597		1,130	
Other	14		16	
Total	\$ 4,941		\$ 4,927	

(1) - Estimated yield-to-maturity.

LOSS AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES National s portfolio surveillance group is responsible for monitoring our U.S. public finance segment s insured obligations. The level and frequency of monitoring of any insured obligation depends on the type, size, rating and performance of the insured issue.

Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Company s loss reserving policy and additional information related to its loss reserves.

The following tables present information about our U.S. public finance insurance loss and LAE reserves and recoverables as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, as well as our related loss and LAE expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	June 30,	December 31,	Percent
In millions	2012	2011	Change
Gross loss and LAE reserves	\$ 407	\$ 369	10%

Expected recoveries on unpaid losses	(233)		(200)	17%
Loss and LAE reserves	\$ 174	\$	169	3%
	¢ 166	¢	155	707
Insurance loss recoverable Insurance loss recoverable-ceded ⁽¹⁾	\$ 166 \$ 5	\$ \$	155 4	7% 25%
Reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses	\$ 7	\$	8	-13%

(1) - Reported within Other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

	Three Months Ended					S				
		Jun	e 30,		Percent	June 30,				Percent
In millions	2	2012	2	2011	Change	2	012	2	011	Change
Loss and LAE related to actual and expected payments	\$	45	\$	18	150%	\$	67	\$	(143)	-147%
Recoveries of actual and expected payments		(48)		(27)	78%		(56)		138	-141%
Gross losses incurred		(3)		(9)	-67%		11		(5)	n/m
Reinsurance		-		-	-		-		-	-
Losses and loss adjustment expenses	\$	(3)	\$	(9)	-67%	\$	11	\$	(5)	n/m

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, losses and LAE incurred were a benefit of \$3 million and an expense of \$11 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, losses and LAE incurred were benefits of \$9 million and \$5 million, respectively.

Included in our U.S. public finance loss and LAE reserves are both reserves for insured obligations for which a payment default has occurred and National has already paid a claim and also for which a payment default has not yet occurred but a claim is expected in the future. The following table includes LAE reserves as of December 31, 2011 for one issue that had no expected future claim payments or par outstanding but for which the Company is obligated to pay LAE incurred in prior periods. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, loss and LAE reserves comprised the following:

	Number	Number of Issues (1)		LAE Reserve	Par Outstanding			
\$ in millions	June 30, 2012	December 31, 2011	June 30, 2012	December 31, 2011	June 30, 2012	December 31, 2011		
Gross of reinsurance:								
Issues with defaults	10	11	\$ 159	\$ 163	\$ 876	\$ 797		
Issues without defaults	9	5	15	6	104	26		
Total gross of reinsurance	19	16	\$ 174	\$ 169	\$ 980	\$ 823		

(1) - An issue represents the aggregate of financial guarantee policies that share the same revenue source for purposes of making debt service payments.

POLICY ACQUISITION COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES U.S. public finance insurance segment expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are presented in the following table:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Percent	Six	Percent			
In millions	2	012	2	011	Change	2	2012	20	011	Change
Gross expenses	\$	28	\$	19	47%	\$	109	\$	38	n/m
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs	\$	26	\$	23	13%	\$	49	\$	41	20%
Operating		28		19	47%		108		38	n/m
Total insurance operating expenses	\$	54	\$	42	29%	\$	157	\$	79	99%

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

Gross expenses represent total insurance expenses before the deferral of any policy acquisition costs. Gross expenses increased for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same periods of 2011 primarily due to a significant increase in legal and litigation related costs.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs increased for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same periods of 2011, consistent with higher premium earnings from refunded policies during 2012. We did not defer a material amount of policy acquisition costs during 2012 or 2011.

INSURED PORTFOLIO EXPOSURE Financial guarantee insurance companies use a variety of approaches to assess the underlying credit risk profile of their insured portfolios. MBIA uses both an internally developed credit rating system as well as third-party rating sources in the analysis of credit quality measures of its insured portfolio. In evaluating credit risk, we obtain, when available, the underlying rating of the insured obligation before the benefit of its insurance policy from nationally recognized rating agencies, Moody s and S&P. Other companies within the financial guarantee industry may report credit quality information based upon internal ratings that would not be comparable to our presentation.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents the credit quality distribution of MBIA s U.S. public finance outstanding gross par insured as of June 30, 2012 and 2011. All ratings are as of the period presented and represent S&P ratings. If transactions are not rated by S&P, a Moody s equivalent rating is used. If transactions are not rated by either S&P or Moody s, an MBIA equivalent rating is used.

In millions		Gross Par Outstanding as of Jun 2012 2						
Rating	Amount	%	Amount	%				
AAA	\$ 20,873	5.5%	\$ 25,004	5.4%				
AA	174,495	46.2%	210,095	45.3%				
А	143,436	38.0%	180,261	38.9%				
BBB	36,173	9.6%	44,924	9.7%				
Below investment grade	2,669	0.7%	3,010	0.7%				
Total	\$ 377,646	100.0%	\$ 463,294	100.0%				

The credit quality distribution of our U.S. public finance insurance exposure as of June 30, 2012 remained relatively consistent with June 30, 2011. Total U.S. public finance insurance gross par outstanding rated A or above, before giving effect to National s guarantee, was approximately 90% and gross par outstanding rated below investment grade, before giving effect to National s guarantee, was less than 1% as of June 30, 2012 and 2011.

Structured Finance and International Insurance

Our structured finance and international insurance business is principally conducted through MBIA Corp. The financial guarantees issued by MBIA Corp. generally provide unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of the payment of the principal of, and interest or other amounts owing on, insured obligations when due or, in the event MBIA Corp. has the right, at its discretion, to accelerate insured obligations upon default or otherwise, upon MBIA Corp. s acceleration. Certain guaranteed investment contracts written by MBIA Inc. or its subsidiaries are insured by MBIA Corp. If MBIA Inc. or such subsidiaries were to have insufficient assets to pay amounts due upon maturity or termination, MBIA Corp. would make such payments under its insurance policies. MBIA Corp. also insured debt obligations of other affiliates, including MBIA Global Funding, LLC (GFL) and Meridian Funding Company, LLC (Meridian), and provides reinsurance to its insurance subsidiaries. MBIA Corp. has also written insurance policies guaranteeing the obligations under CDS of an affiliate, LaCrosse Financial Products, LLC, including termination payments that may become due upon certain events including the insolvency or payment default of the financial guarantor or the CDS issuer.

MBIA Corp. s guarantees insure structured finance and asset-backed obligations, privately issued bonds used for the financing of public purpose projects that are primarily located outside of the U.S. which include toll roads, bridges, airports, public transportation facilities, utilities and other types of infrastructure projects serving a substantial public purpose, and obligations of sovereign-related and sub-sovereign issuers. Structured finance and ABS typically are securities repayable from expected cash flows generated by a specified pool of assets, such as residential and commercial mortgages, insurance policies, consumer loans, corporate loans and bonds, trade and export receivables, and leases and loans for equipment, aircraft and real property.

In certain cases, we may be required to consolidate entities established by issuers of insured obligations as part of securitizations when we insure the assets or liabilities of those entities and in connection with remediations under our insurance policies. These entities typically meet the definition of a VIE under accounting principles for the consolidation of VIEs. We do not believe there is any difference in the risks and profitability of financial guarantees provided to VIEs compared with other financial guarantees written by us.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents our structured finance and international insurance segment results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent Six Months Ended				d June 30,	Percent	
In millions	2	2012		2011	Change	e 2012			2011	Change
Net premiums earned	\$	59	\$	63	-6%	\$	105	\$	130	-19%
Net investment income		6		17	-65%		14		48	-71%
Fees and reimbursements		41		26	58%		66		53	25%
Change in fair value of insured derivatives:										
Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured										
derivatives		(428)		(192)	123%		(432)		(547)	-21%
Unrealized gains (losses) on insured derivatives		1,203		116	n/m		1,506		(1,307)	n/m
Net change in fair value of insured derivatives		775		(76)	n/m		1,074		(1,854)	n/m
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and				. ,						
foreign exchange		(14)		-	n/m		3		33	-91%
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary		. ,								
impairments		(2)		(2)	-		(41)		(4)	n/m
Other net realized gains (losses)		-		- -	-		1		1	-
Revenues of consolidated VIEs:										
Net investment income		14		13	8%		27		27	-
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and										
foreign exchange		(36)		18	n/m		(67)		(113)	-41%
Total revenues		843		59	n/m		1,182		(1,679)	n/m
Losses and loss adjustment		65		59	10%		148		19	n/m
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs		31		40	-23%		57		73	-22%
Operating		28		32	-13%		85		69	23%
Interest		59		34	74%		113		67	69%
Expenses of consolidated VIEs:										
Operating		4		8	-50%		11		18	-39%
Interest		11		11	-		22		21	5%
Total expenses		198		184	8%		436		267	63%
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	645	\$	(125)	n/m	\$	746	\$	(1,946)	-138%

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, we did not write a meaningful amount of structured finance and international insurance. The lack of insurance writings in our structured finance and international insurance segment reflects the impact of the downgrades of MBIA Corp. s insurance financial strength ratings by the major rating agencies, which occurred in 2008 and again in 2009. The Company does

not expect to write a material amount of new business prior to an upgrade of the insurance financial strength ratings of MBIA Corp. and market acceptance that such ratings will be stable in the future. The timing of any such upgrade is uncertain and will depend on a variety of quantitative and qualitative factors used by the rating agencies in their evaluation, including the resolution of pending litigation. Pre-tax income (loss) in each of the periods included in the preceding table was primarily driven by changes in the fair value of our insured credit derivatives, which reflects changes in the market perception of MBIA Corp. s credit risk.

ADJUSTED PRE-TAX INCOME (LOSS) In addition to the above results, we also analyze the operating performance of our structured finance and international insurance segment using adjusted pre-tax income (loss), a non-GAAP measure. We believe adjusted pre-tax income (loss), as used by management, is useful for an understanding of the results of operations of our structured finance and international insurance segment. Adjusted pre-tax income (loss) is not a substitute for pre-tax income (loss) determined in accordance with GAAP, and our definition of adjusted pre-tax income (loss) may differ from that used by other companies.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents the adjusted pre-tax income (loss) of our structured finance and international insurance segment, and a reconciliation of adjusted pre-tax income (loss) to GAAP pre-tax income (loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent Six Months E			Ende	d June 30,	Percent	
In millions	2012 2011		Change	2012		2011		Change		
Adjusted total revenues	\$	122	\$	143	-15%	\$	214	\$	357	-40%
Adjusted total expenses		422		(45)	n/m		960		189	n/m
Adjusted pre-tax income (loss)		(300)		188	n/m		(746)		168	n/m
Additions to adjusted pre-tax income (loss):										
Impact of consolidating certain VIEs		27		38	-29%		9		39	-77%
Mark-to-market gain (loss) on insured credit derivatives		1,203		88	n/m		1,506		(1,503)	n/m
Subtractions from adjusted pre-tax income (loss):										
Impairments on insured credit derivatives		285		439	-35%		23		650	-96%
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	645	\$	(125)	n/m	\$	746	\$	(1,946)	-138%

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, adjusted pre-tax loss was \$300 million compared with adjusted pre-tax income of \$188 million for the same period of 2011. Adjusted total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2012 decreased compared with the same period of 2011 principally due to higher net losses on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange. Adjusted total expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2012 increased compared with the same period of 2011 primarily as a result of increases in losses on insured credit derivatives and financial guarantee policies, and an increase in interest expense from the National Secured Loan that was established in December of 2011.

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, adjusted pre-tax loss was \$746 million compared with adjusted pre-tax income of \$168 million for the same period of 2011. Adjusted total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2012 decreased compared with the same period of 2011 principally due to higher net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments, higher net losses on financial instruments at fair value and lower net investment income. Adjusted total expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2012 increased compared with the same period of 2011 primarily as a result of increases in losses on insured credit derivatives and financial guarantee policies, and an increase in interest expense from the National Secured Loan that was established in December of 2011.

NET PREMIUMS EARNED Our structured finance and international insurance segment generates net premiums from insurance policies accounted for as financial guarantee contracts and insured derivative contracts, and certain of those premiums may be eliminated in our consolidated financial statements as a result of the Company consolidating VIEs. The following table provides net premiums earned by type of insurance contract for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

Three Months I	Ended June 30,	Six Months E	nded June 30,
2012	2011	2012	2011

In millions

Table of Contents

Net premiums earned:				
Financial guarantee contracts	\$ 59	\$ 63	\$ 105	\$ 130
Insured derivative contracts ⁽¹⁾	14	25	30	57
VIEs (eliminated in consolidation)	2	4	8	9
Total net premiums earned	\$ 75	\$ 92	\$ 143	\$ 196

(1) - Premiums related to insured derivatives are included in Realized gains (losses) and other settlements on insured derivatives on our consolidated statements of operations.

Net premiums earned on non-derivative financial guarantee contracts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are presented in the following table. Net premiums earned represent gross premiums earned net of premiums ceded to reinsurers, and include scheduled premium earnings and premium earnings from refunded issues.

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent Six Months Er			nded J	une 30,	Percent	
In millions	20)12	2	011	Change	2	012	2	2011	Change
Net premiums earned:										
U.S.	\$	18	\$	26	-31%	\$	36	\$	55	-35%
Non-U.S.		41		37	11%		69		75	-8%
Total net premiums earned	\$	59	\$	63	-6%	\$	105	\$	130	-19%

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Structured finance and international net premiums earned decreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 due to the maturity and early settlement of insured transactions with no new material insurance writings.

NET INVESTMENT INCOME For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, our structured finance and international insurance investment portfolio generated \$6 million and \$14 million, respectively, of net investment income compared with \$17 million and \$48 million, respectively for the same periods of 2011. The decrease in net investment income was primarily due to lower average asset balances in 2012 as a result of claim and commutation payments, and reinvesting proceeds from sales and maturities of high-yielding securities in lower yielding liquid securities.

MBIA Corp., as lender, maintained a secured lending agreement with our asset/liability products segment (MBIA Corp. Secured Loan). Interest income on this arrangement, totaling approximately \$1 million and \$2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, compared with \$4 million and \$9 million, respectively for the same periods of 2011, is included in our structured finance and international insurance net investment income. The decrease in interest income under this facility resulted from lower loan balances in 2012 and the repayment of the facility in May 2012. Refer to the Liquidity section included herein for additional information about this agreement.

Investment asset balances at amortized cost as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are presented in the following table:

	June 30, Investments at	2012 Pre-tax	December 3 Investments at	1, 2011 Pre-tax	
In millions	Amortized Cost	yield ⁽¹⁾	Amortized Cost	yield ⁽¹⁾	
Fixed-income securities:					
Tax-exempt	\$ -	-%	\$ 1	5.79%	
Taxable	706	2.66%	1,131	3.38%	
Short-term	685	0.50%	222	1.46%	
Total fixed-income	1,391	1.60%	1,354	3.07%	
Secured loan to an affiliate	-		300		
Other	1		7		
Total	\$ 1,392		\$ 1,661		

(1) - Estimated yield-to-maturity.

NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF INSURED DERIVATIVES The following table presents the net premiums earned related to derivatives and the components of the net change in fair value of insured derivatives for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

Three M	onths Ended		Six Mont	hs Ended	
Ju	ne 30,	Percent	June	e 30,	Percent
2012	2011	Change	2012	2011	Change

In millions

\$ 15	\$ 25	-40%	\$ 31	\$ 57	-46%
(443)	(217)	104%	(463)	(604)	-23%
(428)	(192)	123%	(432)	(547)	-21%
1,203	116	n/m	1,506	(1,307)	n/m
\$ 775	\$ (76)	n/m	\$ 1,074	\$ (1,854)	n/m
	(443) (428) 1,203	(443) (217) (428) (192) 1,203 116	(443) (217) 104% (428) (192) 123% 1,203 116 n/m	(443) (217) 104% (463) (428) (192) 123% (432) 1,203 116 n/m 1,506	(443)(217)104%(463)(604)(428)(192)123%(432)(547)1,203116n/m1,506(1,307)

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

The Company no longer insures new credit derivative contracts except in transactions related to the restructuring or reduction of existing derivative exposure. Premiums earned related to insured credit derivatives will decrease over time as a result of settlements prior to maturity and scheduled amortizations. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, realized losses on insured derivatives of \$443 million and \$463 million, respectively, resulted primarily from settlements and claim payments on CMBS and ABS transactions. Realized losses on insured derivatives for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 primarily resulted from settlement payments related to commutations of transactions.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, unrealized gains on insured derivatives were principally associated with the reversal of unrealized losses from commutations and the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities which resulted from a widening of its own credit spreads and a reduction in the Company s recovery rate. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, unrealized gains on insured derivatives were principally due to the reversal of unrealized losses from commutations of structured ABS transactions. This was partially offset by reduced collateral pricing, the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities, and collateral erosion.

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, unrealized gains on insured derivatives were principally associated with the reversal of unrealized losses from commutations, the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities and the result of favorable movements in spreads and pricing on collateral within transactions. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, unrealized losses on insured derivatives were principally the result of the effects of MBIA s nonperformance risk on its derivative liabilities, reduced collateral pricing and collateral erosion. This was partially offset by the reversal of unrealized losses from commutations of structured ABS and CMBS pool transactions.

As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. s five year CDS cost was 35.06% upfront plus 5% per annum compared with 30.75% upfront plus 5% per annum as of June 30, 2011. Our mark-to-market on insured credit derivatives uses the most appropriate of the one to ten year CDS cost for each transaction, and those costs ranged from 15.25% upfront plus 5% per annum to 37.38% upfront plus 5% per annum as of June 30, 2012. As of June 30, 2011, those costs ranged from 7.38% upfront plus 5% per annum to 34.25% upfront plus 5% per annum.

As of June 30, 2012, we had \$49.4 billion of gross par outstanding on insured credit derivatives compared with \$67.0 billion as of December 31, 2011. The decrease in gross par outstanding was primarily due to contractual terminations, amortizations and maturities. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, 29 insured issues, representing \$16.4 billion in gross par outstanding, either matured or were contractually settled prior to maturity.

Since our insured credit derivatives have similar terms, conditions, risks, and economic profiles as our financial guarantee insurance policies, we evaluate them for impairment periodically in the same way that we estimate loss and LAE for our financial guarantee policies. Credit impairments on insured derivatives represent actual payments plus the present values of our estimates of expected future claim payments, net of expected future recoveries. MBIA Insurance Corporation s expected future claim payments were discounted using a rate of 5.59%, the same rate used to calculate its statutory loss reserves as of June 30, 2012. We estimated that additional credit impairments on insured derivatives (excluding LAE) for the six months ended June 30, 2012 were \$442 million across 19 CDO insured issues. Beginning with the fourth quarter of 2007 through June 30, 2012, total credit impairments on insured derivatives were estimated at \$5.2 billion across 71 CDO insured issues, inclusive of 65 insured issues for which we made settlement and claim payments of \$4.2 billion, net of reinsurance and collections. Accordingly, we expect to realize additional net losses of \$1.0 billion. Refer to the following Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses section for additional information about credit impairments on insured derivatives.

Our estimate of credit impairments, a non-GAAP measure, may differ from the fair values recorded in our consolidated financial statements. Although the Company s consolidated statements of operations include the fair values, the Company believes its disclosure of credit impairments on insured derivatives provides additional meaningful information about potential realized losses on these contracts. The fair value of an insured derivative contract will be influenced by a variety of market and transaction-specific factors that may be unrelated to potential future claim payments. In the absence of credit impairments or the termination of derivatives at losses, the cumulative unrealized losses recorded from fair valuing insured derivatives should reverse before or at the maturity of the contracts. Contracts also may be settled prior to maturity at amounts that may be more or less than their recorded fair values. Those settlements can result in realized gains or losses, and will result in the reversal of unrealized gains or losses. The Company is not required to post collateral to counterparties of these contracts. Refer to Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of MBIA Inc s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for information on legislative changes that could require collateral posting by MBIA Corp. notwithstanding the contract terms.

Costs associated with mitigating credit impairments on insured derivatives are expensed as incurred and included within Operating expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. Such costs totaled \$2 million and \$1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and \$3 million and \$8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

NET INVESTMENT LOSSES RELATED TO OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENTS For the six months ended June 30, 2012, net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments totaled \$41 million and primarily related to one impaired security that was written down to its fair value as we intend to sell the security before an expected recovery of fair value to its amortized cost. Refer to the Liquidity section included herein for additional information about impaired investments.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

REVENUES OF CONSOLIDATED VIEs For the three months ended June 30, 2012, total revenues of consolidated VIEs within our structured finance and international insurance segment were a loss of \$22 million compared with total revenues of \$31 million for the same period of 2011. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, total revenues of consolidated VIEs were a loss of \$40 million compared with a loss of \$86 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The fluctuations in revenues of consolidated VIEs were principally driven by net losses on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange as a result of changes in the fair value of VIE assets and liabilities recorded through earnings.

LOSS AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES MBIA s insured portfolio management group within its structured finance and international insurance business is responsible for monitoring structured finance and international insured issues. The level and frequency of monitoring of any insured issue depends on the type, size, rating and performance of the insured issue. If we identify concerns with respect to the performance of an insured issue we may designate such insured issue as Caution List-Low, Caution List-Medium, Caution List-High, or Classified depending on the likelihood of a loss. We establish case basis reserves in connection with insured issues designated as classified credits.

The Company faces significant risks and uncertainties related to potential or actual losses from its CMBS and CRE CDO insured exposure, its second-lien RMBS insured exposure (due to the unpredictable performance of ineligible mortgage loans included in the transactions we insured), backed by home equity lines of credit (HELOC) or closed-end second mortgages (CES) and its ABS CDO insured exposure. Continued significant adverse developments and higher than expected payments on these exposures and/or lower than expected recoveries on the RMBS exposures, could result in a decline in the Company s liquidity and statutory capital position.

The impact of insured exposures on the Company s liquidity position is best understood by assessing the ultimate amount of payments that the Company will be required to make with respect to these exposures. In this regard, the Company discloses the discounted expected future net cash flows to be made under all insurance contracts, irrespective of the legal form of the guarantee (i.e., financial guarantee insurance policy or insured derivative contract) or the GAAP accounting basis.

All amounts presented in the following aggregate losses and LAE tables are calculated in accordance with GAAP, with the exception of those related to insured credit derivative impairments. The amounts reported for insured credit derivative impairments are calculated in accordance with U.S. STAT because GAAP does not contain a comparable measurement basis for these contracts. All losses and recoverables reported in the following tables are measured using discounted probability-weighted cash flows. Losses and recoverables on VIEs that are eliminated in consolidation are included because the consolidation of these VIEs does not impact whether or not we will be required to make payments under our insurance contracts. As a result of the different accounting bases of amounts included in the following tables, the total provided in each table represents a non-GAAP measure.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following tables present the aggregate loss and LAE reserves and insurance loss recoverables as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the aggregate change in the discounted values of net payments expected to be made on all insurance contracts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011:

Aggregate Losses and LAE Roll Forward

Financial Guarantee Insurance (1)	Financial Guarantee Insurance Related to VIEs ⁽²⁾		Guarantee Insurance		Guarantee Insurance		Insurance Credit Derivative Impairments and LAE ⁽³⁾		Derivative Impairments		Reinsu	rance ⁽⁴⁾	Total ⁽⁵⁾
\$ 667	\$	353	\$	1,103	\$	(7)	\$ 2,116						
(2,891)		(1,365)		(70)		8	(4,318)						
(2,224)		(1,012)		1,033		1	(2,202)						
-		-		1		(1)	-						
						~ /							
(2,224)		(1,012)		1,034		-	(2,202)						
148		117		443		-	708						
(297)		(92)		(466)		-	(855)						
. ,		. ,		, í			, í						
(2.373)		(987)		1.011		-	(2,349)						
-		-				1	(_,;; !))						
				(-)		-							
\$ (2,272)	¢	(0.97)	¢	1.010	¢	1	\$ (2,349)						
\$ (2,373)	φ	(987)	φ	1,010	φ	1	\$ (2,349)						
ф <i>((</i> 1	¢	202	¢	1.077	¢		• • • • • • • •						
\$ 661	\$	303	\$	1,077	\$	(7)	\$ 2,034						
		(1.000)				0	(1.202)						
(3,034)		(1,290)		(67)		8	(4,383)						
\$ (2,373)	\$	(987)	\$	1.010	\$	1	\$ (2,349)						
	Guarantee Insurance (1) \$ 667 (2,891) (2,224) (2,224) (2,224) (2,224) (2,373) (2,373) (2,373) \$ (2,373) \$ 661 (3,034)	Guarantee Insurance (1) Guarantee In Relate \$ 667 \$ (2,891) (2,224) (2,224) 148 (297) (2,373) \$ (2,373) \$ 661 \$ 661 (3,034)	Guarantee Insurance (1) Guarantee Insurance Related to VIEs (2) \$ 667 \$ 353 (2,891) (1,365) (2,224) (1,012) - - (2,224) (1,012) - - (2,224) (1,012) 148 117 (297) (92) (2,373) (987) - - \$ (2,373) \$ (987) \$ (2,373) \$ (987) \$ 661 \$ 303 (3,034) (1,290)	Guarantee Insurance (1) Guarantee Insurance Related to VIEs (2) Der Impa and 1 \$ 667 \$ 353 \$ (2,891) (1,365) (1,365) (2,224) (1,012) (1,012) - - - (2,224) (1,012) (1,012) 148 117 - (2,373) (987) - \$ (2,373) \$ (987) \$ \$ 661 \$ 303 \$ (3,034) (1,290) -	Guarantee Insurance (1)Guarantee Insurance Related to VIEs (2) Derivative Impairments and LAE (3) \$ 667\$ 353\$ 1,103(2,891)(1,365)(70)(2,224)(1,012)1,0331(2,224)(1,012)1,034148117443(297)(92)(466)(2,373)(987)1,011(1)\$ (2,373)\$ (987)\$ 1,010\$ 661\$ 303\$ 1,077(3,034)(1,290)(67)	Guarantee Insurance (1)Guarantee Guarantee Insurance Related to VIEs $^{(2)}$ Derivative Impairments and LAE $^{(3)}$ Reinsur Reinsur\$ 667\$ 353\$ 1,103\$(2,891)(1,365)(70)(70)(2,224)(1,012)1,0331(2,224)(1,012)1,034148117443(297)(92)(466)(2,373)(987)1,011(1)\$ (2,373)\$ (987)\$ 1,010\$ (2,373)\$ (987)\$ 1,010\$ 661\$ 303\$ 1,077\$ 661\$ (1,290)(67)	Guarantee Insurance (1)Guarantee Insurance Related to VIEs (2)Derivative Impairments and LAE (3)Reinsurance (4)\$ 667\$ 353\$ 1,103\$ (7)(2,891)(1,365)(70)8(2,224)(1,012)1,03311(1)(2,224)(1,012)1,034-(148117443-(297)(92)(466)-(2,373)(987)1,011(1)1\$ (2,373)\$ (987)\$ 1,010\$ 1\$ (2,373)\$ (987)\$ 1,010\$ 1\$ (2,373)\$ (987)\$ 1,010\$ 1\$ (3,034)(1,290)(67)8						

(1) - Included in Losses and loss adjustment, Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves and Insurance loss recoverable on the Company s consolidated financial statements.

(2) - Represents loss expense, reserves and insurance loss recoverable eliminated upon the consolidation of insured VIEs.

- (3) Represents statutory losses and LAE and recoveries for insurance contracts accounted for as derivatives. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these contracts under GAAP are recorded in Net change in fair value of insured derivatives on the Company s consolidated statements of operations and the fair value of these contracts are recorded in Derivative Liabilities on the Company s consolidated balance sheets.
- (4) Represents Losses and loss adjustment, Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves and Insurance loss recoverable on the Company s consolidated financial statements and are ceded to third-party reinsurers under insurance contracts. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, there was a \$1 million payable related to insured credit derivative impairments and LAE reinsurance.
- (5) Represents totals after ceding to third-party reinsurers under insurance contracts. Aggregate Losses and LAE (change in discounted values of net payments)

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2012									
In millions		nd-lien IBS ⁽¹⁾		CDO	С	MBS	Otl	ner ⁽²⁾	7	Fotal
Change in actual and expected payments	\$	41	\$	2	\$	175	\$	66	\$	284
Change in actual and expected salvage		26		(2)		(4)		2		22
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$	67	\$	-	\$	171	\$	68	\$	306

(1) - Includes HELOC loans and CES.

(2) - Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011								
In millions	Second-lien RMBS ⁽¹⁾	ABS CDO	CMBS	Other ⁽²⁾	Total				
Change in actual and expected payments	\$ 92	\$ (471)	\$ 233	\$ 36	\$ (110)				
Change in actual and expected salvage	(124)	71	-	13	(40)				
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ (32)	\$ (400)	\$ 233	\$ 49	\$ (150)				

(1) - Includes HELOC loans and CES.

(2) - Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

	For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012							
In millions	Second-lien RMBS ⁽¹⁾	ABS CDO	CMBS	Other ⁽²⁾	Total			
Change in actual and expected payments	\$ 206	\$ (43)	\$ 470	\$ 63	\$ 696			
Change in actual and expected salvage	(5)	13	(4)	8	12			
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ 201	\$ (30)	\$ 466	\$ 71	\$ 708			

(1) - Includes HELOC loans and CES.

 $\left(2\right)$ - Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.

		For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011								
In millions	Second-lien RMBS ⁽¹⁾	ABS CDO	CMBS	Other ⁽²⁾	Total					
Change in actual and expected payments	\$ 136	\$ (386)	\$ 368	\$ 4	\$ 122					
Change in actual and expected salvage	(177)	55	-	(3)	(125)					
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ (41)	\$ (331)	\$ 368	\$ 1	\$ (3)					

(1) - Includes HELOC loans and CES.

(2) - Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.

Aggregate Losses and LAE by Insurance Type (change in discounted values of net payments)

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2012								
In millions	Second-lien RMBS (1)	ABS	CDO	C	MBS	Ot	her ⁽²⁾	7	Fotal
Financial guarantee insurance ⁽³⁾	\$ (14)	\$	(1)	\$	12	\$	68	\$	65
Financial guarantee insurance related to consolidated VIEs (eliminated in consolidation) ⁽⁴⁾	81		-		_		-		81
Insured credit derivatives (statutory basis) ⁽⁵⁾	-		1		159		-		160
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ 67	\$	-	\$	171	\$	68	\$	306

Table of Contents

- (1) Includes HELOC loans and CES.
- (2) Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.
- (3) Included in Losses and loss adjustment as reported on the Company s consolidated statements of operations.
- (4) Represents losses eliminated upon the consolidation of insured VIEs.
- (5) Represents statutory losses and LAE for insurance contracts accounted for as derivatives. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these contracts under GAAP are recorded in Net change in fair value of insured derivatives on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

		For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011							
In millions	Second-lien RMBS (1)	ABS CDO	CMBS	Other ⁽²⁾	Total				
Financial guarantee insurance ⁽³⁾	\$ (3)	\$ 13	\$-	\$ 49	\$ 59				
Financial guarantee insurance related to consolidated VIEs (eliminated in consolidation) ⁽⁴⁾	(29)	39	-	-	10				
Insured credit derivatives (statutory basis) ⁽⁵⁾	-	(452)	233	-	(219)				
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ (32)	\$ (400)	\$ 233	\$ 49	\$ (150)				

- (1) Includes HELOC loans and CES.
- (2) Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.
- (3) Included in Losses and loss adjustment as reported on the Company s consolidated statements of operations.
- (4) Represents losses eliminated upon the consolidation of insured VIEs.
- (5) Represents statutory losses and LAE for insurance contracts accounted for as derivatives. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these contracts under GAAP are recorded in Net change in fair value of insured derivatives on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

	For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012							
In millions	Second-lien RMBS ⁽¹⁾	ABS CDO	CMBS	Other ⁽²⁾	Total			
Financial guarantee insurance ⁽³⁾	\$ 67	\$ (2)	\$ 12	\$ 71	\$ 148			
Financial guarantee insurance related to consolidated VIEs (eliminated in consolidation) ⁽⁴⁾	134	(17)	-	-	117			
Insured credit derivatives (statutory basis) ⁽⁵⁾	-	(11)	454	-	443			
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ 201	\$ (30)	\$ 466	\$ 71	\$ 708			

- (1) Includes HELOC loans and CES.
- (2) Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.
- (3) Included in Losses and loss adjustment as reported on the Company s consolidated statements of operations.
- (4) Represents losses eliminated upon the consolidation of insured VIEs.
- (5) Represents statutory losses and LAE for insurance contracts accounted for as derivatives. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these contracts under GAAP are recorded in Net change in fair value of insured derivatives on the Company s consolidated statements of operations.

		For the Six M	onths Ended .	June 30, 2011	
In millions	Second-lien RMBS ⁽¹⁾	ABS CDO	CMBS	Other ⁽²⁾	Total
Financial guarantee insurance ⁽³⁾	\$ (2)	\$ 20	\$ -	\$ 1	\$ 19
Financial guarantee insurance related to consolidated VIEs (eliminated in					
consolidation) ⁽⁴⁾	(39)	51	-	-	12
Insured credit derivatives (statutory basis) ⁽⁵⁾	-	(402)	368	-	(34)
Total aggregate losses and LAE	\$ (41)	\$ (331)	\$ 368	\$ 1	\$ (3)

(1) - Includes HELOC loans and CES.

(2) - Includes alternative A-paper transactions and other insurance contracts.

(3) - Included in Losses and loss adjustment as reported on the Company s consolidated statements of operations.

(4) - Represents losses eliminated upon the consolidation of insured VIEs.

(5) - Represents statutory losses and LAE for insurance contracts accounted for as derivatives. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these contracts under GAAP are recorded in Net change in fair value of insured derivatives on the Company s consolidated statements of operations.

The increases in total aggregate losses and LAE for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same periods of 2011 were primarily due to commutation settlements in 2011 of ABS policies below established reserves. In addition, our expectations of future payments on second-lien RMBS exposures have increased.

Summary of Financial Guarantee Insurance Losses and LAE

The following information relates to financial guarantee insurance losses and LAE recorded in accordance with GAAP. Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Company s loss and LAE reserving policy and additional information related to its loss reserves.

The following tables present information about our insurance reserves and recoverable as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, as well as our loss and LAE incurred for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. The Company s insurance loss recoverable represents expected potential recoveries of paid claims based on probability-weighted net cash inflows discounted at applicable risk-free rates as of the measurement date. Our insurance loss recoverable includes expected recoveries related to put-backs of ineligible mortgage loans within second-lien RMBS transactions and other amounts due to MBIA under subrogation rights.

	June 30,	December 31,	
In millions	2012	2011	Percent Change
Gross loss and LAE reserves	\$ 936	\$ 1,029	-9%
Expected recoveries on unpaid losses	(275)	(362)	-24%
Loss and LAE reserves	\$ 661	\$ 667	-1%
Insurance loss recoverable	\$ 3,034	\$ 2,891	5%
Insurance loss recoverable - ceded ⁽¹⁾	\$ 7	\$ 7	-
Reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses	\$7	\$ 8	-13%

(1) - Reported within Other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended Percent June 30.				nded	Percent	
In millions	2	012		2011	Change		2012	,	2011	Change
Loss and LAE related to actual and expected payments	\$	86	\$	113	-24%	\$	211	\$	105	101%
Recoveries of actual and expected payments		(21)		(53)	-60%		(63)		(84)	-25%
Gross losses incurred		65		60	8%		148		21	n/m
Reinsurance		-		(1)	-100%		-		(2)	-100%
Losses and loss adjustment expenses	\$	65	\$	59	10%	\$	148	\$	19	n/m

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

Losses and LAE incurred in our structured finance and international insurance segment totaled \$65 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012. Included in the \$65 million were gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$86 million, of which \$82 million primarily related to insured first-lien RMBS transactions and CMBS transactions, and \$4 million related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions. Partially offsetting these losses were recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$21 million, including \$18 million related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions. The \$18 million of recoveries related to second-lien RMBS transactions included \$60 million of recoveries resulting from ineligible mortgage loans included in insured exposures that are subject to contractual obligations by sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace such mortgage loans offset by a \$42 million reduction in excess spread (the difference between interest inflows on assets and interest outflows on liabilities) within the securitizations.

Losses and LAE incurred in our structured finance and international insurance segment totaled \$59 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011. Included in the \$59 million were gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$113 million, including \$67 million related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions and \$46 million of other loss activity. The \$53 million of recoveries for the three months ended June 30, 2011 included \$69 million of recoveries related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions offset by \$16 million related to other activity. The \$69 million of recoveries related to second-lien RMBS transactions included \$36 million of recoveries resulting from ineligible mortgage loans included in insured second-lien residential mortgage securitization exposures that are subject to contractual obligations by sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace such mortgage loans and \$33 million related to excess spread within the securitizations.

Losses and LAE incurred in our structured finance and international insurance segment totaled \$148 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012. Included in the \$148 million were gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$211 million, including \$134 million related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions and \$77 million of other loss activity, primarily related to insured first-lien RMBS transactions. Partially offsetting these losses were recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$63 million, including \$67 million related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions. The \$67 million of recoveries related to second-lien RMBS transactions included \$110 million of recoveries resulting from ineligible mortgage loans included in insured exposures that are subject to contractual obligations by sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace such mortgage loans offset by a \$43 million reduction in excess spread within the securitizations.

Losses and LAE incurred in our structured finance and international insurance segment totaled \$19 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Included in the \$19 million were gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$105, including \$72 million of losses related to second-lien RMBS transactions and \$33 million related to other transactions. The \$84 million of recoveries for the six months ended June 30, 2011 include \$74 million of recoveries related to insured second-lien RMBS transactions and \$10 million related to other recovery activity. The \$74 million of recoveries related to second-lien RMBS transactions included \$154 million of recoveries resulting from ineligible mortgage loans included in insured second-lien residential mortgage securitization exposures that are subject to contractual obligations by sellers/servicers to repurchase or replace such mortgage loans offset by an \$80 million reduction in excess spread within the securitizations. The

decrease in recoveries from excess spread resulted from an increase in voluntary prepayments within the securitizations.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, losses and LAE incurred included the elimination of \$81 million and \$117 million, respectively, as a result of the consolidation of VIEs. The \$81 million elimination included a decrease in recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$43 million and gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$38 million. The \$117 million elimination included a decrease in recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$61 million and gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$56 million.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, losses and LAE incurred included the elimination of \$10 million and \$12 million, respectively, as a result of the consolidation of VIEs. The \$10 million elimination included gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$66 million offset by recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$56 million. The \$12 million elimination included gross losses related to actual and expected future payments of \$121 million offset by recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$10 million.

Included in the Company s loss and LAE reserves are both reserves for insured obligations for which a payment default has occurred and MBIA Corp. has already paid a claim and also for which a payment default has not yet occurred but a claim is expected in the future. The following table includes LAE reserves as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 for three issues that had no expected future claim payments or par outstanding, but for which the Company is obligated to pay LAE incurred in prior periods. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, loss and LAE reserves comprised the following:

	Number	r of Issues (1)	Loss and LAE Reserve		Par Outstanding		ing		
	June 30,	December 31,	June 30, December 31,		June 30,		mber 31,		
\$ in millions	2012	2011	20	12	2	011	2012		2011
Gross of reinsurance:									
Issues with defaults	95	92	\$	434	\$	447	\$ 7,716	\$	7,863
Issues without defaults	23	26		227		220	1,161		1,734
Total gross of reinsurance	118	118	\$	661	\$	667	\$ 8,877	\$	9,597

(1) - An issue represents the aggregate of financial guarantee policies that share the same revenue source for purposes of making debt service payments. MBIA reports expected potential recoveries of certain paid claims within Insurance loss recoverable and the corresponding estimated recovery amounts due to reinsurers within Other liabilities on the Company s consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, our insurance loss recoverable in our structured finance and international insurance segment was \$3.0 billion and \$2.9 billion, respectively. The increase in our insurance loss recoverable principally resulted from an increase in expected potential recoveries related to certain sellers/servicers obligation to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans related to insured second-lien transactions. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, our insurance loss recoverable also included estimated recoveries of approximately \$773 million and \$731 million, respectively, from excess spread within second-lien RMBS securitizations. Insurance loss recoverables due to reinsurers totaled \$7 million as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011. Insurance loss recoverables are only paid to reinsurers upon receipt of such amounts by MBIA.

Residential Mortgage Exposure

MBIA Corp. insures mortgage-backed securities (MBS) backed by residential mortgage loans, including second-lien residential mortgage securitizations (revolving HELOC loans and CES). For the three months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded losses and LAE of \$67 million related to second-lien RMBS transactions, before the elimination of \$81 million of losses incurred as a result of consolidating VIEs. The \$14 million consolidated losses and LAE benefit was due to gross recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$18 million offset by gross losses and LAE related to actual and expected payments of \$4 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded losses and LAE of \$201 million related to second-lien RMBS transactions, before the elimination of \$134 million of losses incurred as a result of consolidating VIEs. The \$67 million consolidated losses and LAE was due to gross losses and LAE related to actual and expected payments of \$134 million of \$134 million of losses incurred as a result of consolidating VIEs. The \$67 million consolidated losses and LAE was due to gross losses and LAE related to actual and expected payments of \$134 million offset by gross recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$134 million offset by gross recoveries of actual and expected payments of \$67 million.

MBIA Corp. also insures MBS backed by first-lien subprime mortgage loans directly through RMBS securitizations. There has been considerable stress and continued deterioration in the subprime mortgage market since 2008 reflected by increased delinquencies and losses,

particularly related to subprime mortgage loans originated during 2005, 2006 and 2007. As of June 30, 2012, the Company had \$2.3 billion of gross par outstanding from direct exposure to subprime mortgage loans compared with \$3.3 billion as of December 31, 2011. While subprime transactions directly guaranteed by MBIA Corp. include collateral comprising mortgage loans that originated during 2005, 2006, and 2007, we currently do not expect ultimate material losses on these transactions given the amount of subordination below MBIA Corp. s insured portion of such transactions available to absorb losses from collateral defaults. As of June 30, 2012, the Company had \$165 million of gross par outstanding in three insured direct subprime mortgage transactions with 2006 or 2007 subprime mortgage collateral appearing on the Company s Classified or Caution Lists.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents the par outstanding of MBIA Corp. s total direct RMBS insured exposure as of June 30, 2012 by S&P credit rating category. Amounts include the par outstanding related to transactions that the Company consolidates under accounting guidance for VIEs.

	Gross Par Outstanding							
In millions	Prime First- lien	Alternative A-paper First-lien	Subprime First-lien	HELOC Second-lien	CES Second-lien	Total		
AAA	\$ 184	\$ 925	\$ 1,455	\$-	\$ 10	\$ 2,574		
AA	22	1	103	-	-	126		
A	2	421	22	24	21	490		
BBB	-	461	117	728	165	1,471		
Below investment grade	2	1,519	623	2,804	3,488	8,436		
Total gross par	\$ 210	\$ 3,327 ⁽¹⁾	\$ 2,320 ⁽²⁾	\$ 3,556	\$ 3,684	\$ 13,097		

(1) - Includes international exposure of \$855 million.

(2) - Includes international exposure of \$13 million.

The following table presents the par outstanding by vintage year of MBIA Corp. s total second-lien residential mortgage loan securitizations insured exposure as of June 30, 2012. Amounts include the par outstanding related to transactions that the Company consolidates under accounting guidance for VIEs.

		Gross Par Outstanding						
x		% of Total	CEC	% of Total				
In millions	HELOC	HELOC	CES	CES				
2007	\$ 484	13%	\$ 2,416	65%				
2006	1,273	36%	1,172	32%				
2005	1,068	30%		0%				
2004	625	18%	65	2%				
2003 and prior	106	3%	31	1%				
Total gross par	\$ 3,556	100%	\$ 3,684	100%				

As of June 30, 2012, total gross par outstanding for HELOC and CES was \$3.6 billion and \$3.7 billion, respectively, compared with HELOC and CES gross par outstanding of \$4.0 billion and \$4.1 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2011.

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, we paid approximately \$168 million, net of reinsurance and collections, on insured second-lien RMBS transactions, or \$123 million after eliminating \$45 million of net payments made on behalf of consolidated VIEs. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, we paid approximately \$345 million, net of reinsurance and collections, on insured second-lien RMBS transactions, or \$252 million after eliminating \$93 million of net payments made on behalf of consolidated VIEs. Through June 30, 2012, we paid a cumulative total of \$6.3 billion, net of reinsurance and collections, or \$4.1 billion after eliminating \$2.2 billion of net payments on insured second-lien RMBS transactions that are currently consolidated as VIEs. As of June 30, 2012, we had loss and LAE reserves related to our remaining insured second-lien RMBS exposure of \$219 million before eliminating \$60 million of loss and LAE reserves related to our consolidated VIEs. The loss and LAE reserves represent the present value of the difference between cash payments we expect to make on the insured transactions and the cash receipts we expect from the performing mortgage loans in the securitizations. As payments are made, a portion of those expected future receipts is recorded within Insurance loss recoverable in our consolidated balance sheets. The payments that we make virtually all go to reduce the principal balances of the securitizations.

The following table provides information about second-lien RMBS transactions included in MBIA Corp. s insured portfolio for which it has made claim and LAE payments, net of collections, as of June 30, 2012 and for which it does not consolidate under accounting guidance for VIEs:

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Second-Lien RMBS Transactions with Claim Payments (Excluding Consolidated VIEs)

\$ in millions	Number of Issues	Original Par Insured	Gross Par Outstanding	Claim Payments and LAE Net of Collections Since Inception
HELOC	13	\$ 14,253	\$ 2,138	\$ 2,194
CES	9	8,198	2,270	2,043
Total	22	\$ 22,451	\$ 4,408	\$ 4,237
Total net of reinsurance				\$ 4,127

As of June 30, 2012, the par outstanding on insured second-lien RMBS transactions included in the preceding table was \$4.4 billion compared with \$4.9 billion as of December 31, 2011. As of June 30, 2012, we expect to pay an additional \$334 million (on a present value basis) on these transactions and expect to receive a total of \$948 million (on a present value basis) in reimbursement of past and future expected claims through excess spread in these transactions. Of our expected reimbursement from excess spread, \$773 million is included in Insurance loss recoverable and \$175 million is included in Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves. In addition, we expect to receive \$2.2 billion (on a present value basis) in respect of the sellers /servicers obligation to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans, which is included in Insurance loss recoverable.

Since September 2008, MBIA Corp. initiated litigation against multiple mortgage loan sellers/servicers alleging, among other things, that such sellers/servicers made material misrepresentations concerning the quality of loans made by these sellers/servicers, which were included in a number of MBIA Corp.-insured second-lien residential mortgage securitizations. In particular, complaints in these actions allege that a significant percentage of the defaulted loans in these securitizations were ineligible for inclusion and thus reflect breaches of the originators representations with respect to such loans. In addition, the complaints allege that the sellers/servicers have failed to honor their contractual obligations regarding loan repurchases and ongoing servicing practices. For more information on these and other lawsuits commenced by MBIA Corp., as well as information related to the May 14, 2012 bankruptcy filing by ResCap, refer to Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table provides information about second-lien RMBS transactions included in MBIA Corp. s insured portfolio for which it has made claim payments and LAE, net of collections, as of June 30, 2012 and for which it consolidates under accounting guidance for VIEs. As such, these payments are not reflected as insurance losses in our consolidated financial statements subsequent to consolidation. Of the \$2.3 billion of total payments before reinsurance, \$748 million was eliminated subsequent to consolidation. As of June 30, 2012, the Company has recorded actual or expected put-back recoveries for amounts paid on all second-lien RMBS transactions included in the following table:

Second-Lien RMBS Transactions with Claim Payments (Consolidated VIEs)

Number of Issues Original Par Insured Gross Par Outstanding Claim Payments and LAE Net of Collections Since

				Ince	ption
HELOC	6	\$ 3,657	\$ 1,050	\$	651
CES	7	5,068	1,360		1,600
Total	13	\$ 8,725	\$ 2,410	\$	2,251
Total net of reinsurance				\$	2,179

As of June 30, 2012, we expect to pay an additional \$135 million (on a present value basis) on these transactions and expect to receive a total of \$333 million (on a present value basis) in reimbursement of past and future expected claims through excess spread in these transactions. In addition, we expect to receive \$1.0 billion (on a present value basis) as of June 30, 2012 from the contractual obligation of the sellers/servicers to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans, which is reported in Loan repurchase commitments under Assets of consolidated variable interest entities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about assumptions used to estimate recoveries on our RMBS exposure.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Other

We may seek to purchase, from time to time, directly or indirectly, obligations guaranteed by MBIA or seek to commute policies. The amount of insurance exposure reduced, if any, and the nature of any such actions will depend on market conditions, pricing levels from time to time, and other considerations. In some cases, these activities may result in a reduction of expected loss reserves, but in all cases they are intended to limit our ultimate losses and reduce the future volatility in loss development on the related policies. Our ability to purchase guaranteed obligations and to commute policies will depend on management s assessment of available liquidity.

POLICY ACQUISITION COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES Structured finance and international insurance segment expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are presented in the following table:

	Three	e Months	Ended J	June 30,	Percent	Six I	Months E	Inded J	une 30,	Percent
In millions	2	012	2	011	Change	2	012	2	011	Change
Gross expenses	\$	30	\$	34	-12%	\$	88	\$	72	22%
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs Operating	\$	31 28	\$	40 32	-23% -13%	\$	57 85	\$	73 69	-22% 23%
Total insurance operating expenses	\$	59	\$	72	-18%	\$	142	\$	142	-

Gross expenses represent total insurance expenses before the deferral of any policy acquisition costs. Gross expenses decreased for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 due to a reduction in legal and litigation related costs. Gross expenses increased for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 due to a significant increase in legal and litigation related costs.

The decrease in the amortization of deferred acquisition costs for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same periods of 2011 principally reflects the acceleration of deferred costs into earnings in prior periods as policies were terminated. Operating expenses decreased for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 and increased for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 and increased for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 and increased for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 and increased for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same period of 2011 as a result of the changes in gross expenses. We did not defer a material amount of policy acquisition costs during 2012 or 2011. Policy acquisition costs in these periods were related to premium taxes and assessments on installment policies written in prior periods.

INSURED PORTFOLIO EXPOSURE The credit quality of our structured finance and international insured portfolio is assessed in the same manner as our U.S. public finance insured portfolio. As of June 30, 2012 and 2011, 24.2% and 27.6%, respectively, of our structured finance and international insured portfolio, was rated below investment grade, before giving effect to MBIA s guarantees, based on MBIA s internal ratings, which are more current than the underlying ratings provided by S&P and Moody s for this subset of our insured portfolio.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Structured Finance and International Insurance Selected Portfolio Exposures

The following is a summary of selected significant exposures within the insured portfolio of our structured finance and international insurance segment. The Company has large exposures to many of these sectors. Moreover, many of these sectors are and have been considered volatile over the past several years. As described below, considerable incurred losses and future expected payments are attributable to many of these sectors.

Collateralized Debt Obligations and Related Instruments

As part of our structured finance and international insurance activities, MBIA Corp. typically provided guarantees on senior and mezzanine tranches of CDOs, as well as protection on structured CMBS pools and corporate securities, and CDS referencing such securities. The following discussion, including reported amounts and percentages, includes insured CDO transactions consolidated by the Company as VIEs.

MBIA Corp. s \$53.8 billion CDO portfolio represented 46% of its total insured gross par outstanding of \$117.6 billion as of June 30, 2012. The distribution of the Company s insured CDO and related instruments portfolio by collateral type is presented in the following table:

In billions	Gro	oss Par
	Outs	tanding
	a	s of
Collateral Type	June	30, 2012
Multi-sector CDOs ⁽¹⁾	\$	4.6
Investment grade CDOs and structured corporate credit pools		25.2
High yield corporate CDOs		5.8
Commercial real estate pools and CRE CDOs		18.2
Total	\$	53.8

(1) - Includes one multi-sector CDO-squared transaction with gross par of \$116 million as of June 30, 2012.

Multi-Sector CDOs

Multi-sector CDOs are transactions that include a variety of structured finance asset classes in their collateral pools. The underlying collateral in MBIA Corp. s insured multi-sector CDO transactions, including one CDO-squared transaction, comprises RMBS, CDOs of ABS (multi-sector CDOs), corporate CDOs, collateralized loan obligations (CLOs), ABS (e.g., securitizations of auto receivables, credit cards, etc.), CRE CDOs, CMBS and corporate credits. Our insured multi-sector CDO transactions primarily rely on underlying collateral originally rated single-A or above (CDOs of high-grade U.S. ABS) and collateral originally rated triple-B (CDOs of mezzanine U.S. ABS).

Generally, we are subject to a claim on a multi-sector CDO when the insured tranche incurs an interest or principal shortfall. Such shortfalls result once the underlying securities collateralizing MBIA Corp. s insured tranche is fully eroded and the subordination below MBIA Corp. s insured tranche in the CDO transaction (Insured Tranche Subordination) is fully eroded. MBIA Corp. s payment obligation after a default generally insures current interest and ultimate principal.

Table of Contents

Total gross par exposure in our multi-sector CDO portfolio was \$37.3 billion as of December 31, 2007. Since the end of 2007 through June 30, 2012, our multi-sector CDO gross par exposure has decreased by approximately \$32.7 billion primarily from negotiated commutations of \$21.1 billion in gross par and contractual terminations without any payment from MBIA Corp. of \$5.4 billion in gross par. The remaining reduction was due to the amortization and maturity of transactions. As of June 30, 2012, our gross par exposure to multi-sector CDOs was \$4.6 billion and represented 9% of MBIA Corp. s CDO exposure and 4% of MBIA Corp. s total gross par insured.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents the collateral as a percent of the performing pool balances for all MBIA Corp.-insured multi- sector CDO transactions:

\$ in millions				Collater	al as a % o	of Performing Pool Balan Current Insured	,		NI-4
Year Insured	# of CDOs	Gross Par Outstanding	Other Collateral	RMBS	Total	Tranche Subordination Range Below MBIA	Original Insured Tranche Subordination Range Below MBIA	Deri A	Net ivative / Asset ability)
CDOs of High-Grade U.S. ABS									
2003	1	\$ 116 ⁽¹⁾	100%	0%	100%	36.6%	10.0%	\$	(13)
2004	1	79	100%	0%	100%	8.8%	10.0%		(1)
2005	1	712	31%	69%	100%	0.0%	20.0%		(147)
2006	2	428	3%	97%	100%	0.0%	14.0%		(159)
2007	1	1,100	100%	0%	100%	0.0%	13.0%		(363)
Subtotal	6	2,435							(683)
CDOs of Mezzanine U.S. ABS									
2002	6	429	62%	38%	100%	0.0-88.2%	13.8-28.1%		-
2003	3	477	57%	43%	100%	0.0-60.9%	21.5-29.8%		-
2004	3	306	44%	56%	100%	0.0%	25.0-30.5%		(21)
Subtotal	12	1,212							(21)
Total	18	3,647							(704)
		322	Multi-Sect	tor CDO Eur	opean Mez	zanine and Other Collatera	al (1 CDO)		(21)
		591				Secondary Market prior to			-
Grand Total		\$ 4,560						\$	(725)

(1) This transaction is multi-sector CDO squared.

Our multi-sector CDOs are classified into CDOs of high-grade U.S. ABS, including one CDO-squared transaction, and CDOs of mezzanine U.S. ABS. As of June 30, 2012, gross par outstanding on MBIA Corp.-insured CDOs of high-grade U.S. ABS totaled \$2.4 billion. Original Insured Tranche Subordination levels in these transactions ranged from 10.0% to 20.0% compared with current Insured Tranche Subordination levels of 0.0% to 36.6%. As of June 30, 2012, gross par outstanding on MBIA Corp.-insured CDOs of mezzanine U.S. ABS totaled \$1.2 billion. Original Insured Tranche Subordination levels in these transactions ranged from 13.8% to 30.5% compared with current Insured Tranche Subordination levels in these transactions ranged from 13.8% to 30.5% compared with current Insured Tranche Subordination levels in these transactions ranged from 13.8% to 30.5% compared with current Insured Tranche Subordination levels that range from 0.0% to 88.2%.

The significant erosion of Insured Tranche Subordination in our multi-sector CDO transactions principally resulted from the underperformance of RMBS and CDO collateral. As discussed above, the erosion of Insured Tranche Subordination in these transactions increases the likelihood that MBIA Corp. will pay claims. As of June 30, 2012, there were credit impairment estimates for 25 classified multi-sector CDO transactions for which MBIA Corp. expects to incur actual net claims in the future (15 of which are insured in the secondary market), representing 51% of all

MBIA Corp.-insured multi-sector CDO transactions (including both CDS and non-CDS contracts). Of the remaining transactions, 20% are on our Caution List and 29% continue to perform at or close to our original expectations. In the event of further performance deterioration of the collateral referenced or held in our multi-sector CDO transactions, the amount of credit impairments could increase materially.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

As of June 30, 2012, the ratings distribution of our insured multi-sector CDO transactions is presented in the following table. These ratings are intended to reflect the past and expected future performance of the underlying collateral within each transaction.

Insured Exposure Rating (1)	Original	Current
AAA	100%	0%
AA	0%	2%
A	0%	0%
BBB	0%	8%
Below investment grade	0%	90%
Total	100%	100%

(1) - All ratings are current. Ratings are derived using the most conservative rating among Moody s, S&P or internal ratings. *Investment Grade Corporate CDOs and Structured Corporate Credit Pools*

Our investment grade corporate CDO exposure references pools of predominantly investment grade corporate credits. Additionally, some of these pools may include limited exposure to other asset classes, including structured finance securities (such as RMBS and CDOs). Most of our investment grade corporate CDO policies guarantee coverage of losses on collateral assets once Insured Tranche Subordination in the form of a deductible has been eroded, and are generally highly customized structures. Our gross par exposure to investment grade corporate CDOs of \$25.2 billion represents 47% of MBIA Corp. s CDO exposure and 21% of MBIA Corp. s total gross par insured. The Company s insured investment grade corporate CDOs have experienced Insured Tranche Subordination erosion due to the default of underlying referenced corporate obligors, as well as certain structured finance securities, but we currently do not expect losses on MBIA Corp. s insured tranches. As of June 30, 2012, the collateral amount in the portfolio exceeds the gross par outstanding as a result of credit enhancement (such as over-collateralization and Insured Tranche Subordination).

Our gross par of insured investment grade corporate CDOs includes \$12.6 billion that was typically structured to include buckets (typically 30% to 35% of the overall CDO) of references to specific tranches of other investment grade corporate CDOs (monotranches). In such transactions, MBIA Corp. s insured investment grade corporate CDOs include, among direct corporate or structured credit reference risks, a monotranche or single layer of credit risk referencing a diverse pool of corporate assets or obligors with a specific attachment and a specific detachment point. The referenced monotranches in such CDOs were typically rated double-A and sized to approximately 3% of the overall reference risk pool. The inner referenced monotranches are not typically subject to acceleration and do not give control rights to a senior investor. The inner referenced Insured Tranche Subordination erosion due to the default of their referenced corporate assets.

The following table presents the collateral as a percent of the performing pool balances for all MBIA Corp.-insured investment grade corporate CDOs and structured corporate credit pool transactions:

\$ in millions						As of June 30, 2012		
						Current Insured	Original Insured	Net
						Tranche	Tranche	Derivative /
	# of	Gross Par	Corporate	Other		Subordination Range	Subordination Range	Asset
Year Insured	CDOs	Outstanding	Collateral	Collateral	Total	Below MBIA	Below MBIA	(Liability)

Table of Contents

2005	4	\$ 6,267	89%	11%	100%	11.0-24.4%	15.0-27.5%	\$ (350)
2006	4	6,713	94%	6%	100%	11.4-21.2%	16.0-25.0%	(395)
2007	10	12,235	98%	2%	100%	11.2-27.9%	15.0-30.0%	(307)
Subtotal	18	25,215 15	Investment 2003 (3 CE	1	orate CDOs in	sured in the Secondary M	larket prior to	(1,052)
Grand Total		\$ 25,230						\$ (1,052)

High Yield Corporate CDOs

Our high yield corporate CDO portfolio, totaling \$5.8 billion of gross par exposure, largely comprises middle-market/special- opportunity corporate loan transactions, broadly syndicated bank CLOs and older vintage corporate high yield bond CDOs. The CDOs in this category are diversified by both vintage and geography (with European and U.S. collateral). Our gross par exposure to high yield corporate CDOs represents 11% of MBIA Corp. s CDO exposure and 5% of MBIA Corp. s total gross par insured as of June 30, 2012.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

There have been some declines in Insured Tranche Subordination levels as a result of defaults in underlying collateral, as well as sales of underlying collateral at discounted prices. Insured Tranche Subordination for CDOs insured in earlier years have experienced, on average, more deterioration than those insured in later years. Insured Tranche Subordination within CDOs may decline over time as a result of collateral deterioration. The risk of lower Insured Tranche Subordination levels is typically offset by the amortization of outstanding insured debt and a decrease in the time to maturity. There are no significant losses on MBIA Corp. s insured high yield corporate CDO tranches at this time. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will not incur significant losses as a result of deterioration in Insured Tranche Subordination.

The following table presents the collateral as a percent of the performing pool balances for all MBIA Corp.-insured high yield corporate CDO transactions:

\$ in millions				As of Jun	e 30, 2012	
	# of	Gross Par	Corporate	Current Insured Tranche Subordination Range	Original Insured Tranche Subordination Range	Net Derivative / Asset
Year Insured	CDOs	Outstanding	Collateral	Below MBIA	Below MBIA	(Liability) ⁽¹⁾
2003	1	\$ 161	100%	15.0%	24.2%	\$-
2004	1	3,000	100%	42.5%	33.3%	-
2005	1	895	100%	27.0%	21.8%	-
2006	2	771	100%	35.1-87.6%	33.3-49.0%	-
2007	2	869	100%	28.7-29.4%	32.0-32.3%	-
Subtotal	7	5,696				-
			High Yield	Corporate CDO insured in	the Secondary	
		69	Market pri	or to 2003 (4 CDOs)		-
Grand Total		\$ 5,765				\$-

(1) - Net derivative amounts are immaterial due to the positive performance of the credit derivative transactions.

Commercial Real Estate Pools and CRE CDOs

As of June 30, 2012, we had \$18.2 billion of gross par exposure to the CRE sector through insured structured transactions primarily comprising CRE collateral. Our CRE portfolio can be largely sub-divided into two distinct categories: structured CMBS pools and CRE CDOs. In addition, MBIA Corp. insures approximately \$2.9 billion in CRE loan pools, primarily comprising European assets, some of which are subject to commutation agreements. These CRE loans are not included in the following Structured CMBS Pools and CRE CDOs sections.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company agreed to early settlements which totaled \$4.9 billion related to CRE exposure in all three categories of the CRE sector.

Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of credit impairments on our CRE pools and CDO exposure, including the methodology used to calculate these impairments.

Structured CMBS Pools

As of June 30, 2012, our gross par exposure to structured CMBS pools totaled \$15.7 billion and represented approximately 13.4% of MBIA Corp. s total gross par insured. Since the end of 2007 through June 30, 2012, our structured CMBS pools gross par exposure has decreased by approximately \$25.0 billion, primarily from negotiated commutations and early settlements. Our structured CMBS pool insured transactions are pools of CMBS bonds, Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) debt and other CRE CDOs structured with first loss deductibles such that MBIA Corp. s obligation attached at a minimum of a triple-A level when the policies were issued. The deductible sizing was a function of the underlying collateral ratings and certain structural attributes. MBIA Corp. s guarantees for most structured CMBS pool transactions cover losses on collateral assets once the deductibles have been eroded. These deductibles provide credit enhancement and subordination to MBIA s insured position.

1	1	n
1	I	U

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The collateral in the pools are generally CMBS bonds or CDSs referencing CMBS bonds (collectively, CMBS bonds). MBIA Corp. s guarantee generally is in the form of a CDS referencing the static pooled transactions. MBIA Corp. would have a payment obligation if the volume of CMBS bond defaults exceeds the deductible level in the transaction. Each pool comprising CMBS bonds is ultimately backed by the commercial mortgage loans securitized within each CMBS trust. The same CMBS bonds may be referenced in multiple pools. The Company s structured CMBS pools are static, meaning that the collateral pool of securitizations cannot be and has not been changed since the origination of the policy. Most transactions comprise similarly rated underlying tranches. The deductible for each transaction varies according to the ratings of the underlying collateral. For example, a transaction comprising originally BBB rated underlying CMBS bonds would typically include a 30-35% deductible to MBIA Corp. s position whereas a transaction comprising all originally AAA rated underlying CMBS bonds would typically require a 5-10% deductible

The following table presents the collateral as a percentage of the pool balances, as well as the current deductible, as of June 30, 2012 for all MBIA Corp.-insured structured CMBS pool transactions:

\$ in millions						As of June	30, 2012			
Year Insured	# of Pools	Gross Par Outstanding	CMBS	REIT Debt	Other	Total	Current Deductible	Original Deductible	Net Derivati / Asset (Liabilit	t
2003	1	\$ 99	69%	25%	6%	100%	39.4%	26.0%	\$	-
2006	5	1,717	96%	0%	4%	100%	10.1-45.2%	10.0-54.2%	(9	97)
2007	15	13,852	98%	0%	2%	100%	5.0-84.8%	5.0-82.3%	(1,28	32)
Subtotal	21	15,668 48	Structured	CMBS Pools	s insured in th	ne Secondary	Market prior to 20	005 (3 pools)	(1,37	79) -
Grand Total		\$ 15,716					·		\$ (1,37	79)

While on an aggregate basis the deductible levels in the above table show little erosion, certain policies reflected in the table have experienced significant deductible erosion. This significant deductible erosion was largely due to liquidations of underlying loan collateral in those transactions over the past two years. Several insured transactions reflected in the table, which together have an aggregate gross par outstanding of \$2.0 billion, include concentrations of repackaged CRE-related collateral (e.g., a CRE CDO or other re-securitization of CMBS) that, in many cases, had low original ratings. Given the low ratings of the repackaged CMBS collateral, many of the underlying repackaged securities are expected to have substantial or complete losses, which will cause erosion of the deductibles in those insured transactions, and are modeled as such by MBIA for purpose of assessing credit impairments.

In addition, we have experienced ratings erosion in the total CMBS collateral underlying our insured static pools. Whereas approximately 35.8% of the total CMBS collateral underlying the pools outstanding as of June 30, 2012 was originally rated BBB and below and approximately 47.4% was originally rated AAA, 59.2% of the total CMBS collateral underlying these pools as of June 30, 2012 was rated below investment grade. The higher risk of the collateral that was originally rated BBB and below was intended to be offset by the diversification in the collateral pool and the level of the deductible, whereas pools backed by all AAA collateral benefited from diversification and required smaller deductibles. In all cases, regardless of the underlying collateral rating, MBIA Corp. s insured position was rated AAA at origination of the transaction by at least Moody s, S&P or Fitch.

Currently, we insure eight static CMBS pools, having \$6.0 billion of gross par outstanding as of June 30, 2012, that were originally insured in 2006 and 2007, and in which substantially all of the underlying collateral comprised CMBS tranches originally rated BBB and lower. The remainder of the collateral in these eight pools consisted of higher rated CMBS bonds, REIT debt and other securities. The BBB and below rated

CMBS bonds underlying these eight pools had original credit enhancement levels that ranged from 0.0% to 9.0% with an original weighted average credit enhancement level of 3.1%, compared with credit enhancement levels that range from 0.0% to 87.3% with a weighted average credit enhancement level of 2.1% as of June 30, 2012. MBIA Corp. s original policy level deductibles for these eight insured pools ranged from 23.0% to 82.3% with an original weighted average deductible by gross par outstanding of 38.0%, compared with deductibles that range from 14.4% to 84.8% with a weighted average deductible by gross par outstanding of 30.6% as of June 30, 2012, most of MBIA Corp. s estimated credit impairments for our static CMBS pools relate to a subset of these eight pools.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents the vintage and original rating composition of the CMBS collateral in our static CMBS pools:

	CMBS Collateral Vintage						
	2004 and						
Original Rating	Prior	2005	2006	2007	Total		
AAA	7.8%	4.2%	22.2%	13.1%	47.3%		
AA	0.0%	0.0%	0.9%	3.1%	4.0%		
A	0.0%	2.3%	8.9%	1.6%	12.8%		
BBB	1.9%	4.7%	17.9%	5.1%	29.6%		
Below investment grade or not rated	2.6%	1.6%	0.9%	1.2%	6.3%		
Total	12.3%	12.8%	50.8%	24.1%	100.0%		

As of June 30, 2012, our structured CMBS pool portfolio comprised approximately 39,800 loans. The current weighted average debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) of underlying mortgage loans in the CMBS pools was 1.46 based on net operating income derived from the most recent property level financial statements. As of June 30, 2012, some properties still show signs of significant financial distress as evidenced by the fact that 16.6% of the properties have reported a DSCR less than 1.0. The majority of the loans are long-term and fixed-rate in nature. Approximately 25% of the loans will mature within the next three years. The weighted average DSCR of those loans was 1.63 based on the latest available financial statements. Approximately seven percent of the loans mature in the next twelve months and these loans have a weighted average DSCR of 1.67. The large shifts in the Company s structured CMBS pool portfolio due to early settlements reached over the past several months render comparison to previous periods less meaningful.

Delinquencies have increased markedly in the CRE market over the last three years given the economic climate and the shortage of financing. As of June 30, 2012, 30-day and over delinquencies increased in the fixed-rate conduit CMBS market to 8.9% and increased in MBIA Corp. s insured static pooled CMBS portfolio to 11.3%. The higher delinquency rate in MBIA Corp. s portfolio was primarily due to a concentration in the 2006 and early 2007 vintages. Additionally, the market includes newer vintage transactions from 2010 to 2012, which have virtually no delinquencies. Although we have also seen stabilization in the pace of increases in the delinquency rate over the past several months, some of the deceleration is attributable to the loan modifications and extensions granted by the special servicers for these CMBS loans as well as increased liquidations. The special servicers are responsible for managing loans that have defaulted and for conducting the remediation and foreclosure process with the objective of maximizing proceeds for all bondholders by avoiding or minimizing loan level losses.

Actual losses will be a function of the proportion of loans in the pools that are foreclosed and liquidated and the loss severities associated with those liquidations. If the deductibles in the Company s insured transactions and underlying referenced CMBS transactions are fully eroded, additional property level losses upon foreclosures and liquidations could result in substantial losses for MBIA. Ultimate loss rates remain uncertain and it is possible that we will experience severe losses or liquidity needs due to increased deterioration in our insured CMBS portfolio, in particular if macroeconomic stress escalates, there is a double dip recession, increased delinquencies, higher levels of liquidations of delinquent loans, and/or higher severities of loss upon liquidation. Although we still believe the likelihood of a double dip recession is low, we do consider the possibility in our estimates for future claims.

CRE CDOs

As of June 30, 2012, our gross par exposure to CRE CDOs totaled \$2.5 billion and represented approximately 2.1% of MBIA Corp. s total gross par insured. CRE CDOs are managed pools of CMBS, CRE whole loans, B-Notes, mezzanine loans, REIT debt, and other securities (including, in some instances, buckets for RMBS and CRE CDOs) that allow for reinvestment during a defined time period. Most of these transactions benefit from typical CDO structural features such as cash diversion triggers, collateral quality tests, and manager replacement provisions.

Table of Contents

Typically, MBIA Corp. guarantees timely interest and ultimate principal of these CDOs. As with our other insured CDOs, these transactions were generally structured with credit protection originally rated triple-A, or a multiple of triple-A, below our guarantee. As of June 30, 2012, our CRE CDO insured portfolio did not contain any CDOs of ABS exposures. Some of the CRE CDO transactions do contain some RMBS collateral, but overall this comprises 3% of the collateral in the CRE CDO portfolio.

Within our CRE CDO portfolio, we had one transaction with 2005, 2006, and 2007 vintage collateral totaling \$350 million of gross par outstanding as of June 30, 2012 in which substantially all of the collateral originally comprised BBB or BBB- rated tranches of CMBS. Although the transaction originally allowed for some manager flexibility, no underlying securities were ever traded, nor will they be going forward.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table presents the collateral as a percentage of the performing pool balances as of June 30, 2012 for all MBIA Corp.-insured CRE CDO transactions:

\$ in millions						As	of June 30,	2012		
Year Insured	# of CRE CDOs	Gross Par Outstanding	CMBS	Whole Loans	REIT Debt	Other	Total	Current Enhancement	Original Enhancement	Net Derivative / Asset (Liability)
2004	2	\$ 39	59%	0%	23%	18%	100%	19.0-38.3%	22.0-22.4%	\$ -
2005	1	69	87%	0%	2%	11%	100%	37.0%	22.7%	(1)
2006	7	592	28%	62%	2%	8%	100%	0.0-67.8%	24.0-50.0%	-
2007	7	1,753	68%	19%	2%	11%	100%	15.5-38.6%	20.0-50.0%	(107)
Total	17	\$ 2,453								\$ (108)

U.S. Public Finance and Structured Finance and International Reinsurance

Reinsurance enables the Company to cede exposure for purposes of syndicating risk and increasing its capacity to write new business while complying with its single risk and credit guidelines. When a reinsurer is downgraded by one or more of the rating agencies, less capital credit is given to MBIA under rating agency models and the overall value of the reinsurance to MBIA is reduced. The Company generally retains the right to reassume the business ceded to reinsurers under certain circumstances, including a reinsurer s rating downgrade below specified thresholds. The following table presents information about our reinsurance agreements as of June 30, 2012 for our U.S. public finance and structured finance and international insurance operations:

In millions

Reinsurers	Standard & Poor s Rating (Status)	Moody s Rating (Status)	Ceded Par Outstanding	Letters of Credit/Trust Accounts	Reinsurance Recoverable ⁽¹⁾
Assured Guaranty Corp.	AA-	Aa3	• • • • • • • •	A	• 14
Assured Guaranty Re Ltd.	(Stable Outlook)	(Ratings Under Review) A1	\$ 2,845	\$-	\$ 14
	AA- (Stable Outlook)	(Ratings Under Review)	530	5	-
Overseas Private	· · · · ·	Aaa			
Investment Corporation	AA+ (Negative Outlook)	(Negative Outlook)	330	-	-
Export Development	AAA	Aaa			
Canada	(Stable Outlook)	(Stable Outlook)	69	1	-
Others	A+ or above	A2 or above	74	1	-

(1) - Total reinsurance recoverable of \$14 million comprised of recoverables on unpaid losses.

MBIA requires certain unauthorized reinsurers to maintain bank letters of credit or establish trust accounts to cover liabilities ceded to such reinsurers under reinsurance contracts. As of June 30, 2012, the total amount available under these letters of credit and trust accounts was \$7 million. The Company remains liable on a primary basis for all reinsured risk, and although MBIA believes that its reinsurers remain capable of meeting their obligations, there can be no assurance of such in the future.

As of June 30, 2012, the aggregate amount of insured par outstanding ceded by MBIA to reinsurers under reinsurance agreements was \$3.8 billion compared with \$4.3 billion as of December 31, 2011. Of the \$3.8 billion of ceded par outstanding as of June 30, 2012, \$2.3 billion was ceded from our U.S. public finance insurance segment and \$1.5 billion was ceded from our structured finance and international insurance segment. Under National s reinsurance agreement with MBIA Corp., if a reinsurer of MBIA Corp. is unable to pay claims ceded by MBIA Corp. on U.S. public finance exposure, National will assume liability for such ceded claim payments. As of June 30, 2012, the total amount for which National would be liable in the event that the reinsurers of MBIA Corp. were unable to meet their obligations is \$2.3 billion. For Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (FGIC) policies assigned to National from MBIA Insurance Corporation, National maintains the right to receive third-party reinsurance totaling \$8.7 billion.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Advisory Services

Our asset management advisory business is conducted through Cutwater. Cutwater offers advisory services, including cash management, discretionary asset management and structured products on a fee-for-service basis. Cutwater offers these services to public, not-for-profit, corporate and financial services clients, including MBIA Inc. and its other subsidiaries.

The following table summarizes the results and assets under management of our advisory services segment for the three and six months ended months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. These results include revenues and expenses from transactions with the Company s insurance, corporate, and wind-down operations.

In millions	Th	ree Months 2012	Ende	ed June 30, 2011	Percent Change	Six	Months E 2012	nded	June 30, 2011	Percent Change
Fees	\$	16	\$	17	-6%	\$	29	\$	32	-9%
Operating expenses		16		20	-20%		33		36	-8%
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	-	\$	(3)	-100%	\$	(4)	\$	(4)	-
Ending assets under management:										
Third-party		18,628		25,340	-26%		18,628		25,340	-26%
Insurance and corporate		7,450		8,836	-16%		7,450		8,836	-16%
Asset/liability products and conduits		6,311		5,184	22%		6,311		5,184	22%
Total ending assets under management	\$	32,389	\$	39,360	-18%	\$	32,389	\$	39,360	-18%

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, the decrease in fees compared with the same periods of 2011 were primarily driven by declines in asset balances managed for third parties. This decrease was partially offset by a \$4 million performance fee received from our corporate segment for advisory-related services. In addition, operating expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 decreased when compared with the same periods of 2011, principally due to lower compensation costs.

Average third-party assets under management for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 were \$20.5 billion and \$25.8 billion, respectively. As of June 30, 2012, third-party ending assets under management were \$18.6 billion, a decrease of \$3.7 billion from December 31, 2011 and a decrease of \$6.7 billion from June 30, 2011. The decreases in third-party assets under management were principally due to declines in our pool products and CDO management.

Corporate

General corporate activities are conducted through our corporate segment. Our corporate operations primarily consist of holding company activities, including our service company, Optinuity Alliance Resources Corporation (Optinuity). Revenues and expenses for Optinuity are included in the results of our corporate segment. Optinuity provides support services such as management, legal, accounting, treasury, information technology, and insurance portfolio surveillance, among others, to our corporate segment and other operating businesses on a fee-for-service basis.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table summarizes the consolidated results of our corporate segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. These results include revenues and expenses that arise from general corporate activities and from providing support to our other segments.

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent Six Months Ended June 30,					Percent	
In millions	20	012	2	2011	Change	20	012	20)11	Change
Net investment income	\$	6	\$	(1)	n/m	\$	7	\$	-	n/m
Fees		56		23	143%		79		45	76%
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair										
value and foreign exchange		3		16	-81%		8		39	-79%
Other net realized gains (losses)		5		-	n/m		5		-	n/m
Total revenues		70		38	84%		99		84	18%
Operating		28		25	12%		52		50	4%
Interest		14		14	-		29		30	-3%
Total expenses		42		39	8%		81		80	1%
r					0,0				2.5	1,0
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	28	\$	(1)	n/m	\$	18	\$	4	n/m
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	28	\$	(1)	n/m	\$	18	\$	4	n/m

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

NET INVESTMENT INCOME The increase in net investment income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 compared with the same periods of 2011 were principally due to higher average asset balances and an increase in average yields on invested assets.

FEES Fees are generated from support services provided to business units within the Company on a fee-for-service basis. Fees for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 increased compared with the same periods of 2011 primarily due to a \$35 million fee paid by our conduit segment for administrative and other services. Such fees may vary significantly from period to period.

NET GAINS (LOSSES) ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange for the periods presented are primarily related to changes in the fair value of outstanding warrants issued on MBIA Inc. common stock. These changes were attributable to fluctuations in MBIA Inc. s stock price and volatility, which are used in the valuation of the warrants. In addition to the fluctuations in the value of the outstanding warrants issued on MBIA Inc. common stock, the six months ended June 30, 2012 was impacted by losses on the sale of investments.

OTHER NET REALIZED GAINS (LOSSES) Other net realized gains (losses) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 relate to insurance recoveries received from our directors and officers insurance policy. These insurance recoveries reimbursed the Company for a portion of the expenses incurred by the Company related to private securities litigation.

Wind-down Operations

We operate an asset/liability products business in which we historically issued debt and investment agreements insured by MBIA Corp. to capital markets and municipal investors. The proceeds of the debt and investment agreements were used initially to purchase assets that largely matched the duration of those liabilities. We also operate a conduit business in which we historically funded transactions by issuing debt insured by MBIA Corp. The rating downgrades of MBIA Corp. resulted in the termination and collateralization of certain derivatives and investment agreements and, together with the rising cost and declining availability of funding and liquidity within many of the asset classes in which proceeds were invested, caused the Company to begin winding down its asset/liability products and conduit businesses in 2008. Since the downgrades of MBIA Corp., we have not issued debt in connection with either business and, as a result, the outstanding liability balances and corresponding asset balances will continue to decline over time as liabilities mature, terminate or are repurchased by us.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Asset/Liability Products

The following table presents the results of our asset/liability products segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. These results include revenues and expenses from transactions with the Company s insurance and corporate operations.

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent Six Months Er			nded	June 30,	Percent	
In millions	2	2012		2011	Change		2012		2011	Change
Net investment income	\$	13	\$	23	-43%	\$	30	\$	47	-36%
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and										
foreign exchange		(57)		(133)	-57%		(130)		(216)	-40%
Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary										
impairments		(1)		(18)	-94%		(56)		(29)	93%
Net gains (losses) on extinguishment of debt		-		-	-		-		24	-100%
Other net realized gains (losses)		1		-	n/m		-		4	-100%
Revenues of consolidated VIEs:										
Net investment income		-		(3)	-100%		-		(7)	-100%
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and										
foreign exchange		-		2	-100%		-		12	-100%
Total revenues		(44)		(129)	-66%		(156)		(165)	-5%
							()			
Operating		5		3	67%		9		6	50%
Interest expense		27		34	-21%		56		67	-16%
				5.	2170		00		0,	1070
Total avpanses		32		37	-14%		65		73	-11%
Total expenses		32		57	-1470		05		15	-1170
	¢		¢	(1(())	5 4 61	¢	(221)	¢	(220)	70
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	(76)	\$	(166)	-54%	\$	(221)	\$	(238)	-7%

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

NET INVESTMENT INCOME The decreases in net investment income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 when compared with the same periods of 2011 were primarily due to lower average asset balances.

NET GAINS (LOSSES) ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE The favorable changes in net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value and foreign exchange for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, when compared with the same periods of 2011 were primarily due to gains from foreign exchange and net gains from fair valuing financial instruments primarily due to a widening of MBIA s credit spreads, partially offset by realized losses from sales of investments.

NET INVESTMENT LOSSES RELATED TO OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENTS The Company has an ongoing review process for all securities in assessing whether a decline in value is related to a credit loss. The Company utilizes cash flow modeling for purposes of assessing other-than-temporary impairments. Net investment losses related to other-than-temporary impairments occur when we impair certain securities to their fair value, as we intended to sell these securities before a recovery of their value to amortized cost. Refer to the Liquidity

Table of Contents

section included herein for additional information about impaired investments.

NET GAINS (LOSSES) ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT For the six months ended June 30, 2011, net gains (losses) on extinguishment of debt included gains from the repurchases of medium-term notes (MTNs) issued by the Company.

INTEREST EXPENSE The decreases in interest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 when compared with the same periods of 2011 were primarily due to the continued maturity and repurchases of liabilities by the Company.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

BOOK VALUE As of June 30, 2012, our asset/liability products segment had a deficit of total assets to total liabilities of \$412 million compared with a deficit of \$725 million as of December 31, 2011. Assets primarily comprising cash and investments at market value and tax receivables totaled \$2.4 billion and \$3.8 billion as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. Investments comprised securities with an average credit quality rating of Aa3. Liabilities primarily comprising principal and accrued interest outstanding on investment agreements and MTN obligations, securities sold under agreements to repurchase, a loan from an affiliate and derivative liabilities totaled \$2.8 billion and \$4.5 billion as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. The decrease in total liabilities primarily resulted from scheduled amortizations of debt.

In addition to our asset/liability products segment s GAAP book value deficit, we also analyze the segment s adjusted book value deficit (ALM Adjusted BV Deficit), a non-GAAP measure. We consider ALM Adjusted BV Deficit a measure of the amount by which liabilities expected to be cash settled exceed assets expected to be cash settled as of the balance sheet date on an amortized cost basis. This deficit represents a potential cash short-fall upon the extinguishment of the selected liabilities as of the balance sheet date without regard to the timing of cash flows. As such, it does not reflect future operating income or losses, particularly those that may be generated from selling assets above or below their amortized costs and from repurchasing debt at discounts. The ALM Adjusted BV Deficit is based on assets and liabilities included in our asset/liability products segment s GAAP balance sheet, but does not include all balances required by GAAP. The Company believes this measure is useful in analyzing liquidity risk, in conjunction with other measures, within our asset/liability products segment.

As of June 30, 2012, ALM Adjusted BV Deficit was \$802 million compared with \$591 million as of December 31, 2011. The increase in ALM Adjusted BV Deficit was driven primarily by losses from sales of investments and other-than-temporary impairments of assets and a negative spread of investment income to interest expense. We expect ALM Adjusted BV Deficit to continue to increase as a result of on-going expected operating losses. Our ability to resolve this deficit will depend on our ability to successfully implement our strategies. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in implementing our strategies or that such strategies will provide adequate liquidity to meet all payment obligations. Refer to the Liquidity section included herein for a discussion about the liquidity position of MBIA Inc. as it relates to the asset/liability products segment.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of our asset/liability products segment s GAAP book value deficit to ALM Adjusted BV Deficit:

In millions	As of June 30, 2012		Decen	As of 1ber 31, 2011
Asset/liability products segment s GAAP book value	\$	(412)	\$	(725)
Additions to GAAP book value:				
Intersegment payable		-		223(1)
Subtractions from GAAP book value:				
Net unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments		324		588
Deferred income tax benefit		(714)		(677)
Total adjustments		(390)		134
-				
ALM Adjusted BV Deficit	\$	(802)	\$	(591)

(1) - Represents amounts owed by the asset/liability products activities of MBIA Inc. to the corporate activities of MBIA Inc., which the Company deems as contributed capital to the asset/liability products activities for purposes of calculating the ALM Adjusted BV Deficit since the payable and corresponding receivable are to and from the same legal entity.

Conduits

The following table presents the results of our conduit segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. These results include revenues and expenses from transactions with the Company s insurance and corporate operations.

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Percent	Six Months Ended June 30,				Percent	
In millions	20	012	20	11	Change	20)12	20)11	Change
Revenues of consolidated VIEs:										
Net investment income	\$	2	\$	3	-33%	\$	5	\$	8	-38%
Net gains (losses) on extinguishment of debt		33		-	n/m		33		-	n/m
Total revenues		35		3	n/m		38		8	n/m
Expenses of consolidated VIEs:										
Operating		35		1	n/m		35		2	n/m
Interest		3		3	-		8		8	-
Total expenses		38		4	n/m		43		10	n/m

Edgar Filing: MBIA INC - Form 10-Q										
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	(3)	\$	(1)	n/m	\$	(5)	\$	(2)	n/m

n/m - Percent change not meaningful.

Our conduit segment is principally operated through Meridian. Certain of MBIA s consolidated subsidiaries have invested in our conduit debt obligations or have received compensation for services provided to our conduits.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, total revenues increased compared with the same periods of 2011 as a result of net gains on the extinguishment of debt within Meridian, and total expenses increased compared with the same periods of 2011 as a result of a fee paid to our corporate segment for administrative and other services.

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, our conduit segment s investments (including cash) totaled \$766 million and \$1.5 billion, respectively, and our conduit segment s debt obligations totaled \$757 million and \$1.5 billion, respectively.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Taxes

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company s income taxes and the related effective tax rates for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are presented in the following table:

	Thr	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June		
In millions		2012		2011	2	012		2011
Pre-tax income (loss)	\$	795	\$	(147)	\$	816	\$	(1,910)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	\$	214	\$	(284)	\$	225	\$	(772)
Effective tax rate		26.9%		193.2%	,	27.6%		40.4%

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company s effective tax rate applied to its pre-tax income was lower than the U.S. statutory tax rate of 35% primarily due to a decrease in the Company s valuation allowance.

For the six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company s effective tax rate applied to its pre-tax loss was higher than the U.S. statutory tax rate of 35% resulting from the benefit of the reversal of a portion of our valuation allowance, tax-exempt interest income from investments, and income earned in non-U.S. jurisdictions.

Refer to Note 10: Income Taxes in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of income taxes, including the Company s valuation allowance against deferred tax assets and its accounting for tax uncertainties.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company manages its capital resources to minimize its cost of capital while maintaining appropriate claims-paying resources (CPR) for National and MBIA Corp. The Company s capital resources consist of total shareholders equity, total debt issued by MBIA Inc. for general corporate purposes, and surplus notes issued by MBIA Insurance Corporation. Total capital resources were \$4.3 billion and \$3.5 billion as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. MBIA Inc. utilizes its capital resources to support the business activities of its subsidiaries. As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Inc. s investments in subsidiaries totaled \$4.0 billion.

Insurance Statutory Capital

National and MBIA Insurance Corporation are incorporated and licensed in, and are subject to primary insurance regulation and supervision by, the State of New York. National and MBIA Insurance Corporation each are required to file detailed annual financial statements, as well as interim financial statements, with the NYSDFS and similar supervisory agencies in each of the other jurisdictions in which it is licensed. These financial statements are prepared in accordance with New York State and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners statements of U.S. STAT and assist our regulators in evaluating minimum standards of solvency, including minimum capital requirements, and business conduct. U.S. STAT differs from GAAP in a number of ways. Refer to the statutory accounting practices note to consolidated financial statements of National and MBIA Corp. within exhibits 99.2 and 99.3, respectively, of MBIA Inc. s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for an explanation of the differences between U.S. STAT and GAAP.

National

Capital and Surplus

National reported total statutory capital of \$3.0 billion as of June 30, 2012 compared with \$2.8 billion as of December 31, 2011. As of June 30, 2012, statutory capital comprised \$1.3 billion of contingency reserves and \$1.7 billion of policyholders surplus. The increase in National s statutory capital is primarily due to statutory net income of \$143 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012. Consistent with our plan to transform our insurance business, the Company received approval from the NYSDFS to reset National s unassigned surplus to zero, which was effective January 1, 2010. As of June 30, 2012, National s unassigned surplus was \$1.1 billion. In October 2010, the plaintiffs in the litigation challenging the establishment of National initiated a court proceeding challenging the approval of the surplus reset. Refer to Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of this action.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

In order to maintain its New York State financial guarantee insurance license, National is required to maintain a minimum of \$65 million of policyholders surplus. National is also required to maintain contingency reserves to provide protection to policyholders in the event of extreme losses in adverse economic events. Refer to the following MBIA Insurance Corporation Capital and Surplus section for additional information about contingency reserves under the New York Insurance Law (NYIL). National s policyholders surplus was \$1.7 billion as of June 30, 2012. National s policyholders surplus will grow over time from the recognition of unearned premiums and investment income and the expected release of the contingency reserves. Conversely, incurred losses would reduce policyholders surplus.

NYIL regulates the payment of dividends by financial guarantee insurance companies and provides that such companies may not declare or distribute dividends except out of statutory earned surplus. Under NYIL, the sum of (i) the amount of dividends declared or distributed during the preceding 12-month period and (ii) the dividend to be declared may not exceed the lesser of (a) 10% of policyholders surplus, as reported in the latest statutory financial statements (b) 100% of adjusted net investment income for such 12-month period (the net investment income for such 12-month period plus the excess, if any, of net investment income over dividends declared or distributed during the two-year period preceding such 12-month period), unless the Superintendent of the NYSDFS approves a greater dividend distribution based upon a finding that the insurer will retain sufficient surplus to support its obligations.

National is subject to NYIL with respect to the payment of dividends as described above. National had a positive earned surplus as of June 30, 2012, which provides National with dividend capacity. National did not declare or pay any dividends during the first six months of 2012. In connection with the court proceeding challenging the approval of the National surplus reset described above, we agreed that National will not pay dividends during the current adjournment of the proceeding (i.e., through August 20, 2012). In addition, in connection with the approval of a release of excessive contingency reserves as of December 31, 2011 in MBIA Insurance Corporation, the Company has agreed that National will not pay dividends without the prior approval of the NYSDFS prior to July 19, 2013.

National s statutory policyholders surplus was lower than its GAAP shareholder s equity by \$2.0 billion as of June 30, 2012. U.S. STAT differs from GAAP in certain respects. Refer to Note 12: Statutory Accounting Practices in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of National within exhibit 99.2 of MBIA Inc. s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for an explanation of the differences between U.S. STAT and GAAP.

Claims-Paying Resources (Statutory Basis)

CPR is a key measure of the resources available to National to pay claims under its insurance policies. CPR consists of total financial resources and reserves calculated on a statutory basis. CPR has been a common measure used by financial guarantee insurance companies to report and compare resources and continues to be used by MBIA s management to evaluate changes in such resources. We have provided CPR to allow investors and analysts to evaluate National using the same measure that MBIA s management uses to evaluate National s resources to pay claims under its insurance policies. There is no directly comparable GAAP measure. Our calculation of CPR may differ from the calculation of CPR reported by other companies.

National s CPR and components thereto, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are presented in the following table:

In millions	As of June 30, 2012	As of December 31, 2011
Policyholders surplus	\$ 1,643	\$ 1,424
Contingency reserves	1,329	1,385

Statutory capital	2,972	2,809
Unearned premium reserve	2,284	2,485
Present value of installment premiums ⁽¹⁾	230	239
Premium resources ⁽²⁾	2,514	2,724
Net loss and LAE reserves ⁽¹⁾	(14)	(3)
Salvage reserves	183	161
Gross loss and LAE reserve	169	158
Total claims-paying resources	\$ 5,655 \$	5,691
		<i>,</i>

(1) - Calculated using a discount rate of 4.77% as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

 $\left(2\right)$ - Includes financial guarantee and insured credit derivative related premiums.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

National s total CPR as of June 30, 2012 of \$5.7 billion remained flat compared with December 31, 2011, as net income and an increase in salvage reserves were offset by decreases in unearned premiums.

MBIA Insurance Corporation

Capital and Surplus

MBIA Insurance Corporation reported total statutory capital of \$1.7 billion as of June 30, 2012 compared with \$2.3 billion as of December 31, 2011. As of June 30, 2012, statutory capital comprised \$464 million of contingency reserves and \$1.2 billion of policyholders surplus. For the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation had a statutory net loss of \$660 million, primarily due to losses and LAE incurred and interest expense recorded on its surplus notes as well as the National Secured Loan partially offset by net premiums earned. MBIA Insurance Corporation s policyholders surplus as of June 30, 2012 includes a negative unassigned surplus of \$786 million.

As of June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation recognized estimated recoveries of \$2.1 billion, net of reinsurance and income taxes at a rate of 35%, on a statutory basis related to put-backs of ineligible mortgage loans in its insured transactions. These expected insurance recoveries represented 125% of MBIA Insurance Corporation s statutory capital (defined as policyholders surplus plus contingency reserves) as of June 30, 2012. There can be no assurance that we will be successful or that we will not be delayed in realizing these recoveries. Refer to Executive Overview Economic and Financial Market Trends and MBIA s Business Outlook included herein for factors that may influence MBIA Corp. s ability to realize these recoveries.

In order to maintain its New York State financial guarantee insurance license, MBIA Insurance Corporation is required to maintain a minimum of \$65 million of policyholders surplus. MBIA Insurance Corporation s policyholders surplus was \$1.2 billion as of June 30, 2012. MBIA Insurance Corporation s policyholders surplus is expected to grow over time from the recognition of unearned premiums and investment income and the expected release of the contingency reserves. In addition, MBIA Insurance Corporation s policyholders surplus could be enhanced by the settlement, commutation or repurchase of insured transactions at prices less than its statutory loss reserves for such transactions. Conversely, incurred losses or an inability to collect on our ineligible mortgage loan put-back claims would reduce policyholders surplus.

Under NYIL, MBIA Insurance Corporation is also required to establish a contingency reserve to provide protection to policyholders in the event of extreme losses in adverse economic events. The amount of the reserve is based on the percentage of principal insured or premiums earned, depending on the type of obligation (net of collateral, reinsurance, refunding, refinancings and certain insured securities). Under NYIL, MBIA Insurance Corporation is required to invest its minimum surplus and contingency reserves, and 50% of its loss reserves and uncerned premium reserves, in certain qualifying assets. Reductions in the contingency reserve may be recognized based on excessive reserves and under certain stipulated conditions, subject to the approval of the Superintendent of the NYSDFS. Pursuant to approval granted by the NYSDFS in accordance with NYIL, as of March 31, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation released to surplus an aggregate of \$196 million of excessive contingency reserves. Absent this release, MBIA Insurance Corporation would have had a short-fall of \$196 million of qualifying assets used to meet its requirement as of March 31, 2012 as a result of its use of cash to pay claims and to effect commutations, and as a result of the failure of certain mortgage originators to honor contractual obligations to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from securitizations MBIA Corp. had insured. Including the above release, pursuant to approvals granted by the NYSDFS in accordance with NYIL, MBIA Insurance Corporation released to surplus an aggregate of \$1.1 billion of excessive contingency reserves during 2011 and 2012.

In connection with MBIA Corp. obtaining approval from the NYSDFS to release excessive contingency reserves as discussed above, MBIA Corp. agreed that it would not pay any dividends without prior approval from the NYSDFS. Due to its significant negative earned surplus, MBIA Corp. has not had the statutory capacity to pay dividends since December 31, 2009 and is not expected to have any statutory capacity to pay any dividends in the near term. In addition, as noted above, in connection with the approval of the December 31, 2011 contingency reserve release, National agreed that it would not pay any dividends without prior approval from the NYSDFS until July 19, 2013.

MBIA Insurance Corporation s statutory policyholders surplus is higher than its GAAP shareholders equity by \$1.1 billion as of June 30, 2012. U.S. STAT differs from GAAP in certain respects. Refer to Note 15: Statutory Accounting Practices in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements of MBIA Corp. within exhibit 99.3 of MBIA Inc. s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for an explanation of the differences between U.S. STAT and GAAP.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

Claims-Paying Resources (Statutory Basis)

CPR is a key measure of the resources available to MBIA Insurance Corporation to pay claims under its insurance policies. CPR consists of total financial resources and reserves calculated on a statutory basis. CPR has been a common measure used by financial guarantee insurance companies to report and compare resources, and continues to be used by MBIA s management to evaluate changes in such resources. We have provided CPR to allow investors and analysts to evaluate MBIA Insurance Corporation, using the same measure that MBIA s management uses to evaluate MBIA Insurance Corporation s resources to pay claims under its insurance policies. There is no directly comparable GAAP measure. Our calculation of CPR may differ from the calculation of CPR reported by other companies.

MBIA Insurance Corporation s CPR and components thereto, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are presented in the following table:

In millions	June 30, 2012	ecember 31, 2011
Policyholders surplus	\$ 1,239	\$ 1,597
Contingency reserves	464	706
Statutory capital	1,703	2,303
Unearned premium reserve	594	607
Present value of installment premiums ⁽¹⁾	1,085	1,226
Premium resources ⁽²⁾	1,679	1,833
Net loss and LAE reserves ⁽¹⁾	(2,474)	(2,266)
Salvage reserves ⁽³⁾	4,320	4,249
Gross loss and LAE reserve	1,846	1,983
Total claims-paying resources	\$ 5,228	\$ 6,119

(1) - Calculated using a discount rate of 5.59% as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

(2) - Includes financial guarantee and insured credit derivative related premiums.

(3) - This amount primarily consists of expected recoveries related to the Company s put-back claims.

MBIA Insurance Corporation s total CPR as of June 30, 2012 was \$5.2 billion compared with \$6.1 billion as of December 31, 2011. The decrease in CPR is primarily due to loss payments associated with insured RMBS securitizations.

LIQUIDITY

As a financial services company, MBIA has been materially adversely affected by conditions in global financial markets. Current conditions and events in these markets, in addition to the failure by the originators of RMBS to repurchase the ineligible mortgage loans in securitizations that we had insured, have put substantial stress on our liquidity resources.

We have utilized a liquidity risk management framework, the primary objectives of which are to monitor liquidity positions and projections in our legal entities and guide the matching of liquidity resources to needs. We monitor our cash and liquid asset resources using stress-scenario

testing. Members of MBIA s senior management meet regularly to review liquidity metrics, discuss contingency plans and establish target liquidity cushions on an enterprise-wide basis. As part of our liquidity risk management framework, we evaluate and manage liquidity on a legal-entity basis to take into account the legal, regulatory and other limitations on available liquidity resources within the enterprise.

The majority of our liquidity management efforts focus on:

The liquidity resources of MBIA Inc., which are subject to: uncertainty in the timing and amount of cash inflows from dividends paid by National and MBIA Corp.; the necessity of having to support the liquidity needs of the asset/liability products business; and potential cross-defaults of holding company debt with other obligations in the consolidated group. The asset/liability products business of MBIA Inc. is subject to ongoing negative cash flow and has a deficit of invested assets to liabilities. In addition, the liquidity resources of MBIA Inc. are subject to collateralization requirements in connection with the liabilities it has issued to third parties and affiliates and in connection with third-party derivative contracts;

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

The liquidity resources of MBIA Corp. which are subject to: payments on insured exposures that in some cases may be large bullet payments; an increased likelihood that MBIA Corp. will experience claims on its CMBS exposures, primarily in those exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch, due to the deterioration in such exposures; payments to counterparties in consideration for the commutation of insured transactions; and delays in the collection of contract claim recoveries related to ineligible mortgage loans in certain insured transactions. MBIA Corp. is currently subject to negative cash flow as a result of these payments and delays in collecting recoveries; and

The liquidity resources of National, for which we have not observed material liquidity risk to date, but which are exposed to unexpected loss payments on its insured transactions and potential negative cash flow, and liquidity support arrangements with its affiliates.

In order to address these liquidity risks and efficiently manage liquidity across the entire enterprise, certain of our subsidiaries which are less liquidity constrained have entered into intercompany agreements that provide resources to subsidiaries that are more liquidity constrained. These resources include intercompany agreements described further below between our primary insurance subsidiaries and between these insurance subsidiaries and the asset/liability products business (through MBIA Inc.), which in each case were approved by the NYSDFS and are subject to ongoing monitoring by the NYSDFS.

Key Intercompany Lending Agreements

National Secured Loan

National provided the National Secured Loan to MBIA Insurance Corporation in order to enable MBIA Insurance Corporation to fund settlements and commutations of its insurance policies. This loan was approved by the NYSDFS as well as by the boards of directors of MBIA Inc., MBIA Insurance Corporation and National. The National Secured Loan has a fixed annual interest rate of 7% and a maturity date of December 2016. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding principal amount under this loan was \$1.6 billion. MBIA Insurance Corporation has the option to defer payments of interest when due by capitalizing interest amounts to the loan balance, subject to the collateral value exceeding certain thresholds. MBIA Insurance Corporation has elected to defer the interest payments due under the loan. MBIA Insurance Corporation s obligation to repay the loan is secured by a pledge of collateral having an estimated value in excess of the notional amount of the loan as of June 30, 2012, which collateral comprised the following future receivables of MBIA Corp.: (i) its right to receive put-back recoveries related to ineligible mortgage loans included in its insured second-lien RMBS transactions; (ii) future recoveries on defaulted insured second-lien RMBS transactions resulting from expected excess spread generated by performing loans in such transactions; and (iii) future installment premiums. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Insurance Corporation borrowed an additional \$443 million under the National Secured Loan with the approval of the NYSDFS at the same terms as the original loan to fund additional commutations of its insurance policies. MBIA Insurance Corporation may seek to borrow additional amounts under the loan in the future. Any such increase or other amendment to the terms of the loan would be subject to regulatory approval by the NYSDFS.

Asset Swap

National maintains the Asset Swap (simultaneous repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements) with MBIA Inc. for up to \$2.0 billion based on the fair value of securities borrowed. The Asset Swap provides MBIA Inc. with eligible assets to pledge under investment agreement and derivative contracts in the asset/liability products business. As of June 30, 2012, the notional amount utilized under each of these agreements was \$620 million and the fair value of collateral pledged by National and MBIA Inc. under these agreements was \$642 million and \$659 million, respectively. The net average interest rate on these transactions was 0.39% and 0.44% for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The NYSDFS approved the Asset Swap in connection with the re-domestication of National to New York. National has committed to the NYSDFS to use commercially reasonable efforts to reduce the amount of the Asset Swap over time.

MBIA Corp. Secured Loan

MBIA Corp., as lender, maintains a master repurchase agreement, the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan, with MBIA Inc. for the benefit of MBIA Inc. s asset/liability products business, which totaled \$2.0 billion at inception and was scheduled to mature in May 2012, as amended. The average interest rate on the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan was 2.51% for the six months ended June 30, 2012. As of June 30, 2012, the amount outstanding under the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan was repaid in full. In May 2012, the NYSDFS approved the maturity extension of the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan to May 2013 with a maximum outstanding amount of \$450 million, subject to MBIA Corp. obtaining prior approval from the NYSDFS for any draws under the facility.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

Conduit Repurchase Agreement

MBIA Inc. maintains a repurchase agreement with Meridian (Conduit Repurchase Agreement), under which a \$1.0 billion notional amount may be utilized, subject to a pledge of collateral. The Conduit Repurchase Agreement had an average interest rate during the six months ended June 30, 2012 of 2.50%. As of June 30, 2012, the notional amount utilized by MBIA Inc. under this agreement and the fair value of the collateral pledged by MBIA Inc. were \$53 million and \$64 million, respectively.

MBIA Inc. Liquidity

MBIA Inc. s liquidity resources support our corporate and asset/liability products segments. The activities of MBIA Inc. consist of holding and managing investments, servicing outstanding corporate debt instruments, investment agreements and MTNs issued by the asset/liability products and conduit segments, posting collateral under financing and hedging arrangements and investment agreements, making payments and collateral postings related to interest rate and foreign exchange swaps, and paying operating expenses. The primary sources of cash within MBIA Inc. used to meet its liquidity needs include available cash and liquid assets not subject to collateral posting requirements, scheduled principal and interest on assets held in its investment portfolio, dividends from subsidiaries, payments under tax sharing agreements with these subsidiaries (once the payments become unrestricted) and the ability to issue debt and equity. There can be no assurance as to the amount and timing of any such dividends or payments under the tax sharing agreements. MBIA Inc. s corporate debt, investment agreements, MTNs, and derivatives may be accelerated by the holders of such instruments upon the occurrence of certain events, such as a breach of covenant or representation, a bankruptcy of MBIA Inc. or the filing of an insolvency proceeding with respect to MBIA Corp. MBIA Inc. s obligations under its loans from GFL may be accelerated only upon the occurrence of a bankruptcy or liquidation of MBIA Inc. Refer to Note 11: Business Segments in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the GFL loans. In the event of any acceleration of our obligations, including under our corporate debt, investment agreements, MTNs, or derivatives, we likely would not have sufficient liquid resources to pay amounts due with respect to our corporate debt and other obligations that are not already collateralized.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, National settled with MBIA Inc. its taxes related to the 2010 and 2011 tax years of \$1 million and \$11 million, respectively. In addition, National paid to MBIA Inc. estimated 2012 taxes of \$44 million. Consistent with the tax sharing agreement, these amounts were placed in an escrow account until the expiration of National s two-year net operating loss (NOL) carry-back period under U.S. tax rules. At the expiration of National s carry-back period, any funds remaining after any reimbursement to National in respect of any NOL carry-backs would be available for general corporate purposes, including to satisfy any other obligations under the tax sharing agreement. As of June 30, 2012, \$314 million remained in escrow for the 2010 through 2012 tax years.

MBIA Inc. is subject to material liquidity risks and uncertainty. To mitigate these risks, we seek to maintain cash and liquid investments in excess of our expected cash requirements over a multi-year period. We seek to maintain cash and liquidity resources that we believe will be sufficient to make all payments due on our obligations and to meet other financial requirements, such as posting collateral, at least through the next twelve months.

Liquidity risk within MBIA Inc. is primarily a result of the following factors:

Currently, the majority of the assets of MBIA Inc. are pledged against investment agreement liabilities, intercompany and third-party financing arrangements and derivatives, which limit its ability to raise liquidity through asset sales. In addition, if the market value or rating eligibility of the assets which are pledged against these obligations were to decline, we would be required to pledge additional eligible assets in order to meet minimum required collateral amounts against these liabilities. In such event, we may sell additional assets, potentially with substantial losses, finance unencumbered assets through intercompany or third-party facilities, or use free cash or other assets, in some cases with NYSDFS approval, although there can be no assurance that these strategies will be available or adequate to meet liquidity requirements.

The ALM Adjusted BV Deficit was \$802 million as of June 30, 2012, which increased from \$591 million as of December 31, 2011. This deficit is a result of selling investments at losses, and may further increase as a result of selling investments and terminating interest rates swaps at losses in the future. In addition, this deficit is expected to increase as a result of on-going expected operating losses. This deficit will need to be reversed prior to the maturity of the liabilities in order to ensure that there are sufficient funds available to fully retire the liabilities. We expect that MBIA Inc. will be able to eliminate the deficit prior to the maturity of the related liabilities from distributions from its operating subsidiaries and by raising third-party capital, although there can be no assurance that MBIA Inc. will be able to eliminate the deficit through such means.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

Because the majority of MBIA Inc. s assets are pledged against the obligations described above, the widening of credit spreads would have an adverse impact on the market value of these assets and increase collateralization requirements for the portfolio. The following table presents the estimated pre-tax change in fair value of the asset/liability products business assets as of June 30, 2012 from instantaneous shifts in credit spread curves. This table assumes that all credit spreads move by the same amount; however, it is more likely that the actual changes in credit spreads will vary by investment sector and individual security. The table presents hypothetical increases and decreases in credit spreads of 50 and 200 basis points. Because downward movements of these amounts in some cases would result in negative spreads, a floor was assumed for minimum spreads.

Change in Credit Spreads (Asset/Liability Products Business)

Estimated change in fair value \$ 174 \$ 54 \$ (49) \$ (173	In millions	200 Basis Point Decrease	50 Basis Po Decrease		Basis Point Increase	 asis Point crease
	Estimated change in fair value	\$ 174	\$ 5	54 \$	(49)	\$ (173)

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, MBIA Inc. maintained three intercompany financing facilities to provide it with additional resources to meet its liquidity requirements within the asset/liability products business: the Asset Swap, the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan and the Conduit Repurchase Agreement. Refer to the preceding Key Intercompany Lending Agreements section for a description of these facilities.

We believe that asset sales undertaken during the first six months of 2012 have reduced volatility in MBIA Inc. s portfolio in the event of stressed market conditions. However, stressed credit market conditions for the remainder of 2012 could cause MBIA Inc. to have insufficient resources to cover collateral and/or other liquidity requirements. Management has identified certain actions to mitigate this risk. These contingent actions include: (1) additional sales of invested assets exposed to credit spread stress risk, which may occur at losses and increase the deficit of invested assets to liabilities; (2) termination and settlement of interest rate swap agreements; and (3) other available advances from subsidiaries. These actions, if taken, are expected to result in either additional liquidity or reduced exposure to adverse credit spread movements. There can be no assurance that these actions will be sufficient to fully mitigate this risk. In the event that we cannot implement the contingent actions identified above to raise liquidity, or eliminate the deficit, we may have insufficient assets to make all payments on our obligations as they come due, which could result in a default by MBIA Inc. on its obligations and the potential for MBIA Corp., as guarantor of the investment agreements and GFL MTNs, to be called upon to satisfy obligations on those instruments as they come due.

As of June 30, 2012, the liquidity position of MBIA Inc., which consists of the liquidity positions of its corporate and asset/liability products activities, was \$336 million and comprised cash and liquid assets of \$290 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. As of December 31, 2011, MBIA Inc. had \$386 million of cash and liquid assets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$46 million of cash and liquid assets comprising \$226 million available for general corporate liquidity purposes, excluding the amounts held in escrow under its tax sharing agreement, and \$160 million not pledged directly as collateral for its asset/liability products activities. We believe this liquidity position provides MBIA Inc. with sufficient funds to cover expected obligations at least through the next twelve months.

MBIA Corp. Liquidity

Liquidity available in the structured finance and international insurance segment is affected by our ability to collect on receivables associated with loss payments, the payment of claims on insured exposures, payments made to commute insured exposure, the repayment of the National Secured Loan, a reduction in investment income, any unanticipated expenses, or the impairment or a significant decline in the fair value of invested assets. We may also experience liquidity constraints as a result of NYIL requirements that we maintain specified, high quality assets to back our reserves and surplus.

We believe the current liquidity position of MBIA Corp. is adequate to make expected future claims payments. However, the liquidity position of MBIA Corp. has been stressed due to the failure of the sellers/servicers of RMBS transactions insured by MBIA Corp. to repurchase ineligible mortgage loans in certain insured transactions and payments to counterparties in consideration for the commutation of insured transactions, which have resulted in a substantial reduction of exposure and potential loss volatility. While MBIA Corp. has made and may in the future make payments to counterparties in consideration for the commute insured transactions will depend on management s assessment of available liquidity. In addition, due to the deterioration in MBIA Corp. s CMBS exposures, primarily in those exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch, there is an increased likelihood that MBIA Corp. will experience claims on those exposures, which claims could be substantial. Depending on the amount of such claims and the amounts of claims on other policies issued by MBIA Corp., MBIA Corp. may not have sufficient liquid assets to pay such claims in the absence of a settlement with Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and the commutation of the CMBS exposures held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch or in the absence of the collection of other substantial put-back recoverables.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

Payment requirements for the structured finance and international financial guarantee contracts fall into three categories: (i) timely interest and ultimate principal; (ii) ultimate principal only at final maturity; and (iii) payments upon settlement of individual collateral losses as they occur after any deductible or subordination has been exhausted, which payments are unscheduled and therefore more difficult to predict, and which category applies to most of the transactions on which we have recorded loss reserves. Insured transactions that require payment in full of the principal insured at maturity could present liquidity risks for MBIA Corp. since payment of the principal is due at maturity but any salvage could be recovered over time after payment of the principal amount. MBIA Corp. is generally required to satisfy claims within one to three business days, and as a result seeks to identify potential claims in advance through our monitoring process. While our financial guarantee policies generally cannot be accelerated, thereby mitigating liquidity risk, the insurance of CDS contracts may, in certain events, including the insolvency or payment default of the insurer or the issuer of the CDS, be subject to termination by the counterparty, triggering a claim for the fair value of the contract. In order to monitor liquidity risk and maintain appropriate liquidity resources, we use the same methodology as we use to monitor credit quality and losses within our insured portfolio, including stress scenarios. Refer to Note 5: Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our loss process.

Our structured finance and international insurance segment also requires cash for the payment of operating expenses, as well as principal and interest related to its surplus notes. Pursuant to Section 1307 of the NYIL and the Fiscal Agency Agreement governing MBIA Corp. s surplus notes, any payment on the notes may be made only with the prior approval of the Superintendent of the NYSDFS whenever, in his judgment, the financial condition of [MBIA Corp.] warrants and payment may be made only out of MBIA Corp. s free and divisible surplus . If these conditions are not met, MBIA Corp. would not be obligated to make any applicable interest payment and no default or event of default would occur under the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any of the Company s other agreements. While the NYSDFS has approved the note interest payments in the past, its approval of the most recent note interest payment on July 16, 2012 was not received until after the date on which the Fiscal Agency Agreement requires MBIA Corp. to notify the registered holders of the notes and the Fiscal Agent of the failure to obtain such approval, as we disclosed on a Form 8-K filed on July 10, 2012. There can be no assurance that the NYSDFS will approve the next scheduled note interest payment on January 15, 2013 or any subsequent payments, or that it will approve any payment by the scheduled interest payment date or by the date on which the notice is required to be delivered to the registered holders and the Fiscal Agent, nor can there be any assurance that the NYSDFS will approve any optional redemption payment that MBIA Corp. may seek to make on or after January 15, 2013.

Since the fourth quarter of 2007 through June 30, 2012, MBIA Corp. has made \$11.5 billion of cash payments, before reinsurance and collections and excluding LAE (including payments made to debt holders of consolidated VIEs), associated with second-lien RMBS securitizations and with commutations and claim payments relating to CDS contracts. These cash payments include loss payments of \$836 million made on behalf of MBIA Corp. s consolidated VIEs. Of the \$11.5 billion, MBIA Corp. has paid \$6.5 billion of gross claims (before reinsurance and collections and excluding LAE) on policies insuring second-lien RMBS securitizations, driven primarily by an extensive number of ineligible mortgage loans being placed in the securitizations in breach of the representations and warranties of the sellers/servicers.

MBIA Corp. is seeking to enforce its rights to have mortgage sellers/servicers cure, replace or repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from securitizations and has recorded a total of \$3.2 billion of related expected recoveries on our consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2012, including expected recoveries recorded in our consolidated VIEs. These put-back claims have been disputed by the loan sellers/servicers and are the subject of certain litigations discussed more fully in Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. On May 14, 2012, ResCap and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies, RFC and GMAC each filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Additionally, there is some risk that the sellers/servicers or other responsible parties might not be able to fully satisfy any judgment we secure in litigation and ResCap s bankruptcy filing. Further, there can be no assurance that we will be successful or that we will not be delayed in realizing these recoveries. Such risks are contemplated in the scenarios we utilize to calculate these recoveries, which are recognized on our consolidated balance sheets. We believe that we have adequate liquidity resources to provide for anticipated cash outflows; however, if we do not realize or are delayed in realizing these expected recoveries, we may not have adequate liquidity to fully execute the strategy to reduce future potential economic losses by commuting policies and purchasing instruments issued or guaranteed by us, or to repay any intercompany borrowings.

A portion of the commutation payments made since the fourth quarter of 2011 were financed through the National Secured Loan. MBIA Insurance Corporation s ability to repay the loan and any accrued interest will be primarily predicated on MBIA Corp. s ability to collect on its future receivables, including its ability to successfully enforce its rights to have the mortgage sellers/servicers cure, replace or repurchase

ineligible mortgage loans from insured securitizations.

MBIA Corp. also insures third-party holders of our asset/liability products segment s obligations. If we were unable to meet payment or collateral requirements associated with these obligations, the holders thereof could make claims under the MBIA Corp. insurance policies. In 2008, to provide additional liquidity to the asset/liability products business, MBIA Corp. lent \$2.0 billion to the segment on a secured basis under the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding balance of the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan was repaid in full. In May 2012, the NYSDFS approved the maturity extension of the MBIA Corp. Secured Loan to May 2013 with a maximum outstanding amount of \$450 million, subject to MBIA Corp. obtaining prior approval from the NYSDFS for any draws under the facility.

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, MBIA Corp. held cash and available-for-sale investments of \$1.5 billion, of which \$534 million comprised cash and highly liquid assets. We believe that MBIA Corp. s liquidity resources, including expected cash inflows, will adequately provide for anticipated cash outflows. In the event of unexpected liquidity requirements, we may have insufficient resources to meet our obligations or insufficient qualifying assets to support our surplus and reserves, and may seek to increase our cash holdings position by selling or financing assets, or raising external capital, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to draw on these additional sources of liquidity.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

National Liquidity

Despite continued adverse macroeconomic conditions in the U.S., the incidence of default among U.S. public finance issuers remains extremely low and we believe that the liquidity position of our U.S. public finance insurance segment is sufficient to meet cash requirements in the ordinary course of business.

Liquidity risk arises in our U.S. public finance insurance segment primarily from the following:

The insurance policies issued or reinsured by National, the entity from which we conduct our U.S. public finance insurance business, provide unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of payments of the principal of, and interest or other amounts owing on, insured obligations when due or, in the event that the insurance company has the right, at its discretion, to accelerate insured obligations upon default or otherwise, upon the insurance company s election to accelerate. In the event of a default in payment of principal, interest or other insured amounts by an issuer, National generally promises to make funds available in the insured amount within one to three business days following notification. In some cases, the amount due can be substantial, particularly if the default occurs on a transaction to which National has a large notional exposure or on a transaction structured with large, bullet-type principal maturities. The fact that the U.S. public finance insurance segment s financial guarantee contracts generally cannot be accelerated by a party other than the insurer helps to mitigate liquidity risk in this segment.

National has entered into certain intercompany transactions to support the liquidity needs of its affiliates. These transactions include the National Secured Loan to MBIA Insurance Corporation and the Asset Swap through which National provides liquid assets to our asset/liability products business. As a result of these transactions, National is subject to repayment risk, which may adversely affect its liquidity. The repayment of the National Secured Loan will primarily be predicated on MBIA Corp. s ability to successfully enforce its rights to have mortgage sellers/servicers cure, replace or repurchase ineligible mortgage loans from securitizations it insured. In addition, changes in the market value of securities sold to National under its Asset Swap with the asset/liability products business may adversely affect its liquidity position if the asset/liability business were unable to pledge additional eligible assets in order to meet minimum required collateral amounts.

Our U.S. public finance insurance segment requires cash for the payment of operating expenses. Declines in operating cash inflows due to the absence of new business writings, declines in cash inflows from investment income, unanticipated expenses, or an impairment or significant decline in the fair value of invested assets could negatively impact its liquidity position. National held cash and short-term investments of \$421 million as of June 30, 2012, of which \$352 million was highly liquid and consisted predominantly of highly rated municipal, U.S. agency and corporate bonds. As of December 31, 2011, National held cash and short-term investments of \$771 million, of which \$703 million was highly liquid and consisted predominantly of highly rated municipal, U.S. agency and corporate bonds. With the exception of its loan to MBIA Insurance Corporation, most of National s investments, including those encumbered by the Asset Swap, are liquid and highly rated.

Consolidated Cash Flows

Operating Cash Flows

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, net cash used by operating activities totaled \$790 million compared with \$681 million for the same period of 2011. The Company s net use of cash in both periods was largely related to payments for commutations of insured derivative contracts and loss payments on financial guarantee insurance policies insuring RMBS exposure. Cash from operating activities in both periods was also

adversely impacted by interest paid on long term debt and operating expenses, partially offset by investment income received.

Investing Cash Flows

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, net cash provided by investing activities was \$2.4 billion compared with \$2.2 billion for the same period of 2011. Net cash provided by investing activities in both periods resulted from sales and redemptions of securities for purposes of funding commutations of insured derivative contracts, insurance-related loss payments and repayments of long-term debt.

Financing Cash Flows

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, net cash used by financing activities was \$1.9 billion compared with \$1.3 billion for the same period of 2011. Net cash used by financing activities in the first six months of 2012 principally related to payments for the retirement of long-term debt and principal payments on VIE notes. Net cash used by financing activities in the first six months of 2011 principally related to withdrawals of investment agreements and principal payments on VIE notes.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

Investments

The following discussion of investments, including references to consolidated investments, excludes cash and investments reported under Assets of consolidated variable interest entities on our consolidated balance sheets. Cash and investments of VIEs support the repayment of VIE obligations and are not available to settle obligations of MBIA.

Our available-for-sale investments comprise high-quality fixed-income securities and short-term investments. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 the fair values of our consolidated available-for-sale investments were \$6.9 billion and \$8.4 billion, respectively, as presented in the following table. Additionally, consolidated cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were \$269 million and \$473 million, respectively.

In millions	As of June 30, 2012	As of December 31, 2011	Percent Change
Available-for-sale investments:	2012		i ei eene enunge
U.S. public finance insurance			
Amortized cost	\$ 3,334	\$ 3,787	-12%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	153	108	42%
Fair value	3,487	3,895	-10%
Structured finance and international insurance			
Amortized cost	1.391	1,361	2%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	29	(15)	n/m
Fair value	1,420	1,346	5%
Corporate			
Amortized cost	582	448	30%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	(75)	(61)	23%
Fair value	507	387	31%
Advisory services			
Amortized cost	12	17	-29%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	-	-	-
Fair value	12	17	-29%
Wind-down operations			
Amortized cost	1,420	2,939	-52%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	11	(206)	-105%
Fair value	1,431	2,733	-48%

Total available-for-sale investments:			
Amortized cost	6,739	8,552	-21%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	118	(174)	n/m%
Total available-for-sale investments at fair value	6,857	8,378	-18%

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

In millions	As of June 30, 2012	As of December 31, 2011	Percent Change
Investments carried at fair value:			0
U.S. public finance insurance			
Amortized cost	177	165	7%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	(1)	(1)	-
Fair value	176	164	7%
Structured finance and international insurance			
Amortized cost	25	25	-
Unrealized net gain (loss)	-	-	-
Fair value	25	25	-
Corporate			
Amortized cost	37	41	-10%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	(14)	(19)	-26%
Fair value	23	22	5%
Advisory services			
Amortized cost	3	3	-
Unrealized net gain (loss)	-	-	-
Fair value	3	3	-
Wind-down operations			
Amortized cost	9	102	-91%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	-	(12)	-100%
Fair value	9	90	-90%
Total investments carried at fair value:			
Amortized cost	251	336	-25%
Unrealized net gain (loss)	(15)	(32)	-53%
Total Investments carried at fair value	236	304	-22%
Held-to-maturity investments:			
Structured finance and international insurance operations amortized cost	1	1	_
operations amoralou cost	1	1	

Total held-to-maturity investments at amortized cost	1	1	-
Other investments at amortized cost:			
U.S. public finance insurance operations segment	9	9	-
Advisory services	1	1	-
Total other investments at amortized cost	10	10	-
Consolidated investments at carrying value	\$ 7,104	\$ 8,693	-18%

n/m Percent change not meaningful.

The fair value of the Company s investments is based on prices which include quoted prices in active markets and prices based on market-based inputs that are either directly or indirectly observable, as well as prices from dealers in relevant markets. Differences between fair value and amortized cost arise primarily as a result of changes in interest rates and general market credit spreads occurring after a fixed-income security is purchased, although other factors may also influence fair value, including specific credit-related changes, supply and demand forces and other market factors. When the Company holds an available-for-sale investment to maturity, any unrealized gain or loss currently recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the shareholders equity section of the balance sheet is reversed. As a result, the Company would realize a value substantially equal to amortized cost. However, when investments are sold prior to maturity, the Company will realize any difference between amortized cost and the sale price of an investment as a realized gain or loss within its consolidated statements of operations.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

Credit Quality

The credit quality distribution of the Company s fixed-income investment portfolios, excluding short-term investments, based on ratings from Moody s as of June 30, 2012 is presented in the following table. Alternate ratings sources, such as S&P or the best estimate of the ratings assigned by the Company, have been used for a small percentage of securities that are not rated by Moody s.

		Public nance	Fina	ctured nce and national		visory rvices	Cor	porate		d-down erations	Т	otal
	Fair	% of Fixed- Income	Fair	% of Fixed- Income	Fair	% of Fixed- Income	Fair	% of Fixed- Income	Fair	% of Fixed- Income	Fair	% of Fixed- Income
In millions	Value	Investments	Value	Investments	Value	Investments	Value	Investments	Value	Investments	Value	Investments
Available-for-sale:												
Aaa	\$ 1,662		\$ 599		\$ 1		\$ -		\$ 418		\$ 2,680	
Aa	992		25			÷ / -	-	0,0	185		1,202	23%
А	270		17		1		35		174		497	10%
Baa	141	5%	13	2%		- 0%	40	15%	231	22%	425	8%
Below investment												
grade	18		46			070	167		50		281	5%
Not rated	32	1%	29	4%		- 0%	23	9%	8	3 1%	92	2%
Total Short-term	\$ 3,115	100%	\$ 729	100%	\$ 2	2. 100%	\$ 265	100%	\$ 1,066	5 100%	\$ 5,177	100%
investments	367		691		10)	242		320)	1,630	
Investments held-to-maturity	-		1				-		-	-	1	
Investments held at fair value	175		25		3		24		9		236	
Other investments	14		-		1		-		45	5	60	
Consolidated investments at carrying value	\$ 3,671		\$ 1,446		\$ 16	5	\$ 531		\$ 1,440)	\$ 7,104	

As of June 30, 2012, the weighted average credit quality of the Company s available-for-sale investment portfolios, excluding short-term and other investments, as presented in the preceding table are as follows:

		Structured Finance			
		and			
	U.S. Public	International	Advisory	_	Wind-down
	Finance	Insurance	Services	Corporate	Operations
Weighted average credit quality ratings	Aa	Aa	Aa	Below investment grade	Aa

Insured Investments

MBIA s consolidated investment portfolio includes investments that are insured by various financial guarantee insurers (Insured Investments), including investments insured by MBIA Corp. and National (Company-Insured Investments). As of June 30, 2012, Insured Investments at fair value represented \$798 million or 11% of consolidated investments, of which \$421 million or 6% of consolidated investments were Company-Insured Investments.

As of June 30, 2012, based on the actual or estimated underlying ratings of our consolidated investment portfolio, without giving effect to financial guarantees, the weighted average rating of the consolidated investment portfolio would be in the Aa range, the weighted average rating of only the Insured Investments in the investment portfolio would be in the Baa range, and 4% of the total investment portfolio would be rated below investment grade in the Insured Investments.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

LIQUIDITY (continued)

The distribution of the Company s Insured Investments by financial guarantee insurer as of June 30, 2012 is presented in the following table: